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INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARYI.

PG&E is deeply sorry for the San Bruno pipeline accident; the human consequences and 

the effect on the San Bruno community are tragic. PG&E has accepted responsibility and legal 

liability and, while recognizing that it cannot undo the lives lost, is compensating the injured.

The accident shined a spotlight on PG&E and revealed to the company, the Commission, 

and the public at large that PG&E’s gas system operations were not what they should be. PG&E 

has acknowledged its shortcomings and has undertaken major improvement efforts. PG&E 

believes that bringing its gas operations up to the highest quality is the most sincere amends it 

can make to those hurt by the September 9, 2010 accident.

This proceeding has a narrower focus than confirming PG&E’s 

responsibility for the accident, as PG&E observed in its opening brief. Its focus is to determine 

whether PG&E has violated pipeline safety laws. The evidence shows that, once the defective 

pup was put in the ground in 1956, there was nothing any pipeline operator - without knowledge 

of the presence of the pup - would reasonably have done that would have revealed the defective

acknowledgement of

pipe.

The ultimate question for the Commission is whether CPSD has carried its burden to 

prove to the requisite standard (clear and convincing, as PG&E contends, or preponderance, as 

the other parties claim) that PG&E violated legal requirements. Although it has the burden, 

CPSD’s opening brief does little to attempt to meet that burden. Reading CPSD’s brief, o 

would hardly know that PG&E put on any defense. It is not until page 66 - nearly two-thirds of 

the way through CPSD’s brief - that CPSD first cites any evidence but its own, instead repeating 

statements from its own and the NTSB reports. Until page 91 , where it begins to attack PG&E’s 

budget and financial witness, CPSD’s brief does not even attempt to address PG&E’s testimony 

and documentary evidence. One is left with the impression that either CPSD has nothing to say 

or it is holding its argument until its reply brief, when PG&E cannot correct any misstatements.

ne

Pursuant to Englandv. La. State Bd. of Med. Exam’rs , 375 U.S. 411 (1964), PG&E expressly reserves its federal 
constitutional and any other federal claims and reserves its right to litigate such claims in federal court following any 
decision by the Commission, if necessary. While PG&E cites federal cases, including Supreme Court decisions, in 
this brief, they are cited only to the extent that they provide analogous authority for construing the California 
Constitution and/or California law.
2 PG&E OB at 1.

1
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If the former, CPSD has failed to carry its burden; if the latter, the Commission should view its 

reply brief with skepticism since CPSD was unwilling to expose its arguments to reply.

In a s ection entitled, “PG&E’S VIOLATIONS OF APPLICABLE LAWS AND 

REGULATIONS,” CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report listed the violations CPSD claimed to have 

found in its investigation. 3 CPSD alleged 18 violations, counted liberally. After the close of 

evidence, in its opening brief CPSD tripled the number of alleged violations to 55. 4 Intervenors, 

though lacking legal authority to do so and not having previously alleged them, added 

approximately another 30. 5 As PG&E demonstrated in its March 18, 2013 Motion to Strike 

Appendix C, and further discusses below in Section III.C, fundamental due process defects 

would flow from the Commission’s consideration of these belated allegations.6

Even with its new alleged violations and the help of Intervenors, CPSD’s opening brief 

fails to prove its allegations. To support the alleged violations, CPSD primarily restated parts of 

its January 12, 2012 report and its August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony, with occasional reference 

to the NTSB Report. 7 As a result, many of CPSD’s a negations lack substantive support. The 

“evidence” is in many instances merely a reiteration of CPSD’s prior statement of the same 

conclusory allegation, now having the status of testimony but without independent factual 

support.8 Labeling as testimony a prior unsupported conclusory allegation may give it 

evidentiary status but it does not provide substance. Factually unsupported testimony is entitled 

to little, if any, weight and is not sufficient to meet CPSD’s burden of proof. Intervenors largely 

reiterate the factual and legal theories advanced by CPSD, and though generally citing to more 

from the evidentiary record, the evidence they rely on does not demonstrate violations.

3 Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).
4 CPSD OB, Appendix C.
5 It is difficult to count the violations due to the broad and ambiguous language used at times, as well as overlap and 
duplication, making it unclear what or how many violations CPSD and Intervenors allege. As discussed in Section 
VI below, in addition to providing no prior notice to PG&E of the violations they allege, Intervenors’ assertion of 
violations is an improper assumption of the Commission’s investigative power, a power the Commission has 
expressly delegated to CPSD.
6 As discussed more fully in Section III.C, the Revised Appendix C the ALJ permitted CPSD to file does not cure 
the constitutional defect created by CPSD’s assertion of new violations after the close of evidentiary hearings.
7 To support its “safety culture” allegations, CPSD prima rily relied on the Overland Report (Ex. CPSD- 168
(CPSD/Harpster)), the IRP Report (Ex. CPSD- 10), and its written rebuttal to PG&E’s budget and finance expert’s 
testimony (Ex. CPSD-170 (CPSD/Harpster)).
8 CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report was sponsored as test imony. Ex. CPSD-1 (CPSD/Stepanian). Content in the 
NTSB Report, though not testimony, was adopted by CPSD in the January 12, 2012 report.
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9 which, in itsCPSD and Intervenors all highlight CPSD’s safety culture allegations, 

opening brief, CPSD elevates to a stand-alone alleged Section 451 violation. 10 A centerpiece of

the safety culture claim is CPSD’s allegations related to PG&E’s Gas Pipeline Replacement 

Program (GPRP).11 CPSD bases its claim on retired PG&E emplo yee Charles Tateosian’s civil 

deposition testimony, which is taken out of context in CPSD’s allegations, 

in the 1970s and 1980s, PG&E concluded that all of Line 132 needed to be replaced, planned to

13 CPSD claims, “The [GPRP] 

presentation specifically identified Line 132 ... as needing to be replaced to be capable of 

operating at high pressures ... due to questionable welding methods used prior to 1950 and

.. ,”14 From this (and other select citations to Mr. Tateosian’s 

deposition), CPSD tries to convey that long seam welds were the concern and Segment 180 

would have been replaced (and the San Bruno accident avoided) had PG&E followed through 

with its purported GPRP commitments.15

CPSD’s allegations and selected references create a false impression about PG&E’s 

GPRP that is refuted by the evidence. As Mr. Tateosian stated throughout his testimony,

PG&E established the GPRP to address pipeline segments that contained certain pre-1950s girth 

welds, cast iron pipe, and vintage distribution piping. Some of Line 132, installed in 1948 and 

earlier, met those criteria. Segment 180 did not. Segment 180 was never among the pipeline 

segments the GPRP was intend ed to address. Mr. Tateosian’s testimony (not cited by CPSD) 

conclusively proves this:

CPSD asserts that

do so in the GPRP, but did not in order to save money.

recent pipeline failures .

16

9 CPSD OB at 80-112; DRA OB at 27-66; TURN OB at 31-38; San Bruno OB at 27-37; CCSF OB at 47-48.
10 CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
11 The other two elements of CPSD’s safety culture claim are snippets taken out of context from PG&E internal 
documents and the claims of underspending by CPSD’s consultant, Overland. As demonstrated in Section V.F of 
this reply, the documentary snippets were compiled by individuals with a financial and ratemaking background. 
Their selection does not reflect any engineering analysis or expertise. Even the snippets fail to show any instance in 
which budgetary constraints compromised safety. In context, the documents Overland and CPSD excerpted show 
PG&E’s engineers were making judgments about the work that needed to be done with safety and compliance 
paramount. In fact, in the only area in which Overland specifically analyzed safety-related spending 
expenditures from 2003 to 2010 - it found that PG&E spent more than the amounts implicit in rates.
12 Ex. CPSD-162 through CPSD- 167 contain excerpts from Mr. Tateosian’s civil deposition, but omit the critical 
testimony, which PG&E cites and quotes herein.
13 CPSD OB at 24-25.
14 CPSD OB at 24-25.
15 The City of San Bruno suggests Segment 180 would have been replaced under the GPRP by 1988. San Bruno OB 
at 32.
16 See note 17, below.

capital
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doesn’t specifically[F]rankly, what’s covered in this document 
cover that pipeline that failed . This covers the old oxyacetylene 
welded pipe, the cast iron and the older distribution steel 
lines.17 [. ..]

The piping that was covered by this replacement program at the 
time was cast iron piping, the oxyacetylene welded piping and the
older distribution piping, it did not involve the piping that failed at

18San Bruno.

Lacking sufficient evidence to meet the burden of proof, CPSD and Intervenors attempt 

to shift the burden of proof to PG&E. 19 CPSD repeatedly contends that PG&E’s purported 

failure to produce evidence rebutting an alleged violation means the violation exists. CCSF 

claims that testimony from its consultant that PG&E purportedly did not directly refute should be 

deemed true and reliable, an assertion that, if accepted, shifts the burden of proof to PG&E. 

Testimony is not automatically correct or adequate to satisfy the burden of proof; among other 

reasons, testimony may not be directly challenged because it is patently wrong or immaterial. 

TURN mischaracterizes PG&E’s submission of responsive evidence as asserting an affirmative 

defense for which, it says, PG&E has the burden of proof.21 TURN’S contention is legal sleight-

20

17 Transcript of Civil Deposition of Charles Tateosia n (“Tateosian Depo.”), Vol. II at 326-27 (emphasis added);
Tateosian Depo., Vol. I at 159 (“[T]he piping that’s going to be replaced, which was the oxyacetylene welded pipe, 
the cast iron, and the old distribution lines...”); id., Vol. I at 181 (“The mos t important thing in my mind was 
replacement of the old oxyacetylene welded pipe, and then the cast iron, and the old distribution pipe.”); id., Vol. I 
at 242-43 (“The way I gathered that information was I contacted the division gas - the division superintendents and 
asked them to forward information on the three classifications of piping we were interested in. Mainly the 
oxyacetylene welded, the cast iron and the older gas distribution steel mains.”); Tateosian Depo., Vol. II at 472 -73
(“The proposed repla cement is part of an ongoing program to replace large diameter gas transmission lines 
containing oxyacetylene girth welds and/or bell-bell and chill-ring girth welds in high — high density housing areas 
and near major transportation facilities.”); id., Vo 1. II at 487 (“Q: So the three parts that were involved were, one, 
oxyacetylene bell-bell and chill-ring and bell and spigot girth welded transmission lines, that was one part of it, 
correct? A. Yes.”); id., Vol. II at 528- 29 (Q: “So that generally speaking the program that we’re talking about here, 
the pipeline replacement program, generally speaking, did not involve replacing any pipe that was made 1948 or 
after; is that right? A. Yes.”); Ex. CPSD -166 at 4 (“Replace 539 miles of pre -1947 pipe containing oxyacetylene, 
bell-bell and chill ring or bell and spigot girth welds in the 30 years at a financial cost of $580 million.”).
18 Tateosian Depo., Vol. II at 463 (emphasis added). CPSD incorrectly describes Mr. Tateosian as Vice President of 
Gas Operations. See CPSD OB at 24, 81, 113. He was the manager of gas system design. Ex. CPSD-165 at 60.
19 In addition, rather than deal with the substance of their testimony, Intervenors launch a series of 
attacks on PG&E’s witnesses, including some of th e leading experts in the industry. Largely, Intervenors urge the 
Commission to disregard this testimony because these experts, like all outside experts (including those working for 
CPSD and CCSF), were paid for their work. TURN OB at 37 n.121; CCSF OB at 9-13; DRA OB at 25-26; San 
Bruno OB at 18-20.
20 CCSF OB at 6-7.
21 TURN OB at 6; see id. at 12, 15, 19, 21-22, 26, 28- 29, 37 (mischaracterizing PG&E’s rebuttal as affirmative 
“defenses”).

ad hominem
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of-hand; PG&E’s submission of evidence that rebuts allegations, or PG&E’s arguments refuting 

untenable interpretations of law, do not constitute affirmative defenses that carry with it a burden 

of proof. TURN also advocates that, even if the Commission finds PG&E did not violate the 

law, the Commission should make “prudence” or “reasonableness” determinations on which 

PG&E bears the burden of proof. This assertion is extraordinary in effect, TURN suggests 

that, after the Commission concludes that PG&E’s conduct did not violate the law, it should

judge whether PG&E proved that the same conduct was “prudent” and “reasonable,” or face 

cost disallowances equivalent to or in excess of the penalties it faced for violations of law. 

Having failed to prove violations of law, Intervenors cannot convert this proceeding into a 

prudence review. Each attempt to shift the burden of proof to PG&E is improper 

bears the burden of proof on every violation alleged against PG&E.23

PG&E deeply regrets the loss of life and injuries and the effect on the San Bruno 

community. PG&E is morally and legally responsible for this tragic accident and has 

acknowledged liability to those injured. This proceeding is thus not about proving PG&E 

responsible for the accident or whether PG&E’s practices could have been better or fell short of 

expectations, but whether they constituted legal violations of applicable laws. The only 

determination to be made in this proceeding is one based solely on the evidence presented: 

whether CPSD met its burden of proving PG&E violated the law in the many ways alleged. The 

evidence shows that it has not.

CPSD alone

II. BACKGROUND (PROCEDURE/FACTS)

[Intentionally left blank]

22 TURN OB at 6- 7. DRA suggests the Commission should make “reasonableness” determinations in this
enforcement proceeding for the purpose of imposing disallowances under Public Utilities Code Section 463, 
presumably in the PSEP proceeding. DRA OB at 9-11. CCSF similarly contends that PG&E is subject to a 
“reasonableness” determination in this proceeding. CCSF OB at 5 -6. Neither expressly state that PG&E should
bear the burden of proof as to the “reasonableness” of its conduct, but PG&E presumes that is their position.
23 Intervenors may properly submit evidence to s upport CPSD’s allegations. Intervenors do not have legal authority 
to assert violations of law against PG&E. See infra Section VI.
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m. LEGAL ISSUES OF GENERAL APPLICABILITY

CPSD Has The Burden To Prove Its Allegations By Clear And Convincing 
Evidence; PG&E Has No Burden Of Proof

A.

1. The Commission Should Apply The Clear And Convincing Evidence 
Standard

CPSD and Intervenors 24 together allege some 90 violations against PG&E, many of 

which they characterize as continuing violations dating back as far as 54 years. 25 The fines and

penalties to which PG&E is exposed in this proceeding are unprecedented. The Commission has

26 Inindicated that it may impose substantial restrictive remedial relief for found violations, 

addition to massive fines and penalties, the parties have asked the Commission to adjust PG&E’s 

rate recovery and order refunds within the PSEP proceeding based on any violations found 

here.27 The stakes for PG&E, the Commission, CPSD, Intervenors, and the public could not be 

higher. Under these circumstances, the clear and convincing standard is warranted.

Grubb Co., Inc. v. Dep’t of Real Estate , 194 Cal. App. 4th 1494 (2011) demonstrates 

why. In Grubb, the court required a “clear and convincing” standard where the sanction 

involved a 30-day license suspension or a $3,000 fine in lieu thereof. The court set aside the 

penalty because the alleged misconduct was not established by clear and convincing evidence. 

Clear and convincing proof is all the more necessary here than in Grubb, since CPSD is seeking 

penalties many thousands of times greater than a $3,000 fine. In fact, the threatened monetary 

sanctions here are potentially so large that the Commission has received testimony to help it 

determine how large a fine the Commission could impose without significantly impairing 

PG&E’s finances on a going-forward basis. Merely asking that question - how big a penalty can 

we impose on PG&E without seriously eroding the company’s credit quality? 

that this case raises considerations beyond the typical enforcement proceeding. Questions such 

as these are asked in punitive damage cases for which the “clear and convincing” standard

demonstrates

24 As discussed in Section VI below, Intervenors’ assertion of independent violations in this Commission 
enforcement proceeding is improper.
25 Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian); CPSD OB, Appendix C; CCSF OB, Appendix B; TURN OB at 39-41; 
San Bruno OB at 50-52. As noted, PG&E cannot precisely determine how many violations are alleged against it due 
to ambiguous language, overlap, and duplication.
26Order Instituting Investigation, 1.12-01-007 at 10 (Jan. 12, 2012).
27 See, e.g. , TURN OB at 1-2; DRA OB at 9-11, 59-61. Those requests are not proper in an enforcement 
proceeding.

-initiated
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applies. Accordingly, and as demonstrated in PG&E’s opening brief, the Commission should 

apply the higher clear and convincing evidentiary standard in this proceeding.28

But even if the Commission decides not to apply the clear and convincing standard, it 

must ensure that CPSD is required to prove and has actually proved each of its allegations by a 

preponderance of the evidence before penalties or remedial relief are imposed. As discussed 

below, the parties have attempted to shift to PG&E the burden of proving it did not violate the 

law, and if PG&E achieves that, then proving all the same actions were “prudent” and 

“reasonable.” Permitting any form of burden shifting to PG&E would infect this proceeding

See, e.g., Investigation of Qwest Commc’ns Corp.,
; see also Investigation of the Conlin-Strawberry

with a constitutional defect.

2003 Cal. PUC LEXIS 67, at *12-13 & n.5 

Water Co., Inc., D.05-07-010, 2005 Cal. PUC LEXIS 294, at *22 (concluding that it would 

“violate [] California constitutional law” to place the burden of proof on respondents in an 

enforcement proceeding “where substantial property rights are at issue”).

If violations are found, the Commission’s findings must be “supported by substantial 

evidence” to survive j udicial review.29 This standard of review is more rigorous than the “any 

evidence” standard previously applied to Commission proceedings. Application ofPac. Gas & 

Elec. Co., D.01-10-031, 2001 Cal. PUC LEXIS 917, at *4; see also 1998 Cal. Stat., c. 886 (S.B. 

779), § 12 (imposing the “substantial evidence” standard). And CPSD bears not only the burden 

of persuasion, but also the burden of production.30

To ensure the likelihood of finality, for the benefit of the Commission, PG&E, the City of 

San Bruno, the other Intervenors and the public, the Commission must rigorously apply the 

appropriate evidentiary standard and burden of proof. That standard is clear and convincing 

evidence, and the burden is CPSD’s.

D.03-01-087,

2. CPSD’s Unsupported Report And Testimony Fail To Meet 
Burden Of Proof

Its

Throughout its opening brief, CPSD relies on citation to its January 12, 2012 report, 31 its 

August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony 32 and statements from the NTSB Report 33 that CPSD

28 PG&E OB at 24-27 and legal authorities cited therein.
29 Pub. Util. Code § 1757(a)(4).
30 Evid. Code § 550; see also Union Pac. R.R. Co., D.93105, 1981 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1290, at *10.
31 Ex. CPSD-1 (CPSD/Stepanian).
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34 Inincorporated into the January 12, 2012 report and the August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony, 

fact, CPSD’s opening brief is in large part a reiteration of the text of the January 12, 2012 report 

and the August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony, with minor modifications and incorporation of 

statements from the NTSB Report. 35 Absent from CPSD’s opening brief are references or 

citations to PG&E’s testimony and the documentary evidence PG&E submitted during the 

evidentiary hearings refuting many of the assertions CPSD continues to rely on. 36 Reading 

CPSD’s opening brief, a st ranger to the action would have difficulty knowing PG&E had 

submitted evidence in response to CPSD’s allegations or that an evidentiary hearing had taken 

place. CPSD’s nearly exclusive reliance on its own prior report and rebuttal testimony renders 

its evidentiary showing weak and short of meeting its burden of proof.

For instance, CPSD asserts in its opening brief: “PG&E did not always gather all relevant 

leak data on Line 132 and integrate it into its Geographical Information System (GIS).” 

evidentiary support, CPSD cites to “CPSD -1, p. 26” 

report. Page 26 of CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report contains essentially the identical statement: 

“PG&E failed to gather all relevant leak data on Line 132 and integrate it in to its Geographical 

Information System (GIS).” But CPSD does not cite any evidence in support of this statement 

in the January 12, 2012 report.40 Thus, the only evidentiary support for this assertion in CPSD’s 

opening brief is the same (unsupported) conclusory assertion from the January 12, 2012 report. 

While CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report now has the status of testimony, many of CPSD’s 

contentions in its opening brief remain empirically unsupported, in addition to doing nothing to 

respond to PG&E’s evid ence. PG&E submitted testimony and evidence rebutting the accuracy 

and significance of the contentions in CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report, but CPSD does not

37 For

which is CPSD’s January 12, 2012

32 Ex. CPSD-5 (CPSD/Stepanian).
33 Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report).
34 See CPSD OB at 4-27, 33- 80, Appendix A. For its “safety culture” discussion (CPSD OB at 80 -112), CPSD
heavily relies on the Overland Report, Ex. CPSD-168 (CPSD/Harpster), the IRP Report, Ex. CPSD-10 and the 
rebuttal to PG&E’s financial consultant’s testimony, Ex. CPSD-170 (CPSD/Harpster).
35 Compare Ex. CPSD-1 (CPSD/Stepanian) and Ex. CPSD-5 (CPSD/Stepanian) with CPSD OB at 4-27, 33-80.
36 See CPSD OB at 4-27, 33-80, Appendix A.
37 CPSD OB at 21.
38 CPSD OB at 21.
39 Ex. CPSD-1 at 26 (CPSD/Stepanian).
40 Ex. CPSD-1 at 26 (CPSD/Stepanian).
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reference much less confront PG&E’s responsive testimony and evidence. CPSD’s evidentiary 

showing cannot meet its burden of proving the alleged violation.

In another example, CPSD asserts in its opening brief, “CPSD staff determined that 

PG&E personnel at Milpitas had little recognition that they were working with a very critical 

system that demands a high level of care in planning and execution of their work.” 41 CPSD cites 

to “CPSD-1, p. 98” as support for this assertion. Again, page 98 of CPSD’s January 12, 2012 

report contains essentially the same statement without citation to factual support. 42 As a result, 

the only evidentiary support for CPSD’s contention in its opening brief- that PG&E personnel at

is CPSD’s

And as with the prior example, CPSD’s 

opening brief did not address any of PG&E’s evidence refuting CPSD’s unsupported contention.

Because it is based largely on conclusory assertions without additional evidence, and 

because it fails entirely to confront PG&E’s testimony and evidence, CPSD’s opening brief lacks 

substantive evidentiary support that should be given correspondingly little weight.43

Milpitas did not recognize that a gas transmission system is potentially dangerous 

prior statement of the same conclusory contention.

3. The Burden Of Proof Cannot Be Shifted To PG&E

PG&E Has Not Asserted Affirmative Defenses That Impose A 
Burden Of Proof

a.

TURN attempts to shift the burden of proof to PG&E by contending PG&E bears the 

burden of proof “as to its defenses.”44 PG&E does not dispute the notion that a defendant has the 

burden to establish affirmative defenses. However, with the exception of laches (discussed in 

Section III.E below), PG&E has not asserted affirmative defenses. Rather, TURN

mischaracterizes PG&E’s presentation of evidence responding to the allegations against it as

45 TURN’S contention is not a correct“defenses” for which PG&E has the burden of proof, 

statement of the law.

41 CPSD OB at 56.
42 Ex. CPSD-1 at 98 (CPSD/Stepanian).
43 This defect arises in many instances because CPSD cites in its opening brief to summary discussions in the prior 
reports and testimony. Even if there is evidentiary support somewhere for the assertions CPSD makes in its opening 
brief, neither PG&E nor the Commission can identify it based on CPSD’s references.
44 See, e.g., TURN OB at 6.
45 See, e.g., TURN OB at 12, 19, 21, 22, 26.

9

SB GT&S 0486500



PG&E’s submission of evidence refuting CPSD and Intervenors’ evidence does not 

constitute the assertion of an “affirmative defense.” PG&E is defending itself by rebutting 

evidence and allegations, i.e., showing that the evidence marshaled against it is not correct or 

persuasive. An affirmative defense, in contrast, is a legal theory on which a defendant can 

exonerate itself even where the allegations against it are conclusively proven by the evidence, 

such as a statute of limitations defense. See Walsh v. West Valley Mission Comm. College Dist. , 

62 Cal. App. 4th 1532, 1546 (1992) (“An ‘affirmative defense’ is one which sets forth facts from 

which it results that, notwithstanding the truth of the allegations of the complaint, no cause of 

action existed in the plaintiff at the time the action was brought.”) (citation and internal 

quotations omitted). PG&E’s act of defending itself with evidence rebutting the allegations 

against it is not an “affirmative defense,” as TURN suggests, and does not impose a burden of 

proof on PG&E.

PG&E Cannot Be Required To Prove Its Conduct Was 
“Prudent” Or “Reasonable” In This Enforcement Proceeding

b.

TURN and CCSF contend, even if CPSD fails to prove any violation of law against 

PG&E, the Commission should make “prudence” or “reasonableness” determinations in this 

proceeding, and PG&E bears the burden of proof on such determinations. 46 In short, they argue 

that PG&E should be tried twice for the same conduct, the second time bearing the burden of 

proof. Thus, if the evidence does not establish a legal violation, the Commission should require 

PG&E to have proven that the same conduct was “prudent” and “reasonable”; if PG&E fails to 

meet that burden, the Commission should disallow additional costs in the PSEP proceeding, 

notwithstanding the lack of any proven violation of law. 

adopted, the Commission would judge PG&E on issues and a burden of proof that the 

Commission did not articulate until the hearing was long over.

The constitutional defects and unfairness in this suggestion are manifest. Cal. Const, art. 

I, § 7(a); D.05-07-010, 2005 Cal. PUC LEXIS 294, at *22 (concluding that placing the burden of 

proof on the respondents in an enforcement proceeding, where substantial property rights are at 

issue, violates California constitutional law). This is an enforcement proceeding in which PG&E

47 If TURN and CCSF’s view were

46 TURN OB at 6-8; CCSF OB at 5-6. TURN assigns the burden of proof to PG&E; CCSF does not address it.
47 TURN OB at 6-8; CCSF OB at 5-6.
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is a respondent potentially subject to massive fines and penalties and invasive remedial relief. 48 

The sole purpose of this proceeding is and has been from the outset to “focus on PG&E’s past 

actions and omissions, to determine whether PG&E has violated laws requiring safe utility gas 

system practices.”49 PG&E defended itself against alleged legal violations, not alleged lack of 

“prudence” or “reasonableness.” The evidence PG&E introduced has been for that purpose. 50 

Nor did PG&E receive constitutionally required notice before presenting its defense that it would 

be required to prove that its actions w ere “prudent” and “reasonable,” in addition to defending 

against alleged violations on which CPSD has the burden of proof. See In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 

544, 550 (1968); Rosenblit v. Superior Court, 231 Cal. App. 3d 1434, 1445-48 (1991) (reversing 

hospital’s removal of a physician where he “was kept in the dark about the specific charges made 

against him”). Were the Commission to adopt TURN and CCSF’s suggestion and make 

“prudence” and “reasonableness” determinations on which PG&E bears the burden of proof, this 

enforcement proceeding would be constitutionally defective.

Putting constitutional defects aside, TURN’S proffered authorities for assigning PG&E 

the burden of proof as to the “prudence” of its conduct do not lead to the result TURN 

advocates.51 Rather, these decisions make it clear that this enforcement proceeding is not the

appropriate forum for “prudence” or “reasonableness” determinations. Both cited decisions

52 Nor do Public Utilities Codeinvolved rate setting issues, not enforcement proceedings.

Section 463, D.94-03-048, and D.84 -09-120, cited by TURN, mandate a different result. These

authorities speak to reasonableness in the context of rate recovery and rate setting, which is 

outside of the scope of the present enforcement proceeding. See Investigation of the Mohave 

Coal Plant Accident, D.94-03 -048, 1994 Cal. PUC LEXIS 216, at *26-27 (reasonableness of 

plant operation inquiry tied to rate recovery requests); Application ofS. Cal. Edison Co ., D.84- 

09-120, 1984 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1044, at *1-3 (reasonableness inquiry related to annual 

adjustment clause rate review proceeding); Pub. Util. Code § 463 (discussing Commission ability 

to disallow expenses associated with unreasonable error in rate setting context). The parties’

48 1.12-01-007 at 10.
491.12-01-007 at 10.
50 See, e.g., PG&E-l (PG&E/Various).
51 Application ofPac. Gas & Elec. Co. , D.85-08-102, 1985 Cal. PUC LEXIS 781, at *27; Application ofS. Cal. 
Edison Co., D.93-05-013, 1993 Cal. PUC LEXIS 368, at *2.
52 D.85-08-102, 1985 Cal. PUC LEXIS 781 at *27; D.93-05-013, 1993 Cal. PUC LEXIS 368 at *2.
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attempt to use Section 463 to, in effect, impose duplicative and continuing penalties into the 

future against PG&E based on findings in an enforcement proceeding is not supported by the 

statute, Commission precedent or due process.

CCSF’s argument that the Commission must decide whether PG&E acted “reasonably,” 

regardless of whether those actions violated the law, similarly fails. In addition to the 

constitutional defect discussed above, CCSF’s cited authority is inapplicable. D.90 

which CCSF cites for the proposition that compliance with guidelines does “not relieve [a] utility 

of its burden to show that its actions were reasonable in light of the circumstances existent at the 

time,” did not involve an enforcement proceeding, like this, where there has been no allegati on 

or evidence as to “reasonableness.” Rather, that proceeding involved a utility contract where 

self-dealing was suspected and the purpose and scope of the “reasonableness” inquiry was
53identified at the outset and prior to the evidentiary hearings.

Likewise, CCSF’s use of D.04 -04-065 to argue that, even if a utility complies with a 

General Order it may have acted unreasonably, is misleading. In that decision, the Commission 

recognized that GO 165 requires the exercise of judgment to conduct inspections as often as 

necessary, stating that GO 165 requirements are “in addition to the requirements under GO 95 

and 128 to maintain a safe and reliable electric system.” 54 Thus, the text of GO 165 mandated 

the reasonableness inquiry, not a generalized reasonableness determination in an enforcement 

proceeding. D.97-03-070 is inapplicable for the same reason; the underlying requirement at 

issue incorporated continuing obligations under other GOs and inspections “as necessary,” but 

not less often than the times indicated.55

None of the authorities relied on by TURN or CCSF support what they suggest - that the 

Commission judge the “reasonableness” or “prudence” of PG&E’s actions even after those 

actions have been determined to comply with the law, and that the Commission do so by 

imposing a burden to prove prudence on PG&E that it has not previously spelled out in this 

proceeding. More importantly, the California Constitution and due process forbid it.

-09-088,

53 Application ofS. Cal. Edison Co., D.90-09-088, 1990 Cal. PUC LEXIS 847, at *15, 21-22.
54 Investigation ofS. Cal. Edison Co., D.04-04-065, 2004 Cal. PUC LEXIS 207, at *41-42.
55 In re Elec. Distribution Facility Standard Setting, D.97-03-070, 1997 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1243, at *17-18. CCSF’s 
final authority offers no additional support. D.05- 08-037 was a rate setting proceeding for reimbursement of costs 
associated with the 2003 wildfires, not an enforcement proceeding to determine violations of law.
San Diego Gas & Elec. Co., D.05-08-037, 2005 Cal. PUC LEXIS 562, at *2, *9.

Application of
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CCSF’s “Uncontroverted” Evidence Theory Is Erroneous And 
Attempts To Improperly Shift The Burden Of Proof To PG&E

c.

CCSF suggests the Commission simply accept as correct and reliable the purportedly 

“uncontroverted” evidence of CCSF’s consultant, Mr. Gawronski. 56 CCSF is mistaken on two 

counts: first, that purportedly “uncontroverted” evidence must automatically be deemed correct 

and reliable; and second, that CCSF’s consultant’s testimony is “uncontroverted.” Contrary to 

CCSF’s claim, none of Mr. Gawronski’s testimony is undisputed, whether or not PG&E 

specifically referenced it when rebutting it. The same is true for similar assertions made by 

CPSD, DRA, and TURN.

That proffered testimony is not directly addressed does not transform its subjective

character into conclusive truth. Testimony from a retained consultant is no different:

[EJxpert opinions, even though uncontradicted, are worth no more 
than the reasons and factual data upon which they are based. An 
expert's opinion is no better than the reasons given for it. If his 
opinion is not based upon facts otherwise proved ... it cannot rise 
to the dignity of substantial evidence.58

57

Even if some of Mr. Gawronski’s testimony was not directly challenged, that fact does not 

establish the veracity or reliability of his statements. This conclusion makes sense in addition to 

being the law. For instance, testimony, or any type of evidence, may not be directly challenged 

because it is patently incorrect and does not require a rebuttal. Testimony also may not be 

directly rebutted because it is immaterial or irreleva nt, or for numerous other reasons. CCSF’s 

suggestion that Mr. Gawronski’s testimony, if “uncontroverted,” should be automatically relied 

on is contrary to the law.

CCSF also appears to assert that CPSD meets its burden of proof by merely submitting

evidence, unless PG&E affirmatively rebutted it. CCSF states:

[WJhere PG&E did not rebut evidence introduced by the parties 
with the burden of proof, it may not simply hide behind the

56 CCSF OB at 6-7.
57 CPSD, DRA and TURN imply, less directly, that some of their evidence remains undisputed and should, 
therefore, be accepted as conclusive. See, e.g., CPSD OB at 83, 91, 112; DRA OB at 60; TURN OB at 35. As with 
CCSF’s contention, none are correct.
58 Griffith v. Cnty. of Los Angeles , 267 Cal. App. 2d 837, 847 (1968) (internal quotations omitted); see CACI No. 
107 (“Witnesses”) (indicating that a jury may properly “believe all, part, or none of a witness’s testimony”).
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“burden of proof’ as a substitute for offering germane evidence on
• 59an issue.

In CCSF’s view, PG&E is “hid[ing] behind the ‘burden of proof” if it exercises its due process 

right to require that CPSD submit evidence qualitatively sufficient to meet its burden of proof, 

before PG&E submits evidence in rebuttal.

As CCSF structures the law, the burden of proof shifts to PG&E. Unless PG&E submits 

what CCSF considers “germane evidence” rebutting CPSD and Intervenors’ evidence, they have 

satisfied the burden of proof. This is true even if their “evidence” does not meet the evidentiar y 

standard required under the law. Stated plainly, CCSF’s position is that, unless PG&E proves it 

did not violate the law, it did. 60

CCSF also is incorrect regarding what constitutes “uncontroverted” evidence. PG&E is 

not required to directly connect its evidence to every factual assertion made by the opposing 

parties. Rather, PG&E’s evidence can rebut the testimony asserted against it whether presented

61 For example, Mr.
fOGawronski asserted the 1988 pinhole leak on Line 132 was a “failure” under TIMP regulations. 

Without naming Mr. Gawronski or referring to his testimony, PG&E presented evidence 

demonstrating that a pinhole leak is not considered a “failure” for integrity management

in a general context or in direct response to particular contentions.

purposes. Rather, these leaks are commonplace and have been occurring without incident on

64 Mr. Gawronski’spipeline systems since the industry began tracking them forty years ago. 

assertion was wrong, and his testimony controverted (and refuted), whether or not PG&E

identified him when doing so.

59 CCSF OB at 6-7.
60 Other parties suggest the same result. See CPSD OB at 83 (referring to Mr. Harpster’s conclusion that was 
purportedly “not disputed or rebutted by PG&E”); id. at 91 (“PG&E presented no meaningful rebuttal..and M r. 
Harpster’s testimony was “never refuted by PG&E”); DRA OB at 60 (repeatedly asserting “PG&E has not 
contested” or “it is uncontested”); TURN OB at 35 (“PG&E’s response to these allegations is almost nonexistent” 
and “Mr. Martinelli does not even attempt to rebut...”).
61 Cf. Glade v. Hawes Firearms Co., 226 Cal. App. 3d 314, 324-25 (1990) (focus in deciding whether the burden of 
proof has been met is a determination on the “quality” or “convincing force” of the evidence, not the “quantity”).
62 Ex. CCSF-1 at 5 (CCSF/Gawronski).
63 PG&E OB 82-84; Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-14 to 4-15 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-16); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-10 to 
5-11 (PG&E/Zurcher); Joint R.T. 870-71 (PG&E/Zurcher).
64 Joint R.T. 871 (PG&E/Zurcher) (further indicating the number of pinhole leaks per year has been decreasing from 
nearly 20,000 reported 40 years ago when the industry first began tracking such leaks to 1,500 last year). It is not 
significant that a pinhole leak may be a “reportable incident” under integrity management rules, as the cost of 
repairing a pinhole leak may make it reportable. Id.
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Public Utilities Code Section 451 Is Not, And Cannot Constitutionally Be, A 
Safety Regulation

B.

65 Public Utilities Code Section 451 is aAs discussed in PG&E’s opening brief, 

ratemaking provision that cannot properly serve as an independent source of safety violations.

CPSD and Intervenors take an opposing view, asserting that the Commission can appropriately 

rely on Section 451 to find violations of law and impose fines and penalties against PG&E. 

CPSD and Intervenors claim the propriety of utilizing Section 451 as a stand-alone safety 

provision has been conclusively settled and need not long detain the Commission.

CPSD’s reliance on Section 451 in this proceeding, however, far exceeds the scope of 

any prior use sanctioned by the Commission or the courts. The unprecedented breadth CPSD

66

67

reads into Section 451 is evidenced by CPSD’s own words: “Any unsafe condition or violation of

Section 451 cannot act as ana utility safety practice may be a violation of Section 451.” 

independent source for the wide-ranging alleged violations CPSD asserts against PG&E.69

In Carey v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. , D.99-04-029, 1999 Cal. PUC LEXIS 215, one of 

the cases relied on by CPSD, the Commission determined that any reasonableness obligation 

imposed by Section 451 was objectively ascertainable by reference to an existing definition, 

standard or common industry understanding identifiable in that action. 70 Unlike Carey, in 

asserting the broad violations against PG&E, CPSD fails to reference an existing definition,

standard or common understanding among utilities or address the “reasonable service,

On the contrary, CPSD71instrumentalities, equipment and facilities” clause of Section 451.

65 PG&E OB at 28-35.
66 CPSD OB at 29-31; TURN OB at 3-5; CCSF OB at 3-5; DRA OB at 8-11; San Bruno OB at 13.

CPSD OB at 29-31; TURN OB at 3-5; CCSF OB at 3-5; DRA OB at 8-11; San Bruno OB at 13. CPSD claims the
issue is so clear that “PG&E cannot claim that Section 451 does not create a duty separate from GO 112 for PG&E 
to provide safe service.”). CPSD OB at 31. TURN describes it as “the longstanding, bedrock obligation under 
Section 451 to maintain and operate a safe gas transmission system.” TURN OB at 4.
68 CPSD OB at 29 (emphasis added).
69 PG&E contends that Section 451 cannot validly serve as an independent source of safety violations in any context, 
and that to the extent prior decisions held to the contrary, they were wrongly decided. Regardless, CPSD’s use of 
Section 451 in this proceeding is beyond the scope of any such decision.
70 Carey, D.99-04-029, 1999 Cal. PUC LEXIS 215; PG&E OB at 33.
71 Carey, D.99-04-029, 1999 Cal. PUC LEXIS 215; PG&E OB at 33-34. The only industry standard cited by CPSD 
is ASA B31.1.8-1955, but that voluntary standard does not apply to all the Section 451 violations CPSD alleges and 
cannot be enforced through Section 451 in any event. If it could, the Commission’s adoption of GO 112 would have 
been an unnecessary rulemaking exercise. See PG&E OB at 39. And if CPSD were correct, ASA B31.1.8 would 
only be relevant to Section 451’s application from 1 955 to 1961. After 1961, when GO 112 rendered the standard

67
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creates a heretofore unforeseen and infinit ely broad standard that “ [a]ny unsafe condition or 

violation of a utility safety practice may be a violation of Section 451.

Likewise, Pacific Bell Wireless, LLC (Cingular) v. Public Utilities Commission , 140 Cal. 

App. 4th 718 (2006) is not controlling because that utility had notice that its conduct “in this 

instance” was unlawful through prior Commission decisions and marketplace reaction ,73 PG&E

r>12

had no such notice. Overlooked by CPSD, the critical conclusion from Cingular, quoting Carey,

74 Thewas that S ection 451 was not void for vagueness “in application to the instant case.” 

Commission has never applied Section 451 to punish a utility for what CPSD contends were a

broad array of shoddy gas operations, or actions that indisputably complied with pipeline safety 

regulations. For instance, CPSD continues to assert that conditions at Milpitas Terminal and on 

PG&E’s SCADA system constituted a Section 451 violation despite the undisputed fact that on 

September 9, 2010, PG&E’s pressure control systems wo rked as designed to keep pressure on 

Line 132 far below allowed regulatory limits.

Attempting to justify its unprecedented use of Section 451, CPSD cites a collection of 

cases and Commission decisions in its Response to PG&E’s Request for Official Notice 

March 11, 2013) and in its opening brief in the parallel Records OIL Most of these authorities 

do not mention Section 451, and those that do involve contexts very different from this 

enforcement proceeding. Investigation of the Mohave Coal Plant Accident , D.94-03 -048, for 

instance, was a prudence review decision that never mentions Section 451. 77 A prudence review 

is distinguishable from an enforcement proceeding for several reasons, including that the utility, 

not CPSD, bears the burden of proof in a prudence review. 78 Similarly irrelevant is Lozano v. 

Pacific Gas & Electric Co. , 70 Cal. App. 2d 415 (1945), a negligence action that also does not 

mention Section 451. Nor does D.61269’s broad statement that GO 112 did not remove the

75

(filed

mandatory, CPSD has identified no other industry definition, standard or common understanding defining the 
boundaries of what Section 451 prohibits.
72 Ex. CPSD-5 at 1 (CPSD/Stepanian) (emphasis added).
73 Cingular, 140 Cal. App. 4th at 741-43.
74 CPSD OB at 30; see Cingular, 140 Cal. App. 4th at 741-43.
75 CPSD OB at 59-61; Ex. CPSD-1 at 8, 24 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 12, 124; Ex. PG&E-l 
at 8-7 (PG&E/Kazimirsky/Slibsager); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-13 to 9-14 (PG&E/Miesner); Joint R.T. 193 
(PG&E/Kazimirsky).
76 CPSD’s Response to PG&E’s Request for Official Notice at 9, filed March 20, 2013 (1.12-01-007).

D.94-03-048, 1994 Cal. PUC LEXIS 216.
78 D.94-03-048, 1994 Cal. PUC LEXIS 216, at *35.

77
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“primary obligation” to provide safe service shed any light on the proper interpretation of 

Section 451. The decision does not refer to Section 451, let alone an enforceable legal 

requirement imposed by Section 451. 79 Order Instituting Rulemaking, D.12-12-030, 2012 Cal. 

PUC LEXIS 600, mentions Section 451, but in the context of a rulemaking proceeding that also 

addresses rate recovery. In rulemaking proceedings, the Commission has unquestioned authority 

to adopt safety rules, and Section 451 properly applies to the determination of rates. Thus, far 

from supporting CPSD, D.12-12 -030 illustrates the proper approach to safety regulation

provided for in the Public Utilities Code: the adoption of concrete and intelligible safety 

standards and measures to be applied prospect ively. Under CPSD’s interpretation of Section 

451, however, such rulemakings would be unnecessary because Section 451 would supplant all 

prescriptive safety rules with a strict liability provision to be applied based on hindsight 

CPSD has in this proceeding.

Langley v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. , 41 Cal. 2d 655 (1953), does not support CPSD

The majority opinion

- as

80either. Langley involved a damages action for breach of contract, 

mentioned Section 451 once. A written contract obligated the utility to furnish electricity 

according to the Commission’s rules and regulations. The Court cited Section 451 to support 

its determination that, under the terms of the contract, the utility owed its ratepayers a “general 

duty to exercise reasonable care in operating its system to avoid unreasonable risks of harm to 

the[ir] persons and property.” 82 At most, Langley stands for the proposition that utilities owe 

their ratepayers a duty of reasonable care in the delivery of power service. That is hardly 

noteworthy, since basic principles of tort law impose this duty irrespective of Section 451. See, 

e.g., id. at 662-63 (noting that the Court’s analysis and result would have been the same under a 

negligence theory).

Gay Law Students Ass’n v. Pacific Telephone & Teleg raph Co., 24 Cal.3d 458 (1979), is 

also beside the point. The Court did not discuss Section 451. It held that arbitrary employment 

discrimination violates Public Utilities Code Section 453(a), which provides in relevant part:

“No public utility shall. . . in any . . . respect. . . subject any . . . person to any prejudice or

79 Investigation into the Need of a General Order, etc., D.61269 (1960) (“D.61269”). 
Langley, 41 Cal. 2d at 657.

81 Langley, 41 Cal. 2d at 658.
82 Langley, 41 Cal. 2d at 660-61.

80
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disadvantage.”83 The Court based its statutory holding on four factors: (1) the broad and 

unqualified language of the statute; (2) the statute’s legislative history; (3) “the evolut ion of the 

common law principle which the section codifies”; and (4) “constitutional considerations” - 

specifically, the Court’s prior holding in the case that equal protection forbids a utility from 

discriminating in employment on the basis of sexual orientation. 84 In Barnett v. Delta Lines, 

Inc., 137 Cal. App. 3d 674, 682- 83 (1982), the court noted in dicta that “[i]t could be argued” 

that Section 451 applies outside the ratemaking context based on the reasoning of Gay Law 

Students Ass’n. If anything, the Barnett court’s cautious suggestion underscores that Section 451 

is most naturally read as a ratemaking provision. In any event, the plausible argument it 

identifies does not withstand scrutiny because none of the considerations relied on in Gay Law 

Students Ass’n - text, legislative history, common law evolution, and constitutional

considerations - support interpreting Section 451 as a free-floating safety standard.

CPSD’s inconsistent articulation of the standard that it seeks to enforce under Section 

451 further underscores the impropriety of CPSD’s reliance on Section 451 in this proceeding. 

CPSD has described the standard as “good utility safety practices,” “good engineering practices,” 

and “best engineering practices,” all of which necessarily have different meanings. For instance, 

a “good” practices standard would allow a utility to choose between various good options, while

a “best” practices standard would require the utility to choose the best one available. In its 

opening brief, CPSD now refe rs to “unreasonably dangerous” and “unreasonably unsafe” 

standards, which may be additional different standards CPSD seeks to impose through Section 

451, though CPSD does not clarify.85

In sum, PG&E cannot have had notice of what Section 451 requires, or what it prohibits,

when the standard it purportedly imposes is infinitely broad and CPSD’s application of it 

repeatedly changes. Sanctioning CPSD’s use of Section 451 in this manner will infect this Oil 

with a constitutional defect.86 Cal. Const, art. I, § 7(a).

83 Gay Law Students Ass’n, 24 Cal. 3d at 477 (“‘ No public utility shall, as to rates, charges, service, facilities, or in 
any other respect, make or grant any preference or advantage to any corporation or person or 
corporation or person to any prejudice or disadvantage 
original)).
84 Gay Law Students Ass’n, 24 Cal. 3d at 485-86.
85 CPSD OB at 31, 32, 34, 38, 39, 47, 50, 55, 60, 61, 64, 65, 68, 75, 83.
86 See also FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 132 S. Ct. 2307, 2317 (2012); PG&E OB at 35-38.

subject any 
453(a)) (emphasis i n(quoting Pub. Util. Code §
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c. Consideration Of Violations Alleged By CPSD After The Close Of Evidence 
Would Violate Constitutional Due Process Requirements

When it filed its opening brief on March 11, 2013, CPSD included Appendix C, listing 55 

distinct violations alleged against PG&E. In its January 12, 2012 initial report, CPSD specified 

“PG&E’S VIOLATIONS OF APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS,” charging 18 

violations.87 Thus, CPSD had not previously alleged most of the 55 violations set forth in 

Appendix C, including all but one of 37 alleged continuing violations that CPSD claims go back 

as far as 54 years.

On March 18, 2013 PG&E moved to strike Appendix C and to have the proceeding 

decided on CPSD’s original charges on the grounds that basic due process principles guarantee 

PG&E adequate prior notice of all the charges against it, and CPSD’s assertion of new violations 

after the close of evidence fell far short of meeting that mandate, 

granted in part and denied in part PG&E’s motion to strike. The A LJ struck Appendix C, but 

permitted CPSD to resubmit it after adding a column with “specific reference to where the Oil or 

one or more of its referenced documents provides PG&E with notice of the factual basis for the 

allegation.”89

88 On April 2, 2013, the ALJ

The April 2 nd Ruling’s r ationale for allowing CPSD to resubmit Appendix C is the

following:

I do not find that the Commission intended Section X of the CPSD 
Report to be the exclusive charging document in this investigation. 
On the contrary, if a statement of alleged facts constituting a 
violation is set forth in the Oil or in its referenced documents, then 
PG&E had adequate notice prior to evidentiary hearings of the 
factual allegations that it needed to defend against. 90

87 Ex. CPSD-1, Section X at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).
88 See PG&E’s Motion to Strike Appendix C, filed March 18, 2013.
89 See Administrative Law Judge’s Ruling On Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s Motion to Strike Appendix C to 
the Opening Brief of the Consumer Protection and Safety Division, April 2, 2013 (the “April 2 nd Ruling”). On April 
8, 2013, CPSD filed a revised Appendix C that only addressed alleged violations related to emergency response.
The ALJ issued another order on April 12, 2013, directing CPSD to submit a second revised Appendix C addressing 
all 55 alleged violations with “reference^] to where the Oil or one or more of its referenced documents provides 
PG&E with notice of the factual basis for the allegation.”
Motion of the Consumer Protection and Safety Division for Clarification and Setting Date for Reply Briefs, April 
12. 2013 (the “April 12 th Ruling”). On April 18, 2013, CPSD submitted its further revised Appendix C (“Revised 
Appendix C”).
90 On this basis , the ALJ stated, “I find that it is necessary for CPSD to provide additional information to confirm 
that PG&E was given timely and adequate notice of the factual bases for each of CPSD’s alleged violations.” The 
ALJ reaffirmed this direction in his April 12th Ruling.

See Administrative Law Judge’s Ruling Addressin g
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That conclusion is erroneous. Due process requires more than a mere factual description in the 

Oil or “referenced documents” that CPSD will later 

alleged violations.

Among the “basic” requirements of due process are notice of 

reasonable opportunity to respond.91 These “basic ingredients]” of fair procedure are essential 

safeguards of the “fundamental principle of justice” that no party may be “prejudiced in [its]

Pinsker v. Pac. Coast Soc’y of 
see also Salkin , 176 Cal. App. 3d at 1122 (“The 

individual must have the opportunity to present a defense.”) (citing Pinsker, 12 Cal. 3d at 555). 

A severe violation of these basic guarantees occurs where, as CPSD has done here, new charges 

are introduced after the accused has already made its defense.92

California courts have condemned the late assertion of new charges in administrative 

enforcement proceedings. In Rosenblit, for example, the court of appeal decried disciplinary

after the close of evidence - turn into

the charges and a

rights without an opportunity to make [its] defense.” 

Orthodontists, 12 Cal. 3d 541, 555 (1974);

proceedings in which the accused “was kept in the dark about the specific charges made against

93 Inhim” as being “a charade” and “offensive]” to “even an elementary sense of fairness.”

Smith v. State Bd. of Pharmacy , 37 Cal. App. 4th 229 (1 995), the court denounced the board’s

mid-hearing change of legal theories as violative of “the basic . . . elements” of due process 

because the respondent was “misled by the [initial] accusation” as to what charges he would 

have to defend against.94 “[Fundamental fairness,” the court concluded, “requires notice of the

And in Cannon v. Commission on Judicial Qualifications,>->95statutory theory in the accusation.

14 Cal. 3d 678 (1975), the California Supreme Court held that a charge not “contained in 

formal notice” of proceedings had to “be stricken as irrelevant.”96 In so holding, the Court relied 

on In re Ruffalo , which found a due process violation where a county bar association added a 

new charge midway through a disbarment proceeding.97 The Ruffalo Court found that procedure 

unconstitutional due to the “absence of fair notice as to__ the precise nature of the charges ,”

the

91 Salkin v. Cal. Dental Ass’n, 176 Cal. App. 3d 1118,1121 (1986) (quoting Haekethal v. Cal. Med. Ass’n, 138 Cal. 
App. 3d 435, 442 (1982)).
92 See Salkin, 176 Cal. App. 3d at 1122.
93 Rosenblit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1447-48.
94 Smith, 37 Cal. App. 4th at 242.
95 Smith, 37 Cal. App. 4th at 243 (emphasis added).
96 Cannon, 14 Cal. 3d at 695-96.
97 In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. at 552.
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and emphasized that this deficiency “serious[ly] prejudice[d]” the respondent’s right to mount a 

defense, saying: “How the charge would have been met had it been originally included in those 

leveled against [the respondent] no one knows.” 98 See also Rosenblit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1446 

(“It is impossible to speculate how [the respondent] might have defended had he been informe d 

of the specific problems with each patient.”). In each of these cases the reviewing court granted 

relief.

The basic constitutional principle derived from these cases is that due process requires 

that an accused receive notice of the charge, i.e., what the charge is and that it is being asserted, 

not merely notice of facts that may or may not later be the basis for charging a violation of law. 

The references in CPSD’s Revised Appendix C to documents that purportedly provided PG&E 

prior notice “of the factual basis” for legal violations CPSD did not allege until after the close of 

evidence do not demonstrate constitutionally-sufficient notice of the alleged violations . As a 

matter of law, those references do not demonstrate that PG&E received adequate prior notice of 

the new violations CPSD alleges and they do not overcome the constitutional infirmity of the 

original Appendix C. This infirmity is even more pronounced with respect to CPSD’s alleged 

“continuing violations,” which went from 1 in the January 1 2, 2012 report99 to 37 in Appendix 

increasing by several orders of magnitude the potential fines and penalties to which PG&E100C,

is exposed.

At best, the factual references in Revised Appendix C describe PG&E’s purported 

conduct and CPSD’s contention that the conduct was deficient in some manner. But CPSD’s 

prior discussion of PG&E’s conduct, even where CPSD asserted a purported deficiency, does not 

provide notice to PG&E that, based on that conduct, CPSD is alleging or intends to allege a 

violation of law for which PG&E can be subject to fines, penalties, and remedial directives.

In an enforcement proceeding, PG&E must defend against alleged violations of law, not the 

myriad allegedly deficient actions CPSD describes in its reports and testimony, 

that its actions were deficient is not the same as telling PG&E that its actions violated a law and

101

102 Telling PG&E

98 In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. at 551-52 & n.4 (emphasis added).
99 Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).

CPSD OB, Appendix C. CPSD realleged all 37 continuing violations in Revised Appendix C.
See 1.12-01-007 at 9-10 (stating Commission’s intent to impose substantial fines, penalties and remedial relief if 

violations of law are proven).
See generally Ex. CPSD-1 (CPSD/Stepanian) and Ex. CPSD-5 (CPSD/Stepanian).

100

101

102
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it is being “prosecuted” for it; or even more, that it is being prosecuted as a continuing violation 

recurring every day for the last 54 years. Absent a prior, specific allegation of a violation of law, 

including whether the alleged violation is purportedly a continuing one, CPSD has not satisfied 

its constitutional obligation to put PG&E on notice of the legal charges against it in a time and 

manner that permits PG&E to defend itself against those legal charges. See, e.g., Smith, 37 Cal. 

App. 4th at 243 (holding that an agency violated due process by raising a new legal theory 

midway through the hearing because due process “requires notice of the statutory theory in the 

accusation” (emphasis added)). Appendix C failed that test on its face, and CPSD’s addition of 

“references” in Revised Appendix C did not cure the defect.

Even assuming prior notice of the factual basis for a later-alleged legal violation could 

satisfy constitutional requirements, many of the “references” in Revised Appendix C fail to 

demonstrate even that level of notice. Some “references” have no discernible connection to the

alleged violation at all. For instance, CPSD supports its two alleged violations regarding 

emergency response mutual assistance agreements by referencing a PG&E data response that 

attached PG&E’s several hundred page emergency plan because “Mutual Assistance Agreements 

are discussed on F- 2.1” of the emergency p lan. 

discusses mutual assistance agreements provides no support for CPSD’s contention that it 

provided PG&E adequate prior notice of alleged deficiencies, let alone legal violations, related to 

mutual assistance agreements.

Similarly, the documents referenced in Revised Appendix C did not provide PG&E 

notice of CPSD’s new standalone allegation that PG&E violated Section 451 by “failing] to
„ 104

103 That page F-2.1 of PG&E’s emergency plan

CPSD contends, first, that PG&E received notice of this claim in

But those references are very 

general and give no indication that CPSD was alleging a standalone violation of Section 451 

based on PG&E’s safety culture.106 CPSD contends that the entire “safety culture” section of its 

January 12, 2012 report and the entire Overland Report provided PG&E with notice of its alleged

place safety over profits, 

the Oil and the introduction to CPSD’s January 2012 report. 105

103 CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 7.
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
See Oil at 2 (referring to a “systemic failure of PG&E’s corporate culture” as one of many alleged ca uses of the 

San Bruno accident); Ex. CPSD- 1 at 3 (CPSD/Stepanian) (identifying PG&E’s corporate culture as one of a 
“combination of multiple contributing factors” allegedly causing the San Bruno accident).

104

105

106
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safety culture violation.107 The fact that CPSD was unable to point to a single specific reference 

anywhere in the 36 -page “safety culture” discussion in its report or the 118 -page Overland 

Report demonstrates the inadequacy of CPSD’s notice of this alleged violation. CPSD’s 

references fail to provide PG&E notice of which conduct CPSD alleged was unlawful or against 

what standard PG&E’s safety culture was to be judged, which is contrary to the ALJ’s April 2 nd 

and April 12 th rulings directing CPSD to provide “specific reference^]” and to delete any 

violation from Revised Appendix C for which “no such reference can be identified.”

Even if the Oil and page 3 of the CPSD Report provided notice that CPSD intended to 

allege some type of standalone corporate-culture-related violation - which they did not - those 

documents failed to provide PG&E notice of the nature of the alleged violation, or that it began 

in 1998 and has continued every day thereafter. “Safety culture” or “corporate culture” is a 

broad and amorphous topic. To say “your corporate culture violates the law” is not much more 

specific than saying “everything you do violates the law.” That is not the type of notice due 

process requires. See, e.g., Rosenblit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1446 (finding a due process violation 

where the prosecuting entity “refused to disclose the specific acts or omissions ” it was alleging 

prior to the hearing (emphasis added)). The fact that CPSD relies on the entire Overland Report 

and the “safety culture” section of the CPSD Report as its purported notice of the alleged 

violation underscores this point. Those reports discuss hundreds of different topics, 108 present a 

wide range of disparate data 109 and quote from numerous sources ranging from PG&E’s annual 

reports to texts discussing organizational behavior. 110 Knowing that CPSD wanted to paint

107 CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
For example, the “safety culture” section of the CPSD Report addresses, among other topics, the alleged effect of 

deregulation on PG&E’s corporate culture (Ex. CPSD-1 at 127 (CPSD/Stepanian)), PG&E’s bankruptcy (id. at 128), 
the Business Transformation initiatives that ended in 2007 ( id. at 135- 37), a 2009 reduction in PG&E’s workforce 
(id. at 139), common and preferred stock dividends ( 
environmental cleanup (id. at 143), the fact that PG&E’s parent has other sub sidiaries (id. at 144), public relations 
issues (id. at 145- 46), PG&E’s acquisitions beginning in 1905 ( id. at 147), PG&E’s involvement in the political 
process dating back to 1927 ( id. at 147- 48), PG&E’s alleged concern about competition ( id. at 147-49), PG&E’s 
response to a leak in Elk Grove (id. at 150), the Rancho Cordova accident (id. at 150-51), whether PG&E mentioned 
public safety in its publicly filed documents (id. at 151-52), PG&E’s Pipeline 2020 Program (now superseded by the 
PSEP) (id. at 152-54), internal communications about organizational changes ( id. at 156-58), and whether PG&E 
was sufficiently forthcoming about its revenues in the GT&S rate cases ( id. at 159). The Overland Report touches 
on still many other issues.

See, e.g. , Ex. CPSD-168, Chapter 6 (CPSD/Harpster) (presenting statistics regarding, among other things, 
staffing, integrity management assessments, risk reduction, leaks and leak repairs, and corrective work requests).

See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-1 at 151, 161 (CPSD/Stepanian).

108

id. at 140-41), employee compensation ( id. at 141-43),

109

110
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PG&E in a negative light is not the same thing as having notice of an alleged violation of the law 

spanning more than a decade.

It was not until CPSD fded its post-hearing brief that CPSD identified how it claims 

PG&E’s corporate culture allegedly violated the law. CPSD now alleges for the first ti me that 

PG&E violated Section 451 by “reducing safety-related budgets; spending less than authorized 

on safety; prematurely ending its transmission pipeline replacement plan; not seeking sufficient

O&M funds; using less effective and cheaper IM tools; reducing safety-related personnel; while

at the same time using retained earnings to pay dividends, repurchasing stock, providing
„ 111bonuses, expending funds on public relations and ballot initiatives, 

allege a standalone violation of S ection 451 based on PG&E’s safety culture, it could and should 

have identified the violation on its list of “PG&E’S VIOLATIONS OF APPLICABLE LAWS 

AND REGULATIONS” in its January 12, 2012 report, and explained the basis for its alleged 

violation long before the evidentiary hearings, and not waited until PG&E had no opportunity to 

defend against these new allegations.

Nor could PG&E have gleaned the nature of the purported safety culture violation that 

CPSD now alleges from the CPSD or Overland Reports. Some of the issues CPSD now claims

none of

If CPSD had intended to

contributed to a violation of Section 451 are not even mentioned in those reports and 

them are discussed in terms that would indicate that CPSD intended to allege that they 

contributed to a violation of law . For example, neither report addresses whether PG&E should 

have sought more O&M funds in its GT&S rate case applications much less that its failure to do 

so violated the law. CPSD’s report never once mentions the GPRP, and there are only a few 

passing references to the GPRP in the Overland Report in the context of statistics about miles of 

pipeline replaced and the introduction of the RMP. 

that CPSD considered PG&E’s decision to move transmission pipe out of the GPRP and i nto the 

RMP to be a centerpiece of an alleged standalone safety-culture-related violation of Section 451, 

with CPSD now even contending that the San Bruno accident might not have occurred if PG&E 

had not “prematurely” ended the transmission component of th e GPRP.113 Similarly, while the 

Overland Report presented staffing-related data, there is no indication there that CPSD believed

112 Those references do not hint at the fact

in CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
112 See Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-13, 7- 1 (CPSD/Harpster). The GPRP is not mentioned in Overland’s list of “key 
findings.” See Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-1 to 1-2 (CPSD/Harpster).
113 See infra Section V.F.4.a.
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PG&E’s staffing contributed to a violation of the law. 114 Lastly, the CPSD Report mentions 

dividends, stock repurchases, bonuses, and public relations initiatives, but that discussion begins 

with the acknowledgement that PG&E “is generally permitted to redirect funds.” 115 Once again, 

CPSD never indicated that it claimed that PG&E’s actions violated the law.

Given the numerous references CPSD added to Revised Appendix C, PG&E has prepared 

a table in which PG&E responds to CPSD’s “references” for each of the 55 alleged violations. 

That table is attached to this reply brief as Appendix E, and demonstrates that in numerous 

instances CPSD’s references do nothing to establish that PG&E received adequate prior notice of 

the factual basis for alleged violations, much less adequate notice of the alleged violations 

themselves.

As PG&E discussed in its Motion to Strike Appendix C, CPSD listed the legal violations 

it was pursuing against PG&E in Section X of its January 12, 2012 report, entitled “PG&E’s

Until it submitted

Appendix C with its opening brief on March 11, 2013, CPSD did not update or revise the alleged 

violations against PG&E (other than withdrawing one that it revived in Appendix C, see infra 

Section V.A.3). On June 26, 2012, PG&E responded to CPSD’s charges with written testimony 

addressing both the facts and the legal violations CPSD asserted in the January 12, 2012 

report.117 PG&E also prepared the defense it presented at the evidentiary hearings based on the 

violations CPSD asserted in Section X of the January 12, 2012 report. Accordingly, the 

appropriate result, and the one consistent with due process, is to strike or ignore Appendix C and 

Revised Appendix C entirely and permit CPSD to pursue only the alleged violations stated in 

Section X of CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report, which were the only alleged violations for which 

PG&E had constitutionally-adequate notice. 118 Because Revised Appendix C does not cure the 

due process violation Appendix C created, for the Commission to consider the newly alleged 

violations would violate constitutional due process.

116VIOLATIONS OF APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS.”

114 The Overland Report does not even present infonnation about specific reductions in “safety -related personnel,” 
see infra Section V.F.3.b, so it could not have provided notice of the alleged violation.

Ex. CPSD-1 at 140 (CPSD/Stepanian).
116 Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).

See generally Ex. PG&E-l (PG&E/Various).
PG&E’s Motion to Strike at 1, 7, 10-11.

115

117

118
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CPSD Improperly Alleges “Continuing” ViolationsD.

In Appendix C to its opening brief, CPSD for the first time characterizes many of the 

alleged violations against PG&E as “continuing” violations under Public Utilities Code Section 

PG& E addresses factual defects in particular alleged “continuing” violations in its 

substantive discussions in Section V, below. CPSD’s alleged continuing violations, however, 

suffer from a common defect, which PG&E discusses here.

CPSD’s view seems to be that an offense arises on the day of an event and continues for 

as long as the resulting consequence or condition continues, with each intervening day 

constituting a new and separate violation. For instance, CPSD contends that PG&E violated 

Section 451 “by failing to visually inspect segments,” which CPSD asserts is a separate violation

Though CPSD does not explain it, PG&E 

understands CPSD to be referring to PG&E’s alleged failure to visually inspect the inside of the 

pups in Segment 180 during installation. If PG&E failed to visually inspect the pups during 

installation, that event occurred once in 1956 and not again every day thereafter through 

September 9, 2010. The law does not permit CPSD to compound a single act into daily 

violations for 54 years.

The plain text of Section 2108 forecloses CPSD’s boundless theory. Public Utilities 

Code Section 2108 provides: “[I]n case of a 

thereof shall be a separate and distinc t offense.” As its language makes clear, Section 2108 

applies only to violative conduct that continues over time, not to specific instances of violations. 

Accord Qwest, 2003 Cal. PUC LEXIS 67, at *20- 21 (“The Commission has calculated fines on 

the basis of Section 2108 in cases where the evidence established that. .. practices that violated 

statutory or decisional standards had occurred over a period of time, rather than specific 

instances of violations.”). It is not enough to contend, as CPSD does, that the continued result of 

a violation makes a violation continuing. CPSD’s approach conflates the specific act that 

constitutes the violation (e.g., the alleged failure to visually inspect the pups) with a consequence 

that flows from that act (the inside of the pups remain visually uninspected indefinitely). Under 

Section 2108, it is the violation that must be ongoing, not its natural result.

1192108.

120every day from 1956 to September 9, 2010.

continuing violation each day’s continuance

119 CPSD reiterated the alleged continuing violations in its Revised Appendix C, submitted April 18, 2013.
120 CPSD OB, Appendix C at 1; CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 1. 
121 Pub. Util. Code § 2108 (emphasis added).
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Even if the statute could bear CPSD’s theory that consequences cause a violation to 

continue indefinitely, that theory would transgress the narrow construction rule the California 

Supreme Court applies to statutes that permit the aggregation of daily penalties. See Hale v.

Morgan, 22 Cal. 3d 388, 401 (1978) (“Uniformly, we have looked with disfavor on ever -

mounting penalties and have narrowly construed the statutes which either require or permit 

them.”).122 For example, in People ex rel. Younger v. Superior Court, 16 Cal. 3d 30 (1976), the 

Court narrowly construed Water Code Section 13350(a), which at the time imposed a penalty of 

$6,000 “for each day in which [an unlawful oil] deposit occurs.” The Court found this language 

to be ambiguous between the two competing interpretations urged by the parties: (1) each day 

the oil remained on the water; or (2) each day the process of deposit lasted, 

adopted the latter, narrower construction because the alternative - each day the oil remained on 

the water - was unduly harsh and made little sense. Younger, 16 Cal. 3d at 43-44 (explaining 

that under the broader construction “liability is measured by a critical factor normally beyond the 

control of the violator, namely the time in which the oil spill is or reasonably can be cleaned 

up”); see also Hale , 22 Cal. 3d at 401 (citing Younger as an application of the narrow 

construction rule for civil penalty provisions). Unlike the statute in Younger, Section 2108 is not 

ambiguous. But even if it were, the narrow construction rule precludes CPSD’s expansive theory 

of what makes a “continuing violation.”

Accepting CPSD’s theory would also produce incongruous results, in violation of a basic

123 The Court

rule of statutory construction. “[I]t is fundamental that a statute should not be interpreted in a
» 124 Once the pups in Segment 180 were installed, it is 

unlikely another occasion for an internal visual inspection would arise. Yet, according to CPSD, 

PG&E may be subject to daily penalties for as long as a visual inspection of the interior of these 

pieces of pipe remains undone, even though the pipe is in the ground and PG&E was not 

required or called upon in the normal course to conduct an interior visual inspection. It would

manner that would lead to absurd results.

122 These statutes are anomalies. Civil penalty provisions are generally “limited either to a fixed multiple of actual 
damages, to a specified total amount per ‘violation’ or to a fixed duration.” Hale, 22 Cal. 3d at 401.
123 Younger, 16 Cal. 3d at 43.
124 Cent. Pathology Serv. Med. Clinic, Inc. v. Superior Court, 3 Cal. 4th 181, 191 (1992) (quoting People v. Morris, 
46 Cal. 3d 1, 15 (1988)).
125 Even integrity management assessments do not involve internal visual inspections. The closest would be an in
line inspection with an electronic tool, which is not the visual inspection CPSD alleges as a violation here and 
physically could not be performed on Segment 180 without modifying the pipeline.
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constitute a continuing violation notwithstanding the fact that PG&E had no notice of the alleged 

violation and that the violation was not realistically curable. Nonetheless, PG&E would be 

subject to a fine under Sections 2107 and 2108 of “not less than $500” for each day between 

1956 and September 9, 2010. The total minimum penalty for this single act: $9.8 million (54 

years x 365 days x $500). The maximum authorized penalty would exceed $140 million.

The Commission considers notice and an opportunity to cure a violation as prerequisites 

to imposing fines: “[W]e believe the proper enforcement policy is to impose fines in situations 

where (a) there is a violation of a GO of which the utility either knows or should have known; 

and (b) after acquiring either actual or constructive knowledge of the violation, the utility fails to 

cure it within a reasonable period.” Investigation of S. Cal. Edison Co. , D.04-04-065, 2004 Cal. 

PUC LEXIS 207, at *23; see also Pub. Util. Code § 2104.5 (requiring penalty determinations to 

take into account, among other factors, the “good faith of the person charged in attempting to 

achieve compliance, after notification of a violation”). In short, notice and curability are 

essential elements of a “continuing violation” and elements that are lacking in CPSD’s use of 

Section 2108.

126

Section 2108, Commission precedent and the California Constitution pro 

“continuing” violations theory.

hibit CPSD’s

CPSD’s Delay In Raising Alleged “Continuing” Violations Constitutes 
Laches

E.

CPSD has overseen and regulated PG&E’s gas operations for decades. Among the many 

activities involved in that oversight and regulation have been numerous audits and inspections. 

Throughout this time period, CPSD has made findings and asserted violations against PG&E

126 The applicable fine range is determined by the statutory fines available at the time of the violation. See Marin
Telemanagement Corp. v. Pac. Bell, D.95-01-044, 1995 Cal. PUC LEXIS 43, at *33-34 n.34. From 1930 through 
1993, the authorized fine range under Section 2107 was $500-$2,000 per violation per day. From 1994 through 
2010, the minimum fine remained $500 and the maximum fine increased to $20,000. Any penalty within this range 
for this single, one-time alleged violation would be contrary to California’s Excessive Fines Clause. See Cal. Const, 
art. I, § 17; People v. Urbano , 128 Cal. App. 4th 396, 406 (2005) (quoting United States v. Bajakajian , 524 U.S. 
321,334(1998)); see also People ex rel. Lockyer v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. , 37 Cal. 4th 707, 728 (2005) 
(explaining that the “touchstone of the constitutional inquiry under the Excessive Fines Clause is the principle of 
proportionality” (internal quotation marks omitted)). Any such penalty would also violate due process. See Cal. 
Const, art. I, § 7(a); Hale, 22 Cal. 3d at 399 (explaining that “‘oppressive’ or ‘unreasonable’ statutory penalties may 
be invalidated as violative of due process” and invalidating a $17,300 fine imposed under a statute that provided for 
a penalty of $ 100 for each day a landlord willfully deprived a tenant of utilities for the purpose of evicting the 
tenant). Such a penalty would also violate due process because PG&E did not have notice of CPSD’s extraordinary 
view of what qualifies as a continuing violation under Section 2108 prior to this investigation.
Television Stations, 132 S. Ct. at 2317-18.

See, e.g. , Fox
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whenever CPSD identified deficiencies. Yet, in this proceeding CPSD asserts pervasive and 

continuing deficiencies in PG&E’s gas operations that CPSD claims constitute continuing legal 

violations, dating back as far as 1970, though CPSD never raised them in an audit or inspection. 

Laches precludes CPSD from pursuing these belated allegations.127

Administrative laches has two elements: (1) unreasonable delay; and (2) prejudice, 

these elements are met, an administrative agency is barred from bringing its claims, 

may be established in either of two ways. The party asserting laches may prove its elements “by 

the evidence in the case.”130 Alternatively, laches may be established by means of an evidentiary 

presumption.

128 If
129 Laches

Where an agency’s delay would violate an analogous statute of limitations, laches is 

presumed and “the burden of proof shifts to the administrative agency” to “(1) show that the

delay ... was excusable, and (2) rebut the presumption that such delay resulted in prejudice to the 

opposing party.”131 In such cases, courts “borrow” the analogous statute of limitations “as a
■>>132measure of the outer limit of reasonable delay, 

statutes of limitation serve the same policy objectives: “to promote justice by preventing 

surprises through the revival of claims that have been allowed to slumber until evidence has been 

lost, memories h ave faded, and witnesses have disappeared.” 133 The policy of borrowing 

limitations statutes is especially strong in a penalty action. See Gabelli v. SEC, No. 11-1274, slip

orceful

Doing so makes sense because laches and

op. at *9 (U.S. Sup. Ct. Feb. 27, 2013) (“Chief Justice Marshall used particularly f 

language in emphasizing the importance of time limits on penalty actions, stating that it ‘would

127 Laches applies to CPSD’s alleged continuing violations regarding PG&E’s Integrity Management program and 
emergency plans. PG&E does not contend that laches applies to violations related to the Segment 180 construction 
CPSD alleged in its January 12, 2012 report because the facts related to those alleged violations could not have been 
discovered and pursued as alleged violations prior to the San Bruno accident. The additional alleged continuing 
violations in CPSD’s Appendix C and Revised Appendix C, however, are invalid under due process because CPSD 
did not allege them until after the close of evidence. See PG&E’s Motion to Strike Appendix C, filed Marc h 18,
2013, supra Section III.C.

Robert F. Kennedy Med. Ctr. v. Belshe, 13 Cal. 4th 748, 760 n.9 (1996).
129 Robert F. Kennedy Med. Ctr., 13 Cal. 4th at 760, n.9.

Fountain Valley Reg’l Hosp. & Med. Ctr. v. Bonta, 75 Cal. App. 4th 316, 323-24 (1999).
131 Fountain Valley Reg’l Hosp., 75 Cal. App. 4th at 324.
132 Brown v. State Pers. Bd. , 166 Cal. App. 3d 1151, 1160 (1985). Analogous statutes of limitations must be 
“borrowed” because they do not apply directly in administrative proceedings. See Fountain Valley Reg’l Hosp., 75 
Cal. App. 4th at 325.
133 Brown, 166 Cal. App. 3d at 1161 (internal quotation marks omitted).

128

130
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be utterly repugnant to the genius of our laws’ if actions for penalties could ‘be brought at any 

distance of time.’” (quoting Adams v. Woods, 6 U.S. 336, 342 (1805)).

In this case, the result is the same under either method of proof: laches bars CPSD’s 

alleged continuing violations related to PG&E’s Integrity Management program and emergency 

plans. PG&E can affirmatively demonstrate laches as explained below, but it is not required to 

do so. The delay in bringing these alleged violations exceeds the analogous statute of limitation. 

CPSD therefore bears the burden of proof as to each element of laches.

The most closely analogous statute of limitations is the one-year period for commencing 

“[a]n action upon a statute for a forfeiture or penalty to the people of this state.” 134 CPSD relies 

on two penalty statutes, Sections 2107 and 2108, and any penalties assessed there under are paid 

to the state’s General Fund.135 Applying Section 340(b)’s one -year period “as a measure of the 

outer limit of reasonable delay,”

2011 - one year before CPSD brought this proceeding 

the presumption of laches. Even if it were determined that Section 340(b)’s one -year statute of 

limitations is not analogous, CPSD had at most three or perhaps four years in which to proceed 

before it must overcome the presumption of laches. S ee Civ. Proc. Code § 338(a) (providing a 

three-year limitation period for “[a]n action upon a liability created by statute, other than a 

penalty or forfeiture”); Civ. Proc. Code § 343 (providing a four-year limitations period where no 

other limitations period applies) ; Geneva Towers Ltd. P’ship v. City of San Francisco , 29 Cal. 

4th 769, 773 (2003) (explaining that Section 343 “is a catchall provision that provides a statute 

of limitations in situations where no specific limitations period applies”). CPSD’s alleged 

violations involving PG&E’s Integrity Management program (dating back to 1970 and 

December 2003) fall well out of even a four year analogous limitations period.

CPSD’s delay in asserting continuing violations going back as far as 1970 is 

unreasonable. With respect to PG&E’s Integrity Management program, CPSD asserts two

136 claimed continuing violations arising before January 12,

are barred unless CPSD can overcome

137

134 Civ. Proc. Code § 340(b). PG&E recognizes this statute does not apply directly to the Commission’s 
enforcement proceedings. See Carey, D.99-04-029, 1999 Cal. PUC LEXIS 215 (citing Little Co. ofMd. Hasp. v. 
Belshe, 53 Cal. App. 4th 325, 329 (1997)). Since it is a statute of limitations applicable to court proceedings for a 
civil penalty, however, it is analogous to the civil penalties that will be sought here by CPSD.
135 See, e.g., In re Cal.-Am. Water Co., D.07-08-030, 2007 Cal. PUC LEXIS 444, at *88.

Brown, 166 Cal. App. 3d at 1160.
137 CPSD OB, Appendix C; CPSD OB Revised Appendix C. CPSD’s alleged continuing violations related to 
emergency response would not be barred by laches if a three or four year analogous statute of limitations applied.

136
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continuing violations dating to August 19, 1970, and 13 more that allegedly began on December 

Putting aside the fact that the integrity management regulations did not become 

effective until February 14, 2004,

13815,2003.
139 CPSD’s attempt to reach back in time is barred by laches. 

CPSD conducted audits of PG&E’s Integrity Management program in 2005 and May 2010.

CPSD did not assert any of the numerous alleged violations it now contends permea ted PG&E’s 

Integrity Management program since December 2003. 141 For instance, CPSD did not state in its

140

audit findings that PG&E was violating regulations by failing “to assign a yield strength of

ather and integrate required24,000 psi when strength was unknown[;]” or by failing to “g 

pipeline data[;]” or by failing “to analysis [sic] manufacture threat of weld defect[;]” or any of 

the other 13 integrity management violations CPSD asserts against PG&E.142

PG&E recognizes that a CPSD audit cannot identify eve ry deficiency in an operator’s 

practices. But to overcome administrative laches, CPSD must show that it was reasonable to

wait nearly 10 years (43 years in two instances) to allege pervasive violations despite twice 

auditing PG&E’s Integrity Management pr ogram and never expressing such concerns. CPSD 

has not made that showing.143

The same problems preclude CPSD from pursuing alleged continuing violations related 

to PG&E’s emergency plans. CPSD asserts six continuing violations against PG&E involving its 

emergency plans that CPSD contends began on August 31, 2009.

Operations, Maintenance and Emergency Plan (OM&E) audits of PG&E in May 2009 and

144 CPSD conducted

138 CPSD OB, Appendix C at 2-3; CPSD OB Revised Appendix C at 3-5.
68 Fed. Reg. 69,778 (Dec. 15, 2003) ; 69 Fed. Reg. 2,307 (Dec. 15, 2003). Thus, CPSD alleges PG&E violated 

integrity management regulations before the regulations were in place. In addition, CPSD provides no evidence 
demonstrating what specific unlawful action or event began on the referenced dates, rendering CPSD’s “violation 
initiation date” arbitrary. In short, CPSD picked (erroneously) the date the federal regulations first came into effect 
(1970 for Part 192) and assumed PG&E violated those regulations beginning the first day and every day thereafter. 
See supra Section V.B.

Ex. PG&E-7 (Tabs 4-13 and -4-25).
141 Ex. PG&E-7 (Tabs 4-13 and -4-25). In 2005, CPSD issued its audit report on July 1, 2005. The auditors spent 
15 days evaluating PG&E’s Integrity Management Program. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-25) at 1, 3. CPSD issued its 2010 
audit report in October 2010, after the San Bruno accident, but did not identify the violations it now asserts Ex. 
PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13).
142 See, e.g., PG&E OB at 58-74 and record citations therein.
143 By contrast, in its post-San Bruno integrity management audit, CPSD asserted numerous alleged violations 
against PG&E, most of which identically reiterated the deficiencies CPSD described in its January 12, 2012 report. 
See Ex. Joint-39.
144 CPSD OB, Appendix C at 4-6; CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 7-9.
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August 2010.145 In both instances, CPSD concluded that PG&E’s emergency plans complied 

with the regulatory provisions it now claims PG&E violated beginning August 31, 2009 (49

Thus, a year after these continuing violations purportedly 

began, CPSD audited PG&E’s emergency plans and found no violations. It is irrelev ant whether 

that incongruity results from an inadequate audit or from CPSD’s present attempt to reach back 

in time - the evidence shows that CPSD unreasonably delayed asserting these alleged continuing 

violations.

146C.F.R. §§ 192.605(c) and 192.615).

PG&E does not contend that CPSD is responsible (and PG&E is not) for alleged 

violations because CPSD did not previously identify them. But requiring that CPSD meet its 

obligation to timely identify and pursue violations is not shifting blame. If the practices CPSD 

alleges have been occurring within PG&E for years, it is not reasonable for CPSD to act only 

now, alleging continuing violations reaching well beyond when CPSD should have acted if the 

allegations have merit.

Assuming for the sake of argument CPSD could demonstrate that its delay was 

reasonable, it would still have to rebut the presumption that the delay was prejudicial to PG&E.

It cannot carry this burden either. Rather, the evidence demonstrates PG&E suffered prejudice 

as a result of CPSD’s delay. Prejudice exists ‘“where the difficulty of doing entire justice 

arises ... by reason of the original transactions having become so obscured by time as to render 

the ascertainment of the exact facts impossible.’” Getty v. Getty , 187 Cal. App. 3d 1159, 1170

see also Danjaq LLC v. Sony 

Corp., 263 F.3d 942, 955 (9th Cir. 2001) (explaining that prejudice is established where there is 

“lost, stale, or degraded evidence, or witnesses whose memories have faded or who have died”). 

Prejudice may also exist where the defendant took actions or suffered consequences it would not 

have, had the plaintiff brought suit promptly. Jackson v. Axton, 25 F.3d 884, 889 (9th Cir. 1994) 

(“Here, Appellees have shown that circumstances have changed in a way that would not have 

occurred had [Plaintiff] sued earlier.”).

CPSD alleges continuing violations it claims began as many as 43 years ago, and many 

more nearly 10 years ago. The broad time frame and scope of the allegations forces PG&E to 

defend itself by recreating long-past events and records. Percipient witnesses may no longer be

(1986) (quoting Garrity v. Miller , 204 Cal. 454, 458 (1928));

145 Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario).
Ex. PG&E-l at 10-2 to 10-3, Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario); CPSD OB, Appendix C at 4-6; CPSD OB, 

Revised Appendix C at 7-9.
146
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available, many may have separated from the Company or may no longer recall enough about the 

events to allow PG&E to adequately respond. (PG&E says “may” because, as noted, CPSD did 

not allege most of these continuing violations until it fded Appendix C with its opening brief on 

March 11, 2013, after the close of evidence. PG&E has no way of knowing whether it could 

gather evidence to defend against these newly-alleged continuing violations. It obviously had no 

opportunity to do so since it did not learn of them until CPSD fded its opening brief. That fact 

alone underscores the prejudice to PG&E, as well as the previously-discussed constitutional 

defect CPSD has created.) Moreover, prejudice exists due to the substantially larger penalties 

and invasive remedial relief to which PG&E may be subject as a result of CPSD’s delay. Had 

CPSD timely pursued these alleged violations, the consequences to PG&E would have been very 

different. See Danjaq, 263 F.3d at 956 (“We agree that the record supports Danjaq’s claim of 

economic prejudice, and that this prejudice is also sufficient to support the second element of 

laches.”).

The evidentiary prejudice here is more severe than in 

921, 924 (1979), where the court found the agency’s fifteen -month pre-accusation delay to be 

prejudicial. In that case, an automobile dismantle r claimed that the DMV’s delay between its 

investigation and initiation of license revocation proceedings had caused him and his wife, the 

bookkeeper for the business, to forget “the circumstances surrounding the dismantling of the 

particular vehicles invo lved.

recollection of many of the events they testified to and

Gates v. DMV, 94 Cal. App. 3d

3-> 147 The delay also resulted in the DMV’s witnesses having “no

. . . simply reading their records.” 

Because the licensee could not put on his own witnesses or effectively cross-examine the

148

agency’s witnesses, the appellate court affirmed the trial court’s ruling that the agency’s delay 

was unreasonable and had prejudiced the licensee. 149 The showing of prejudice in Gates, based 

on a fifteen-month delay, pales by comparison to this case where CPSD alleges continuing 

violations going back as many as 43 years.

Because CPSD cannot rebut the evidentiary presumption of laches, and alternatively 

because the evidence affirmatively establishes that laches applies, CPSD’s continuing violations

147 Gates, 94 Cal. App. 3d at 924. 
Gates, 94 Cal. App. 3d at 924. 
Gates, 94 Cal. App. 3d at 924.

148

149

33

SB GT&S 0486524



regarding PG& E’s Integrity Management program and emergency plans are barred by 

administrative laches.

IV. OTHER ISSUES OF GENERAL APPLICABILITY

A. CPSD Alleges Violations Based On Hindsight

As underscored in the discussion of CPSD’s allegations below, CPSD’s case is based on 

hindsight knowledge acquired after the accident.

PG&E’s Post-Accident Improvement EffortsB.

150As anticipated in PG&E’s opening brief, 

post-San Bruno improvement efforts as evidence of past deficiencies. For instance, DRA 

comments, “PG&E’s extensive remedial activities undertaken since the San Bruno explosion, in 

large part pursuant to recommendations of the NTSB and orders of the Commission, also belie 

PG&E’s argument that it had been following industry standards since the 1956 installation.” 151 

PG&E discussed in its opening brief the impropriety of using post-accident improvement 

measures as evidence of pre-accident culpability.152 PG&E will not repeat that discussion here.

However, conclusions like that offered by DR A - that improvement efforts necessarily 

mean prior lack of compliance with industry standards

evidentiary value. The record evidence demonstrates, repeatedly, that the industry as a whole 

confronts many of the issues PG&E is addressing following the San Bruno accident, 

example, Mr. Zurcher testified:

I have looked at records of a hundred different pipeline companies 
across the U.S., and everybody, as a good industry practice, as you 
mentioned, everybody is in the same situation. There are records 
that are either missing or assumed values that 
that they had to use in order to comply with it.154

CPSD and Intervenors characterize PG&E’s

are both incorrect and have no

153 For

assumed values

PG&E does not claim that historical industry practices relieve PG&E of responsibility for 

compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Industry practices, however, cannot be

150 PG&E OB at 45-47.
151 DRA OB at 7.
152 PG&E OB at 46-47.
153 Ex. PG&E-l at 5-4 to 5-8 (PG&E/Zurcher); Joint R.T. 21-22, 662-63, 706-08, 710-13 (PG&E/Zurcher); Joint 
R.T. 487 (PG&E/Harrison).
154 Joint R.T. 21-22 (PG&E/Zurcher).
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disregarded when determining how often-uncertain regulations were understood in the pre-San 

Bruno world and evaluating whether PG&E’s conduct fell short of regulatory requirements. 

Industry participants certainly intend to comply with the law, thus their common practices should 

be indicative of what constitutes compliance (or, at minimum, what practices are thought to be 

compliant). That PG&E or the industry as a whole has areas that need improvement does not 

demonstrate prior non-compliance with the law.

C. Attacks On The Credibility And Personal Knowledge Of PG&E’s Witnesses
Are Misplaced

1. PG&E’s Witnesses Testified Competently Based On Personal And 
Obtained Knowledge

The City of San Bruno and DRA contend that the testimony of PG&E’s integrity 

management witness was not competent testimony under evidentiary rules. 155 DRA objects to 

the testimony as hearsay while the City of San Bruno objects based on Evidence Code Section 

702 addressing personal knowledge.156 Neither objection has merit.

DRA’s contention that Ms. Keas’ testimony is objectionable as hearsay is contrary to the

Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, and inconsistent with DRA’s (and the other

parties’) reliance on the IRP and NTSB reports.158 DRA claims that Ms. Keas’ testimony is:

[C]lassie hearsay testimony - “evidence not proceeding from the 
personal knowledge of the witness, but from the mere repetition of 
what she has heard others say” - and it is being offered for the 
truth of the matter asserted. As such, it should be disregarded. 159

In the next sentence of its opening brief, DRA cites the NTSB Report to contend that

DRA relies on the NTSB Report for160PG&E’s Integrity Management program was deficient, 

the truth of the matter asserted, but does not acknowledge a hearsay concern. Rather, DRA,

155 DRA OB at 25-26; San Bruno OB at 18-21.
156 DRA OB at 25-26; San Bruno OB at 18-21.
157 Commission Rule of Practice and Procedure, Rule 13.6 states the “technical rules of evidence ordinarily need not 
be applied” in Commission proceedings.

DRA OB at 25-26. CPSD and all Intervenors heavily rely on the IRP and NTSB reports in support of the alleged 
violations against PG&E.
159 DRA OB at 25 (citing Black’s Law Dictionary).

DRA OB at 26 (emphasis in original) (citing Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 108).

158

160
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CPSD and the other Intervenors accept statements from the NTSB Report as conclusive. 161 The 

NTSB Report, however, is hearsay itself, and the content within it is multiple hearsay given that 

the NTSB Report is based on information obtained from others. 162 The same is true of the IRP 

Report (Ex. CPSD-10). Due to their extensive reliance on these reports, eliminating hearsay 

evidence from this proceeding would eliminate much of the evidence on which CPSD and 

Intervenors rely. That is not the result DRA seeks by objecting to PG&E’s testimony as hearsay, 

nor it is a result PG&E advocates; in PG&E’s view, the record should be as comprehensive as 

possible. But, the incongruity in DRA’s objection to Ms. Keas’ testimony demonstrates that 

rejecting hearsay evidence at this point is incompatible with the conduct of this proceeding.

Objections to Ms. Keas’ testimony based on asserted lack of personal knowledge are 

similarly off-base. As the Commission is aware, it is common practice in Commission 

proceedings for parties to present witnesses that have some knowledge based on personal 

experience but also have knowledge of a wider range of issues obtained by talking to others 

and/or reviewing relevant materials. The Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure do not 

prohibit this approach, and the broad range of information commonly involved in Commission 

proceedings necessitates it. 163 Were the Commission to mandate that witnesses could only 

testify based on personal knowledge, in every Commission proceeding parties could have to 

present dozens of witnesses instead of a few.

For instance, with respect to Ms. Keas’ testimony, different personnel within PG&E’s 

Integrity Management and pipeline engine ering groups are the “most knowledgeable” about 

specific topics relevant in this proceeding, such as the different assessment methodologies 

(ECDA, ICDA, ILI, SCCDA, hydro testing); cyclic fatigue issues; Line 132 baseline assessments 

and LTIMP; the different Risk Management Procedures; utilization of GIS and field documents 

in the Integrity Management program; the 1988 leak on Line 132; data gathering and integration, 

and so on. Presenting as a witness the “most knowledgeable” person for each topic and iss ue 

involved in this proceeding, and those issues and topics that arose during the evidentiary hearing,

161 See, e.g., DRA OB at 2 (“The National Transportation Safety Board (NTSB), the Independent Review Panel 
(IRP), and the Commission’s Consumer Protection and Safety Division (CPSD) have all completed investigations 
into the causes of the incident. Each of these investigations has found PG&E responsible for the explosion on 
multiple levels.”).

Ex. CPSD- 9 (NTSB Report). The NTSB Report’s discussion of the metallurgical analysis is only one layer of 
hearsay, the report itself, as the findings reported in that section were derived by NTSB staff from their own work.

See, e.g., Comm’n Rules of Practice & Proc., Rule 13.5 (limiting witnesses), Rule 13.8 (providing for prepared 
direct testimony).

162

163
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would involve many witnesses, substantially extending the duration of the hearing and increasing 

the complexity of the evidentiary record. For these reasons, the practice in Commission 

proceedings is to present witnesses who start with foundational knowledge but gather and come 

prepared to testify about additional issues or topics involved in their aspect of the proceeding.

In sum, there was nothing unusual or improper with the level of personal knowledge each 

PG&E witness possessed, including Ms. Keas. 164

2. Attacks On Witness Credibility Are Misplaced

CCSF, DRA and the City of San Bruno in varying degrees make ad hominem attacks on 

PG&E’s witnesses.165 Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact, and PG&E is confident 

the ALJ recognized the knowledge, experience and integrity PG&E’s witnesses possessed.

These characteristics are particularly obvious in the expert witnesses the opposing parties 

primarily attack, Mr. Zurcher and Mr. Kiefner.

Each of PG&E’s expert witnesses are leaders in their fields. Given their credentials and 

experience, it is not surprising the parties attempt to undermine their credibility. 168 No witness 

offered by CPSD or Intervenors has the extensive knowledge and experience possessed by Mr. 

Zurcher, Dr. Kiefner, Dr. Caligiuri, Mr. Bull, Mr. Martinelli, and Mr. Miesner. 169 In particular, 

Mr. Zurcher has long been a member of the committee that writes the integrity management 

standards and regulations, thus his opinions on what they mean and what actions are required for 

compliance are authoritative. Dr. Kiefner is widely considered to be the expert on metal fatigue

166

167

164 On a related issue, the parties misunderstood the reason Ms. Peralta was not available as a witness. It was not 
because she had a specific scheduling conflict on any particular day of the hearings. Ms. Keas was substituted for 
Ms. Peralta due to general availability issues. Ms. Peralta, who has the personal knowledge the parties demand, 
prepared the testimony that Ms. Keas wound up adopting with slight modifications. Joint R.T. 906- 
(PG&E/Keas).

CCSF OB at 9-13; DRA OB at 25-26; San Bruno OB at 18-21. TURN also comme 
testimony was extremely evasive.” TURN OB at 17 n.54.

DRA challenges the credibility of PG&E’s witnesses despite not being in the hearing room during much of the 
testimony.
167 CCSF OB at 9-13; DRA OB at 25-26; San Bruno OB at 18- 21. The City also impugns Dr. Caligiuri’s integrity 
based on his hourly rate (San Bruno OB at 21), as does TURN regarding Mr. Martinelli (TURN OB at 37 n. 121).

See Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 5, Appendix A (PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 6, Appendix A 
(PG&E/Kiefner).

The only area in which CPSD tendered a witness of comparable qualifications was in the rate and finance area, 
where both PG&E witness Matthew O’Loughlin and CPSD witness Gary Harpster have extensive experience. 
However, as discussed in Section V.F.3.a, infra, Mr. Harpster lacks the engineering and operational expertise to 
support his testimony outside the financial and ratemaking context.

08

165 nts that Ms. Keas’ “oral

166

168

169
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and manufacturing defects in pipelines. 170 Neither is a professional witness facile in handling 

skillful cross-examination; that the parties extract passages from lengthy transcripts to construct 

inconsistencies does not undermine the weight or veracity of their testimony. The Commission 

should recognize and use the substantial knowledge and experience provided by Mr. Zurcher and 

Dr. Kiefner, and all of PG&E’s testifying consultants, as it weighs the facts in this case.

The parties’ focus on the alleged financial interests of PG&E’s consultants is also 

misplaced. Consultants are paid for their work; consultants get hired based on the depth and 

quality of their knowledge and expertise, and in large part based on the integrity their opinions 

carry. A consultant without a reputation for integrity is of little value, as both the client and the 

consultant know. Financial interests in any particular engagement cannot compare to the long

term value of integrity. The same is true of CPSD’s and Intervenors’ testifying consultants. 

PG&E knows CPSD’s consultants are being compe nsated because PG&E is receiving and 

paying the invoices. PG&E presumes CCSF’s consultant is also being compensated for his 

services. That the opinions of PG&E’s expert witnesses, who are preeminent in their fields, 

support the conclusion PG&E did not violate the law in the many ways alleged should indicate 

that the conclusion is correct, not that the witnesses’ opinions were purchased.

V. CPSD ALLEGATIONS

CPSD’s opening brief is in large part a reiteration of its January 12, 2012 report, its 

August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony, and excerpts from the NTSB Report, the IRP report and the 

Overland Report.171 CPSD fails to refer to, much less confront, the evidence submitted by 

PG&E. CPSD’s evidentiary showing falls far short of meeting its burden of proof, whether clear 

and convincing or preponderance of the evidence. CPSD must prove violations with evidence, 

not unsupported contentions. The evidence does not support the numerous violations CPSD 

alleges against PG&E.

170 See Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 5, Appendix A (PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 6, Appendix A 
(PG&E/Kiefner).
m See generally CPSD OB.
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Construction Of Segment 180A.

In its opening brief, PG&E again acknowledged its responsibility for installing defective 

pieces of pipe in 1956 in Segment 180. 172 CPSD looks past this central issue to pursue multiple 

alleged violations of law related to the Segment 180 construction based on inapplicable and 

voluntary standards. In 1956, there were no regulations related to the construction of Segment

180, and CPSD’s attempt to use Section 451 to make voluntary industry g uidelines mandatory

Nothing in173fails for the reasons discussed above (Section III.B) and in PG&E’s opening brief.

CPSD’s opening brief demonstrates that CPSD has met its burden of proof on the violations it

alleges.

1. Yield Strength

There is no dispute that the pups installed in Segment 180 did not meet the specified 

minimum yield strength (SMYS) for API 5LX Grade X52 pipe, as PG&E specified for the 

Segment 180 construction.174 PG&E’s use of pipe with a SMYS lower than 52,000 psig does not 

support a legal violation. CPSD bases its allegations regarding yield strength on ASA B31.1.8- 

1955, the voluntary industry guideline in effect in 1956. Nothing in ASA B31.1.8-1955 

mandates the use of X52 pipe, or any particular yield strength pipe, for gas transmission pipeline 

construction.175 That PG&E inadvertently installed pups that were of a lower yield strength than 

the intended 52,000 psig did not contravene any standard or mandate, even assuming ASA 

B31.1.8-1955 had legal effect in 1956.

CPSD’s reliance on ASA B 31.1.8-1955, Section 805.54, does not change this result. 

CPSD quotes Section 805.54 in full: “Specified minimum yield strength is the minimum yield 

strength prescribed by the specification under which pipe is purchased from the manufacturer

176

172 PG&E OB at 48; Ex. PG&E-l at 1-1 (PG&E/Yura).
173 Ex. CPSD-1 at 18 (CPSD/Stepanian) (“At the time Segment 180 was constructed in 1956, the Commission had 
jurisdiction over the safety of PG&E natural gas facilities 
regulations applicable to transmission line construction”) (emphasis added); see PG&E OB at 28-39.

PG&E OB at 48; Ex. PG&E-l at 2-1 n.l, 2-5 (PG&E/Harrison). Pups 4 and 6 met the minimum yield strength 
values required by API 5LX Grade X42.
175 See ASA B31.1.8 (1955) (PG&E’s Request for Official Notice, Ex. 5).
176 Again, PG&E is not pushing off responsibility for the accident. But by alleging a legal violation based on yield 
strength, CPSD disregards the facts: (1) the voluntary ASA B31.1.8-1955 did not mandate any particular yield 
strength and (2) the lower than specified yield strength of the pups did not cause or contribute to the rupture. Ex. 
PG&E-l at 2-5 (PG&E/Harrison); Ex. PG&E-l at 3-5 to 3-6 (PG&E/Caligiuri).

but there were no specific federal or state safety

174
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„177 Section 805.54 is not an industry standard, voluntary or not. Section 805.54 is a 

definition of specified minimum yield strength.

For the first time, CPSD alleges in its opening brief that PG&E violated Section

(psi).
178

811.27(G) “[b]y assigning a yield strength v alue for Segment 180 above 24,000 psi when the 

yield strength was actually unknown.”

Appendix C,180 this never-before-seen violation after the close of evidence is impermissible on 

due process grounds.

179 As discussed in PG&E’s Motion to Strike CPSD’s

181 Moreover, CPSD’s reliance on Section 811.27(G) is based solely on 

hindsight. Before September 9, 2010, PG&E did not know the pups existed, much less that the
182yield strength differed from what PG&E specified for the construction, 

hindsight knowledge and circular reasoning to assert a legal violation for not using a 

conservative value for an “unknown” yield strength when PG&E did not know the yield strength 

was unknown in the first place.

In its opening brief, CPSD also for the first time combi nes PG&E’s alleged failure to 

hydro test Segment 180 with its yield strength allegations.

ASA B31.1.8-1955, Sections 841.411 and 841.412(c) by not hydro testing Segment 180.

CPSD applies

183

184 CPSD contends PG&E violated

185 In

177 CPSD OB at 36.
Section 805.54 is in the “Index of Definitions” (Section 805.01) found within “Units and Definitions” (Section178

805).
179 CPSD OB at 37.
180 See PG&E’s Motion to Strike Appendix C from CPSD’s Opening Brief, filed March 18, 2013.

CPSD’s introduction of this alleged violation at this time is also inconsistent with the Commission’s directive in 
the Oil regarding the procedure CPSD must use to allege new violations. See 1.12-01-007 at 10. CPSD’s Revised 
Appendix C did not cure the constitutional defect. See supra Section III.C.

Joint R.T. 324, 337-38, 368 (PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 1210 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-l at 2-1, 2- 
(P G&E/Harri son).

The purpose of Section 811.27(G), and its modem counterpart 49 C.F.R. § 192.107(b), is that an operator use a 
conservative pipe specification value when it knows it does not know a particular pipe specification. Section 
811.27(G) of ASA B31.1.8- 1955 states: “When the manufacturer’s specified minimum yield strength, tensile 
strength or elongation for the pipe is unknown, and no physical tests are made, the minimum yield strength for 
purposes of design shall be taken as not more than 24,000 psi.” Likewise; Section 192.107(b) states: “For pipe that 
is manufactured in accordance with a specification not listed in section I of appendix B to this part or whose 
specification or tensile properties are unknown, the yield strength to be used in the design formula in § 192.105 is 
one of the following....” To apply these provisions an operator must be aware that it 
unknown specification. Additionally, had PG&E been aware of the existence of the pups and their condition, it 
would not have assumed a yield strength value for an “unknown” specification; PG&E would not have installed 
them in the first place, or would have immediately removed them had it become aware after installation. Joint R.T. 
367-38 (PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 1019, 1066 (PG&E/Keas); Joint R.T. 692 (PG&E/Kiefiier).

CPSD OB at 36-37. See Ex. CPSD-1 at 22 (CPSD/Stepanian) (addressing hydro test issues separately from yield 
strength).

CPSD OB at 35.

181

182 5

183

is installing pipe with an

184

185
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1956, however, no legal requirement to hydro test Segment 180 existed, and as noted, ASA 

B31.1.8-1955 did not carry the force of law. CPSD also ignores the evidentiary record, which 

contains substantial evidence that PG&E did hydro test Segment 180: (1) the testimony of a 

former PG&E employee who observed a hydro test on a newly-installed transmission pipeline in 

the vicinity of Segment 180; 187 (2) Mr. Harrison’s testimony regarding invoices in the Segment 

180 job fde for purchase of materials that would only be used to conduct a hydro test;

(3) the uncontradicted testimony of expert metallurgist, Dr. Caligiuri, that a post-installation 

hydro test on Segment 180 in 1956 was the likely single loading event that caused the ductile 

tear in the long seam weld on pup 1.189 No record evidence suggests a different plausible theory, 

and the NTSB viewed Dr. Caligiuri’s conclusion as credible. 190 And according to Dr. Caligiuri, 

the pups likely would have survived a hydro test in 1956, whether at a pressure of approximately 

500 psig or 560 psig.

Based on the evidence in the record, and the absence of applicable law, CPSD cannot 

meet its burden of proof for the violations it alleges related to yield strength and hydro testing.

188 and

191

2. Wall Thickness
192CPSD alleges that PG&E violated Subpart (C) of Section 811.27. 

PG&E’s opening brief, Section 811.27(C) does not apply.

As demonstrated in
193

186 Ex. PG&E-l at 2-7 to 2-8 (PG&E/Harrison); Ex. PG&E-l at 3-11 (PG&E/Caligiuri).
(CPSD/Stepanian) (“At the time Segment 180 was constructed in 1956, the C ommission had jurisdiction over the 
safety of PG&E natural gas transmission facilities but there were no specific federal or state safety regulations 
applicable to transmission line construction.”). See also PG&E OB at 28-39.

Ex. CPSD-156 at 38-61.
Joint R.T. 413-14 (PG&E/Harrison); Ex. Joint-10 at HRG-0008, HRG-0019, HRG-0073, HRG-0095, HRG-0119, 

HRG-0203.
Ex. PG&E-l at 3-5 to 3-17 (PG&E/Caligiuri).
R.T. 1084 (PG&E/Caligiuri).

191 Referring to the margins built into the applicable calculations, Dr. Caligiuri explained: “I think that it certainly 
changes some of the margins you have in there. But it does not change my opinion that if they had tested this 
section of pipe to 560 psig, I believe it’s possible that those three pups would have survived.” R.T. 1070 
(PG&E/Caligiuri). As Dr. Caligiuri further explained, though the pipe section “was designed and constructed” with 
the expectation it would eventually be a Class 3 location, the pipe was not necessarily tested to a pressure of 560 
psig.
192 For the first time in its opening brief, CPSD alleges this violation with specific reference to subsection (C). See 
Ex. CPSD-1 at 20-21 (CPSD/Stepanian).

PG&E OB at 49-50.

See Ex. CPSD-1 at 18

187

188

189

190

-71

193
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CPSD misapprehends the meaning of wall thickness as that term is used in the industry

It is clear from the language of Section 811.27(C) that wall 

thickness is a metric specific to the pipe wall or pipe body, and is not applicable to the 

dimensions of long seam welds. 195 “Unless the nominal wall thickness is known with certainty, 

it shall be determined by measuring the thickness at quarter points on one end of each piece of 

pipe.”196 Specifications related to longitudinal seam welds are determined according to an 

altogether different metric.197 Recognizing this, the NTSB, on which CPSD relies to support its 

allegations, did not treat the long seam weld on the pups in determining wall thickness, 

the contrary, the NTSB concluded that the wall thickness of the pipe in Segment 180, including 

the pups, was consistent with the 0.375-inch specification. 199 Even assuming Section 811.27(C) 

had the force of law, CPSD has not satisfied its burden to prove that PG&E violated Section 

811.27(C).

194and in Section 811.27(C).

198 On

3. Welds

CPSD asserted in its January 12, 2012 report that the welds in the Segment 180 pups

PG&E’s responsive written

testimony showed Section 811.27(E) was inapplicable. 201 Mr. Harrison explained that Section 

811.27(E) relates to the suitability of different types of pipe for welding and is not a source for 

evaluating the quality of girth welds. 202 Recognizing PG&E’s written t estimony was correct, 

CPSD withdrew its allegation based on Section 811.27(E) in its August 20, 2012 rebuttal 

testimony, saying, “CPSD withdraws this allegation.” 203 In its opening brief, however, CPSD 

appears to attempt to revive this alleged violation. 204 CPSD cannot be permitted to assert a

200contained deficiencies in violation of Section 811.27(E).

194 Ex. PG&E-l at 2-5 to 2-6 (PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 399-400 (PG&E/Harrison ); PG&E’s Request for Official 
Notice, Ex. 5 (ASA B31.1.8 § 811.27 (1955)).
195 PG&E’s Request for Official Notice, Ex. 5 (ASA B31.1.8 § 811.27 (1955)).

PG&E’s Request for Official Notice, Ex. 5 (ASA B31.1.8 § 811.27 (1955)).
197 Joint R.T. 399-400 (PG&E/Harrison).

Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 41.
Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 41.
Ex. CPSD-1 at 20-21 (CPSD/Stepanian).
Ex. PG&E-l at 2-6 (PG&E/Harrison).
Ex. PG&E-l at 2-6 (PG&E/Harrison).
Ex. CPSD-5 at 7 (CPSD/Stepanian)
CPSD OB at 37-38, Appendix C at 1; CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 2.

196

198

199

200

201

202

203

204
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violation, explicitly withdraw it before the evidentiary hearing, and then assert it again after the 

close of evidence.

As an apparent substitute, CPSD also alleges that purported deficiencies in the girth 

welds between the pups in Segment 180 constituted a violation of API 1104, Section 1.7. 

support, CPSD cites only its January 12, 2012 report and anNTSB metallurgical report.

Though overlooked by CPSD, 208 the NTSB Metallurgical Group Chairman stated that API 

Standard 1104 was a voluntary standard that did not have legal effect until 1961, five years after 

the installation of Segment 180.

More fundamentally, there is no record evidence that the purported defects in the pup 

girth welds fell below the acceptance criteria in API 1104. As Dr. Caligiuri explained, there are 

imperfections in every weld, which are evaluated against established acceptance criteria. 210 The 

NTSB, on which CPSD exclusively relies for this alleged violation, did not make any findings 

that the imperfections in the girth welds in the pups fell below the acceptance standards 

applicable in 1956.211 Absent such a determination, CPSD has no evidentiary basis to allege a 

violation based on the quality of the girth welds.

205

206 jn

207

209

Failure To “Sufficiently Inspect”4.

TURN alleges PG&E failed “to sufficiently inspect” Segment 180 in violation of Section 

451,212 TURN asserts that PG&E should have been alerted to the presence of the pups when the 

pipe was reconditioned, claiming the defects in the pups would have been exposed and readily 

apparent:213

205 See also supra Section III.C.
CPSD OB at 37-38. Previously, CPSD asserted the girth welds were deficient, without specifying what provision 

of API 1104 they allegedly violated. Ex. CPSD-1 at 21 (CPSD/Stepanian).
CPSD OB at 38.
CPSD OB at 38.
Ex. CPSD-16 at 6 (“Adherence to API 1104 was not a code requirement until January 17, 1961 when it became 

incorporated into CPUC General Order 112.”).
Ex. CPSD-16 at 6, 72-73; R.T. 1135-36 (PG&E/Caligiuri).

211 Ex. CPSD-16 at 6-7, 72-76. The NTSB made no determinations relating to the acceptance criteria applicable in 
1956. See Ex. CPSD- 16 at 75, Table B3: “Radiographic discontinuities found on girth welds Cl 
designates a defect that did not meet the
discontinuity that was within the acceptance criteria of present day API 1104. The location numbers indicate 
distance in inches around the circumference of the pipe.” (Emphasis added).
212 TURN OB at 9-12. TURN cannot lawfully allege independent violations against PG&E. See infra Section VI.
213 TURN OB at 11-12.

206

207

208

209

210

-C4. An “X”
present day API 1104 acceptance criteria. An “O” designates a
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By the time of the Segment 180 project in 1956, the anti-corrosion 
wrapping on the outside of the pipe would have deteriorated in the 
sun, and, at a minimum, the old wrapping would need to be 
removed and the pipe re-wrapped.214

TURN’S contention is not based on evidence, but on a series of assumptions, each of

which lacks support in the record. TURN’S assertion assumes: (1) the joint containing the pups

egment 180; (2) the jointwas stored outside in PG&E’s storage yard prior to installation of S 

containing the pups was located on the top of all other pipe in storage, or was otherwise exposed

to sunlight while in storage; (3) the anti-corrosion wrapping or coating on the joint containing the 

pups significantly deteriorated while in storage; and (4) re-coating or re-wrapping was conducted 

by PG&E or supervised by PG&E in a way the existence of the pups would have been 

observed. TURN has not introduced evidence to establish any of these facts. On the contrary, 

the record evidence shows that the pups may have been delivered to the job site, wrapped in a 

heavy protective coating and welded in the middle of a larger piece of pipe, which would have 

concealed the pups and the defects they contained during installation. 215 TURN simply assumes

the pups were in PG&E’s possession, required reconditioning, and were reconditioned by PG&E 

personnel; and only by making these unsupported assumptions can TURN get to the conclusion

s no evidentiary support for thisit asserts. TURN’S speculation is not evidence, and there i 

alleged violation. 216

Duty Of Reasonable Care5.

217CPSD alleges another new violation based on ASA B31.1.8-1955, Section 810.1.

installing the pups, CPSD claims that PG& E violated “the general duty of reasonable care” that
■>>218

By

CPSD has taken a voluntary industry 

guideline and elevated it to “codified” status on par with laws enacted by the California

is “codified in Section 810.1 of [ASA] B31.1.8- 1955.

214 TURN OB at 11.
215 Ex. PG&E-l at 2-6 to 2-7 (PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 379-88, 411-12 (PG&E/Harrison).
216 Alleging another violation for the first time, CPSD asserts PG&E violated ASA B31.1.8-1955, Section
811.27(A), entitled “Inspection.” CPSD OB at 35 -36. As discussed in PG&E’s Motion to Strike Appendix C, filed 
March 18, 2013, and above in Section III.C, alleging a new violation at this stage runs afoul of constitutional due 
process. CPSD’s alleged violation of Section 811.27(A) also fails for the same reasons discussed above regarding 
TURN’S speculative inspection theory (but alleged under Section 451).
217 CPSD OB at 34-35.

CPSD OB at 34-35 (emphasis added).218
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Legislature. ASA B31.1.8-1955 is not statutory law, or even administrative law, despite CPSD’s 

characterization.

In addition, the provision does not impose a general duty of care. Section 810.1 is in the
33 219nature of a preamble to Chapter 1 of ASA B31.1.8- 1955, entitled “Materials and Equipment.

The words “duty” and “reasonable care” do not appear. It states in relevant part that “[i]t is 

intended that all materials and equipment that will become a permanent part of any piping 

system constructed under this code shall be suitable and safe for the conditions under which they 

ASA B31.1.8-1955, Section 810.1 does not establish a statutory or common law 

duty of reasonable care anymore than does any other section of ASA B31.1.8-1955. For CPSD 

to suggest otherwise, in particular for the first time at this stage in the proceeding, is misplaced.

In addition to being invalid as a newly-alleged violation, this alleged violation has no basis in 

fact or law. On the contrary, in specifying API 5XL pipe, PG&E provided that the pipe it used in 

Segment 180 would be suitable and safe for use.

„220are used.

6. Minimum Length

CPSD alleges, “By installing sections in Segment 180 that were less than 5 feet in length, 

PG&E violated API 5LX Section VI, creating an unsafe system in violation of Section 451. 

Short lengths of pipe, properly made and installed, do not present a safety concern; there is no 

legal requirement that pipe be of a minimum length. 222 In addition, API 5LX Section VI cannot 

support a violation of law; it is a manufacturing standard that does not apply to PG&E and other 

pipe operators and pipe purchasers. 223 PG&E does not manufacture pipe and did not 

manufacture the pups in Segment 180. 224 CPSD has failed to prove any violation of law based 

on the API 5 LX manufacturing standard.

„221

7. MAOP

It is undisputed that, from 1970 forward, the MAOP on Line 132 was appropriately 

established at 400 psig based on a pressure log from Milpitas Terminal, dated October 16,

219 PG&E’s Request for Official Notice, Ex. 5 at § 810.1.
PG&E’s Request for Official Notice, Ex. 5 at § 810.1.

221 CPSD OB at 36.
222 R.T. 1059-61 (PG&E/Caligiuri); Joint R.T. 410-11 (PG&E/Harrison).
223 Ex. CPSD-1 at 22 (CPSD/Stepanian).
224 Ex. PG&E-l at 3-4, 3-16 (PG&E/Caligiuri); Joint R.T. 375-76 (PG&E/Harrison); R.T. 1081 (PG&E/Caligiuri).

220
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1968.225 It is also undisputed that the pressure on Line 132 on September 9, 2010 did not exceed 

the maximum operating pressure allowed by pipeline safety regulations, 

continues to allege that PG&E violated Section 845.22 of ASA B31.1.8-1955 for not properly 

establishing the MAOP on Segment 180 in 1956. CPSD again fails to meet its burden of proof. 

As an initial matter, CPSD attempts to rely on a lack of documentation (from half a

PG&E did not produce evidence that it

226 Nonetheless, CPSD

century ago) to prove this violation. CPSD states, “ 

established an MAOP for Segment 180 at the time of construction.” 227 CPSD’s allegation that 

“PG&E did not produce evidence . . .” exposes an impermissible attempt to shift the burden of 

proof onto PG&E. PG&E need not “produce evidence” to establis h the absence of any alleged 

violation.

In its January 2012 report, CPSD alleged that PG&E “did not follow ASA B31.1.8 -1955 

when it initially established the MAOP for the failed segment.” 228 Now, in its opening brief, 

CPSD offers a different theory. CPSD alleges that PG&E could not have validly established the 

MAOP for Segment 180 at the time of construction based on design pressure calculations

CPSD again relies on hindsight229because “PG&E clearly did not incorporate the pups.” 

knowledge. CPSD contends that PG&E failed to correctly calculate the MAOP on Segment 180 

in 1956 because it did not use in its design pressure calculations information it did not have. In 

the alternative, CPSD alleges that PG&E should have used an assumed yield strength value

(24,000 psig) in calculating the MAOP, because the yield strength of the pups was

Both of CPSD’s theories and this alleged violation are based on a flawed 

premise: PG&E could not have possibly calculated MAOP as CPSD insists it should have when 

the information needed to do so was unknown until after the San Bruno accident. Moreover, had 

PG&E known about the pups, it would have excavated and replaced them, not recalculated the 

MAOP based on different pipe characteristics.231

„230“unknown.

225 CPSD OB, Appendix A, Finding of Fact 13 (citing CPSD-1 at 23 (CPSD/Stepanian)); 49 C.F.R. § 192.619(c).
Ex. CPSD-1 at 24 (CPSD/Stepanian).

227 CPSD OB at 38 (emphasis added).
Ex. CPSD-1 at 23 (CPSD/Stepanian).
CPSD OB at 39.
CPSD OB at 40.

231 Joint R.T. 337-38 (PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 1051 (PG&E/Keas).

226

228

229

230
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8. The Commission Did Not Conclude That Section 451 Gave ASME 
Industry Standards The Force Of Law Before 1961

TURN argues the Commission’s decision D. 12 -12-30 “compels” the conclusion that

noncompliance with ASA B31.8 prior to 1961 constituted a violation of Section 451. 

is wrong. The passage from D.12-12- 30 on which TURN relies merely explains that PG&E’s 

ratepayers will not bear the cost PG&E incurs in re-testing pipelines it had installed between 

1956 and 1961 due to the absence of pressure test records. 233 In disallowing these potential re

testing costs, the Commission reasoned that ratepayers already “paid for such testing once,” 

since PG&E’s practice was generally to comply with the ASA B31.8 voluntary standards. 

Contrary to TURN’S contention, D. 12 -12-30 did not purport to state a legal requirement or draw 

conclusions regarding legal mandates before 1961. Rather, the Commission was careful to stress 

that it was “expressing] no opinion on whether PG&E's natural gas system records violated 

federal or state law or regulations because those questions are pending in 1.11-02 -016. 

based on that understanding, i.e., that the Commission had not reached a conclusion of law, that 

PG&E withheld comment on that portion of the proposed decision (and did not seek rehearing).

Between 1956 and 1961, PG&E generally adhered to the ASA B31.8 voluntary industry 

standards, as did other California utilities. But no one at the time, including the Commission, 

understood that any California utility adhered to those standards in every instance or that they

The adoption of GO 112 marked a significant change in the

232 TURN

234

j >23 5 It was

236were required to do so by law. 

legal requirements governing California utilities. It was not a meaningless development, as it 

necessarily would be under the theory that Section 451 incorporated the ASA B31.8 voluntary 

industry standard prior to GO 112’s adoption.

Section 2108 “Continuing” Violations and Construction of Segment9.
180

CPSD contends that the violations relating to the construction of Segment 180 are 

“continuing” violations under Public Utilities Code Section 2108. CPSD’s application of

2321.12-01-007; TURN OB at 13-14.
233 D. 12-12-030, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 600, at *112-13.
234 D. 12-12-030, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 600, at *112-13.
235 D. 12-12-030, 2012 Cal. PUC LEXIS 600, at *169-70 (emphasis added).

See D.61269 (with GO 112 attached), Appendix A at 6 (recognizing that “gas utilities in this State generally have
voluntarily followed recognized national standards” (emphasis added)).
236
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Section 2108 to the construction of Segment 180 is improper. On its face, the language of 

Section 2108 shows that it targets repeat and continuing occurrences of the same violation over 

time. “[I]n the case of a continuing violation each day’s continuance thereof shall be a separate

Commission precedent confirms Section 2108 does not apply to specific 

The Commission has found that Section 2108 was designed to 

penalize “practices” that “occurred over a period of time,” but does not contemplate “continuing” 

treatment to “specific instances of violations.”

(“The Commission has calculated fines on the basis of Section 2108 in cases where the evidence 

established that.. .practices that violated statutory or decisional standards had occurred over a 

period of time, rather than specific instances of violations.”) (emphasis added).

In alleging “continuing” violations relating to the Segment 180 construction, CPSD 

improperly multiplies distinct actions or events that occurred once during the 1956 construction 

into violations that repeated daily over several decades. Any violations that occurred in the 

Segment 180 construction, however, began and ended in a finite time period in 1956, namely, the 

period in which the construction (and the alleged violations) took place. That the pups remained 

in the ground after installation does not transform a single act or omission into a reoccurring 

violation over 54 years.

3->237and distinct offense.
238instances of violations.

Qwest, 2003 Cal. PUC LEXIS 67, at *20-21

239

B. PG&E’s Integrity Management Program

Despite bearing the burden of proof on each alleged violation, CPSD’s opening brief 

mostly reiterates in truncated form the integrity management allegations contained in its January 

12, 2012 report. Without more, and in light of PG&E’s rebuttal of each of the violations alleged 

in that report, CPSD has failed to prove that PG&E’s Integrity Management program was 

deficient as a matter of law.

In contrast to CPSD, Intervenors have gone to considerable effort to convince the 

Commission of PG&E’s wrongdoing. However, Intervenors’ arguments often mischaracterize 

and misrepresent what is required by the integrity management regulations, ignore contravening 

record evidence, and seek to impose requirements that are not found in law or industry practice.

237 Pub. Util. Code §2108.
Qwest, 2003 Cal. PUC LEXIS 67, at *20-21. 

239 Qwest, 2003 Cal. PUC LEXIS 67, at *20-21.

238
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Intervenors similarly fail to introduce evidence that PG&E’s Integrity Management program did 

not satisfy regulatory requirements.

PG&E’s opening brief addresse d and rebutted each of the integrity management 

violations for which PG&E had notice. Here, PG&E provides additional support and evidence 

demonstrating that PG&E gathered and reviewed the required data elements, properly conducted 

threat identification, including consideration of manufacturing seam threats and cyclic fatigue, 

properly assessed the relative risk of the segments in its pipeline system, and properly assessed 

the threats that the integrity management regulations identify on pipeline in PG&E’s 

(including Segment 180).

system

PG&E’s Data Gathering Satisfied Regulatory Requirements1.

PG&E’s opening brief detailed the substantial record evidence demonstrating that 

PG&E’s data gathering and integration procedures complied with regulatory requireme nts and 

comported with industry practice. 240 PG&E presented the findings from two integrity 

management program audits conducted by CPSD, in which CPSD found that PG&E gathered 

data from the required sources enumerated in ASME B31.8S. PG&E explained its two -step

data gathering process, in which PG&E conducts an initial data gathering using centralized data 

elements in order to meet the yearly baseline assessment requirement, and then conducts a 

second data gathering during the pre-assessment phase of each integrity assessment to gather 

additional data from non-centralized sources. 242 PG&E identified limitations of the NTSB’s 

investigation of PG&E’s data gathering practices that led CPSD to wrongly conclude that PG&E 

did not gather minimum data elements. 243 PG&E detailed its use of conservative, assumed 

values in instances where pipeline attribute data is not available, and provided expert testimony 

demonstrating that this practice is authorized in integrity management regulations and is 

commonplace in the natural gas pipeline industry. 244 PG&E demonstrated that CPSD’s pre -San 

Bruno 2010 audit did not identify any shortcomings in PG&E’s data accuracy, in stark and

240 PG&E OB at 58-71.
241 PG&E OB at 60.
242 PG&E OB at 61-64.
243 PG&E OB at 64-65.
244 PG&E OB at 65-68.
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unexplained contrast with CPSD’s present allegations.245 PG&E showed that neither regulations 

nor industry practice require an operator to document pipeline installations at the joint- by-joint 

level, rebutting CPSD’s allegation that PG&E’s GIS was deficient for not identifying six short 

lengths of pipe totaling 23 feet in an 1,800-foot segment. In short, PG&E rebutted each of 

CPSD’s allegations with significant and compelling evidence, validated by expert testimony 

from a drafter of the integrity management rules.

In contrast, CPSD’s opening brief uses less than three pages to reiterate allegations from 

the January 12, 2012 report. CPSD expends little effort on each allegation, using a sentence or 

two to state the charge, identify the relevant regulation, and, occasionally, provide a footnote or 

parenthetical in support of the allegation, 

entirely of citations to the NTSB’s accident investigation report or references to CPSD’s January 

12, 2012 Staff Report that, in turn, cite the NTSB report, 

evidence are fully addressed in PG&E’s opening brief. In the interest of brevity, PG&E limits 

this section of its reply to address (1) CPSD’s misrepresentations of the consequence of using 

assumed values in threat identification, (2) the propriety of using assumed specified minimum 

yield strength (SMYS) values greater than 24,000 psig, and (3) the significance of the use of data 

that is verifiable or obtained in a timely manner in the first data gathering step.

246 What little evidence CPSD marshals consists

247 CPSD’s theories, allegations, and

ASME B31.8S Expressly Authorizes Using Assumed Values In 
Threat Identification

a.
248

CPSD’s interpretation of data gathering requirements in ASME B31.8S is confusing. 

CPSD states: “When data is missing from the minimum data sets identified in Appendix A, the

CPSD’s very next sentence contradicts this assertion: “In addition, 

where there is missing data, conservative assumptions should be used.” 

explain why an operator would need to conduct a risk assessment using assumed values if the 

consequence of missing data is the threat is deemed to exist. Contrary to CPSD’s interpretation,

3>249threat is assumed to exist.
250 CPSD does not

245 PG&E OB at 68-70.
CPSD OB at 41-43.

247 CPSD OB at 41-43.
The use of assumed values is more properly characterized as a threat identification issue. However, PG&E 

addresses the issue in the data gathering section, as presented by CPSD, for clarity.
CPSD OB at 41.
CPSD OB at 41 (citing Ex. CPSD-1 at 28 (CPSD/Stepanian)).

246

248

249

250
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ASME B31.8S allows operators to use conservative assumptions in the place of actual attribute 

data during threat identification. 251 Indeed, ASME B31,8S was written “with full recognition

CPSD’s interpretation is„ 252that records and a lot of other information would not be available[.] 

unsupported, and its allegations based on that interpretation should be disregarded.

CPSD’s interpretation is premised upon an isolated sentence lifted without context from 

ASME B31.8S, Section 4.2.1. This section describes, generally, the data gathering process for 

prescriptive integrity management programs,253 and directs operators to follow the threat-specific 

data gathering instructions contained in ASME B31.8S, Appendix A.

Appendix states than an operator may use conservative assumptions when the operator is missing 

data.255 The Appendix does not state that the operator must assum e the threat exists. CPSD’s 

interpretation would require an operator to possess a perfect data set (which no operator has) in 

order to conduct the threat identification process, a clear contradiction of the plain language and 

intent of ASME B31.8S.

The express authorization in ASME B31.8S to use assumed values where actual data is 

unavailable undercuts CPSD’s allegations relating to “missing or inaccurate” data for Line 132. 

For example, CPSD claims that the use of assumed values for pipe wall thickness and SMYS are 

“in error, but not discovered by PG&E.”

254 For each threat, the

256

257 CPSD does not specify how the use of assumed 

values for these elements is inaccurate, nor does CPSD explain how PG&E could be unaware 

that it was using assumed values, as assumed values are specifically identified in GIS. Flowever, 

using assumed values is allowed by ASME B31.8S. CPSD cannot credibly claim that following 

ASME constitutes an error, or a violation of law.

PG&E acknowledges its GIS did not identify the pipe manufacturer for much of Lin 

132. Flowever, for purposes of manufacturing seam threat identification, the longitudinal seam 

type, joint efficiency, date of installation, and whether or not the segment was subjected to a

e

251 Joint R.T. 1186-87 (PG&E/Keas).
252 Joint R.T. 653 (PG&E/Zurcher).
253 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), § 4.2.1.
254 ASME B31,8S, Appendix A is a step-by-step guide for operators to follow when conducting threat identification, 
including data gathering, analysis, and assessment.
255 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), Appendix A, §§ A1.2, A2.2, A3.2, A4.2, A5.2, A6.2, A7.2, A8.2, A9.2.

Joint R.T. 21-22, 653 (PG&E/Zurcher).
257 CPSD OB at 42. The list of “missing or inaccurate data in PG&E’s records” is reiterated from CPSD’s January 
12, 2012 Staff Report (Ex. CPSD-1 at 31-32 (CPSD/Stepanian)). PG&E OB at 65-72.

256
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qualifying pressure test are the relevant data points. 258 PG&E assumes the most conservative 

values for the longitudinal seam and joint efficiency for segments where this information is 

unavailable.259

PG&E’s Practice Of Using Assumed SM YS Values Consistent 
With Historic Pipe Procurement Minimums Complies With 
Regulations

b.

Despite the authorization in ASME B31.8S to use conservative assumptions where data 

attributes (including SMYS) are unavailable, CPSD claims operators must use 24,000 psig as the 

assumed SMYS value “if the data is missing.” 260 CPSD’s argument is unsuppo rted by law, as 

the code section cited by CPSD relates to pipe design, not integrity management. Moreover, 

integrity management regulations specifically allow the use of conservative, assumed values 

informed by historic pipe data. Even if CPSD’s argument is accepted as true, CPSD presents no 

evidence that the specification or tensile properties of the segments in question are actually 

unknown.

As PG&E discussed in its opening brief, pipeline operators are allowed to use 

conservative, assumed values derived from the minimum (most conservative) values of the 

pipeline attribute in question for pipe used in contemporaneous pipeline installations, as 

determined by research into historic pipe purchasing practices. This applies equally to SMYS 

values.262 Contrar y to CPSD’s assertion, operators are not limited to either actual, verified 

pipeline SMYS or 24,000 psig. Instead, an operator may use other information known about the 

pipe (e.g., year of installation, seam type, diameter) to determine the minimum possible SMYS 

for pipe of that vintage. 263 This practice finds explicit support in ASME B31.8S, which allows 

operators to use assumed values for pipeline attributes (including SMYS) 264 based on historic 

pipeline specifications.265

258 E.g., Records R.T. 1469-72, 1693-94 (PG&E/Keas). (All of Ms. Keas testimony was admitted in the San Bruno 
Oil record.)

E.g., Records R.T. 1469-72 (PG&E/Keas).
CPSD OB at 41.

261 PG&E OB at 65-67.
262 Joint R.T. 9 (PG&E/Zurcher).
263 Joint R.T. 15-16 (PG&E/Zurcher).
264 Joint R.T. 17 (PG&E/Zurcher).
265 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), § A4.2.

259

260
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CPSD’s opening brief does not even refer to the authorization in ASME B31.8S 

(incorporated in the integrity management rules) or expert testimony (by one of the authors of 

the ASME B31.8S standard) that support the practice of using assumed SMYS values greater 

than 24,000 psig based on historic minimum pipe specifications. Instead, CPSD alleges a 

violation based on a regulation that is not found within the integrity management rules (49 

C.F.R. subpart O), but is instead grouped with regulations establishing pipe design requirements 

to be used when designing and installing new pipe (49 C.F.R. § 192.107(b), part of 49 C.F.R. 

subpart C, “Pipe Design”). As CPSD admits, data gathering requirements are stated in 49 

C.F.R. § 192.917(b) and ASME B31.8S, including Appendix A. 267 Section 192.107(b) is not 

related to data gathering requirements, and cannot plausibly be construed to support CPSD’s 

allegation.

Assuming that 49 C.F.R. § 192.107(b) requires an operator to use 24,000 psig during 

integrity management data gathering where the actual SMYS value is unavailable, CPSD still 

fails to present evidence to support a violation. To support its claim, CPSD would have to prove 

that the segments at issue are truly “unknown” within the meaning of the regulation. CPSD’s 

opening brief contains both a general 268 and a specific 269 reference to PG&E’s use of assumed 

SMYS values greater than 24,000 psig. In neither case does CPSD present any evidence that 

identifies the segment in question, nor does CPSD present evidence that the SMYS value of the 

segment was unknown. CPSD simply assumes a violation because PG&E did not use 24,000 

psig as the SMYS value. As explained by Mr. Zurcher, an operator may have some information 

regarding a pipe segment that allows the operator to make a fact-based assumption regarding the 

SMYS of the segment in question. 270 For the operator to be required to use the 24,000 psig 

value, the operator must know nothing about the pipe segment, or otherwise be unable to 

determine the SMYS value based on the attributes the operator does know. 271

266 CPSD OB at 42.
267 CPSD OB at 41.

CPSD OB at 41 (“By routinely using yield strength values above 24,000 psi, PG&E violated Part 
192.107(b)(2).”).

CPSD OB at 42 (“two segments with unknown SMYS were assigned values of 33,000 psi and 52, 000 psi, not
24,000 psi”).

Joint R.T. 15-17 (PG&E/Zurcher).
271 Joint R.T. 28-29 (PG&E/Zurcher).

268

269

270
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CPSD provides no evidence supporting the conclusion that PG&E knows nothing about 

every segment that has an assumed SMYS value greater than 24,000 psig. CPSD’s specific 

allegation regarding two segments on Line 132 only asserts that the segments had an “u nknown 

SMYS” value without establishing that PG&E lacked other information that allowed it to 

determine the appropriate SMYS value for that vintage pipe.272 An assumed SMYS value higher 

than 24,000 psig is not automatically incorrect, as CPSD contends. CPSD failed to meet its 

burden of proof that the SMYS values of the segments were actually unknown, that PG&E was 

required to use the 24,000 psig SMYS value, or that PG&E’s use of assumed SMYS values in 

any instance constituted a violation. 273

PG&E’s Two -Step Data Gathering Process Satisfies Data 
Gathering Regulatory Requirements

c.

As it did in its January 12, 2012 report, CPSD seizes upon a single sentence in PG&E’s 

Risk Management Procedure (RMP) 06 in support of its claim that PG&E’s data gathering was 

deficient. The sentence is located in section 2.4 of RMP-
»274

06 and addresses “Data Elements 

This sentence states: “For the risk analysis process, the 

Company has chosen pipeline attributes based upon available, verifiable information or 

information that can be obtained in a timely manner.” 275 Based solely on this sentence, CPSD 

asserts that “[a]s a policy, PG&E did not always seek the most accurate data”

“[t]hus, if pipeline data could not be verified, PG&E’s policy all owed it to substitute information 

that can be obtained in a timely manner, which would not preclude assumed values. As a result, 

an in- depth understanding of the threats on Line 132 and Segment 180 was not achieved.” 

CPSD’s current assertion regarding the sufficiency of PG&E’s data gathering process is refuted 

by prior CPSD audits that found PG&E’s data gathering procedures (including RMP -06) to be 

adequate, and by PG&E’s testimony and opening brief explaining the significance of the

Selected for Initial Analysis.

276 and concludes

277

272 CPSD OB at 42.
273 Requiring PG&E to demonstrate that CPSD’s unsupported assertion is incorrect would shift the burden of proof 
onto PG&E. CPSD must prove that PG&E unlawfully used assumed SMYS values in excess of 24,000 psig or the 
violation cannot be found.
274 Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-6) (PG&E RMP-06, Rev. 5) (emphasis added).
275 Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-6) (PG&E RMP-06, Rev. 5), § 2.4.

CPSD OB at 42.
277 CPSD OB at 43 (citing Ex. CPSD-1 (CPSD/Stepanian)).
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sentence in the context of the yearly baseline assessment process. CPSD’s mere reiteration of its 

criticism presents no evidence to substantiate its claim.

As described in PG&E’s opening brief, the “timely” qualifier in this sentence in RMP -06 

reflects the fact that the init ial data gathering process (the first step explained in PG&E’s June 

26, 2012 testimony) 278 addresses the reality that data must be gathered each year in order to 

complete the yearly baseline assessment plan. 279 During the initial step, PG&E gathers pipeline 

attributes and other information from centralized data sets, often contained in GIS. 

performs this initial data gathering step to facilitate the threat identification process for all nine 

categories of pipeline threats, and gathers data from the minimum data elements outlined in 

ASME B31.8S, Appendix A,281 as confirmed by CPSD’s 2010 audit. 282 During the second step 

in the data gathering process, non-centralized sources, such as job files or leak records stored in 

local offices, are reviewed as part of the pre-assessment phase for every integrity assessment.

The second step in data gathering assures that, prior to an integrity assessment being carried out, 

PG&E Integrity Management personnel develop a qualitative understanding of the maintenance 

history and characteristics of the pipeline to be assessed, and verily that the proper assessment 

tool is selected for the threats identified during both steps in the data gathering process.

ASME B31,8S committee member John Zurcher verified that PG&E’s data ga thering process 

satisfied the requirements of ASME B31.8S.

CPSD cannot meet its burden of proof by extracting a single sentence from the 99-page 

RMP-06 document. Indeed, CPSD’s argument is defeated through a simple review of RMP -06 

Section 2.4. The sentence CPSD seizes on is part of a larger two paragraph description of the

280 PG&E

283

284

285

two-step data gathering process. The first paragraph, which contains CPSD’s sentence, discusses 

the initial data gathering step. 286 CPSD’s argument ignores the second paragraph, which 

explains that the data gathering process will be repeated on an annual basis, and new or revised

278 Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-8 (PG&E/Keas).
Joint R.T. 1081-82 (PG&E/Keas).
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-7 (PG&E/Keas).
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-7 to 4-9 (PG&E/Keas); Joint R.T. 1081-82 (PG&E/Keas). 
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13).
Joint R.T. 1075 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-8 (PG&E/Keas).
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-8 (PG&E/Keas); Joint R.T. 1176-77 (PG&E/Keas).
Joint R.T. 797 (PG&E/Zurcher).
Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-6) at 22.

279

280

281

282

283

284

285
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information regarding pipe properties, location, inspection information, and assessment 

information (gathered during the second step) will be incorporated into GIS for use in future

CPSD’s disregard of the entirety of PG&E’s data gathering287annual risk calculations, 

procedures is not a substitute for evidence.

d. CCSF Erroneously Asserts That PG&E Did Not Properly 
Identify And Consider Potential Integrity Threats On Pipe 
Segments Identified In 1965,1975, And 1996 Reports

Based on PG&E’s response to a single data request, CCSF erroneously concludes PG&E 

did not adequately consider potential integrity management threats on Lines 101 and 109. 

CCSF’s conclusion ignores testimony (and even the data response cited by CCSF) that 

demonstrates PG&E was aware of the threats and segments identified in the reports, and took 

adequate and appropriate steps to analyze and mitigate the threats.

CCSF claims PG&E’s Integrity M

288

anagement program was either unaware of, or 

improperly considered, construction threats posed by oxyacetylene girth welds detailed in three 

metallurgical investigation reports on Lines 101 and 109. 289 CCSF states that, despite PG&E’s 

acknowledgement of the presence of a construction threat present in pipelines joined using

oxyacetylene girth welds, “PG&E continued to use pipelines with oxy -acetylene girth welds 

through out [sic] its system.”290 CCSF’s claim is contradicted by ASME B31.8S provisions that 

relate to identifying and addressing the threat posed by oxyacetylene girth welds and other 

construction threats.

ASME B31.8S identifies oxyacetylene girth welds as one of the threats that an operator 

must consider in the integrity management program. 291 ASME B31,8S does not specify the 

operator must immediately replace all pipe constructed with such welds. In fact, ASME 

explicitly states the presence of oxyacetylene girth welds alone is not a threat to pipeline 

integrity:

287 Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-6) at 22.
CPSD OB at 21-23.
CCSF OB at 21-22 (citing Ex. CCSF-1 (Exhibit 6 (1975 test of vintage girth welds on Lines 101 and 109), 

Exhibit 7 (metallurgical analysis of oxyacetylene girth weld on Line 109), and Exhibit 8 (metallurgical evaluation of 
oxyacetylene girth welds on Line 109)).

CCSF OB at 22.
291 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), §§ A4.3 (non-seam manufacturing threat), A5.1 (construction threat).

288

289

290
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The existence of these construction- related threats alone does not 
pose an integrity issue. The presence of these threats in 
conjunction with the potential for outside forces significantly 
increases the likelihood of an event. The data must be integrated 
and evaluated to determine where these construction characteristics 
coexist with external or outside force potential. 292

Contrary to CCSF’s assertion that an operator must replace all oxyacetylene 

pipeline, ASME B31.8S requires the operator to (1) identify oxyacetylene-welded segments (and 

other segments with construction threats); (2) monitor the segment for ground movement, such 

as an earthquake or landslide; and (3) stabilize or replace pipe that is subject to 

conditions.

-welded

both
293

PG&E’s Integrity Management program complies with ASME B 31.8S direction to 

identify and assess construction threats such as oxyacetylene girth welds. Oxyacetylene girth 

welds are an outdated method of constructing girth welds that was common in the pipeline 

industry into the 1940s. 294 PG&E’s Integrity Managemen t program takes a conservative 

approach and assumes all pipelines constructed during the era in which oxyacetylene welding 

was used are subject to this threat. 295 PG&E appropriately monitors these segments for ground 

movement, including earthquake, landslide, and removal of support as a result of third party 

damage.296

CCSF also faults PG&E for failing to identify and address an unstable manufacturing 

seam threat discussed in a 1996 report regarding an internal camera inspection of the longitudinal 

seam on Line 109.297 CCSF concludes that, based solely on PG&E’s response to a data request 

that asked how PG&E interpreted this report, PG&E did not properly address the seam 

irregularities.298 CCSF mischaracterizes PG&E’s response by stating that PG&E “provided no 

documentation demonstrating how these reports were incorporated into PG&E’s TIMP . . .

292 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), § A5.4. See also Ex. Joint 28 (ASME B31.8S), §§ A4.3-A4.4. 
Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), §§ A4.3-4.4, A5.4-A5.5 (emphasis added).
E.g„ Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-5) (RMP-05).

295 E.g., Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-5) (RMP-05).
Joint R.T. 1142-44 (PG&E/Keas).

297 CCSF OB at 22-23 (citing Ex. CCSF-1 (Exhibit 9)).
CCSF OB at 23 (citing Ex. Joint-34 (PG&E Response to Data Request CCSF-001-Q05)).

293

294

296
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„299rather, the response just notes how the reports should have been incorporated.

PG&E’s response contained much more information.

PG&E’s response to CCSF’s data request indicated that the 1996 report related to a 

metallurgical investigation of sections of Line 109 originally installed in 1935, with a 

longitudinal seam manufactured by the single submerged arc welding (SSAW) process.

PG&E explained its integrity management program identifies pipe manufactured using the 

SSAW process as subject to a potential manufacturing threat, and assigns such pipe a joint 

efficiency factor of 0.8.301 PG&E’s Integrity Management program subjects pipe with a reduced 

joint efficiency (anything less than 1.0) to a stability evaluation to determine whether any 

conditions on the pipeline would render the manufacturing threat unstable pursuant to 49 C.F.R.

§ 192.917(e)(3).302 Thus, PG&E affirmatively stated that the segment identified in this report is 

characterized as having, and is assessed for, a potential manufacturing threat.

CCSF’s mistaken understanding of proper identification and mitigat ion of construction 

threats, and mischaracterization of PG&E’s data response are not evidence that PG&E failed to 

properly assess the pipe segments identified in CCSF’s opening brief. CCSF’s argument that 

PG&E’s Integrity Management program failed to properly gather or review these reports, or take 

the proper actions based on the information therein, is incorrect and should be disregarded.

In fact,

300

PG&E’s Threat Identification Meets Regulatory Requirements And 
Comports With Industry Practice And Understanding Prior To San 
Bruno

2.

CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report alleged that PG&E violated 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3)

for failing to identify Segment 181 and similar segments as having a potentially unstable 

manufacturing threat, and Section 192.917(e)(2) for failing to adequately consider cyclic fatigue 

in its threat analysis. 303 304PG&E refuted CPSD’s allegations at length in its opening brief. 

CPSD’s opening brief reiterates assertions from the January 12, 2012 report, and also raises new 

violations based on different regulations:

299 CCSF OB at 23 (emphasis in original).
Ex. Joint-34.
Ex. Joint-34.
Ex. Joint-34 (citing Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-6) (RMP-06)).
Ex. CPSD-1 at 163.
PG&E OB at 72-81 (cyclic fatigue), 81-92 (threat identification, including Segment 181).

300

301

302

303
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305• CPSD presents an unsubstantiated list of “defects” found by the NTSB. 
misrepresents the seam integrity significance of these “defects,” and presents no 
evidence as to why any of the “defects” are relevant to the threat identification 
process.

• CPSD dismisses PG&E’s consideration of cyclic fatigue without addressing the 
testimony of Dr. John Kiefner (universally regarded as the authority on cyclic fatigue) 
that affirms the validity of PG&E’s approach.

• CPSD charges PG&E with a failure to deem all DSAW pipe, considered to be the 
highest quality welded pipe, as subject to manufacturing seam threats. CPSD 
reiterates its unsupportable argument that, as a consequence of an exercise intended to 
raise the pressure in Line 132 to the maximum allowable operating pressure prior to 
the publication of the final integrity management rules, PG&E triggered a 
requirement to assess the longitudinal integrity of the DSAW seam under regulations 
that were not yet in force.

• Finally, in a new violation not alleged in the January 12, 2012 report, CPSD asserts 
(without citing any evidence) that PG&E failed to assess ERW segments on Line 132 
that CPSD assumes are low-frequency ERW.

Intervenors raise additional (but similarly unfounded) criticisms of PG&E’s th 

identification process. CCSF and TURN allege that pipe older than 50 years is subject to a 

manufacturing seam threat similar to low-frequency ERW pipe 310 and that such pipe, regardless 

of seam type or lack of incident history, must be assessed for seam integrity under 49 C.F.R.

§ 192.917(e)(4).311 CCSF impermissibly offers as evidence post-incident measures undertaken 

by PG&E that broadened PG&E’s definition of potential manufacturing seam threats above and 

beyond regulatory requirements.312 Finally, TURN argues that PG&E should not be able to rely 

upon hydrostatic pressure tests conducted at the pipe mill to determine the stability of 

manufacturing defects. PG&E addresses each of these issues below.

CPSD

306

307

308

309

reat

305 CPSD OB at 43-44.
Nor does CPSD explain why it is only now asserting a violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(a). 
CPSD OB at 44-45.
CPSD OB at 46.
CPSD OB at 46. Only low-frequency ERW is relevant to the manufacturing threat discussion. 

§ 192.917(e)(4); Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S-2004), Appendix A, § 4.3.
CCSF OB at 16-17.

311 TURN OB at 24.
312 CCSF OB at 30-31.

306

307

308

309 See 49 C.F.R.
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“Defects” Identified By CPSD (NTSB) Do Not Show The
Presence Of Unstable Manufacturing Threats

a.

For the first time in its opening brief, CPSD alleges PG&E violated 49 C.F.R.

§ 192.917(a) and ASME B31.8S, Section 2.2 for failing to incorporate a list of “defects” that 

CPSD asserts (without analysis or justification) are relevant to the manufacturing threat 

assessment process for segments on Line 132 with similar characteristics to Segments 180 or 

These “defects” are a collection of data points gathered from Table 2 in the NTSB 

Report314 and CPSD’s Table V -2.

not indicate a potentially unstable manufacturing threat on Segment 180.

313181.
315 PG&E addresses each “defect” and explains why they did

(i) Longitudinal Seam Cracks From 1948 Construction

As discussed in PG&E’s opening brief, indications of long seam imperfections noted on 

girth weld x-rays of the pipe used during the 1948 construction of Line 132 are not evidence of 

unstable manufacturing threats. 316 As described by the 1949 Moody inspection report, the 

method of fabricating DSAW pipe used by Consolidated Western in 1948 often resulted in 

cracking in the external longitudinal weld at the ends of pipe joints due to “spring -back” of the 

plate.317 Workers at the pipe mill expected and repaired the small cracks in the exterior weld 

prior to fabricating the interior longitudinal weld.318 The finished pipe length was then inspected 

inside and out, and subjected to a 90-percent SMYS hydrotest at the pipe mill prior to being 

placed in service.319 Any long seam imperfections that did not fail during this strength test are 

too small to fail at the allowable operating pressure established by the mill test. 320 CPSD did not 

provide any evidence to the contrary.

313 CPSD OB at 43-44. CPSD did not allege a violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(a) or ASME B31.8S, § 2.2 in its 
January 12, 2012 staff report.
314 Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 39.
315 Ex. CPSD-1 at 33-35 (CPSD/Stepanian).

PG&E OB at 84-85.
317 Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-18) (Moody inspection report - Consolidated Western).

Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-18) (Moody inspection report - Consolidated Western).
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-18) (Moody inspection report - Consolidated Western).
Ex. PG&E-l at 6-5 (PG&E/Kiefner); R.T. 691-92, 786-87; 832 (PG&E/Kiefner).

316

318

319

320
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(ii) 1958 Seam Leak On DSAW Pipe In Line 300B

CPSD’s assertion that a seam leak on Line 300B is relevant to the manufacturing threat 

analysis on Line 132 requires proof of all of the following: (1) the seam leak must be the result 

of a failure of the long seam (which would cause the operator to determine that this type of pipe 

is subject to a manufacturing threat and conduct the stability analysis required by 49 C.F.R.

§ 192.917(e)(3)), rather than a pinhole leak; 321 and (2) the pipe installed in Line 300B is 

“similar” to the pipe installed in Line 132. CPSD’s assertion fails for lack of evidence on both 

fronts. CPSD has presented no evidence that the leak discovered in 1958 on Line 300B was the 

result of a seam failure. This “defect” is taken directly from Table 2 in the NTSB report, which 

is an unattributed, unsubstantiated list of “PG&E gas transmission pipeline seam leaks or test 

failures, 1948- 2011” compiled by the NTSB. 323 CPSD has not demonstrated that the pipe on 

Line 300B is “similar” to that on Line 132 in any respect other than both are DSAW pipe. Seam 

type alone is not sufficient to cause an operator to conclude that t he pipe is “similar” within the 

context of a manufacturing threat analysis. To be relevant, the pipe in question must be 

manufactured to the same material specifications ( e.g., pipe diameter, seam type, wall thickness, 

SMYS, and vintage).324 Table 2 describes Line 300B as consisting of 34” DSAW, whereas the 

sections of Line 132 built in 1948 are 30” in diameter. 325 CPSD has failed to prove that this 

seam leak is relevant to PG&E’s manufacturing threat assessment for Line 132.

(iii) 1964 Leak On A Wedding Band On Line 132

326 ConstructionCPSD’s opening brief accurately identifies this as a construction defect, 

defects are related to the girth weld or girth joint configuration, and are not relevant to the
327longitudinal seam manufacturing threat analysis.

321 E.g., Ex. Joint-39 (PG&E Response to 2011 CPUC GO 112-E Integrity Management Audit) at 1. ASME B31.8S 
distinguishes a “leak” from a “failure.”
322 Joint R.T. 1087-89 (PG&E/Keas).
323 CPSD OB at 43; Ex. CPSD-9 at 39.
324 Joint R.T. 1087-89 (PG&E/Keas).
325 Ex. CPSD-9 at 39.

CPSD OB at 43.
327 Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-21 to 4-22 (PG&E/Keas).

326
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(iv) 1974 Hydrostatic Test Failure On Line 300B

Table 2 (as excerpted by CPSD) indicates that the hydro test failure occurred on 34-inch 

pipe. As described above, pipe must be of the same material specifications in order for failures 

on one pipeline to be relevant to the manufacturing threat analysis on the other. CPSD did not 

provide any evidence that this pipe is of the same material specification as the Line 132 pipe.

(v) 1988 Pinhole Leak In Line 132

PG&E identified a small leak, commonly referred to as a “pinhole” leak,

1988. Due to the miniscule size of the pipe defect, metallurgical investigation by microscopic

As PG&E explained in its opening brief (and as 

multiple PG&E and expert witnesses explained during cross-examination), pinhole leaks are not 

evidence of manufacturing threats in the context of the integrity management rule, 

microscopic examination of the weld showed imperfections from the manufacturing process, 

there was no evidence that they had grown in service.

on Line 132 in

328examination could not locate the leak.

329 While the

(vi) 1992 Longitudinal Seam Defect In Line 132

This “defect” arises from the misinterpretation of statements made by a PG&E employee 

during an NTSB interview. 330 CPSD’s “evidence” that this defect exists consists solely of a 

reference to Tab le 2 in the NTSB report. CPSD does not rebut PG&E’s testimony that 

demonstrates that the PG&E employee could not identify the pipeline that contained the 

defect.331 CPSD has failed to prove the existence of this defect, or its relevance to the 

manufacturing threat analysis on Line 132.

(vii) 1996 Line 109 Seam Cracking And Seam Weld With 
Lack Of Penetration

As identified in Table 2 of the NTSB report, this seam cracking was identified on 22-inch 

diameter pipe. 332 This segment of Line 109 was constructed using the single submerged arc

328 Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-16).
Joint R.T. 870-71 (PG&E/Zurcher).
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-22) at 6-30 (NTSB Telephone Interview of Joe Joaquim). The company employee could not 

recall the pipeline on which the defect he described was located.
331 Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-20 (PG&E/Keas).
332 Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 39.

329

330
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welding method, and was installed in 193 5 . 333 This segment of Line 109 is not similar pipe, and 

is not relevant to the manufacturing threat analysis for Line 132.

(viii) 1996 Defect In Forge Seam Weld On DFM-3

This alleged defect occurred on pipe with materially different seam type (forge seam 

weld vs. DSAW), and is not relevant to the manufacturing threat analysis for Line 132.

(ix) 1999 Leak On Line 402 ERW Seam Weld

This alleged defect occurred on pipe with materially different specifications (seam type 

and diameter) and is not relevant to the manufacturing threat analysis for Line 132.

(x) Line 132 Miter Joints

Under integrity management regulations, miter joints are considered to be construction 

threats, not manufacturing threats.334

(xi) 2009 Leak On Line 132 Girth Weld

Leaks on girth welds are evidence of construction defects.335 Construction defects are not
336relevant to the manufacturing seam threat analysis.

(xii) 2009 Defective SAW Repair Weld On Line 132

CPSD states that PG&E identified a “defective SAW [submerged arc weld] repair weld” 

on Line 132 during a 2009 ECDA. While CPSD does not identify any evidence documenting 

this defect, PG&E believes CPSD is referring to linear indications (small crack-like 

imperfections) discussed in Exhibit Joint-8. While PG&E agrees that linear indications were 

found at this location, CPSD has presented no evidence that such indications constituted a threat 

to seam integrity. To the contrary, evidence in the record indicates that the linear indications 

were identified on a repair to the long seam made at the pipe mill. 337 Such repairs are expressly

333 Ex. CCSF-1 (Exhibit 8 - 1996 Report on Cracking in L109 Seam Welds).
334 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), § A5 (“Construction is defined in this context as pipe girth weld, fabrication weld, 
wrinkle bend or buckle, stripped threads, broken pipe, or coupling.”) A miter joint is a girth joint configuration.
335 Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-21 (PG&E/Keas).

Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-21 to 4-22 (PG&E/Keas).
337 Ex. Joint-8 at 4. The presence of SAW repair welds is consistent with the Moody inspection report for the 
DSAW pipe manufactured by Consolidated Western and used in the 1948 construction of Line 132.

336
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authorized in API pipe procurement specifications. 338 Seam repairs made at the factory do not 

indicate the presence of manufacturing defects that may grow to failure, as the repaired pipe 

joints are hydro tested in the mill after the repair is made to ensure the integrity of the pipe and 

eliminate defects that could grow to failure. 339 The record evidence supports this, as the linear 

indication showed no signs of service-related growth. 340 Moreover, the linear indications were 

present in the weld cap, which is extra metal that is deposited above the level of the pipe wall. 341 

PG&E personnel were able to remove the majority of the indication without removing weld 

metal below the level of the pipe wall.342

(xiii) Defects Identified In 2011

CPSD identifies two defects that were discovered in 2011 as part of post-San Bruno 

activities - one identified during a camera inspection on Line 3 00A, and one identified during x- 

ray inspection carried out during PG&E’s MAOP validation.343 In addition to the fact that these 

defects were discovered after the incident, and would therefore not be available t 

Integrity Management personnel prior to 2011, CPSD fails to establish that either of these 

defects were on pipe similar to that used in Line 132. While CPSD states that these defects were 

found on DSAW pipe, CPSD does not identify the diameter, wall thickness or other material 

specifications that are required to make defects on these lines relevant to the integrity assessment 

on Line 132.

o PG&E’s

b. PG&E Does Not Have A History Of Long Seam Failure On 
DSAW Pipe

CPSD and Intervenors argue that, despite regulatory guidance and industry experience to 

the contrary, PG&E should have considered DSAW pipe to be the seam integrity equivalent to 

low-frequency ERW pipe manufactured prior to 1970. 344 This argument ignores the fact that

338 E.g., Joint R.T. 1090 (PG&E/Keas).
E.g„ Joint R.T. 1090 (PG&E/Keas).
Ex. Joint-8 at 4.

341 Ex. Joint-8 at 4.
342 Ex. Joint-8 at 4.
343 CPSD OB at 44.

CPSD OB at 45; CCSF OB at 28-30; TURN OB at 27.

339

340

344
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345 theDSAW pipe is considered in the industry to be the highest quality welded pipe, 

classification of DSAW in the regulations as having a joint efficiency factor of 1.0 (equivalent to 

seamless pipe), 346 and the lack of incidents on DSAW pipe in PG&E’s system that would cause 

PG&E to consider DSAW to be subject to a manufacturing threat.

(i) CPSD And Intervenors Must Prove PG&E Had A 
History Of Long Seam Failures On DSAW Pipe To 
Show That PG&E Was Required To Consider DSAW 
As Subject To A Manufacturing Seam Threat

Integrity management regulations state that an operator must identify low frequency 

electric resistance welded pipe (LF-ERW), lap welded pipe, or pipe identified in ASME B31.8S, 

Section A4.3 or A4.4 (pipe with a joint efficiency less than one) as being subject to a potential 

manufacturing threat if the operator has experienced a seam failure on such pipe or 

operating pressure increases over the maximum experienced during the previous five years. 

Additionally, if an operator identifies a manufacturing threat on an HCA pipe segment, the 

operator must analyze the segment to determine the stability of the manufacturing threat.

Under this second prong (49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3)) of the manufacturing threat analysis, the 

operator may identify a manufacturing threat on any seam type, but must have a history of seam 

failure on the particular segment (or similar segments) in its own system prior to classifying the 

pipe as subject to the threat.

In plain terms, this means that DSAW is not one of the seam types considered to be 

subject to seam integrity issues sufficient to merit inclusion in 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4). 

order for CPSD to prove that PG&E should have identified DSAW pipe as subject to a

if the
347

348

349

35° jn

345 Ex. PG&E-l at 3-5 (PG&E/Caligiuri).
49 C.F.R. § 192.113.

347 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4); Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), §§ A4.3, A4.4.
49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3).
E.g., Ex. Joint-39 (PG&E Response to 2011 CPUC GO 112-E Integrity Management Audit) at 1.
Low-frequency ERW pipe is included in 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4) due to a large number of seam failures 

experienced in the pipeline industry in the late 1980s. The seam failures were of such a frequency that PHMSA 
initiated an investigation into that particular type of pipe, and later issued a series of advisory bulletins alerting 
pipeline operators to the dangers of such pipe. See, e.g., PHMSA Alert Notice ALN-88-01, Recent findings relative 
to factors contributing to operational failures of pipelines constructed with ERW prior to 1970 (January 28, 1988); 
PHMSA Alert Notice ALN-89-01, Update: Additional findings relative to factors contributing to operational failures 
of pipelines constructed by ERW prior to 1970 (March 8, 1989),
http://www.phmsa.dot/gov/pipeline/regs/advisory-bulletin. To date, PHMSA has not issued any such warnings 
related to DSAW pipe. Id.

346

348

349

350
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manufacturing threat, it must prove that PG&E had a history of longitudinal seam failures on 

DSAW pipe in its system. CPSD and Intervenors failed to present evidence of such failures.

(ii) 1948 Construction Records, The 1988 Pinhole Leak, 
And The Integrity Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines 
Are Not Evidence Of Long Seam Failures On DSAW 
Pipe In PG&E’sSystem

CPSD misconstrues several disparate data points as the type of seam failure history 

addressed under Section 192.917(e)(3), namely, longitudinal seam cracks identified during 

construction in 1948 and the 1988 pinhole leak, 

industry publication showing a small number of long seam issues in DSAW pipeline 

experienced by other operators and manufactured by pipe mills other than PG&E’s supplier or 

in other years than the pipe used in Line 132 required PG&E to treat its DSAW pipe (regardless 

of material specification) as subject to a manufacturing threat. Each argument fails.

As described above, longitudinal seam imperfections identified during the 1948 

construction do not constitute manufacturing threats, as the pipe was subjected to a 90% SMYS 

mill hydro test, sufficient to eliminate any defects that could grow to failure during operation. 354 

CPSD’s argument that these imperfections somehow put PG&E on notice that DSAW pipe was 

subject to the manufacturing seam threat fails, as the imperfections are not evidence of historical 

seam failure in PG&E’s system or of legitimate general concern with DSAW pipe.

CPSD’s argument that the pinhole leak identified in 1988 constitutes a history of seam 

failure is similarly without merit. 355 Metallurgical investigation showed that the leak was very 

small, and that the pipe, with the leak removed, was fully operational and returned to service.

Mr. Zurcher confirmed PG&E’s assessment, stating that even DSAW, consi dered one of the best 

performing types of pipe and given a joint efficiency rating of 1.0 in federal regulations and 

ASME B31.8S, may exhibit manufacturing imperfections resulting in pinhole leaks from time to 

time. Mr. Zurcher testified that leaks of this type do not signal the presence of unstable

351 Additionally, CPSD attempts to show that an

356

351 CPSD OB at 45.
352 CPSD OB at 45. TURN and CCSF raise the same contentions. TURN OB at 27-28; CCSF OB at 27-29.
353 PG&E OB at 82-85, 88.
354 Ex. PG&E-l at 6-5 (PG&E/Kiefner); R.T. 691-92, 770, 786-87, 832 (PG&E/Kiefner).
355 Joint R.T. 871 (PG&E/Zurcher).

Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-16).356
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manufacturing defects as they have not been found to lead to pipeline ruptures. 357 CPSD has not 

addressed, let alone rebutted, any of PG&E’s evidence supporting this conclusion.

Lastly, CPSD indicates that PG&E should have considered all DSAW pipe, or at least all 

DSAW pipe manufactured prior to 1960, as subject to a manufacturing threat. 358 CPSD cites the 

Integrity Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines report, which presents summary data on pipe 

anomalies and incidents across the industry, in support of its argument. 359 However, as reflected 

in the report, DSAW pipe welds are not prone to anomalies such as long seam cracks. 360 While 

there have been isolated anomalies in DSAW pipe, these are rare and occurred mostly in pipe 

manufactured by Kaiser or U.S. Steel, not Consolidated Western, PG&E’s primary supplier.

The Integrity Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines report does not identify seam failures on pipe 

manufactured by Consolidated Western for the vintages used in the construction of Line 132, nor 

does it reference any incidents on PG&E’s system. 362 The data in this report is immaterial to 

PG&E’s manufacturing threat analysis on Line 132.

361

Pipe Age Is Irrelevant To Manufacturing Seam Threat 
Analysis

c.

Intervenors claim all pipe greater than 50 years old, regardless of seam type, is 

automatically subject to a manufacturing seam threat. 363 This argument ignores the distinction in 

ASME B31.8S between pipe body and pipe seam manufacturing threats. ASME B31.8S, 

Sections A4.3-A4.4 make clear that the age of pipe (with the exception of low frequency ERW 

pipe)364 is irrelevant to the manufacturing seam threat analysis.

CCSF argues:

Federal regulations recognize that certain pre
manufacturing or construction methods such as low frequency 
electric resistance welds (“ERWs”) may be particularly susceptible 
to failure and therefore pose substantial threats to pipeline

1970’s

357 Joint R.T. 871 (PG&E/Zurcher).
CPSD OB at 45.
CPSD OB at 45.
Ex. Joint-49, Table E-9 at E-l 1 (Integrity Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines).
Ex. Joint-49, Table E-9 at E-l 1 (Integrity Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines).
Ex. Joint-49, Table E-6 at E-7 (Integrity Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines).
CCSF OB at 16-17; TURN OB at 24.
ASME B31.8S identifies low-frequency ERW pipe (in essence, ERW pipe manufactured prior to 1970) as being 

subject to a potential manufacturing threat. Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), § A4.3.

358

359

360

361

362

363

364
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integrity. These include ERW pipe, steel pipeline more than 50 
years old, mechanically coupled pipelines, and pipelines joined by 
acetylene girth welds in areas where the pipeline is exposed to land 
movement. Because these pre-1970fabrication techniques are 
more susceptible to failure, the federal regulations state that if a 
pipeline segment is made with these construction techniques and 
the operating pressure exceeds the five year MOP... the operator 
must select an assessment technology or technologies with a 
proven application capable of assessing seam integrity and seam 
corrosion anomalies. 365

TURN states:

Part 192.917(e)(4) further requires that if a segment has certain 
characteristics as specified in Section A4.3 and A4.4 of B31.8S 
and any segment in the pipeline system with such pipe has 
experienced seam failure, then the operator “must select an 
assessment technology or technologies with a proven application 
capable of assessing seam integrity and seam corrosion anomalies 
... Of particular relevance to Line 132 is the fact that Appendix 
A4.3 lists steel pipe greater than 50 years old as one of the 
conditions.366

Each argument ignores that ASME B31.8S, Section A4.3 separately addresses seam- and 

non-seam related threats. The first paragraph of ASME B31.8S, Section 

seam related manufacturing threats, including the 50-year condition. The second paragraph 

identifies seam-related manufacturing threats, and does not reference pipe age. ASME B31.8S, 

Section A4.3 states:

A4.3 identifies non-

For cast iron pipe, 
mechanically coupled pipelines, or pipelines joined by means of 
acetylene girth welds, where low temperatures are experienced or 
where the pipe is exposed to movement such as land movement or 
removal of supporting backfill, examination of the terrain is 
required. If land movement is observed or can reasonably be 
anticipated, a pipeline movement monitoring program should be 
established and appropriate intervention activities undertaken.

steel pipe greater than 50 years old

If the pipe has a joint factor of less than 1.0 (such as lap-welded 
pipe, hammer-welded pipe, and butt-welded pipe) or if the pipeline

365 CPSD OB at 16-17 (emphasis added). 
TURN OB at 24 (italics in original).366
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is comprised of low-frequency ERW pipe or flash welded pipe, a 
manufacturing threat is considered to exist. 367

Thus, ASME B31.8S makes clear there are two types of manufacturing threats. The first 

paragraph, which includes the 50-year provision, addresses conditions that could render the pipe 

susceptible to ground movement-related failure, such as the method of manufacture of the girth 

weld. Nothing in this first paragraph relates to the longitudinal seam. In contrast, the second 

paragraph identifies the universe of pipe that the drafters of ASME B31.8S considered to be 

subject to a manufacturing seam threat. That universe does not include pipe age as a relevant 

consideration (nor does it reference DSAW pipe).

ASME B31.8S illustrates the disparate treatment afforded to non-seam-related and seam- 

related manufacturing threats:

368

For cast iron pipe, the assessment should include evaluation as to 
whether or not the pipe is subject to land movement or subject to 
removal of support.

For steel pipe seam concerns, when raising the MAOP of a 
pipeline or when raising the operating pressure above the historical 
operating pressure (highest pressure recorded in the past 5 years), 
pressure testing must be performed to address the seam issue. 369

As ASME B31.8S makes clear, pipe that is over 50 years old is identified as having a

The 50-year provision is unrelated to the longitudinal370threat related to ground movement, 

seam, or any requirement that an operator conduct an integrity assessment of the long seam. 371

CPSD Fails To Prove The Presence Of Unstable 
Manufacturing Threats on ERW Pipe In Line 132

d.

CPSD raises a new allegation in its opening brief concerning PG&E’s threat

CPSD’s new allegation states simply that “Line 132372identification for ERW pipe on Line 132.

367 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), § A4.3 (emphasis added).
Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), § A4.3.
Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S), § A4.4.
Joint R.T. 1149-50 (PG&E/Keas).

371 Joint R.T. 1181-82 (PG&E/Keas).
372 CPSD OB at 46- 47. CPSD’s initial report (Ex. CPSD -1 (CPSD/Stepanian)) only mentions ERW three times, 
none of them in connection with any alleged violation: (1) in the list of acronyms; (2) as an example of an 
interactive threat (p. 36); and (3) in a quotation from PG&E’s RMP-06 (p. 41).

368

369

370
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„ 373includes several ERW segments.

manufacturing threat on these segments “after exceeding MOP[.]” 

constitutional defect discusse d above, CPSD’s new allegation fails for lack of evidentiary 

support, as CPSD has not presented evidence that the segments in question were low-frequency 

ERW pipe. Even if the unidentified segments consist of low- frequency ERW pipe, CPSD’s new 

allegation fails for the same reason that its Segment 181 argument 

established that PG&E rendered any potential manufacturing threat unstable.

As described above, only certain types of electric resistance welded pipe are identified in 

49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4), namely, low-frequency ERW manufactured prior to 1970. 

does not state whether the segments in question are low-frequency ERW, nor does the NTSB 

report (which CPSD cites in support of this allegation), 

segments involved low-frequency ERW pipe defeats CPSD’s allegation at the outset.

Assuming that CPSD alleged sufficient facts to invoke 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4), 

CPSD’s argument still fails, as the planned pressure increases in 2003 and 2008 did no t render 

any potential manufacturing threats (including any that might exist on low-frequency ERW pipe) 

PG&E’s opening brief demonstrated that the 2003 pressure increase occurred prior

In other words, CPSD’s argument depends

CPSD alleges that PG&E failed to identify an unstable

In addition to the374

375 fails. CPSD has not

376 CPSD

377 The absence of evidence that these

378unstable.

to publication of the integrity management rules.

on finding a violation of a regulation that did not exist at the time of the conduct in question.

Additionally, the preamble to the integrity management regulations made it clear that the

provision in 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4) was intended to address changed operating conditions,

not transient excursions like that on Line 132 in 2008 (or 2003):

Changes in operating conditions, such as a significant increase in 
pressure, could cause latent defects to grow. Therefore, if the 
pipeline operating conditions change such that operating pressure 
will be above historic operating pressure, if MAOP increases, or if

379

373 CPSD OB at 46. CPSD cites to page 36 of the NTSB report, which contains identical language, without any 
additional information regarding the type of ERW pipe (pre- or post-1970, low-frequency or high-frequency) or the 
location of the segments.
374 CPSD OB at 46.
375 Ex. CPSD-1 at 42-49 (CPSD/Stepanian).

49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4).
377 CPSD OB at 46 (citing Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 36).

PG&E OB at 89-92.
PG&E OB at 89-90.

376

378

379
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the stresses that could lead to cyclic fatigue increase, the operator 
must treat the covered segment as a high-risk segment. 380

Mr. Zurcher, who helped write the integrity management regulations, explained it clearly:

Q: So if you exceed the MAOP - and my question when I asked 
you if you exceed the MAOP, that means you would exceed the 
historic operating level; is that correct?

A: Well, again, I think we continue to have a terminology issue 
here. The regulations and the standard address raising the 
operating pressure, not just having a pressure exceedence. It’s - 
the operating pressure is a number. Every company has one. It’s a 
normal operating pressure, that is when that integrity threat may 
kick in for certain seam types. 
excursion above the operating pressure or above MAOP does not 
kick in the need for an assessment for the manufacturing 
threat.

But the fact that you had an

381

In short, a transient pressure excursion that exceeds MAOP by less than one pound lacks 

the physical capability of rendering stable manufacturing seam threats unstable, and does not 

trigger 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4).

PG&E’s Post -Accident Enhanced Manufacturing Threat 
Definition Is Not Evidence That PG&E Failed To Identify 
Manufacturing Threats Prior To San Bruno

e.

CCSF attempts to cast post- incident changes made to PG&E’s Integrity Management 

program as evidence that PG&E’s threat identification proc 

argument is both factually incorrect and legally inappropriate, and should be disregarded.

As discussed in Section IV.B of PG&E’s opening brief, CCSF’s reliance on PG&E’s 

post-accident improvement efforts to support alleged violations is legally inappropriate. 

California statutory and case law are clear that evidence of subsequent improvements cannot be 

used to prove that a party was negligent or otherwise culpable.

Regardless, the Commission should disregard CCSF’s argument because PG&E’s post 

accident improvement efforts include an enhanced manufacturing threat identification process

382ess was deficient. CCSF’s

383

380 68 Fed. Reg. 69,804 (emphasis added).
Joint R.T. 749-50 (PG&E/Zurcher) (emphasis added). 
CCSF OB at 30-31.
PG&E OB at 46.

381

382

383
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384that exceeds what is required by law.

Management, Kris Keas, PG&E contracted with Kiefner and Associates to develop an 

engineering review process to enhance PG&E’s threat identification process, 

enhancements to PG&E’s threat identification process was to identify all pipe that has not been 

pressure tested to at least 1.25 times pipeline MAOP as subject to a potential manufacturing 

threat. This is not required by code, 386 as the NTSB acknowledged even after the San Bruno 

accident.387 Moreover, the enhancements to PG&E’s threat identification process did not result 

in the identification of 523 additional pipeline segments with unstable pipeline defects, as CCSF 

incorrectly asserts.388 Instead, the list of segments that CCSF refers to was a list of segments that 

PG&E identified for further investigation, including records research conducted during pre

assessment work.389 In fact, PG&E personnel identified additional records demonstrating that a 

substantial number of these segments had been subjected to a qualifying strength test, reducing 

the mileage of pipeline from approximately 45 miles to about 17.

As explained by PG&E’s Supervisor of Risk

385 One of the

390

f. Mill Tests Are Acceptable Strength Tests For Manufacturing 
Seam Threat Stability Analysis

TURN asserts that mill tests of the variety specified in API 5L are not qualified to 

remove potential manufacturing seam defects, citing the irrelevant interview of a former 

Consolidated Western employee and the potential for transportation-induced cracking. 

TURN’S argument lacks support, as it contradicts the testimony of John Kiefner, an 

unquestioned expert and industry leader in analyzing manufacturing threat stability, who 

explicitly stated that mill tests are acceptable surrogates for pre-service hydro tests. As 

explained by Dr. Kiefner:

391

Another way [to conduct a stability analysis] is to look at the one 
benchmark that almost every pipeline has, and that is a mill 
pressure test. And with that benchmark, it could easily be shown

384 Joint R.T. 1207-09 (PG&E/Keas). 
Joint R.T. 1207 (PG&E/Keas). 
Joint R.T. 1207-08 (PG&E/Keas). 
Ex. Joint-44.
CCSF OB at 31.
Joint R.T. 1208 (PG&E/Keas). 
Joint R.T. 1208-09 (PG&E/Keas). 
TURN OB at 29-30.

385

386

387

388

389

390

391
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that you’re not at risk. In fact, that’s basically what our 2007 work 
was intended to do for PHMSA was to come up with a kind of 
criterion where you can - a pipeline operator can say, look, we 
consider our manufacturing defect to be stable in the context of the 
useful life of our pipeline. 392

TURN’S criticisms of Dr. Kiefner’s conclusions are without merit. First, TURN’S

reliance on a former Consolidated Western employee is without support, and was refuted by Dr.

Kiefner and PG&E witness Kris Keas. As explained by Dr. Kiefner:

Having knowledge that your pipeline is comprised of a material 
made to a line pipe specification, an API-5L for example, 
guarantees that you had a mill hydrosta tic test. If you didn’t get 
one, the manufacturer was cheating. And I know of no instances 
where that’s ever been proven. 393

As explained by Ms. Keas, the Consolidated Western mill worker was in all likelihood

mistaken in suggesting that pipe manufactured to API-5L specification did not receive a mill test:

I actually worked in a mill. I worked for USS-POSCO over in 
Pittsburg, California. And I was a quality engineer at the 
beginning of my career. And I was responsible for producing 
different pipe - excuse me - steel products. And there’s a lot of 
different customers. And so some customers we make pipe or we 
make product for one specification. And then another order will 
come in, and you would use a different specification. So in my 
mind, the testi mony that’s given in this document could be the 
reason why he’s saying the one in 50 [pipes were hydrotested] is 
that they were producing different product for different individuals 
with different specifications. So I’m not surprised to hear that he 
said that some items may have been fabricated without a hydro 
test. I think that it’s probably more - it is more likely, however, 
that when they had a 5L specified order, that they met the 
requirements of that order and did a hydrotest. 394

Moreover, the former Consolidated Western employee on whom TURN relies did not 

work at the Southern California plant that manufactured 30” DSAW pipe for PG&E in 1948 and 

1949, and he retired two years before PG&E’s 1953 pipe purchase was fulfilled by Consolidated

The former employee was not involved in making pipe395Western’s South San Francisco plant.

392 R.T. 711-12 (PG&E/Kiefner). 
R.T. 712 (PG&E/Kiefner).
Joint R.T. 1095-96 (PG&E/Keas). 
Ex. CPSD-305 at 32-33.

393

394

395
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for PG&E or familiar with the process by which it was made. TURN’S suggestion that his 

testimony related to PG&E’s pipe purchases is incorrect. The Moody’s inspection report tha t 

describes the actual manufacturing process for PG&E’s 1949 Consolidated Western pipe 

purchase is the best evidence of how the pipe was manufactured.

TURN’S assertion that pipelines are at risk of transportation-induced cracking is similarly

unwarranted. As PHMSA stated as recently as 2009:

Typically, gas pipelines are not at significant risk of failure from 
the pressure-cycle -induced growth of original manufacturing- 
related or transportation-related defects. PHMSA records do not 
contain any known incidents involving failure of steel natural gas 
transmission pipe from the pressure-cycle -induced growth of 
original manufacturing-related or transportation-related defects.

396

397

398PHMSA based this conclusion in part on Dr. Kiefner’s research, 

evidence that transportation- related fatigue cracking presents a threat to PG&E’s system, or to 

the industry at large.

TURN presents no

3. CPSD Did Not Prove That PG&E Failed To Evaluate Cyclic Fatigue 
As Required By Law

CPSD argues PG&E violated integrity management regulations (49 C.F.R.

§ 192.917(e)(2)) because PG&E “dismissed cyclic fatigue as a threat” rather than evaluate the 

threat posed by cyclic fatigue to its pipelines, 

discussed below, these allegations consist of subjective, hindsight-based judgments and find no 

support in the law or in the facts regarding PG&E’s evaluation of cyclic fatigue prior to the San 

Bruno incident. CPSD did not and cannot meet its burden of establishing that PG&E’s 

evaluation of the threat posed by cyclic fatigue violated the law.

399 400CCSF makes similar assertions. As

396 Ex. PG&E-5 (Tab 2-3).
Ex. PG&E-3 (August 10, 2009 PHMSA Letter to NTSB).
Ex. PG&E-3 (August 10, 2009 PHMSA Letter to NTSB) at 8. 
CPSD OB at 44-45.
CCSF OB at 33-34.

397

398

399

400
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CPSD And CCSF’s Allegations Rely On Hindsight Judgment 
And Ignore Relevant Pre-Incident Industry Perspective

a.

Both CPSD and CCSF rely on findings that fatigue contributed to in-service growth of 

the ductile tear in the pup in Segment 180 to argue that PG&E failed to properly evaluate the 

threat of cyclic fatigue on its pipelines. 401 This is a hindsight judgment, as PG&E discussed in 

its opening brief. 402 The record is clear that the pipe for Line 132 and the construction of 

Segment 180 was procured pursuant to a specification calling for the pipe to be subject to a mill 

hydro test to 90% of the pipe’s SMYS.403 Such a mill test, while of short duration, is considered 

sufficient to ensure that any remaining manufacturing defects would be too small to fail at the 

maximum operating pressure. 404 Segment 180 (as reflected in PG&E’s procurement records) 

would not be expected to experience fatigue-induced failure during its useful life. 405 Knowledge 

of the presence of the pups in Segment 180 would not have led PG&E to conduct any additional 

analysis of cyclic fatigue - it would have led PG&E to immediately cut the segment out and 

replaced it with appropriate pipe.

Moreover, these allegations disregard the universal industry, engineering and regulatory 

perspective prior to the San Bruno incident that the threat of cyclic fatigue-induced failure in 

natural gas pipelines was essentially non-existent. The evidence demonstrates beyond question 

that cyclic fatigue was not considered a threat to natural gas pipelines before September 9, 2010. 

There had been no recorded failures from cyclic fatigue on natural gas pipelines, 

research and experience indicates natural gas pipelines are not at significant risk of failure from 

the pressure-cycle-induced growth of original manufacturing-related or transportation-related 

defects.

406

407 PHMSA’s

408

401 CPSD OB at 44-45; CCSF OB at 33.
PG&E OB at 40-42.
Ex. PG&E-l at 2-2 to 2-3 (PG&E/Harrison); Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-20) (pipe specifications for 1948 construction 

of Line 132). See also PG&E OB, Section V.B.3.a.(iii).
Ex. PG&E-l at 6-5 (PG&E/Kiefner).
R.T. 836 (PG&E/Kiefner).
Joint R.T. 1051 (PG& E/Keas) (“Standing alone, if we knew that they were there, we would have cut them out. 

We wouldn’t wait for an integrity management program to do an evaluation for them.”).
R.T. 716 (PG&E/Kiefner).
Ex. PG&E-3 at 1.

402

403

404

405

406

407

408

75

SB GT&S 0486566



As the evidence proves, CPSD’s position regarding PG&E’s treatment of the threat from 

cyclic fatigue is based on CPSD’s post -accident perspective, hindsight information, and its 

disregard of the pre-accident consensus that cyclic fatigue was not, in fact, a threat. 409

b. CPSD Fails To Prove That PG&E Did Not Appropriately 
Evaluate The Threat Of Cyclic Fatigue

CPSD implies that the integrity management regulations required PG&E to conduct a 

“segment specific” fatigue calculation in order to properly evaluate the threat posed by cyclic 

fatigue.

opening brief, the integrity management regulatio ns direct operators to “ evaluate whether cyclic 

fatigue or other loading conditions (including ground movement, suspension bridge condition)

410 This position, however, finds no support in the regulations. As discussed in PG&E’s

could lead to a failure of a deformation, including a dent or gouge, or other defect in the covered 

The regulations are silent as to what manner of evaluation is appropriate. CPSD„411segment.

has introduced no evidence that supports its contention that the code “evaluation” requires a 

segment-by-segment analysis. CCSF articulates a series of steps it claims operators 

undertake to perform the evaluation of cyclic fatigue required by the regulations, 

supports these assertions only by reference to its own proffered testimony of Mr. Gawronski, 

who claims no particular expertise related to cyclic fatigue on natural gas pipelines.

“must”
412 CCSF

413 By

contrast, Dr. Kiefner is the unquestioned industry expert on cyclic fatigue. Dr. Kiefner testified 

that prior to San Bruno many natural gas operators satisfied the regulation by referencing the 

prior industry research (and concluding that cyclic fatigue did not pose a significant threat to 

their pipelines) rather than conducting a detailed segment- by-segment assessment of their

pipelines.414

The evidence establishes that PG&E undertook and documented just such an evaluation. 

In the early years of its Integrity Management program, PG&E evaluated the threat of cyclic 

fatigue on its pipelines through a combination of the means described by Dr. Kiefner in his

409 It is worth emphasizing again that the pipe that ruptured was severely defective; cyclic fatigue would not have 
presented any concern for properly made pipe. Ex. PG&E-l at 3-5 to 3-17 (PG&E/Caligiuri); Ex. PG&E-l at 6- 5
(PG&E/Kiefner).

CPSD OB at 44.
49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(2) (emphasis added). See also PG&E OB at 76-78.

412 CCSF OB at 34.
413 Ex. CCSF-1, Exhibit 1 (Gawronski resume).

Ex. PG&E-l at 6-7 (PG&E/Kiefner).

410

411

414
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testimony.415 PG&E integrity management engineer Kris Keas testified that PG&E conducted 

initial calculations “to see if they thought that a wors[t] case scenario would be potentially
„ 416 The company then evaluated this data in the context of industry

Based upon that evaluation, PG&E

affected by cyclic fatigue, 

literature regarding cyclic fatigue on natural gas pipelines. 417

418determined that cyclic fatigue was an active threat to its pipelines.

CCSF asserts that PG&E “lacks a documented record” that it evaluated the threat of 

cyclic fatigue.419 However, the record shows that PG&E explicitly informed PHMSA and the 

CPUC - in writing - how PG&E had evaluated the threat of cyclic fatigue on its pipelines, and

Audit protocol matrices are PG&E- 

created documents which, in essence, serve as a roadmap for the auditors to evaluate PG&E’s 

Integrity Management program. 421 The evidence establishes that in connection with integrity 

management audits in 2005 and 2010 PG&E provided PHMSA and the CPUC with the audit 

protocol matrices, which stated in w riting PG&E’s assessment of cyclic fatigue and its 

conclusion regarding the absence of the threat. 422 As documented in its audit protocol matrices, 

PG&E concluded cyclic fatigue was “not considered a threat due to the level of increases and the 

frequency of pressure increases in our system.” As discussed in greater detail in PG&E’s 

opening brief,424 CPUC and PHMSA found PG&E’s threat identification process satisfactory and 

identified no issues relating to PG&E’s identification and evaluation of cyclic fatigu e. Having

420PG&E’s conclusion there was no significant threat.

415 Joint R.T. 1000-02 (PG&E/Keas).
Joint R.T. 1001 (PG&E/Keas). PG&E’s analysis included a review of the work done by Dr . Kiefner. Again, 

pipe with a defect as severe as found in the pups after the accident would not be evaluated for expected useful life in 
a cyclic fatigue analysis - it would be removed and replaced. It is not realistic to contend that PG&E would have or 
should have analyzed a defect like that contained in the pups and reached a different conclusion regarding the threat 
posed by cyclic fatigue to its pipelines.

Joint R.T. 1001 (PG&E/Keas).
Joint R.T. 1001 (PG&E/Keas).
CCSF OB at 34.
PG&E OB at 78.

421 Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-30 n.18 (PG&E/Keas).
422 Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-30 to 4-31 (PG&E/Keas).
423 Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4- 24) at 12 (2005 Audit Protocol Matrix). The full entry states: “Based on preliminary 
assessment, [cyclic fatigue is] not considered a threat due to the level of increase and frequency of pressure increases 
in our system. However, also participating with INGAA in review of Kiefner Cyclic Fatigue report to determine if 
there are situations that would be a concern. Also performing some review of pipelines with the greatest potential 
for cyclic fatigue to verify our preliminary assessment (see RMP-6 section 4.3).”

PG&E OB at 72-74.
425 Joint R.T. 1192-96 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-25) (2005 Audit Inspection Protocols with Results 
Forms); Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) (2010 Audit Inspection Protocols with Results Forms).

416

417

418

419

420

424
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twice audited PG&E’s evaluation of cyclic fatigue without issue, CPSD’s alleged violation lacks 

merit. CPSD has failed to prove that PG&E’s evaluation of cyclic fatigue prior to the San Bruno 

incident did not meet regulatory requirements.

CCSF’s Additional Allegations Regarding Cyclic Fatigue Are 
Erroneous And Unfounded

c.

CCSF makes a series of incomplete and inaccurate assertions in an attempt to undermine 

“key assumptions contained in PG&E’s testimony” regarding cyclic fatigue. For example, Dr. 

Kiefner’s testimony establishes that pipe subjected to an API -required mill test would not be 

expected to experience fatigue-induced failure during its useful life. 426 In response, CCSF cites 

an NTSB interview of one former Consolidated Western employee to assert that “the record 

indicates that not all pipe PG&E purchased from Consolidated Western was subject to a mill 

test.”427 Even if this interview were sufficient to support a conclusion as to Consolidated 

Western’s general practices, it would in no wa y undermine the fact that, regardless of 

manufacturer, the API specifications require a mill test of specific magnitude. As Dr. Kiefner 

explained, “having knowledge that your pipeline is comprised of a material made to a line -pipe

specification, an API 5L for example, guarantees that you had a . . . standard minimum mill test

Similarly, CCSF cites a429pressure in order for the manufacturer to validly stamp that pipe.”

March 2012 Kiefner & Associates analysis of PG&E pipelines for the premise that PG&E should 

have considered cyclic fatigue to be a threat because its system contains some pipe grades

subjected to a lower mill test and thus “[i]n some cases, the calculated fatigue life for these types 

of pipe is on the order of 50 years, 

from the Kiefner & Associates report.431 However, the very next sentence of the report on which 

CCSF relies states:

„ 430 Indeed, CCSF extracted the preceding sentence directly

426 Ex. PG&E-l at 6-1, 6-5 (PG&E/Kiefner).
427 CCSF OB at 36. As explained above, the former employee was not involved in PG&E pipe purchases from 
Consolidated Western. To the extent he believed otherwise, respectfully, he was mistaken. The Moody inspection 
report establishes the manufacturing process used to make PG&E’s Consolidated Western DSAW pipe. Ex. PG&E - 
5 (Tab 2-3).

R.T. 711-13 (PG&E/Kiefner).
R.T. 711-13 (PG&E/Kiefner).
CCSF OB at 36, citing Ex. CCSF-5 at 2.

431 Ex. CCSF-5 at 2.

428

429

430
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Note that in these cases in Table 1 the pipe was either tested by 
PG&E to a higher pressure resulting in a long fatigue life (so in 
essence the fatigue life predicted by the mill test does not apply), 
or the pipe is seamless so the threat of seam-weld fatigue does not 
apply.432

Finally, CCSF argues that Dr. Kiefner’s conclusions should be discounted because PG&E 

cannot confirm all instances in which it exceeded MAOP from 2005 to 2007, and thus “there 

may have been additional over- pressurizations that could change the analysis.” 433 CPSD is 

wrong. What PG&E told CCSF it had lost was the list of planned pressure increases for those 

years.434 PG&E has all the pressure data for 2005 to 2007. 435 If there were any additional over

pressurizations in that period, CCSF or CPSD would have identified them. Not only do 

speculative assertions as to what “may have been” fail to satisfy any evidentiary standard, CPSD 

(and, by proxy, CCSF) has failed to meet its burden of proving that PG&E did not evaluate the 

threat of cyclic fatigue on its system in a manner consistent with regulatory requirements and 

non-hindsight expectations.

CPSD Has Not Proven A Violation Of Law In PG&E’sSelection Of
Assessment Tools

4.

CPSD claims PG&E violated the integrity management rules in its selection of ECDA as 

the assessment tool for Line 132 because ECDA “only assesses the integrity of selected pi 

areas” and “provides information only about threats that the operator is specifically looking for, 

while in-line inspection and hydrostatic testing can identify critical threats that the operator 

might not have been looking for.”

cracked seams” and is not identified in the code as a means of evaluating manufacturing

TURN makes similar allegations and, along with CCSF, critiques PG&E’s general

pe

436 CCSF asserts that ECD A “does not detect missing or

437threats.

432 Ex. CCSF-5 at 2.
433 CCSF OB at 38.
434 Ex. CCSF-7.
435 Joint R.T. 973-74 (PG&E/Keas) (PG&E maintains historic pressure data from 1998 and 2000 to the present day. 
Data from 1999 was irretrievably lost during an upgrade to the SCADA system in 2004-2005).

CPSD OB at 46-47.
437 CCSF OB at 32.

436
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“reliance” on ECDA. 438 However, these observations by CPSD, CCSF and TURN - even if 

true - do not establish a violation of law.

CPSD has not identified any regulatory requirement that operators make use of an 

assessment tool that provides information unrelated to the specific threats the operator has 

identified. The integrity management regulations specifically identify external corrosion direct 

assessment as an acceptable assessment technique to address the threat of external corrosion.

As described in detail above, the evidence established that PG&E ’s Integrity Management 

program gathered data and conducted its threat identification consistent with ASME B31.8S and 

the federal integrity management regulations.440 Through this process, PG&E identified external 

corrosion as the primary threat to Line 132 and thus properly used ECDA as an assessment 

method.

439

Neither CPSD nor any other party has proven that Line 132 was subject to a potentially 

unstable manufacturing threat or other threats for which the code requires an assessment tool 

other than ECDA. 441 Nor has any party proven that other pipelines PG&E assessed with ECDA 

were subject to threats other than external corrosion. CPSD has introduced no legitimate basis to 

conclude that PG&E’s selection of assessment technique violated the law.

5. CPSD Has No t Proven That PG&E’s Risk Assessment Model 
Violated The Law

CPSD argues that PG&E used “dangerously inaccurate” risk algorithms in connection 

with its integrity management program, in violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(c) and ASME

CPSD supports this allegation in part by reference to other alleged violations such as 

“failure to consider the identified threats,” failure to incorporate “past events on Line 132” and

PG&E addresses these allegations in 

CPSD also reiterates various

442B31.8S.

443failure to “account for missing or questionable data”. 

Sections V.B. 1. and V.B.2., supra, and in its opening brief. 444

438 TURN OB at 19.
49 C.F.R. § 192.923.
See supra at 41 -61; see also PG&E OB at 81 -92.

441 As previously demonstrated, the assertion that PG&E should have considered DSAW pipe to contain a 
manufacturing seam threat is meritless. See PG&E OB at 87-89; supra Section V.B.2.
442 CPSD OB at 49.
443 CPSD OB at 48.
444 PG&E OB at 57-71.

439

440
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445purported deficiencies in PG&E’s risk assessment model initially raised in the NTSB Report. 

CCSF similarly alleges that PG&E’s risk assessments were “skewed” by various purported 

weaknesses.446

As expert John Zurcher testified, however, these alleged deficiencies are more properly 

viewed as competing perspectives on best practices, rather than failures to conform to regulatory 

requirements.447 For example, CP SD criticizes PG&E’s weighting factors because they reflect 

industry experience rather than the Company’s “actual operating experience.”

ASME B31.8S, section 5.7(i) states that risk assessment weighting factors “can be based on 

operational experi ence, the opinions of subject matter experts, or industry experience.”

ASME B31.8S, section 5.4 further states that risk assessment models “should be used in 

conjunction with knowledgeable, experienced personnel (subject matter experts and people 

familiar with the facilities)” in order to make appropriate risk determinations. 450 The evidentiary 

record establishes that PG&E utilized just such a process by basing its risk model on the 

experience and expertise of subject matter experts and multiple threat committees from within 

the Company, in addition to industry data. 451 Neither ASME nor PG&E contend there is only 

one right way, but the availability of differing approaches does not make PG&E’s choice among 

them a violation. As Mr. Zurcher testified, it was appropriate for PG&E to leverage the 

aggregate threat assessment experience of pipeline operators over time and across the industry, 

that operators commonly use industry experience in conducting risk assessments, and that the 

industry standards exist in part to facilitate such sharing of knowledge and experience.452

The purported deficiencies in PG&E’s risk assessment model are thus more appropriately 

viewed in recognition of the fact that pipeline integrity management programs (and risk 

assessment models) are in a constant state of evolution based on information learned over

448 Flowever,

449

445 CPSD OB at 49.
CCSF OB at 26.

447 Ex. PG&E-l at 5-16 (PG&E/Zurcher). As noted, Mr. Zurcher is one of the lead authors of the original ASME 
B31.8S standard.

CPSD OB at 48.
CPSD OB at 48.
CPSD OB at 48.

451 Ex. PG&E-l at 4-32 (PG&E/Keas).
452 Ex. PG&E-l at 5-17 (PG&E/Zurcher).

446

448

449

450
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time.453 Indeed, the PG&E-commissioned audit on which CCSF relies for its allegations 

supports this very premise. While CCSF cites liberally to “weaknesses” identified in the 2009 

audit, it omits both PG&E’s identified strengths and the “summary conclusion” on the first page 

of the document:

Note that this criticism is not suggesting that errors were made. 
The current PG&E RA methodology is in fact consistent with 
models in widespread use several years ago and still today by 
many pipeline operators. It is only relatively recently that such 
methods have been improved upon to the degree that makes older 
versions obsolete.454

CCSF observes that PG&E commissioned this audit in 2009 to identify strengths and 

weaknesses in its integrity management program, including its risk assessment model. 455 PG&E 

has previously expressed its commitment to assuring that its risk assessment model continuously 

evolves and meets or exceeds regulatory requirements.

commitment to improvement are not evidence that PG&E’s prior risk assessment program was 

inadequate. A fair and complete reading of the record leads to the conclusion that CPSD failed 

to prove a violation of law related to PG&E’s risk assessment model.

456 Actions taken in furtherance of a

6. CPSD Has Not Properly Alleged Or Proven A Violation Regarding 
PG&E’s Planned Pressure Increases

CPSD in its opening brief alleges a stand-alone violation of Section 451 arising from 

PG&E’s former practice of raising pressure to MAOP on Line 132. 457 CPSD’s prior allegations 

regarding PG&E’s planned pressure increases related to PG&E’s threat identification and 

integrity assessments (as discussed, supra), and PG&E addressed the practice in the context of 

those allegations. 458 The federal regulations recognize that pressure excursions occasionally 

occur459 and require that an operator report such an excursion only if the pressure reaches 110%

453 Ex. PG&E-l at 4-32 (PG&E/Keas).
Ex. Joint-48 at 1 (emphasis in original).

455 CCSF OB at 26.
Ex. PG&E-l at 4-33 (PG&E/Keas).

457 CPSD OB at 50. TURN alleges as many as 15 violations related to PG&E’s plan ned pressure increases. TURN 
OB at 39-41.

See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. PG&E-l at 4-23 to 4-24 (PG&E/Keas); PG&E OB at 89-90. 
49 C.F.R. § 192.201(a)(2)(i) (requiring operators to maintain pressure limiting equipment that limits pressure 

excursions to a maximum of 110% of pipeline MAOP or a pressure that produces a hoop stress of 75 percent of 
SMYS, whichever is lower).

454

456

458

459
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of pipeline MAOP.460 The Commission incorporated these federal regulations into GO 112-E, 

thus CPSD’s assertion of a violation based on Section 451 for any pressure excursion above 

MAOP directly conflicts with adopted Commission safety regulations, again underscoring the 

excessive and unconstitutional breadth CPSD gives to Section 451.

This violation also must be rejected because it is merely a repackaged allegation. CPSD 

asserts that the practice of raising pressure to MAOP “created an unreasonably unsafe system” in 

violation of Section 451. 461 But in support, CPSD argues that, because of the pressure 

excursions, PG&E was required to conduct a seam assessment, 

violation is not based on planned pressure increases to MAOP, but to the purportedly required 

assessments that form the basis for CPSD’s alleged viol ations related to threat identification and 

integrity assessments.463 On this basis as well, the Commission should disregard CPSD’s belated, 

duplicative alleged violation.

Lastly, CPSD fails to provide any evidence (much less proof) to support a theory tha t 

pressure increases to a pipeline’s MAOP violate Section 451. In contrast, PG&E submitted 

testimony from Mr. Zurcher that from approximately 2002 to 2010, the practice of raising 

pressure on transmission pipelines to MAOP was common within the gas pipeline industry, and 

was in fact considered standard practice by many operators. 464 As Mr. Zurcher elaborated on 

cross-examination:

462 Thus, the Section 451

[T]o be honest with you there was a time that we actually advised 
companies that they should run up to their MAOP at every 
opportunity. So there are a lot of companies that I know that have 
personally written into their integrity management programs a 
requirement to run up to MAOP at least once every five years. 
Again, some companies felt it was a requirement of the 
regulations.465

460 49 C.F.R. § 191.23(a)(5) (requiring operators to report any malfunction or operating error that causes the pressure 
of a pipeline to rise above its maximum allowable operating pressure plus the build-up allowed for operation of 
pressure limiting or control devices).
461 CPSD OB at 50.

CPSD OB at 50.
See CPSD OB at 45-46 (alleging violations of law arising from 2003 and 2008 excursions above MAOP on LI 32 

because “.. . both of these pressure increases legally required PG&E to consider potential defects on Segment 180 to 
be unstable”).

Ex. PG&E-l at 5-13 (PG&E/Zurcher); Joint R.T. 786 (PG&E/Zurcher).
Joint R.T. 785-86 (PG&E/Zurcher).

462

463

464

465
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Having submitted no evidence to the contrary,466 CPSD has not met its burden of proving 

that the once- standard industry practice of occasionally raising pressure to a pipeline’s MAOP 

violated Section 451 or any other statute or regulation.

CPSD Fails To Properly Allege Or Prove Continuing Violations7.

CPSD contends that all of the alleged violations regarding PG&E’s Integrity 

Management program are “continuing” violations. 467 Prior to CPSD’s submission of Appendix 

C with its opening brief, CPSD had not alleged continuing violations to which PG&E had the 

opportunity to respond.

As discussed above in Section III.D, many of CPSD’s alleged continuing violations 

improperly transform a single act into separate and repeating daily violations contrary to Section 

2108, Commission precedent and the California Constitution, 

violations relating to PG&E’s Integrity Management program also fail because the asserted 

duration of the alleged violations is arbitrary and lacks evidentiary support.

For ex ample, CPSD contends PG&E failed “to check for and verify accuracy of 

data.”468 CPSD assigns a duration to this violation of August 19, 1970 to September 9,

2010.469 August 19, 1970 is the effective date of the first 49 C.F.R. Part 192 regulations. Apart 

from the ambiguity as to what data and what inaccuracies CPSD may be referencing, CPSD does 

not state the basis for the August 19, 1970 beginning date, or explain how PG&E’s integrity 

management practices form the basis for a violation starting three decades before integrity 

management regulations existed. Absent an identified basis, CPSD’s chosen beginning date for 

this violation is arbitrary and without evidentiary support. As alleged by CPSD, PG&E and the 

Commission are left to guess as to the purported triggering event, which in itself renders the 

alleged violation unproven.

To the extent CPSD may believe this violation derives from the creation of a particular 

data set (such as, for example, PG&E’s pipeline survey sheets or GIS), CPSD provides no 

evidentiary basis on which the Commission could find a continuing violation rather than a

CPSD’s alleged continuing

466 CPSD submits the statement of the Commission’s Executive Director from the NTSB hearing that he was not 
aware of other operators undertaking this practice. See CPSD OB at 50 & n.31. Not being aware of whether others 
followed the practice is not evidence that the practice violated Section 451.
467 CPSD OB, Appendix C at 2-3.

CPSD OB, Appendix C at 2-3.
CPSD OB, Appendix C at 2.

468

469
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singular event, or any evidence that PG&E created an inaccurate data set on August 19, 1970 or 

any other particular date. Arbitrarily choosing the date a regulation became effective and 

asserting without factual support that PG&E was in violation of that law the first day it was 

effective and every day thereafter, does not even approach satisfying CPSD’s burden of proof.

The same is true with CPSD’s assertion of continuing violations from December 15, 2003 

to September 9, 2010, such as allegedly failing to “use and [sic] inspection method capable of 

finding long seam issues.”

December 15, 2003, leading again to the conclusion that the date was selected arbitrarily based

471 PG&E can only

470 CPSD does not state what event initiated the violation on

on the implementation of the final integrity management regulations, 

speculate that this alleged violation relates to CPSD’s claim PG&E violated the integrity 

management rules by using ECDA as the assessment tool for Line 132 . 472 However, even if

CPSD’s allegations regarding the proper assessment tool were otherwise valid (which, as 

discussed above, they are not), any resulting violation would both begin and end when PG&E 

performed ECDA on Line 132. CPSD cannot credibly allege that this violation began prior to 

the effective date of the integrity management regulations and continued daily until such time as 

PG&E performed in-line inspection or hydrostatic testing on Line 132.

Putting aside the due process defects CPSD created by alleging them after the close of 

evidence, CPSD’s alleged continuing violations regarding PG&E’s integrity management 

practices have no basis in law or fact.

C. Recordkeeping Violations

Though not completely explicit, CPSD appears to have deferred pursuit of recordkeeping

violations against PG&E to the Records Oil, 1.11-02-016. CPSD states in its opening brief:

These recordkeeping issues are being dealt with much more 
extensively in CPSD’s other San Bruno -related proceeding, 1.11
02-016, the PG&E Recordkeeping OIL CPSD more completely 
explored the issues concerning PG&E’s recordkeeping with 
regards to Line 132 and specifically Segment 180 in that 
proceeding. Therefore, a discussion here of PG&E’s

470 CPSD OB, Appendix C at 3.
471 CPSD is wrong here too. The regulations were not effective until February 14, 2004; they were published on 
December 15, 2003. 68 Fed. Reg. 69,778; 69 Fed. Reg. 2,307.
472 CPSD OB at 46. Again, PG&E cannot be required consistent with due process to speculate as to the violations of 
law CPSD alleges. See supra Section III.C; PG&E’s Motion to Strike Appendix C, filed March 18, 2013.
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recordkeeping practices would be redundant. Although CPSD 
documented numerous violations with regards to recordkeeping 
relating to Segment 180 in this proceeding, CPSD will defer to 
1.11-02-016 as the proper venue to allege those violations, in order 
to avoid overlap.473

Based on this representation from CPSD, PG&E will not further address alleged 

recordkeeping violations in this reply brief.

D. PG&E’sSCADA System And The Milpitas Terminal

In what is again essentially a reiteration of its January 12, 2012 report, August 20, 2012 

rebuttal testimony and excerpts taken from the NTSB Report, CPSD discusses at length the 

purportedly unreasonably unsafe conditions at Milpitas Terminal and on PG&E’s SCADA 

system as of September 9, 2010. 

violation of Section 451.

After reiterating its prior assertions and allegations, CPSD states with respect to Milpitas 

Terminal: “The Milpitas Terminal was kept in a dangerously unsafe condition” that “created an

Similarly, after recounting the

474 Combined, CPSD contends these conditions constitute a
475

476unreasonably unsafe syste m in violation of Section 451.”

various allegations from its prior submissions regarding PG&E’s SCADA system, CPSD asserts:

By maintaining a SCADA system that gave too many unnecessary 
alarm messages to its Operators, and was generally poorly 
designed, which increased the risk of an important alarm being 
mishandled, PG&E created an unreasonably unsafe system in 
violation of Section 451. The electrical, pressure control, and 
SCADA problems at Milpitas all contributed to the Line 132 
rupture.477

Absent from CPSD’s allegations and its description of purported deficiencies at Milpitas 

Terminal and with PG&E’s SCADA system are any standards or criteria on which CPSD bases 

its allegation that PG&E has violated the law, e.g., how ma ny is “too many unnecessary alarm

473 CPSD OB at 51.
474 CPSD OB at 52-61.
475 CPSD also asserts that PG&E violated 49 C.F.R. § 192.13(c) regarding the Milpitas Terminal clearance 
documentation. PG&E conceded that violation in its opening brief. PG&E OB at 5, 97. CPSD also appears to 
allege a violation of Section 192.605(c) because PG&E’s clearance procedure (WP 
provision requiring potential abnormal conditions and unexpected events to be addressed. CPSD OB at 55-56.
476 CPSD OB at 60.
477 CPSD OB at 61 (citing Ex. CPSD-1 at 99 (CPSD/Stepanian)).

-4100) did not include a
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messages,” or, on what criteria CPSD determined PG&E’s SCADA system fell below what was
j >47 8lawful and “was generally poorly designed, 

or legal mandate that PG&E could have violated. On the contrary, CPSD admitted in its January 

12, 2012 report that “there are no specific requirements in the federal or state codes which

Lacking any regulation or 

standard to tell it (or PG&E) where the line is between legal and unlawful, CPSD falls back on 

the catch-all Section 451 to allege a subjective violation.

Even more, also absent from CPSD’s discussion of this alleged violation is any mention 

that the Milpitas Terminal pressure control system and the SCADA system worked as designed 

to control the unexpected pressure increase and keep the pressure on Line 132 below MAOP 

(400 psig) and far below what was lawful under the federal pipeline regulations (440 psig). 

CPSD conceded this in its January 12, 2012 report and in response to a PG&E data request.

Also missing is CPSD’s recognition of the indisputable fact that non -defective pipe would not 

have ruptured from the pressure increase on September 9, 2010; but for the defective pup, the 

events and pressure increase at Milpitas Terminal would not even have been reportable to the 

Commission.

Nor did CPSD identify any regulatory provisions

479address” the conditions on which CPSD based this violation.

480

481

482

CPSD ignores its admission that no law applies to the acts and conditions it describes, 

and disregards the undisputed facts to nevertheless pursue an alleged violation of Section 451. 

The evidentiary record establishes that the SCADA and Milpitas Terminal systems were not 

“unreasonably unsafe” - on the contrary, they functioned as they should have. CPSD has no 

basis in fact or law to allege this violation.

CPSD also contends that two of the alleged violations regarding Milpitas Terminal and 

PG&E’s SCADA system are “continuing” violations, 

many of CPSD’s alleged continuing violations improperly transform a single act into separate

483 As discussed above in Section III.D.,

478 CPSD OB at 61.
479 Ex. CPSD-1 at 99 (CPSD/Stepanian).

Ex. PG&E-l at 8-7 to 8-8 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-12 to 9-14 (PG&E/Miesner); Ex. 
CPSD-1 at 8, 24 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 124.

Ex. CPSD-1 at 8, 24, 90; Ex. PG&E-5 (Tab 8-2).
GO 112-E, § 122; Ex. PG&E-l at 3-5 (PG&E/Caligiuri); Ex. CPSD- 1 at 90 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. CPSD- 9 

(NTSB Report) at 124.
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 6. CPSD asserts that PG&E violated Section 451 from (1) February 2010 to 

September 9, 2010 by failing to “properly maintain the Milpitas Station” and (2) 2005 to Sep tember 9, 2010 by 
failing “to design a SCADA system without too many unnecessary alarms.” Id.

480

481

482

483
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and compounded violations contrary to Section 2108, Commission precedent, and the California 

Constitution. The asserted duration of the alleged violations with respect to Milpitas Terminal 

and SCADA is also arbitrary and not supported by evidence.

CPSD contends PG&E failed “to design [its] SCADA system without too many 

unnecessary alarms.

CPSD does not state the basis for the 2005 beginning date, or any date in 2005 on 

which the violation allegedly began, 

date for this violation is arbitrary and lacks evidentiary support, leaving PG&E and the 

Commission to surmise as to the purported triggering date and event. These flaws are in addition 

to the absence of regulatory standards or criteria on which CPSD decided, apparently 

subjectively, what constitutes “unnecessary” or “too many” SCADA alarms.

484 CPSD assigns a duration to this violation of 2005 to September 9,
4852010.

486 Absent some identified basis, CPSD’s stated initiation

487

The same is true with CPSD’s assertion of a continuing v iolation from February 2010 to 

September 9, 2010 for allegedly failing to “properly maintain the Milpitas Station.” 

does not state what initiated the violation in February 2010, leading again to the conclusion that 

the date was selected arbitrarily.

488 CPSD

489 CPSD’s criteria for choosing the beginning date are made 

even more unclear and arbitrary by CPSD’s description of Milpitas Terminal, which, according 

to CPSD, has been in poor condition for several decades. 490 CPSD fails, however, to explain

how in February 2010 conditions at Milpitas Terminal went from poor but apparently lawful to

nor does CPSD identify the evidence491“unreasonably unsafe” in violation of Section 451; 

demonstrating how and when conditions at Milpitas Terminal crossed whatever legal threshold

CPSD has constructed.

The reason CPSD has not made this showing is because it cannot distinguish what is 

lawful from unlawful under Section 451 other than by subjective declaration. The violations 

CPSD alleges related to Milpitas Terminal and PG&E’ s SCADA system underscore the

484 CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 6.
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 6.
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 6; CPSD OB at 52-61.
CPSD OB at 60-61.
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 6.
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 6.
CPSD OB at 56-60; id. at 60 (“Over decades of updates and revisions to the controls and SCADA at Milpitas 

Terminal...”).
CPSD OB at 60.

485

486

487

488

489
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improper breadth with which CPSD attempts to use Section 451 as a penal statute. Undisputed 

facts prove that PG&E’s pressure control system worked and maintained pipeline operations 

within legal limits, yet CPSD still contends that PG&E violated Section 451 in multiple ways. 

There was nothing inherently unsafe, however, about the pressure increase or the performance of 

the pressure control system on September 9, 2010. Absent the defective pups installed 54 years 

earlier, the pressure increase would have been a non-event. If those facts can support multiple 

Section 451 violations, including daily violations over many years, as CPSD contends, there is 

no boundary to Section 451.

PG&E’s Emergency ResponseE.

CPSD audited PG&E’s emergency response plans in 2009 and 2010 and found them to 

be compliant with the federal regulations. 492 CPSD and its consultant in the Records Oil 

conceded that PG&E’s emergency response plans complied with the federal regulations.

PG&E’s expert witness on emergency response procedures, David Bull, corroborated CPSD’s

Disregarding all of493conclusions that PG&E’s emergency plans complied with regulations, 

those facts, CPSD in its opening brief alleges 19 violations relating to PG&E’s emergency plans
494and response, many of which CPSD raises for the first time.

Having conceded that PG&E’s written emergency response plans fulfill regulatory 

criteria, CPSD applies flawed legal analysis to prop up its allegations. The bulk of CPSD’s 

arguments focus on the “effectiveness” of PG&E’s “Emergency Response Actions” on

CPSD overlooks, however, that the regulation on which it primarily 

relies, 49 C.F.R. § 192.615, does not regulate emergency response actions themselves, but rather 

prescribes the elements to be included in written emergency plans. Unable to assert a valid

495September 9, 2010.

492 Ex. PG&E-l at 10-2 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 4- 6 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 
2009 Audit finding PG&E’s written abnormal operations procedures, emergency procedures, and public awareness 
program procedures “Satisfactory”); Ex. PG&E -1, Chapter 10, Appendix B at 4-6 (PG&E/Almario) ( CPSD’s 2010 
Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division finding PG&E’s abnormal operations procedures, emergency procedures, and 
public awareness program procedures “Satisfactory”).

Ex. PG&E-l at 11-5 to 11-23 (PG&E/Bull); R.T. 414-15 (PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-39 (PG&E Company Gas 
Emergency Plan); Ex. PG&E-42 (PG&E Gas T&D Emergency Plan Manual).

As noted, CPSD’s failure to provide adequate notice of the charges against it violates PG&E’s right to due 
process. See PG&E’s Motion to Strike Appendix C, filed March 18, 2013. Also as noted, the alleged violations 
may exceed 19, depending on how one interprets CPSD’s ambiguous allegations.

CPSD OB at 64 (discussing “Emergency Response Plans”), 65 (discussing “PG&E Emergency Response 
Actions”). The same alleged violation is Violation 10 in the Records Oil, namely that the emergency response was 
confused and not effective. CPSD cannot duplicate allegations in each proceeding.

493

494

495
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violation under the relevant regulations, CPSD applies subjective standards and evaluates the 

“effectiveness” of PG&E’s emergency response under undefined criteria. CPSD’s hinds 

judgments based on its own subjective standards do not provide a basis to find that PG&E 

violated the law.

Furthermore, even if CPSD’s legal theories were correct, CPSD has not carried its burden

gency response plans or response on

ight

of providing evidence to establish that PG&E’s emer 

September 9, 2010 violated the law. In the entire emergency response discussion in its opening

Despite having496brief, CPSD cites only twice to the text of PG&E’s emergency response plans, 

the burden of proof to establish each of the allegations it asserts, CPSD relies almost exclusively 

on its January 12, 2012 report and the NTSB report, without addressing the substantial evidence

PG&E submitted.

CPSD added some 16 alleged violations regarding emergency response with its opening 

brief, many of which are repetitive or duplicative, in addition to being new. In this reply, PG&E 

has no choice but to address each one, making the discussion below lengthy and at times 

repetitive. Two themes, however, are consistent throughout: CPSD has based each violation 

regarding PG&E’s emergency response on subjective judgments not grounded in any legitimate 

standard or criteria; and CPSD has failed in every instance to submit sufficient evidence meeting 

its burden of proof.

1. CPSD Cannot Assert New Violations With Respect To Emergency 
Response

In Appendix C to its opening brief, CPSD alleges emergency response violations that 

vary substantially from the violations alleged in its January 12, 2012 report. CPSD’s initial 

report discussed vague ly PG&E’s emergency plans and response, but did not identify specific 

aspects of PG&E’s emergency response or plans as violating particular subsections of 49 C.F.R.

In some instances, CPSD introduced topics in its opening brief that were not 

mentioned at all in its January 12, 2012 report or four-paragraph August 20, 2012 rebuttal

497§ 192.615.

496 CPSD OB at 64 (citing Ex. CPSD-297). 
497 Ex. CPSD-1 at 102-25 (CPSD/Stepanian).
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498testimony addressing emergency response, 

alleges after the close of evidence.

CPSD cannot add to and change the violations it

CPSD’s Utility Safety Reliability Branch Found PG&E In 
Compliance With 42 C.F.R. §§ 605, 615, And 616

2.

CPSD’s Utility Safety Reliability Branch audits PG&E’s gas emergency plan through its 

annual review cycle, and conducts periodic audits of PG&E’s divisions and districts, 

and 2010, CPSD audited PG&E’s emergency response plan. In each audit, CPSD did not 

identify deficiencies with the plan under Sections 192.605, 192.615, or 192.616.

From March 2 to March 5, 2009, CPSD audited PG&E’s Operation, Maintenance and 

Emergency Plans.

subsection of 192.605, 192.615 and 192.616 and found each of PG&E’s corresponding
„502

499 In 2009

500

501 In the audit, CPSD reviewed PG&E’s emergency procedures under each

In the 2010 audit of the Peninsula Division, which covers the Sanprocedures “Satisfactory.

Bruno area, CPSD found PG&E’s emergency procedures for the Peninsula Division 

“Satisfactory” for each of the provisions under 192.605, 192.615 and 192.616. 

copy of the USRB’s audit findings showing that PG&E met each of the requirements in 

192.605,504 192.615505 and 192.616:506

503 Below is a

498 See, e.g. , CPSD OB at 64 (alleging PG&E failed to have a mutual assistance agreement with local first 
responders and alleging that conducted violates 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(8)). CPSD’s report and rebuttal testimony 
make no mention of the requirement to have 
(CPSD/Stepanian), Ex. CPSD-5 at 54-55 (CPSD/Stepanian).

Ex. PG&E-l at 10-2 to 10-3 (PG&E/Almario).
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 4- 6 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2009 Audit finding PG&E’ s abnormal 

operations procedures, emergency procedures and public awareness program procedures satisfactory); Ex. PG&E-l, 
Chapter 10, Appendix B at 4- 6 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2010 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division finding
PG&E’s abnormal operations proced ures, emergency procedures and public awareness program procedures 
satisfactory).

Ex. PG&E-l at 10-2 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E- 1, Chapter 10, Appendix A (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2009 
audit findings).

Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 4-6 (PG&E/Alma rio) (CPSD’s 2009 Audit finding PG&E’s abnonnal 
operations procedures, emergency procedures and public awareness program procedures satisfactory); Ex. PG&E- 1 
at 10-2 (PG&E/Almario).

Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix B at 4- 6 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2010 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula
Division finding PG&E’s abnormal operations procedures, emergency procedures and public awareness program 
procedures to be “Satisfactory”); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-2 to 10-3 (PG&E/Almario).

a “mutual assistance agreement.” See Ex. CPSD-1 at 102- 25

499

500

501

502

503

504 Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 4 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2009 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division
see also Ex. PG&E-l,finding PG&E’s abnormal operating procedures under 192.605(b) to be “Satisfactory”);

Chapter 10, Appendix B at 4 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2010 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division finding PG&E’s 
abnormal operating procedures under 192.605(b) to be “Satisfactory”).
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505 Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 5 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2009 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division 
finding PG&E’s abnormal operating procedures under 192.605(b) to be “Satisfactory”);
Chapter 10, Appendix B at 5 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2010 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division finding PG&E’s 
abnormal operating procedures under 192.605(b) to be “Satisfactory”).

Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 6 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2009 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division 
finding PG&E’s abnormal operating procedures under 192.605(b) to be “Satisfactory”);
Chapter 10, Appendix B at 6 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2010 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division finding PG&E’s 
abnormal operating procedures under 192.605(b) to be “Satisfactory”).

see also Ex. PG&E-l,

506

see also Ex. PG&E-l,
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3. CPSD Failed To Establish That PG&E’s Emergency Response Plans 
Violated The Law

507Despite its concession that PG&E’s emergency response plans meet regulatory criteria, 

CPSD alleges four new violations, three of which relate to whether PG&E had a written external 

mutual assistance agreement with public agencies, 

regulations do not require what CPSD alleges.

508 None have merit because the cited

An Inconsistency Between The Descriptions Of The 
Emergency Escalation Procedures In The Company And 
Peninsula Emergency Plans Does Not Constitute A Violation 
Of 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(3)

a.

CPSD alleges “the inconsistencies between corporate and divisional level Emergency 

Plans violate the legal requirement in 49 C.F.R. Part 192.615(a)(3) for a ‘prompt and effective 

response’ to an emergency notice.” 509 CPSD raised neither this topic, nor this violation in its 

January 12, 2012 report or August 2012 rebuttal testimony. 510 As with all other newly-alleged 

violations, this allegation should be rejected on that basis alone. In any event, a purported 

inconsistency in the way a procedure is described does not constitute a violation of the law.

49 C.F.R. § 192.615 is entitled “Emergency Plans.” Section 192.615(a)(3) provides:

(a) Each operator shall establish written procedures to minimize 
the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency. At a 
minimum, the procedures must provide for the following: . . .

(3) Prompt and effective response to a notice of each type of 
emergency, including the following:

(i) Gas detected inside or near a building

(ii) Fire located near or directly involving a pipeline facility.

(iii) Explosion occurring near or directly involving a pipeline 
facility.

(iv) Natural disaster.

507 In the Records Oil, CPSD asserts in Violation 10 that PG&E’s emergency response plans violated Public 
Utilities Code Section 451. Having conceded that PG&E’s eme rgency response plans meet the requirements of the 
regulations, CPSD did not allege in the Records Oil that PG&E violated 49 C.F.R. § 192.615, 192.605 or 192.616. 

CPSD OB at 64-65.
CPSD OB at 64.
Ex. CPSD-1 at 102-25 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. CPSD-5 at 54-55 (CPSD/Stepanian).

508

509

510
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CPSD fails to cite the PG&E Emergency Response Plans themselves. 511 Rather, CPSD 

recites from the IRP report, which observed that “the corporate ERP [emergency response plan] 

denotes three distinct levels of escalation, while the Peninsula refers to levels numbered with
„ 512 CPSD does not provide any evidence that the plans were

CPSD also

omits that the IRP report found that “PG&E’s corporate ERP is comprehensive, embodies many 

current best practices, and is revised and tested on a frequent basis.”514 More importantly, CPSD 

provided no evidence that this alleged inconsistency had any substantive or adverse effect on 

PG&E’s written procedure providing for a prompt and effective emergency response.

Roman Numerals up to Level IV. 

actually inconsistent in their substance, rather than simply different in format. 513

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(8) Does Not Require An Operator To 
Have A Written External Mutual Assistance Agreement

b.

CPSD alleges that PG&E failed to have written external mutual assistance agreements in

its Peninsula Division Emergency Plan, and that such omission violates 49 C.F.R.

This allegation fails from the outset because CPSD did not raise this topic or

violation in its January 12, 2012 report or August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony.

Regardless, CPSD misstates the law. 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(8) provides:

(a) Each operator shall establish written procedures to minimize 
the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency. At a 
minimum, the procedures must provide for the following:

515§ 192.615(a)(8).
516

(8) Notifying appropriate fire, police and other public officials of 
gas pipeline emergencies and coordinating with them both planned 
responses and actual responses during an emergency.

Section 615(a)(8) does not mandate that an operator have written external mutual 

assistance agreements. As CPSD verified in its 2009 and 2010 audits, PG&E’s plans include 

procedures that satisfy Section 192.615(a)(8). 517 For example, PG&E’s procedures provide for

511 CPSD OB at 64.
512 CPSD OB at 64 (citing Ex. CPSD-10 (Report of the Independent Review Panel, San Bruno Explosion, June 24, 
2011)); Ex. CPSD-10 at 77.
513 Ex. PG&E 39 (Company Plan) at 1-22 to 1-23; Ex. PG&E-42 (Peninsula Division Plan) at 15-16.
514 Ex. CPSD-10 at 77.
515 CPSD OB at 64.
516 Ex. CPSD-1 at 102-25 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. CPSD-5 at 54-55 (CPSD/Stepanian).

Ex. PG&E-1, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 5 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2009 Audit of PG&E’s Operations, 
Maintenance and Emergency Plan finding PG&E satisfied requirements of 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(8));
517

see also
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liaison meetings with local government and emergency response agencies, and contain 

comprehensive contact information for local public agencies. In practice on September 9,

2010, PG&E’s procedures were effective: San Bruno’s Fire Chief Dennis Haag complimented 

PG&E for its coordination with fire officials on the incident site, testifying at the NTSB hearing
„519that PG&E’s coordination was “great. They had liaisons established and worked it out.

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(c)(4) Does Not Require An Operator To 
Have A Written External Mutual Assistance Agreement

c.

CPSD also alleges that not having written external mutual assistance agreements violates 

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(c)(4). 520 Again, CPSD raised neither this topic nor this violation in its
52 1January 12, 2012 report or its rebuttal testimony. As with Section 192.615(a)(8), the claim is 

meritless.

Section 192.615(c)(4) contains no requirement that an operator have a written external

mutual assistance agreement. 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(c)(4) provides:

(c) Each operator shall establish and maintain liaison with 
appropriate fire, police and other public officials to:...

(4) Plan how the operator and officials can engage in mutual 
assistance to minimize hazards to life or property.

audits, PG&E’s emergency plans contain 

procedures that satisfy Section 192.615(c). 522 As noted, PG&E’s procedures provide for liaison 

meetings with local government and emergency response agencies, and contain contact 

information for local public agencies.523

As CPSD confirmed in its 2009 and 2010

Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix B at 5 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2010 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division 
finding PG&E satisfied requirements of 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(8)); see also Ex. PG&E-l at 11-10 to 11-21, 11- 24 
(PG&E/Bull).

Ex. PG&E-39 at 1-12; Ex. CPSD-297 at F-l.l, F-3.1 to F-3.11.
519 Ex. PG&E-41 at 469 (NTSB Hearing Transcript, March 2, 2011 - Excerpt, Statement of Fire Chief Haag).

CPSD OB at 65.
521 Ex. CPSD-1 at 102-25 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. CPSD-5 at 54-55 (CPSD/Stepanian).
522 Ex. PG&E-1, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 5 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2009 Audit of PG&E’s Operations, 
Maintenance and Emergency Plan finding PG&E satisfied requirements of 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(c)); Ex. PG&E-l, 
Chapter 10, Appendix B at 5 (PG&E/Almario) (CPSD’s 2010 Audit of PG&E’s Peninsula Division finding PG&E 
satisfied requirements of 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(c)); see also Ex. PG&E-l at 11-10 to 11-21, 11-24 (PG&E/Bull).
523 Ex. PG&E-39 at 1-12; Ex. CPSD-297 at F-l.l, F-3.1 to F-3.11.

518

520
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Public Utilities Code Section 451 Does Not Require An 
Operator To Have Written External Mutual Assistance 
Agreement

d.

Duplicating alleged violations, CPSD argues that the lack of written mutual assistance 

agreements also violates Section 451.524 Section 451 imposes no such requirement. CPSD does 

not provide evidence or explanation to support its one sentence argument. 525 As explained 

above, 49 C.F.R. § 192.615 does not require written mutual assistance agreements. CPSD 

verified in its audit that PG&E had in place procedures to notify, coordinate and establish liaison 

with external public agencies. 526

4. CPSD Failed To Prove That PG&E’s “Emergency Response 
Actions” Violated The Law

CPSD’s Undefined, Subjective Evaluation Of PG&E’s 
Emergency Response Does Not Support A Finding That PG&E 
Violated The Law

a.

With the benefit of hindsight, CPSD deconstructs PG&E’s emergency response to the 

San Bruno accident. CPSD bases its hindsight judgments on subjective standards CPSD itself 

creates and use to evaluate the quality of PG&E’s emergency response. CPSD alleges PG&E 

violated the law because PG&E failed to “adequately,” “promptly,” and “effectively” respond to 

the emergency and created an “unreasonably unsafe situation.” 

arbitrary analysis in an attempt to establish legal violations.

CPSD alleges that a variety of PG&E’s actions responding to the San Bruno accident 

constituted violations of subparts of 192.615(a). Section 192.615(a), however, relates to the 

written procedures an operator must have relating to emergency plans: “[e]ach operator shall 

establish written procedures to minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency.” 

Section 192.615(a) then lists eleven items that must be included in the written procedures.

527 CPSD applies flawed and

528

524 CPSD OB 65.
525 CPSD OB 65.
526 Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 5 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix B at 5 
(PG&E/Almario).
527 CPSD OB at 68, 74-75.

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a) provides:
Each operator shall establish written procedures to minimize the hazard resulting 
from a gas pipeline emergency. At a minimum, the procedures must provide for 
the following:

528
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The regulations do not establish any requirements or standards regarding an operator’s actions 

implementing the plan, nor does it require that an emergency response meet specific time 

standards or other quantitative and qualitative criteria.

The subjective standards CPSD creates and applies are unclear and undefined. CPSD 

alleges that PG&E failed to “adequately,” “promptly,” and “effectively” respond to the 

emergency and thereby created an “unreasonably unsafe situation.” CPSD does not provide any 

criteria by wh ich it judges whether PG&E’s emergency response was sufficiently adequate, 

prompt, or effective, or explain what conduct falls below the legal line CPSD draws. CPSD also 

fails to explain what it means by an “unsafe situation,” and what it means to have an 

“unreasonably” unsafe situation. Certainly the federal regulations do not provide such criteria or 

standards. Rather, CPSD relies upon its subjective opinion based on hindsight judgments 

founded on unknown criteria to make determinations as to whether P G&E’s emergency response 

violated the law.

CPSD alleges that PG&E failed to “promptly” respond to the San Bruno accident, but it 

acknowledges that “at the time of the incident, California did not have specific requirements for

(1) Receiving, identifying, and classifying notices of events which require 
immediate response by the operator.
(2) Establishing and maintaining adequate means of communication with 
appropriate fire, police, and other public officials.
(3) Prompt and effective response to a notice of each type of emergency, 
including the following:

(i) Gas detected inside or near a building.
(ii) Fire located near or directly involving a pipeline facility.
(iii) Explosion occurring near or directly involving a pipeline facility.
(iv) Natural disaster.

(4) The availability of personnel, equipment, tools, and materials, as needed at 
the scene of an emergency.
(5) Actions directed toward protecting people first and then property.
(6) Emergency shutdown and pressure reduction in any section of the operator’s 
pipeline system necessary to minimize hazards to life or property.
(7) Making safe any actual or potential hazard to life or property.
(8) Notifying appropriate fire, police, and other public officials of gas pipeline 
emergencies and coordinating with them both planned responses and actual 
responses during an emergency.
(9) Safely restoring any service outage.
(10) Beginning action under § 192.617, if applicable, as soon after the end of the 
emergency as possible.
(11) Actions required to be taken by a controller during an emergency in 
accordance with § 192.631.
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response time.”529 CPSD also acknowledges that there are no standards in the federal regulations 

for measuring the promptness of a response time.530 As CPSD recognizes, a number of situation- 

specific variables can affect the response time for any given emergency, such as “severity o f the 

leak, vintage and material of the pipe, weather and traffic conditions, proximity to nearby

Despite lacking any

established standards or regulatory mandate that applies to response time, CPSD asserts that 

PG&E’s emergency response violated the law.

CPSD also provides no evidence - other than post-accident judgments based on changed

expectations - that PG&E’s response time to shut off the gas was unreasonable. David Bull, an

expert on emergency response, testified that PG&E’s response time to shut off the gas was

reasonable.532 Thomas Miesner, an expert on SCADA and gas control, also found that PG&E’s

response time was reasonable. John Zurcher, yet another gas transmission expert, confirmed

that 95 minutes was a reasonable time within which to isolate the rupture:

But one of the analysis [sic] that I performed was to go back to the 
DOT incident database. And I thought this was very telling 
because we found that on average, across the entire United States, 
of all incidents that had happened over a certain period of time, the 
average time to shut off a pipeline supply to an incident was about 
two hours. So in my opinion, the 90 minutes for the PG&E case 
was actually better than industry average.

531personnel and equipment, utility resources, and the time of day.”

534

The only response CPSD offers to PG&E’s substantial evidence are subjective judgments that 95 

minutes was too long. CPSD’s unsupported contentions have no evidentiary value.

As PG&E has repeatedly acknowledged, its emergency response on September 9, 2010 

could have been better in some ways, and not in others. In both instances, however, PG&E’s 

actions did not constitute a violation of law.

535

529 Ex. CPSD-1 at 107 (CPSD/Stepanian).
Ex. CPSD-1 at 107 (CPSD/Stepanian).

531 Ex. CPSD-1 at 107 (CPSD/Stepanian).
532 R.T. 415-16 (PG&E/Bull); R.T. 269 (PG&E/Almario).
533 R.T. 861-62 (PG&E/Miesner).
534 R.T. 820-21 (PG&E/Zurcher).
535 CPSD bases its assertion on the NTSB’s opinion that 95 minutes was excessive, which did not account for the 
industry average evidence provided by Mr. Zurcher.

530
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CPSD’s Summary Of PG&E’s “Operational Awareness and 
Control” On The Day Of The Incident D 
Basis For Violations Of 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a) Or Section 451

b.
oes Not Provide A

49 C.F.R, § 192.615(a). CPSD asserts that Gas Control’s purported “inability to obtain 

situational awareness” violated 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(1), (a)(3), (a)(4), (a)(6), (a)(7 ) and (a)(8). 

As explained above, Section 192.615(a) relates to written procedures; it does not establish 

standards or baselines for evaluating “situational awareness.”

Even if a violation could be alleged in the manner proposed, CPSD’s conclusory 

allegations under Section 192.615(a) fail. CPSD alleges that “PG&E’s inability to obtain 

situational awareness demonstrates that it did not promptly and effectively respond to the 

emergency” in violation of Section 192.615(a)(3). 

situational awareness, 

however, prescribes response times.

brief, the response time was appropriate, prompt, and effective.

CPSD also alleges that “PG&E did not adequately receive, identify, and classify notices 

of the emergency” in violation of Section 192.615(a)(1).

mention of a standard regarding what constitutes “adequately” processing notices. CPSD’s 

assertion is an arbitrary and subjective judgment not grounded in any law or regulation. In any 

event, PG&E did receive, identify, and classify notices of emergency, as explained below, and 

did so adequately.

CPSD further alleges PG&E’s purported “lack of situational awareness hampered its

536 The facts demonstrate that PG&E obtained 

CPSD’s true complaint is that PG&E’s response was too slow. No law, 

And, as demonstrated above and in PG& E’s opening

537

538

539

540 Section 192.615(a)(1) makes n o

541

ability” to do a number of things, such as provide resources at the scene, shut off the gas, make

542 CPSD fails to connect “lack of situationalthe situation safe, and notify first responders, 

awareness” to these other alleged actions. For example, CPSD offers no evidence that resources

536 CPSD OB at 68.
537 At 6:29 p.m., within two minutes after first learning about the fire in San Bruno, PG&E’s gas control operators 
connected the reports of the fire with SCADA low pressure alarms on Line 132 to conclude that there had likely 
been a line break on Line 132. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 (PG&E/Miesner).

Ex. CPSD-1 at 107 (CPSD/Stepanian).
539 PG&E OB at 100- 03 (discussing Gas Control’s actions); PG&E OB at 106 -14 (discussing PG&E’s emergency 
response).

CPSD OB at 68.
541 PG&E OB at 100- 03 (discussing Gas Control’s actions); PG&E OB at 106 -14 (discussing PG&E’s emergency 
response); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-6 (PG&E/Almario).
542 CPSD OB at 68.

538

540
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were not provided at the scene of the fire. In fact, PG&E personnel were present at the scene 23

by-side with San Bruno fire and police 

departments.543 Again, CPSD’s actual criticism is that PG&E’s response was not fast enough in 

CPSD’s subjective view, which does not constitute a violation of the law.

Section 451. CPSD alleges that the actions of PG&E’s gas control operators in response

As discussed

minutes after first notification and worked side-

544to the pressure increase and rupture constituted a violation of Section 451. 

above, CPSD’s use of Section 451 to assert broad and arbitrary safety violations is improper. In 

any event, the evidence shows PG&E’s gas control operators responded appropriately in the 

situation they confronted, and their actions did not violate any law. PG&E discusses in detail the 

evidence in its opening brief at pages 100 to 103.

Following the rupture, gas control operators recognized there had likely been a line break 

in San Bruno and reacted. At the time of the rupture, PG&E’s gas control operators had for 

approximately 50 minutes been receiving and attempting to integrate and analyze a mixture of

The low pressure readings and SC AD A alarms 

related to the Line 132 rupture, which first came in at 6:15 p.m., were single data points among 

the mixture of valid and invalid information and alarms that had been occurring for nearly an 

hour.546 The evidence showed that, at 6:29 p.m., just two minutes after first becoming aware of 

the fire in San Bruno, PG&E’s gas control operators connected the reports of the fire with the 

SC ADA low pressure alarms on Line 132 to determine that there had likely been a line break on 

Line 132.

545valid and invalid SCADA data and alarms.

547

SCADA and operator control expert Tom Miesner testified:

In my opinion, given the mixture of valid and invalid SCADA data 
and alarms that gas control operators had to integrate and analyze 
for nearly an hour before and after the rupture, the time in which 
PG&E’s gas control operators determined that the low pressure

543R.T. 285 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-40 at 5; Ex. PG&E-41 at 469 (NTSB Hearing Transcript, March 2, 2011 
Excerpt, Statement of Fire Chief Haag). There is also record evidence that PG&E’s Gas Maintenance and 
Construction Superintendant for the Bay Area region arrived even earlier. Ex. CPSD-97 at 15 (estimating arrival at 
approximately 6:30 or 6:35 p.m.).
544 Ex. CPSD-1 at 70, 98-99 (CPSD/Stepanian).
545 Ex. PG&E-l at 8-6 (PG&E/Kazimirsky/Slibsager); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-8 to 9-9 (PG&E/Miesner).

Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-6 (PG&E/Kazimirsky/Slibsager); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-8 to 9-9 (PG&E/Miesner).
547 Ex. PG&E-40 at 6; Ex. PG&E-l at 8-6 to 8-7 (PG&E/Kazimirsky/Slibsager); Ex. PG&E-l at 9- 
(PG&E/Miesner); Ex. CPSD-1 at 11 (CPSD/Stepanian).

546

9
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readings starting at 6:15 p.m. were valid and that there had likely 
been a line break on Line 132 was reasonable. 548

Mr. Miesner also testified that the gas control operators responded appropriately after 

determining that there had been a line break. Mr. Miesner reviewed the gas control recordings 

and did not find there was “significant confusion,” a 

concluded “The gas system operators responded in a focused manner, and were understandably 

working as quickly as possible to address the unexpected situation. Their actions, and the 

pressure limiting system at Milpitas Terminal, effectively kept the pressure below MAOP.

s CPSD contends. Rather, Mr. Miesner

3 >549

CPSD’sSummary Of PG&E’s “Internal Communications” On 
The Day Of The Incident Does Not Provide A Basis For 
Asserting Violations Of 49 C.F.R. §§ 192.615(a), 192.605(c)(1), 
(c)(3), Or Section 451

c.

CPSD alleges there was “confusion” in PG&E’s “internal communications” during the 

CPSD vaguely asserts that as a result of this confusion, PG&E’s 

emergency response was not “effective” or done “adequately” in violation of 49 C.F.R.

§§ 192.615(a)(1), (3), (4), (6), (7), (8), 192.605(c)(1), (3), and Public Utilities Code section 

451.551 CPSD’s claims fail because the regulations and statute do not cover the conduct alleged. 

Moreover, even if CPSD asserted viable claims, it still failed to prove its allegations. CPSD 

retells portions of the various internal communications on the day of the incident, to varying 

degrees of accuracy, and then summarily lists alleged violations in conclusory fashion. CPSD 

fails to carry its burden of proof, relying heavily on its own report and the NTSB report, and very 

little on other evidence. CPSD also fails to link its purported “evidence” to any concrete 

violation of law.

49 C.F.R, § 192.615(a). CPSD failed to prove that PG&E violated Section 192.615(a). 

As explained above, Section 192.615(a) addresses written procedures, not standards or criteria 

by which the actions of an operator during an emergency response can be judged. CPSD

550emergency response.

548 Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 (PG&E/Miesner). Adding redundant SCADA data to the mix, as CPSD suggests, would have 
only complicated the information with which gas operators had to deal. See Joint R.T. 128-30 (PG&E/Slibsager).
549 Ex. PG&E-l at 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

CPSD OB at 66.
551 CPSD also alleged in the Records Oil that PG&E’s emergency response was confused and ineffective in 
Violation 10. CPSD characterized this violation as a single violation of Section 451, and not Section 192.615.
CPSD did not raise this argument in the Records Oil, and in fact conceded that PG&E complied with Section 
192.615.

550
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provides no evidence regarding the adequacy of PG&E’s written procedures 

were found to be compliant by CPSD and Mr. Bull 552); CPSD fails to establish a violation of 

192.615(a).

(which as noted

Moreover, CPSD’s conclusory allegations under Section 192.615(a) are not supported by 

the facts. In its hindsight review, CPSD selectively addresses a few conversations and response 

activities to create an account of PG&E’s emergency response that does not fully acknowledge 

the intensity of the situation.553 CPSD alleges that roles and responsibilities were poorly defined, 

but does not cite PG&E’s written procedures defining those roles and responsibilities.554 In fact, 

the evidence demonstrates that PG&E’s emergency manual defines roles and responsibilities in 

an emergency,555 and PG&E’s actions demonstrate that the responding personnel knew them.

For instance, Concord Dispatch received notification of an undetermined fire in San 

Bruno at 6:18 p.m. 556 Within nine minutes, Concord Dispatch dispatched a GSR to the site of 

the fire,557 contacted the on-call Peninsula Division supervisor,558 and notified Gas Control of the 

fire.559 The GSR investigated, reported back, and remained on-site to provide support.

Bruno’s Fire Chief Dennis Haag complimented PG&E for its coordination with fire officials on 

the incident site.561 At the same time, the Peninsula Division On-Call supervisor initiated call

outs to mobilize resources to shut off the gas, including the Peninsula Division T&R Supervisor 

and M&C Mechanic. 562 It is untrue that the M&C Mechanics that shut off the gas were never

560 San

552 Ex. PG&E-l at 11-23, 11-24 (PG&E/Bull).
553 CPSD OB at 68-75.
554 CPSD OB at 71.
555 Ex. PG&E-39 at Section 3.0 (PG&E Company Emergency Response Plan providing job duties); Ex. PG&E- 42 
(PG&E Gas T&D Emergency Plan Manual); Ex. PG&E-l at 11-23 (PG&E/Bull).

Ex. PG&E-40 at 6.
557 Ex. PG&E-40 at 6.

Ex. PG&E-40 at 7.
559 Ex. PG&E-40 at 7.

Ex. PG&E-40 at 6, 7, 10-14.
561 Ex. PG&E-41 at 469 (NTSB Hearing Transcript, March 2, 2011 
CPSD criticizes the time period that elapsed between the time when the battalion chief told the M&C Superintendent 
to shut off the gas at 6:30 p.m.-6:35 p.m. and the time the gas was shut off. The M&C Superintendent already had 
been in contact with the Peninsula On-Call Supervisor, who informed him of the actions in progress to turn off the 
valves. Ex. CPSD-97 at 15-16. Moreover, as explained herein and in PG&E’s opening brief, two of the valves ha d 
to be manually closed by M&C Mechanics who had to drive during rush hour traffic to the yard to pick up tools 
before heading in traffic to the valves. PG&E OB at 108-09; Ex. PG&E-40 at 8-12.
562 Ex. PG&E-40 at 9.

556

558

560

Excerpt, Statement of Fire Chief Haag).
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notified by PG&E of the fire,563 acted without supervision564 or had to wait at the Colma yard for 

instructions.565 Rather, when the Peninsula Division On-Call supervisor called the M&C 

Mechanic to instruct him to report to the yard, the M&C Mechanic, demonstrating his awareness 

of his role and responsibility in the situation, stated that he had seen the fire and was on his 

way.566 The supervisor also asked the M&C Mechanic to contact the second M&C Mechanic to 

report to the yard. It is also not correct that the mechanics “had to wai t [at the Colma Yard] until 

their plan to shut off the valves was approved,” as CPSD alleges.

arrived at the yard, one before the other, gathered their tools and truck, consulted with their 

supervisor about the plan to shut the valves, and immediately left to shut off the gas.

While more than one person with “supervisor” in their title was involved in the response, 

that is not remarkable or problematic; on the contrary, the record demonstrates that the 

responding employees were aware of their responsibilities and who was in charge. CPSD notes 

that there were many calls, but that fact shows that the employees were communicating and 

coordinating with each other.569 Similarly, that there were “multiple and redundant reports of the 

same emergency” is not a proper criticism; rather, it underscores the conscientious reaction of 

off-duty employees trained to ensure that the appropriate PG&E personnel become aware of an 

event the cause of which was unknown at that time.

Gas Control was not “ineffective,” as alleged by CPSD. Gas Control received, processed 

and analyzed calls from the field and SCADA data to determine there had been a line rupture, 

identify the location, coordinate with responders in the field, remotely close the valves at Martin

567 The M&C Mechanics

568

570

563 CPSD OB at 72.
564 CPSD OB at 73-74.
565 CPSD OB at 74.

Ex. PG&E-40 at 9.
567 The first M&C Mechanic reached the yard at 6:50 p.m. He gathered his tools and maps while the second M&C 
Mechanic was making his way to the yard. R.T. 390 (PG&E/Almario). Two mechanics are needed to shut the 
valves, which often are large, difficult to turn and isolated underground. R.T. 391-92 (PG&E/Almario). At 7:06 
p.m., the two M&C mechanics consulted with the supervisor about the plan to shut off the valves, and left the yard 
to close valves and isolate the rupture. Ex. PG&E-40 at 11; R.T. 391 (PG&E/Almario).

Ex. PG&E-40 at 8-10; R.T. 390-92 (PG&E/Almario).
Concord Dispatch made call-outs to the GSR, on-call supervisor and Gas Control, and maintained communication 

throughout the response.
Contrary to CPSD’s suggestions, PG&E’s dispatch was not inefficient. Concord Dispatch first received notice of 

the fire at 6:18 p.m. Ex. PG&E-40 at 5. It is reasonable that it continued to receive calls and gather information 
about the fire and its location for five minutes before dispatching a GSR to investigate at 6:23 p.m. Ex. PG&E-40 at 
5-6. And, within the next four minutes, Concord Dispatch had notified Gas Control and the supervisor of the crew 
that would shut off the valves. Ex. PG&E-40 at 6.

566

568

569

570
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Station, and maintain the gas supply to the rest of the Peninsula - the importance of which is 

consistently lost in the criticisms. 571 CPSD disregards that Gas Control had to process and 

analyze a mixture of valid and invalid SCADA data along with reports from the field. 572 At 6:29 

p.m., within two minutes after first receiving notice of the fire in San Bruno, gas control 

operators connected the reports of the fire with the SCADA low pressure alarms on Line 132.

As the evidence shows, each of CPSD’s all egations under Section 192.615(a) fails. 

PG&E “promptly and effectively responded” by calling out and dispatching the proper people to 

investigate the rupture, shut off the gas, provide support at the scene of the fire, and maintain 

safe service to the re gion. PG&E “adequately received, identified, and classified notices of the 

emergency” as demonstrated by how Concord Dispatch and Gas Control processed notices. 

PG&E provided “the proper personnel, equipment, tools and materials at the scene of an 

emergency” by dispatching personnel and resources properly, shutting off the gas in a reasonable 

time and providing support at the scene of the fire. PG&E’s efforts to shut off the gas were not 

“inadequate to minimize hazards to life or property.” PG&E worked diligently to shut off the 

gas, and did so in a manner that was reasonable in light of the circumstances, including the 

locations of the valves, the necessity for personnel to travel and obtain tools, the amount of 

traffic during rush hour, and the physical act of accessing and turning large valves. 574 Lastly, 

PG&E notified and coordinated with the appropriate fire and police officials at the scene of the 

fire.

573

575

Section 451. CPSD also alleges that the actions of PG&E’s gas control operators in 

response to the pressure increase and rupture constituted a violation of Section 451. 

discussed above, CPSD’s use of Section 451 to assert broad and arbitrary safety violations is 

improper. CPSD itself admits that “no specific regulations exist pertaining to emer 

response time.

576 As

gency
r> 577 Three gas transmission industry experts, including an expert on emergency

571 Ex. PG&E- 40 at 5-14; Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-7 (PG&E/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-3 to 9-14 
(PG&E/Miesner). Had gas control operators rashly reacted and shut off the gas to the Peninsula, the danger to life 
and property would have been significant. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 to 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).
572 Ex. PG&E-l at 9-8 to 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner); see also PG&E OB at 97-103.
573 Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 (PG&E/Miesner).
574 PG&E OB at 106-09; R.T. 382-85, 392-93 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-40 at 6-10.
575 PG&E OB at 109-11; R.T. 285 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-40 at 5.

Ex. CPSD-1 at 70, 98-99 (CPSD/Stepanian).
Ex. CPSD-1 at 102 (CPSD/Stepanian).

576

577
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response agreed that PG&E’s response time was reasonable. 578 The evidence shows that PG&E 

initiated its response promptly, dispatched and mobilized the necessary resources, and made the 

situation safe by shutting off the valves while maintaining the safe delivery of gas to the rest of 

the Peninsula. Accomplishing those actions in rush hour in a crowded city takes time, although 

CPSD and Intervenors appear not to acknowledge that fact.

49 C.F.R,§ 192.605(c). CPSD, in a one-sentence allegation, asserts that “PG&E violated 

49 C.F.R. Part 192.605(c)(1) and (3) by failing to have an emergency manual that properly 

directed its employees to respond to and correct the cause of Line 132’s decrease in pressure, and 

its malfunction which resulted in hazards to persons and property and notify the responsible 

personnel when notice of an operation is received.” 580 CPSD fails to establish a violation of 

Section 192.605.

49 C.F.R. § 192.605(c)(1) and (3) provide:

(c) For transmission lines, the manual required by paragraph (a) of 
this section must include procedures for the following to provide 
safety when operating design limits have been exceeded:

579

(1) Responding to, investigating, and correcting the cause of: (i) 
unintended closure of valves or shutdowns; (ii) increase or 
decrease in pressure or flow rate outside normal operating limits; 
(iii) Loss of communications; (iv) Operation of any safety device; 
and (v) Any other foreseeable malfunction of a component, 
deviation from normal operation, or personnel error, which may 
result in a hazard to persons or property . . .

(3) Notifying responsible operator personnel when notice of an 
abnormal operation is received.

CPSD does not provide analysis or discussion of PG&E’s written response plan, nor does

CPSD simply reiterates events from the581it attempt to tie any evidence to its allegations, 

timeline and PG& E’s response to subjectively assert that the response was inadequate and 

violated the law. Again, notwithstanding its reliance on a different regulatory provision, CPSD

578 R.T. 415-16 (PG&E/Bull); R.T. 269 (PG&E/Almario); R.T. 861-62 (PG&E/Miesner); R.T. 820- 
(PG&E/Zurcher).
579 Automated valves, and the hindsight judgme nt the parties assert regarding them, are discussed in PG&E’s 
opening brief at 44-45.

CPSD OB at 75.
CPSD OB at 75.

21

580

581
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has failed to prove a violation regarding PG&E’s “internal communications” relating to the

emergency response.

CPSD’s Characterization Of PG&E’s “External 
Communications” On The Day Of The Accident Does Not 
Provide A Basis For Violations Of 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a) Or 49 
C.F.R. § 192.605(c)(1), (3)

d.

CPSD also criticizes PG&E’s “external communications,” alleging that PG&E failed to 

call 911 and was not on site until 30 minutes after the explosion. CPSD maintains that such acts 

constitute violations of several subsections of 192.615(a) and 192.605(c). 

the facts support a finding that PG&E’s actions violated the law.

CPSD failed to prove that PG&E violated Section 192.615(a).

582 Neither the law nor

583 As explained above,

Section 192.615(a) relates to written procedures, not an operator’s actions during an emergency 

response; it does not provid e criteria or standards by which an operator’s emergency response 

can be judged after-the- fact. CPSD provides no evidence regarding how PG&E’s written 

procedures purportedly violated Section 192.615(a). Rather, CPSD simply alleges that PG&E’s 

conduct on the day of the incident amounted to a legal violation.

Even if a violation could be alleged based on this provision, PG&E’s conduct did not 

constitute a violation. PG&E admits that it did not call 911, and has previously addressed the 

sequence of events resulting in first responders being on scene before PG&E was even notified 

of the fire.584 However, PG&E did notify, establish and maintain communications with fire and 

police - PG&E personnel were side-by-side with fire and police officials, providing support and 

coordinating with them on-site. 585 Sections 192.615 and 192.605 do not require an operator to 

call 911. Rather, Section 192.615(a)(2) requires written procedures for establishing and 

maintaining adequate means of communication with appropriate fire, police, and other public 

officials; Section 192.615(a)(5) requires written procedures for actions directed toward 

protecting people first and then property; and Section 192.615(a)(8) addresses procedures for 

notifying appropriate fire, police or other public officials of gas pipeline emergencies and fire. 586

582 CPSD OB at 76.
CPSD OB at 76.
PG&E OB at 109-11; Ex. PG&E-l at 10-5 to 10-6 (PG&E/Almario); R.T. 28, 370-71, 378 (PG&E/Almario). 
R.T. 285 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-40 at 5; R.T. 420-21 (PG&E/Bull).
49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(2), (5), (8).

583

584

585

586
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As set forth in more detail in PG&E’s opening brief, PG&E’s written procedures satisfy 

192.615(a)(2), (5) and (8).587 That PG&E did not call 911 did not violate the regulations CPSD 

relies on.

CPSD also alleges that PG&E violated Section 192.615(a) because 30 minutes elapsed

CPSD does not tie its588from the time of the rupture until PG&E personnel arrived on the scene, 

allegations to a legal requirement because there is no regulation regarding the time within which 

an operator must reach an emergency site. 589 As the evidence shows, PG&E’s response time was 

reasonable in light of the time PG&E became aware of the situation and the distance and traffic

personnel confronted. The rupture occurred at 6:11 p. m.; PG&E’s Concord Dispatch first 

received a call about the fire seven minutes later. 590 It was rush hour in the South Bay. 591 By 

6:41 p.m., a PG&E GSR confirmed to Concord Dispatch that he was on-site, 

personnel were on-site at most within 23 minutes of the first call to PG&E regarding the fire and 

18 minutes after dispatching the GSR. 593 Objectively and in light of the circumstances, PG&E’s 

response was reasonable.

CPSD also alleges a violation of 192.605(c)(4) because PG&E allegedly failed to 

establish and maintain a liaison with fire and police. The facts described above - personnel on

site within 18 minutes of being dispatched and Chief Haag’s statement that PG&E’s liaison 

efforts were “great” - alone defeat this allegation. 595 Moreover, Section 192.605(c)(4) provides 

that an emergency response manual must include procedures to provide “safety when operating 

design limits have been exceeded: (4) Periodically reviewing the response of operator personnel 

to determine the effectiveness of the procedu res controlling abnormal operation.” Even 

assuming the alleged violation relates to the requirements of this provision, which is not 

apparent, CPSD presents no evidence that PG&E violated Section 192.605(c)(4). On the 

contrary, CPSD’s audits found that PG&E’s emergency response procedures were reviewed

592 PG&E

594

587 PG&E OB at 109-11; see also PG&E OB at 106-09; Ex. PG&E-l at 11-24 to 11-25 (PG&E/Bull).
CPSD OB at 76.
Ex. CPSD-1 at 107 (CPSD/Stepanian) (acknowledging California has no specific requirements for response times 

to emergencies).
Ex. PG&E-40 at 5-6.

591 R.T. 380-81 (PG&E/Almario).
592 Ex. PG&E-40 at 10. See Ex. CPSD-97 at 15 (PG&E superintendant estimated his arrival at 6:30 p.m.).

Ex. PG&E-40 at 5-10.
594 R.T. 415-16 (PG&E/Bull).
595 Ex. PG&E-40 at 5-10; Ex. PG&E-41 at 469.

588

589

590

593
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596annually and complied with all pertinent regulations. 

Section 192.615(a) or 192.605(c).

CPSD has not established a violation of

CPSD Fails To Prove That PG&E’s Training And Public Awareness 
Efforts Violate 49 C.F.R. §§ 192.615,192.616, And 192.605(c)

5.

CPSD argues that PG&E violated the law for not having specific training for its GSRs to 

recognize the difference between fires of low pressure natural gas lines, high pressure gas lines, 

gasoline or jet fuel lines, and because public first responders did not know the location or 

specifications of PG&E’s pipelines. CPSD summarily alleges violations of Sections 

192.615(a)(3), 192.615(b)(2), 192.615(b)(3), 192.615(c)(4), and 192.616(d). CPSD fails to tie 

its allegations to the regulatory provisions or explain how PG&E’s conduct violated each one.

CPSD alleges that PG&E’s “inadequate” training constitutes a violation of Section 

192.615(a)(3) regarding written procedures for a prompt and effective response to an emergency. 

However, there is no regulatory requirement that operators provide specific training regarding 

the identification of different types of fire. Following the accident, the NTSB recommended 

such training, and PG&E is implementing it; but that does not mean the lack of such training

In support, CPSD points out that PG&E personnel at the 

scene were attempting (understandably) to gain information about the source of the fire; that fact 

does not establish a violation of 192.615(a)(3).

CPSD alleges that PG&E violated 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(b). Section 615(b) provides in 

relevant part that:

597before San Bruno violated the law.

598

(b) Each operator shall: ...

(2) Train the appropriate operating personnel to assure that they are 
knowledgeable of the emergency procedures and verify that the 
training is effective.

(3) Review employee activities to determine whether the 
procedures were effectively followed in each emergency.

596 Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 4-6 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix B at 4- 
(PG&E/Almario).
597 Ex. PG&E-l at 10-9 (PG&E/Dickson).

Though not focused on by the parties, even at 7:02 p.m. public agency first responders in the field were still 
discussing whether the fire resulted from a plane crash. As is to be expected, even police and fire responders will 
experience confusion and pass along contradictory information during an emergency event of this size. Ex. PG&E- 
40 at 11 (San Mateo County Sheriff asks if PG&E was aware of the “pi3116 crash”).

6

598

110

SB GT&S 0486601



CPSD fails to provide evidence that PG&E violated these provisions. CPSD vaguely 

alleges that PG&E’s Director of Incident Command did not have direct in -depth knowledge of 

the 2008 Rancho Cordova incident. 599 CPSD makes no connection between this fact and the 

emergency response in San Bruno, nor the specific issue of identifying the type and source of the 

fire, which is the purported basis of this alleged violation. CPSD has not established a violation 

of Section 192.615(b).

CPSD also alleges a violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.616(d).600 Section 192.616(d) provides:

The operator’s program must specifically include provisions to 
educate the public, appropriate government organizations, and 
persons engaged in excavation related activities on:

(1) Use of a one-call notification system prior to excavation and 
other damage prevention activities;

(2) Possible hazards associated with unintended releases from a 
gas pipeline facility;

(3) Physical indications that such a release may have occurred;

(4) Steps that should be taken for public safety in the event of a gas 
pipeline release; and

(5) Procedures for reporting such an event.

CPSD does not identify the subpart of the regulation that PG&E purportedly violated, or 

identify what conduct corresponds to the alleged violations under Section 192.616(d). In its 

2009 and 2010 audits of PG&E’s emergency response plans, CPSD found that PG&E’s written

Thus, PG&E is left to guess601response plans fulfilled each of the requirements of 192.616(d). 

as to the alleged shortcoming that CPSD contends constituted a violation of law.

599 CPSD OB at 77.
CPSD OB at 78. As with most of the alleged violations related to emergency response, CPSD alleges the 

violation of Section 192.616 for the first time after the close of evidence.
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 6 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix B at 6 

(PG&E/Almario).
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6. CPSD Has Not Asserted A Legal Violation Relating To Remote 
Control Valves, Automatic Shutoff Valves, And Pressure And Flow 
Transmitters

CPSD and Intervenors criticize PG&E for not having automated valves at the closest 

possible location to the rupture, but CPSD does not allege a legal violation relating to automated

PG&E agrees with CPSD’s premise that if the 

valves could have been turned sooner, some damage may have been mitigated. Prior to San 

Bruno, however, no regulation existed requiring transmission pipeline operators to install any 

certain number of RCVs or AS Vs on their system or specifying the circumstances mandating 

their installation. Expectations have changed following the San Bruno accident, and PG&E has 

already significantly augmented the number of remote control and automatic shut off valves 

deployed in its system. The extent to which any operator should more widely deploy AS Vs or

s parallel pipeline

602valves, or pressure and flow transmitters.

RCVs remains a subject of legitimate policy discussion in the Commission’ 

safety proceeding. In any event, PG&E’s utilization of automated valves prior to the San Bruno 

accident did not constitute a legal violation.

7. PG&E Admits It Did Not Timely Conduct Alcohol Testing Or 
Prepare An Explanatory Report

PG&E acknowledges that it did not timely conduct alcohol testing on the personnel at the 

Milpitas Terminal or prepare an explanatory report as required under 49 C.F.R. § 199.225(a). 

PG&E conducted alcohol testing of the personnel doing the work at Milpitas Terminal, but not in 

the required timeframe. The test results were negative.

CPSD alleges for the first time in its opening brief that PG&E had an obligation to 

conduct drug and alcohol testing on the PG&E Gas Control staff, and that not doing so

CPSD did not assert this allegation in any of CPSD’s 

original testimony or violations, in particular its January 12, 2012 report or its August 20, 2012 

rebuttal testimony. CPSD does not specify who on the Gas Control staff should have been 

tested. More importantly, CPSD has the burden of proof and has failed to present evidence that 

demonstrates why any Gas Control staff was required to be tested under the regulations.

603

604constitutes another new violation.

602 CPSD OB at 78.
Ex. CPSD-1 at 99-100 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. PG&E-l at 8-23 to 8-25 (PG&E/Oceguera). 
CPSD OB at 80.
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8. CPSD Fails To Substantiate Its Allegations Regarding Continuing 
Violations

For the first time in this proceeding, CPSD alleges emergency response violations as 

continuing violations, as set forth in Appendix C of its opening brief. CPSD alleges that thirteen 

of the emergency response violations occurred on the day of the incident, September 9, 2010. 

CPSD alleges, however, that six violations began on August 31, 2009 and continued each day 

through September 9, 2010. CPSD does not explain or submit evidence to support its allegations 

that the duration of these violations reach back to August 31, 2009.

failed to carry its burden of proof that the violations began on and continued since August 31, 

2009.

605 As a result, CPSD has

CPSD audited PG&E’s emergency response plans in 2009 and 2010 and found them to 

be compliant with the federal regulations.

PG&E’s emergency response plans complied with the federal regulations. PG&E’s expert

Nonetheless, CPSD now contends 

that PG&E’s emergency plans violated the law since August 31, 2009. Other than the subjective 

judgments discussed above, CPSD has nothing to support its allegation. On the contrary, the 

evidence, including CPSD’s audit and consultant’s testimony, establish that PG&E’s emergency 

plans did not violate the law, on August 31, 2009 or any day thereafter.

606 CPSD’s witness in the Records Oil conceded that

607witness, David Bull, corroborated CPSD’s conclusions.

PG&E’sSafety Culture And Financial PrioritiesF.

608As PG&E noted in its opening brief, 

specifically on its claims about PG&E’s safety culture or financial priorities. Rather, CPSD 

identified PG&E’s safety culture as one of a long list of issues that allegedly “contributed to” the 

San Bruno accident and that “together constitute an unreasonably unsafe condition” in violati on 

of Section 451.609 CPSD did, however, make several specific financial recommendations based 

on its expert’s conclusion that PG&E spent less than the capital expenditures and O&M expenses 

implicit in GT&S’s approved rates and generated more revenues from GT&S than needed to earn

CPSD had not alleged a violation based

605 In the Records Oil, CPSD alleges that Violation 10 relating to Emergency Response plans extends to April 2010.
Ex. PG&E-l at 10-2 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix A at 5-6 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. 

PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendix B at 5-6 (PG&E/Almario).
Ex. PG&E-l at 11-5 to 11-28 (PG&E/Bull).
PG&E OB at 114.
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162 (CPSD/Stepanian).
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the authorized rate of return.610 As PG&E discussed in its opening brief, the Commission should 

reject those recommendations or any other penalty CPSD or another party might seek based on 

PG&E’s spending on GT&S compared to the adopted GT&S rates or the revenues and returns of 

GT&S viewed as a standalone business. Mr. Harpster’s unsupported testimony does not and 

cannot prove that PG&E spent less than the imputed adopted O&M or capex amounts, 

also failed to prove that PG&E should be penalized in any way for GT&S having benefited from 

Commission-approved market incentives to earn on average more than the authorized rate of 

return, particularly since the utility as a whole earned returns that were consistent with the 

authorized rates of return.

Nothing in CPSD’s brief (or any of the other parties’ briefs) changes this analysis.

What CPSD does in its brief is attempt to deflect attention from the obvious flaws in its 

expert’s comparison of PG&E’s actual costs to the amounts i mplicit in the adopted rates by 

trying to turn CPSD and PG&E’s experts’ analyses into something they were never intended to 

be - an assessment of how much PG&E should have spent to operate a safe system. This 

approach founders on, among other things, the fact that CPSD’s own expert, Mr. Harpster, made 

no attempt to analyze the question that CPSD now criticizes PG&E’s expert Matthew

611 CPSD

612

O’Loughlin for not having considered. Mr. Harpster expressly sought to compare PG&E’s
„ 613 and did not consistently compare PG&E’s 

expenditures to PG&E’s internal forecasts, budgets, or any other purported measure of what 

PG&E needed to spend to maintain a safe system. With regard to GT&S’s revenues and returns, 

CPSD’s brief off ers no reason to penalize PG&E on that ground, and never seriously contests 

PG&E’s evidence showing that (1) PG&E was able to generate market storage revenues in 

excess of its cost of service as a result of the market structure approved by the Commission and 

the parties in five separate rate case proceedings; and (2) the fact that the entire utility earned 

returns that were consistent with the authorized rates of return indicates that any GT&S revenues 

not spent within GT&S were used for other utility operations. And, although CPSD refers to

it offers no proof that

actual expenditures to “the levels included in rates

614“dividends,” “bonuses” and “public relations and ballot initiatives,”

610 Ex. CPSD-i at 168 (Recommendation Nos. 31-33) (CPSD/Stepanian).
611 PG&E OB at 116-35.
612 PG&E OB at 138-44.

Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-2 (CPSD/Harpster).
614 See, e.g., CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.

613

114

SB GT&S 0486605



PG&E used GT&S revenues for any purpose that would justify penalizing PG&E in this 

proceeding.

For the first time in its opening brief, CPSD now asserts a standalone violation of Section 

451 for PG&E’s alleged “failure to place safety over profits,” based on a collection of largely 

unrelated alleged facts.615 Putting aside that PG&E was not given proper notice of this claimed 

violation, which itself is a denial of due process, 616 the violation CPSD now asserts is so vague 

and imprecise that it cannot reasonably state a potential standalone violation of Section 451 or 

anything else. CPSD’s brief accuses PG&E of “intentionally subjugating safety to profit” 

but, as before, it does not identify specifically what actions by PG&E it contends violated the law 

or the standard against which PG&E’s safety culture is being judged. CPSD’s purported proof is

617

heavy on unproven conjecture and innuendo, but light on facts - indeed, there are none - proving
,,618that PG&E “fail[ed] to place safety over profits.

The heart of CPSD’s (and the other parties’) discussion of PG&E’s safety culture is the 

December 2011 report of Overland Consulting (Overland Report).

GT&S’s business from a “financial and ratemaking perspective,” 

conclusions were predicated on its incorrect finding that PG&E spent less than the imputed 

adopted amounts for capital and O&M expenses. Overland was not qualified to, and did not, 

conduct an operational safety analysis. In the portions of the report on which CPSD and DRA 

rely, Overland merely strung together quotations from internal PG&E documents and other facts 

that collectively cannot substitute for proof that any specific budgeting decision either led to 

PG&E impairing safety or demonstrated a lack of concern for safety on PG&E’s part. This kind 

of scattershot approach is not a substitute for in-depth operational analysis and does not 

constitute proof of any wrongdoing.

Overland’s discussion of Line 132 projects is a perfect illustration of this approach. In

619 Overland reviewed 

and its high level620

the short section of the Overland Report addressing Line 132, which is extensively cited by 

CPSD, Overland cobbles together excerpt s from PG&E’s Project Status Reporting System

615 CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
See supra Section III.C.
CPSD OB at 83 (original in heading format). 
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
See Ex. CPSD-168 (CPSD/Harpster).
R.T. 56 (CPSD/Harpster).

616

617

618
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620
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(PSRS) database regarding projects involving Line 132. Overland applied no engineering 

expertise to its interpretation of the PSRS reports and made no attempt beyond its mere recitation 

of words on a page to determine whether financial constraints actually played a significant role 

in any of these projects. In fact, as discussed below, CPSD failed to prove that budgeting 

considerations affected the safety of Line 132 in any respect.

PG&E acknowledges that its expense (but not capital) budgets were tight during 2008 to 

2010. But the evidence in the record relating to expense budgets in those years paints a picture 

of an organization that cared about both operating within approved budgets and running a safe 

and compliant system. PG&E did not spend less than it received in adopted rates and, more 

importantly, it did not act with disregard to safety. CPSD and other parties suggest that PG&E 

has essentially conceded any point in the Overland Report that it did not expressly address in its 

testimony. This argument turns the burden of proof on its head - it was CPSD’s burden to 

prove that PG&E violated the law. The Overland Report and the rest of CPSD’s evidence do not 

satisfy that burden.

Rather than adding anyth ing to CPSD’s failed attempt to prove a safety -culture-based 

violation of Section 451, DRA’s (and to some extent TURN’s) safety culture discussion appears 

to be designed principally to lay the groundwork for possible arguments relating to the allocation 

of costs for PG&E’s Pipeline Safety Enhancement Plan (PSEP). DRA repeatedly references the 

testimony of Thomas Bottorff, PG&E’s Senior Vice President of Regulatory Relations, in R.l 1 - 

02-19, which DRA tries to contort into an admission that PG&E should be “h eld responsible for 

the billions of dollars in costs to test and/or replace pipelines” contemplated in the two phases of 

PG&E’s PSEP.622 Mr. Bottorff testified that in the past PG&E sought ratepayer recovery for 

safety improvements and that the Commission generally granted those requests (except during 

the energy crisis).623 This is hardly a concession that PG&E already received ratepayer funds to 

make the billions of dollars in infrastructure improvements (including replacing pipelines or 

making them piggable) currently being planned and implemented. To the contrary, as Mr. 

Bottorff explained, the PSEP is “focused on compliance with a new regulatory standard.” 624 The 

need to comply with a new regulatory standard is bolstered by the fact that Southern California

621 See CPSD OB at 83, 91, 112; DRA OB at 60.
622 See DRA OB at 60; see also id. at 29-30, 58.

R.l 1-02-19, R.T. 959-60 (PG&E/Bottorff) (cited in DRA opening brief).
R.l 1-02-19, R.T. 961 (PG&E/Bottorff) (prior pages cited in DRA opening brief).

623

624
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Gas Company and San Diego Gas and Electric Company (collectively “Sempra”) also filed a 

Pipeline Safety Enhancement Plan in August 2011 in A. 11-11 -002, which requested approval to 

include in rates about $1.7 billion during 2012-2015 in order to comply with new regulatory 

standards.

1. CPSD Failed To Prove That PG&E Spent Less Than The O&M And 
Capex Amounts Implicit In GT&S Rates

CPSD has not alleged a specific violation based on the level of PG&E’s actual GT&S 

capital expenditures or O&M expenses either in absolute terms or as compared to the amounts 

implicit in rates. For the first time in its opening brief, however, CPSD now asserts that PG&E’s 

purported “failure to place safety over profits” violated Section 451, based in part on PG&E’s 

allegedly having “spen[t] less than authorized on safety.” 

recommendations based on Mr. Harpster’s finding that PG&E spent less than the imputed 

adopted O&M and capex amounts.626 As PG&E discussed in its opening brief, CPSD offered no 

evidence showing that PG&E spent less than “authorized” on safety -related costs627 and failed to 

prove that PG&E spent less than it received in the GT&S rate cases generally.

CPSD’s discussion of PG&E’s pu rported underspending on O&M expenses and capital 

expenditures from 1997 to 2010 misstates and misconstrues the record on several different 

levels. First, even if the Commission accepts Mr. Harpster’s analysis and rejects Mr. 

O’Loughlin’s, the evidence contradicts CPSD’s claim that “PG&E underspent for safety by $156 

million during 1997- 2010,” as CPSD asserts in its brief. 629 Second, in its rush to find flaws in 

Mr. O’Loughlin’s analysis, CPSD makes unsupportable claims about how the imputed adopted 

amounts should be calculated that are directly at odds with its own expert’s testimony. Third, 

CPSD’s attempt to parse the experts’ methodologies by rate case period does not stand up to 

scrutiny. A careful analysis of what Mr. Harpster and Mr. O’Loughlin actua lly did shows that 

Mr. O’Loughlin’s methods were reasonable and Mr. Harpster’s were not.

625 CPSD also has made specific

628

625 CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10. CPSD also asserts that another factor contributing to PG&E’s alleged 
safety culture violation was its “not seeking sufficient O&M funds.” Id. CPSD never explains what this brand new 
allegation means. It certainly never offered any proof concerning whether PG&E wrongfully failed to forecast and 
seek sufficient funds for O&M costs in the GT&S rate cases.

Ex. CPSD-1 at 168 (Recommendation Nos. 31 and 32) (CPSD/Stepanian).
PG&E OB at 136.
PG&E OB at 116-35.
See CPSD OB at 91 (emphasis added; original in heading format).

626

627

628
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CPSD Did Not Prove That PG&E Spent Less Than Authorized 
On Safety

a.

CPSD’s assertion that “PG&E underspent for safety by $156 million during 1997 -

2010”630 misstates the record even if Mr. Harpster’s analysis is assumed to be correct (which it is 

not). As PG&E explained in its opening brief, Mr. Harpster never testified that PG&E spent less 

than the imputed adopted amounts for safety-related work for either O&M expenses or capital 

for any year. Mr. Harpster’s O&M comparison included a number of cost categories that have

nothing to do with safety and it therefore cannot prove that PG&E spent less than the imputed
» 632 Mr. Harpster acknowledged that he was unable to

The same was true of Mr.

adopted amounts specifically “for safety, 

conduct an analysis focused solely on safety-related O&M costs. 633

634Harpster’s capex comparison for 1997 to 2010.

CPSD’s claim that PG&E spent less than the imputed adopted safety -related costs is

especially hard to understand with respect to capital. CPSD writes that the idea that PG&E

overspent on safety “is nothing but a mirage,” but its own expert identified as one of his “key

findings,” on the very first page of his report, that “ [djuring the period 2003 to 2010, actual

capital expenditures in safety-related categories were $35 million higher than the adopted

amounts,”636 In the section of the Overland Report entitled “Pipeline Safety -Related Capex

Comparison,” Mr. Harpster further explained that:

Over the period 2003 to 2010, PG&E’s actual spending in MWCs 
75 and 98637 was 12.8 percent higher than the amounts adopted in 
GT&S rate cases. Actual capex exceeded adopted by $35 million

630 CPSD OB at 91 (original in heading format). As noted above, CPSD also makes this assertion in its descripti on 
of the alleged safety culture violation. See CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10 (referring to “spending less than 
authorized on safety”).
631 PG&E OB at 136.
632 R.T. 83-84 (CPSD/Harpster).

R.T. 85 (CPSD/Harpster). For example, his O&M comparison included environmental costs (in major work 
category AK) and a substantial amount of reliability-focused maintenance expenses. R.T. 83-84 (CPSD/Harpster).

R.T. 82-83 (CPSD/Harpster); cf. Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-6 to 4-7 (CPSD/Harpster) (quantifying the portions of 
capital expenditures relating to reliability, capacity and other non-safety-related work).

CPSD OB at 92.
Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-1 (second bullet) (CPSD/Harpster) (emphasis added).
The Overland Report explains that “[pjipeline safety -related capex are charged to MWC 75, Pipeline Reliability, 

and MWC 98, Integrity Management.” Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 (CPSD/Harpster).

633

634

635

636

637
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during the eight-year period. In 2009, actual was $20 million 
higher than adopted.638

Mr. Harpster reiterated on cross-examination that the alleged underspending by PG&E he 

identified was “not in . . . the two major work categories that seem the most related to safety.

It is especially noteworthy that Mr. Harpster found that PG&E spent more than the imputed 

adopted amounts for the capital major work categories including pipeline safety and integrity 

management in each year from 2007 to 2010, and cumulatively spent over $30 million more than 

the imputed adopted amounts during that period alone.

In short, CPSD offered no evidence that PG&E spent less than the imputed adopted 

amounts for safety-related work.

» 639

640

b. CPSD’s Criticisms Of M r. O’Loughlin’s Analysis Reflect A
Misunderstanding Of The Purpose Of Compari ng PG&E’s 
Actual Expenditures To The Imputed Adopted Amounts And 
The Testimony Of Its Own Expert

(i) CPSD Never Tried To Prove What PG&E Should Have 
Spent To Maintain A Safe System

Although its brief is far from a model of clarity, CPSD seems to suggest that Mr.

Harpster and Mr. O’Loughlin’s analyses comparing PG&E’s actual expenditures to the imputed 

adopted O&M and capex amounts were intended to show whether PG&E spent what it needed to 

spend to maintain a safe system.641 This misstates the record and misrepresents what the experts 

actually did. Both parties’ experts offered testimony about whether PG&E spent more or less 

than the O&M expenses and capital expenditures implicit in PG&E’s gas transmission and 

storage rates. In other words, their testimony was directed at whether PG&E spent more or less 

than it received in the rate cases. 642

638 Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 to 4-4 (CPSD/Harpster) (explanatory footnote added). See generally PG&E OB at 136. 
Mr. Harpster did not calculate whether PG&E spent more than the imputed adopted safety-related capex in 1997 to 
2002 and admitted that he had no basis for stating that PG&E underspent on safety-related capex during those years. 
R.T. 82 (CPSD/Harpster).

R.T. 82 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 (Table 4-2) (CPSD/Harpster).

641 See CPSD OB at 93-95.
642 Overland also offered opinions about the safety implications of its comparison of actual expenditures to the 
imputed adopted amounts and trends in PG&E’s actual expenditures (which are discussed infra in Section V.F.3.a), 
but it never offered an opinion regarding what specific O&M and capex amounts PG&E should have spent in any 
particular year to operate a safe system.
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Overland was retained by CPSD in 2011 to review PG&E’s gas transmission line of 

business from a “financial and ratemaking perspective.” 643 Overland was not asked to conduct 

an engineering or operations analysis. 644 Indeed, it would not have been qualified to do so as 

none of the members of Overland’s team were gas engineers.645 Overland’s stated objective was 

to “[cjompare actual gas transmission safety -related O&M expenses and capital expenditures to 

the levels included in rates.” 646 In its December 30, 2011 report, Overland concluded that

“PG&E’s actual transmission O&M expenses were five percent lower than amounts adopted in

s actual total GT&S capitalGT&S rate cases over the period 1997 to 2010” and “PG&E’ 

expenditures were six percent lower than adopted over the period 1997 to 2010.”

Overland Report explains in detail how rates were set in the different rate case periods and how 

Overland calculated the O&M and capex amounts implicit in those rates.

647 The

648

CPSD explicitly relied on Overland’s comparison of PG&E’s actual expenditures to the 

amounts implicit in rates as the basis for two specific recommendations contained in its January 

12, 2012 report:

31) PG&E should use the $39,257,000 in previously authorized 
rate recovery for pipeline transmission operations and maintenance 
that it failed to spend since 1997 to fund future pipeline 
transmission operations and maintenance before it seeks additional 
ratepayer funds going forward, (source: Overland Report, page 3
3, Table 3-2)....

32) Regarding PG&E’s gas transmission and storage operations, 
PG&E under spent $95,372,000 for capital expenditures since 
1997; PG&E should use these previously authorized ratepayer 

funds to fund future gas transmission and storage capital 
expenditures before it seeks additional ratepayer funds going 
forward. (Source: Overland Report, page 4-2, Table 4-1)649

PG&E retained Matthew O’Loughlin of The Brattle Group specifically to evaluate and 

respond to Overland’s comparison of PG&E’s actual expenditures to the “levels included in

643 R.T. 56 (CPSD/Harpster).
644 Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-6 (CPSD/Harpster).
645 R.T. 237-38 (CPSD/Harpster).

Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-2 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 56 (CPSD/Harpster); see also PG&E OB at 116.
647 Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-1 (CPSD/Harpster); see also id. at 1-2, 1-3.

Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-7 to 2-13, 3-1 to 3-3, 4-1 to 4-4 (CPSD/Harpster). Mr. Harpster also elaborated on this 
analysis for more than 80 pages in his rebuttal testimony. See Ex. CPSD-170 at 1-85 (CPSD/Harpster).

Ex. CPSD-1 at 168 (CPSD/Stepanian) (emphasis added).

646

648

649
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651> >650 and CPSD’s recommendations based on Overland’s analysis, 

groundless assertion that Mr. O’Loughlin’s analysis of actual and imputed adopted expendit ures 

was dictated by PG&E,

Overland.

those provided for in rates. Mr. O’Loughlin’s direct testimony contains his own 

analysis responding to Mr. Harpster’s analysis.

Harpster did not appropriately identify the imputed adopted amounts in rates due to his 

inconsistent and flawed approach.

CPSD now attempts to turn Mr. H arpster’s comparison analysis into something that it 

was not in a back-door effort to criticize Mr. O’Loughlin’s testimony. CPSD’s lengthy quotation 

is irrelevant to the question of whether PG&E spent more than the imputed 

adopted amounts. PG&E does not dispute that it was obligated to “spend sufficient revenues to 

meet its safety obligations,” regardless of the outcome in any particular rate case, 

might have tried to conduct an analysis into the details of PG&E’s GT&S work plans 

whether PG&E spent the right amount of money on the right work to maintain a safe system.

That would have required sophisticated engineering judgments about what work should have 

been done based on information known at the time and complicated estimates of the costs of that 

work over a period dating back to 1997. Lacking engineering expertise, Overland was in no 

position to attempt such an analysis and it did not do so.

Instead, the analysis that Messrs. Harpster and O’Loughlin did undertake was to compare 

the imputed adopted amounts to PG&E’s actual expenditures. Mr. O’Loughlin explained the 

relationship between their analyses and the question of how much PG&E needed to spend to 

operate a safe system:

Contrary to CPSD’srates

652 the focus of his analysis was determined by Mr. Harpster and 

It was Mr. Harpster who professed to compare PG&E’s actual expenditures to

,independent

There, Mr. O’Loughlin shows that Mr.

653

654

655from D.04-05-055

656 CPSD

and

I think those two things are unrelated. In other words, what PG&E 
actually spends or decides it needs to spend is what it needs to 
spend. What’s in the settlement revenue requirements as being the

650 Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-2 (CPSD/Harpster).
651 Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 1-2 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
652 CPSD OB at 94.

Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 1-2 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
Ex. PG&E- 10 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). See R.T. 543- 44 (PG&E/O’Loughlin) (discussing how Mr. O’Loughlin 

developed his own methodology for comparing PG&E’s actual costs to the imputed adopted amounts).
See CPSD OB at 93-94.
See CPSD OB at 93. See also infra n.660.

653

654

655

656
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amount provided for in the settlement revenue requirement is what 
it is. And I’m not trying to say that gee, if 50 million was provided 
for in the settlement revenue requirement, that’s all PG&E needed 
to spend or should have spent. It might have made sense to spend 
more. It might have made sense to spend less. I think those are 
two independent questions or two independent items. 657

Again, CPSD could have attempted to determine what PG&E should have spent from an

operational perspective, but that it is not what Mr. Harpster did when he said that PG&E spent 

$40 million less than the imputed adopted O&M amounts and $117 million less than the imputed 

adopted capex amounts, 658 and such an analysis was not the basis for CPSD’s Recommendation 

Nos. 31 and 32. And it was those conclusions and recommendations that Mr. O’Loughlin’s 

testimony addressed.

(ii) CPSD’s Position That It Is “Improper” To Use The 
Settlement Revenue Requirements As The Basis For 
The Imputed Adopted O&M And Capex Amounts Has 
No Support In The Record

CPSD’s discussion of Mr. O’Loughlin and Mr. Harpster’s methods for estimating the 

imputed adopted amounts is not only fdled with significant misstatements and omissions 

(discussed in the next section), but also is grounded in the flawed notion that the “use of 

settlement revenue requirements as the basis for the imputed adopted amounts for GT&S’s capex 

and O&M is improper.

supposedly supports this surprising contention, but it never once cites any such authority . 

CPSD is effectively saying that the settlements themselves are irrelevant for determining the 

imputed adopted amounts - a position that flows from its misguided attempt to turn the imputed

3->659 CPSD refers no less than eight times to “Commission precedent” that
660

657 R.T. 616 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
These amounts reflect the adjustments Mr. Harpster made in his rebuttal testimony.

(CPSD/Harpster). CPSD’s recommendations are based on Overland’s December 2011 report.
119 & n.647.

CPSD OB at 94.
See CPSD OB at 93, 94, 95, 101. D.04- 05-055 does not support CPSD’s po sition that basing the imputed

adopted amounts on the settlement revenue requirements is “improper.” To the contrary, in that decision, the 
Commission explained that because the settlement did not set forth detailed adopted amounts by account or category 
of work, “in PG&E’s next GRC, parties will not be able to ascertain the specific amounts adopted for certain 
accounts, or compare recorded amounts to the corresponding ‘adopted’ forecast with the same degree of precision 
that we typically expect.” Application of Pac. Gas & Elec. Co., D.04-05-055, 2004 Cal. PUC LEXIS 254, at *115. 
In other words, the Commission did not equate PG&E’s litigation forecast with the adopted amounts, as CPSD’s 
opening brief would suggest, and it did not establish the precedent that one cannot use the adopted settlement 
revenue requirement as the starting point for determining the imputed adopted amounts.

658 See Ex. CPSD-170 at 7-8 
See PG&E OB at

659

660
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661adopted to actual comparison into something it never was intended to be.

exercise that both Mr. Harpster and Mr. 

i.e., to compare PG&E’s actual expenditures to the “levels included in 

or to square it with Mr. Harpster’s own testimony.

The relationship between revenue requirements and rates 

amounts used to build the revenue requirements - is straight out of “Ratemaking 101.” As DRA 

wrote in its brief, PG&E’s rates “are calculated based upon an identified revenue 

requirement.

the adopted O&M and capex amounts, the adopted revenue requirements and the adopted

His testimony also refutes the notion that it is “improper” to base the imputed adopted

amounts on the settlement revenue requirements set forth in the settlement agreements:

Q: [The settlement agreements] are the key documents, aren’t 
they?

A: I would say they’re probably the most important document, 
yes.
Q: And the imputed adopted amounts should be closely tied to 
the provisions of the settlement, should they not?
A: Yes, to the extent that you can.

CPSD argues, nonetheless, that the imputed adopted amounts should be based on 

PG&E’s “internal budget documents” and other “forecasts” rather than on the settlement revenue 

requirements.

It is impossible to

reconcile CPSD’s view with the purpose of the

O’Loughlin undertook
„662rates

and the O&M and capex

5>663 Mr. Harpster testified that there is a direct, mathematical relationship between

664rates.

665

666 There is no need, however, to use such forecasts to determine the imputed 

adopted amounts. If the parties used a particular forecast to calculate the settlement revenue 

requirements and rates, then the settlement data should be used (and it will reflect the forecast). 

If a particular forecast was not used by the parties to determine the settlement revenue 

requirements and rates, then that forecast does not reflect the level of O&M and capex in rates. 

As PG&E discussed in its opening brief, Mr. Harpster used as the basis for his imputed adopted 

amounts forecasts that were created two or more years after rates were set by the Commission

661 See supra Section V.F.l.b.(i).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-2 (CPSD/Harpster).
DRA OB at 30.
R.T. 73-75 (CPSD/Harpster) (discussing this in context of fully litigated cases and settlements). 
R.T. 64 (CPSD/Harpster) (emphasis added).
CPSD OB at 94.

662

663

664

665

666
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667and that bore no relationship to the settlement revenue requirements or rates, 

conceded that his imputed adopted amounts based on those forecasts do not correspond to the 

amounts implicit in rates in those years.

CPSD does not explain why it believes it is “improper” to develop imputed adopted 

amounts that correspond directly to the settlement revenue requirements and rates. Mr. Harpster 

tried to justify using forecasts that indisputably were not considered by the parties or the 

Commission in setting rates on the ground that they better reflected PG&E’s planned

To be sure, a 2010 forecast created in 2010, for example, almost

And he

668

669expenditures in those years, 

by definition better reflects what PG&E will spend in 2010 than one created in 2007. But that 

does not mean that the later-created forecast is the right one to use to determine the O&M and 

capex amounts implicit in 2010 rates that were set in 2007 . As Mr. O’Loughlin explained, his 

approach most closely replicated what the Commission does in a fully litigated rate case 

proceeding:

[T]he parties reached a settlement which typically specified 
settlement revenue requirements and often underlying those 
settlement revenue requirements gave you information about the 
O&M that was implicit in the settlement revenue requirements or 
gave you information that would allow you to derive the capex that 
was implicit in those settlement revenue requirements. And then 
the Commission reviewed both the settlements and underlying 
support materials for the adjustments and reasonableness of what 
was in those settlements and was fully cognizant [of] the revenue 
requirements that were agreed to in the settlements, and then the 
Commission approved the settlements. So to me, that’s about as 
close as you’re going to get to the equivalent of an adopted 
revenue requirement that the Commission would produce in [an] 
adjudicated proceeding. 670

Even if CPSD were correct that Mr. O’Loughlin should have compared PG&E’s budgets 

or other forecasts to its actual expenditures, Mr. Harpster did not conduct such an analysis. 

CPSD never explains which “existing internal budget documents” or “PG&E forecasts” it 

believes should be used as proxy for the imputed adopted amounts being compared to PG&E’s

667 See PG&E OB at 121; R.T. 141-42, 144, 174 (CPSD/Harpster).
See PG&E OB at 121; R.T. 71, 138, 145-46, 172 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-170 at 45, 58, 72 (CPSD/Harpster).
R.T. 558-59 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). See also PG&E OB at 123-24; R.T. 561-62 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. PG&E- 

10, MPO-1 at 16-17 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).

668

669

670
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ftl 1actual expenditures. For example, should Mr. O’Loughlin have used the budget prepared at 

the beginning of each budget year? Mr. Flarpster did not do that in any year. Should Mr. 

O’Loughlin have used PG&E’s litigation position forecast in its rate case application regardless 

of the outcome in the rate case? If so, Mr. Flarpster did not consistently do that. Indeed, Mr. 

Harpster did not consistently use any particular type of PG&E forecast as the basis for his 

imputed adopted amounts and he never used PG&E’s internal annual budget. As the following 

discussion shows, the types of documents Mr. Harpster used as sources for his imputed adopted 

amounts changed from rate case to rate case and even within individual rate case periods:

• Gas Accord I (1997-2002): Mr. Harpster did not base any of his imputed adopted 
amounts on internal PG&E budgets or forecasts. For expense, his imputed adopted 
amounts were based on the amounts adopted in the 1996 GRC and then escalated by 
factors that were unconnected to internal PG&E budgets or forecasts prepared during 
years in question. 672 For capital, he used a model-based approach that had no 
connection to PG&E’s internal forecasts during 1997 to 2002.

• Gas Accord I Extension/Gas Accord II (2003): Mr. Harpster based his imputed 
adopted amounts on a forecast PG&E created for the next rate case period after the 
rates already had been set by the Commission for 2003.

• 2004 Rate Case: Mr. Harpster did not base his imputed adopted amounts on PG&E’s 
litigation forecast or any internal budget. Instead, he based them on the O&M and 
capex amounts adopted by the Commission, which the Commission used to develop 
the adopted revenue requirement and rates. The adopted O&M and capex amounts 
were lower than PG&E’s litigation forecast amounts.

673

674

676

• Gas Accord III: Mr. Harpster did not base his imputed adopted amounts for 2005 on
and capex amounts 

He also did not base his imputed
PG&E’s litigation forecast, but rather on the lower O&M 
included in the settlement revenue requirement, 
adopted amounts for 2006 on PG&E’s litigation forecast, an internal budget 
document or any other detailed forecast, but rather increased the 2005 imputed 
adopted amounts by the escalation factor applied to the overall revenue requirement 
in the settlement agreement.

677

678 Mr. Harpster did the same for his 2007 imputed

671 See CPSD OB at 94.
672 Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 to 2-9 (CPSD/Harpster).

Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 to 2-9 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 to 2-9 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 116-18 (CPSD/Harpster). 
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 116-18 (CPSD/Harpster). 
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 124-26 (CPSD/Harpster). 
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 133-34 (CPSD/Harpster).
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675
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adopted O&M amount. 679 For his 2007 imputed adopted capex amount he used 
PG&E’s forecast submitted for the next rate case proceeding.

• Gas Accord IV: For O&M in 2008-2010, Mr. Flarpster based his imputed adopted 
amounts on PG&E’s litigation forecast prepared in 2007, which corresponded to

r o t

higher revenue requirements than the settlement revenue requirements. Fie did the 
same for capex in 2008 and 2009,682 but he used yet another forecast for 2010 capex - 
this one created in 2010 for the next rate case proceeding.

As this discussion shows, Mr. Harpster himself did not adhere to the principles that CPSD now

contends Mr. O’Loughlin should have followed.

The bottom line is that if CPSD is correct that the imputed adopted amounts should not 

be based on the O&M and capex amounts implicit in the settlement revenue requirements and 

rates, then this entire exercise is deeply flawed and contrary to its own articulated purpose. If, on 

the other hand, Mr. O’Loughlin is correct that the imputed adopted amounts should reflect as 

much as possible the relationship between (1) the adopted O&M and capex amounts, (2) th 

adopted revenue requirement and (3) the adopted rates, as in a fully litigated proceeding, Mr. 

O’Loughlin chose the best method for estimating the imputed adopted O&M and capex amounts. 

It is his very consistency in basing his imputed adopted amounts on the settlement revenue 

requirements and rates that CPSD tries to turn into a vice. Conversely, Mr. Harpster’s 

inconsistent approach - which included frequent methodological changes and picking and 

choosing of forecasts depending on which would cast PG&E’ s spending in the most negative 

light - renders his conclusions unreliable.

680

683

e

M r. O’ Loughlin’s Comparison Of PG&E’s Actual Costs To 
The Amounts Implicit In Rates Is Reasonable And Reliable 
Whereas M r. Harpster’s Is Not

c.

The section of CPSD’s brief comparing Mr. O’Loughlin’s imputed adopted analysis to 

Mr. Harpster’s is riddled with errors and reflects a misunderstanding of what the experts actually 

did. First, CPSD overstates the point when it says that there is “no disagreement between the

679 Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8, 2-10 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 134 (C PS D/Harp ster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 135 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8, 2-10 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 168-69 (CPSD/Harpster); see also PG&E OB at 130-32; Ex. 

PG&E-27 at 26 (Finding of Fact No. 11); Ex. PG&E-l 1, MPO-19 at 3.
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8, 2-10 (CPSD/Harpster); see also PG&E OB at 130-32.
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8, 2-11 to 2-12 (CPSD/Harpster); see also PG&E OB at 132-33.
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experts” with respect to PG&E’s actual costs except post -San Bruno O&M expenses.684 While 

this is true for capital expenditures, there are important differences between Mr. O’Loughlin and 

Mr. Harpster regarding actual O&M costs. The source of this disagreement is not the calculation 

of what PG&E spent but rather whether certain costs that PG&E incurred should be included 

when comparing PG&E’s actual costs to the imputed adopted amounts. Some of the key 

differences relating to actual O&M costs are:

• Mr. Harpster excluded from his O&M comparison all costs relating to customer 
accounts and services even though those were legitimate costs of the GT&S

z:oc

business. By excluding these costs, Mr. Harpster overstates the amount of alleged 
underspending compared to the imputed adopted O&M amounts by $23.3 million - 
over half of the total O&M underspending he found.

• The next most significant difference between the experts with regard to actual O&M 
costs relates to whether $21.8 million in O&M expenses incurred after the San Bruno 
accident in 2010 should be counted for comparison purposes. 687 CPSD is relying on 
Mr. Harpster’s testimony to support its recommendation that PG&E should be 
required to spend the specific amount of alleged O&M underspending Mr. Harpster 
found before seeking further rate recovery. 688 Since PG&E already has spent the 
$21.8 million in post-San Bruno costs, those costs should be included in the actual 
expenditures being compared to the imputed adopted amounts, 
would agree that other high level conclusions about its spending on GT&S should not 
turn on whether the post-San Bruno O&M costs are included, 690 the fact that PG&E’s 
spending in this one category of O&M expenses during the last four months of 2010 
represents more than half of the total underspending Mr. Harpster found over a 14 
year period underscores that he found comparatively little underspending overall 
(even if his analysis were correct).

686

689 While PG&E

691

• Mr. O’Loughlin excluded $10 million of compressor fuel costs from the actual costs 
he used in his comparison because PG&E recovered those costs through a separate in
kind shrinkage allowance, 
treatment of this issue,

692 Mr. Harpster criticized Mr. O’Loughlin for his 
but Mr. O’Loughlin’s conservative approach, which693

684 See CPSD OB at 92.
Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 36-38 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
Ex. PG&E-10, MPO- 1 at 37 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). Although customer account costs are not safety -related, as 

neither Mr. O ’Loughlin nor Mr. Harpster conducted an O&M comparison focusing only on safety -related work (see 
supra Section V.F.l.a), it is arbitrary to exclude customer account-related costs while including other categories of 
costs that do not affect safety.

Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 40-41 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
See Ex. CPSD-1 at 168 (Recommendation No. 31) (CPSD/Stepanian).
See Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 40 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); R.T. 563-64 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 40 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
See R.T. 565 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 39-40 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
See Ex. CPSD-170 at 104-05 (CPSD/Harpster).
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reduced the amount of overspending he found , reflects the integrity of his overall 
analysis.

Second, CPSD’s comparison of the experts’ methodologies by rate case period 

mischaracterizes Mr. O’Loughlin’s testimony and fails to acknowledge the flaws in Mr. 

Harpster’s approach:

Gas Accord I (1997-2002): CPSD asserts there is “no significant difference” between 

the experts’ approach during this period (other than the treatment of Line 401 costs, discussed 

below).695 This is wrong. In deriving his imputed adopted O&M amounts for the Gas Accord I 

period, Mr. Harpster deviated from the actual settlement documents and applied his own 

arbitrary view of what he deems “sound cost of service principles” when he improperly escalated

This caused him to overstate the imputed

694

6961997 imputed adopted O&M costs by 2.5%. 

adopted O&M amounts for 1997 to 2002.

CPSD’s discussion of the Line 401 issue

697

698 is much ado about very little. Mr. 

O’Loughlin included only a portion of the Line 401 O&M costs in his imputed adopted O&M 

amounts during the Gas Accord I period to be consistent with the terms of the settlement, which 

did not provide for full recovery of the Line 401 revenue requirement in non-core on-system 

backbone rates.699 Even assuming that Mr. O’Loughlin’s treatment of Line 401 costs during this 

period were incorrect, Mr. Harpster testified that Mr. O’Loughlin’s treatment of Line 401 O&M

With respect to the capex700costs had “a relatively small impact on the O&M comparison.”

694 CPSD OB at 95-101.
CPSD OB at 95.
PG&E OB at 124-25; Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-9 (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. CPSD-170 at 29 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 90- 91 

(CPSD/Harpster).
See PG&E OB at 124-25, 135 n.749; Ex. PG&E-10, MPO- 1 at 26 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. CPSD-170 at 31 

(CPSD/Harpster). Furthemiore, Mr. O’Loughlin’s imputed adopted capex amounts during this period were $34 
million higher than Mr. Harpster’s (see Ex. CPSD-170 at 32 (CPSD/Harpster)), reflecting that Mr. O’Loughlin 
stayed as close as possible to the settlement revenue requirements and rates even when that resulted in higher 
imputed adopted amounts. See Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 49-50 (PG&E/O’Loughlin) (explaining that Overland used 
“assumptions and methodologies that are inconsistent with the settlement”); Ex. PG&E 
(PG&E/O’Loughlin) (explaining how Mr. O’Loughlin determined the imputed adopted capex amounts consistent 
with the revenue requirements and rate bases adopted in the Gas Accord I settlement).

See CPSD OB at 101-03.
Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 35- 36 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. PG&E -13 at 38; Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-3 at 4- 6

(PG&E/O’Loughlin); R.T. 577-78 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
Ex. CPSD-170 at 17 (CPSD/Harpster). If Mr. O’Loughlin had included all Line 401 O&M costs in his imputed 

adopted amounts during Gas Accord I, his imputed adopted O&M amounts would have been $8.3 million higher 
(and therefore the amount of overspending he found would have been approximately $35 million). See Ex. PGE-10, 
MPO-1 at 19, 36 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. CPSD-170 at 17 (CPSD/Harpster).

695

696

697

-10, MPO-4 at 1- 2

698

699
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comparison, Mr. O’Loughlin’s partial roll -in Line 401 costs during Gas Accord I had no effect. 

Mr. Harpster explained in his prepared rebuttal testimony:

Q: Does the Line 401 phase- in issue raised by Mr. O’Loughlin 
have any impact on the comparison of adopted and actual capital 
expenditures?

A: No. The issue does not have any impact on adopted or 
actual capital expenditures.

Gas Accord I Extension/Gas Accord II (2003): CPSD’s principal criticism of Mr.
» 702

701

O’Loughlin is that he “assumed that 2003 was simply an extension of the Gas Accord I.

that is exactly what it was. The heading above the substantive provisions of the 2003 settlement

agreement reads: “One -Year Extension of Gas Accord Rates and Terms and Conditions of

The first provision there under provides:

The existing market structure, rates, tariffs, terms and conditions of 
service for the PG&E gas transmission and storage system, as 
adopted in the Gas Accord [i.e., Gas Accord I]... will be extended 
for the Gas Accord II period.

Yet

3->703Service.

704

The Commission’s decision approving the 2003 settlement reiterated that the settlement “would 

extend, for a one-year term ... the existing, Commission-approved market structure, rates, 

tariffs, and terms and conditions of service, for PG&E’s gas transmission and storage system.

The Commission explained that “[ejxtension of the Gas Accord for an additional year will confer 

commercial certainty over how PG&E’s gas and transmission market structure will work in the 

coming year, and what rates customers can expect.”

„ 705

706 Mr. O’Loughlin’s imputed adopted

701 Ex. CPSD-170 at 16 (CPSD/Harpster). This is because both Mr. O’Loughlin and Mr. Harpster assumed there 
would be no capital expenditures associated with Line 401 during the Gas Accord I period 
Harpster stated was reasonable because the pipeline was relatively new at the time.
(CPSD/Harpster) (“Assuming zero capex for Line 401 was reasonable because Line 401 was new.”); Ex. PGE -10, 
MPO-4 at 5 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). Furthermore, there is no basis for CPSD’s suggestion that the effect of the Line 
401 roll-in issue on Mr. O’Loughlin’s calculated revenue requirement for the Gas Ac cord I period somehow calls 
into question his entire imputed adopted analysis. See CPSD OB at 103. As discussed infra in note 741, this issue 
is a red herring because there are many other factors that explain how PG&E could have spent more than the 
imputed adopted amounts while at the same time GT&S generated more revenues than needed to earn the authorized 
rate of return.

CPSD OB at 96.
Ex. PG&E-16 at 5.
Ex. PG&E-16 at 5.
Ex. PG&E-17 at 1; see also id. at 20 (Finding of Fact No. 4).
Ex. PG&E-17 at 21 (Finding of Fact No. 14).

an assumption Mr. 
See Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-9 n.32
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707amounts for 2003 give effect to these terms of the settlement agreement.

Harpster’s decision to use a forecast created for the next rate case period - after the Commission 

set the rates for 2003 - is in consistent with the terms of the settlement and the Commission’s 

decision approving it.

2004 Rate Case: CPSD is correct that Messrs. O’Loughlin and Harpster did not need to 

impute the adopted amounts for 2004 because there was a full Commission decision on the 

merits for that year. CPSD is wrong, however, that the fact that PG&E spent less than the 2004 

adopted amounts somehow reflects on the quality of Mr. O’Loughlin’s overall analysis. Most of 

the underspending in that year was due to the delay of two large, non-safety-related capital 

projects.709 Moreover, by basing his imputed adopted amounts for the other years on the 

settlement revenue requirements and rates, Mr. O’Loughlin’s method most closely replicated 

what the Commission did in its 2004 rate case decision where it used the adopted O&M and 

capex amounts (which reflected adjustments the Commission made to PG&E’s litigation 

forecast) to calculate the revenue requirement and rates.

Gas Accord III (2005-2007): CPSD is correct that the Gas Accord III settlement

included fairly detailed cost of service information supporting the settlement revenue 

requirement for 2005, but provided less information regarding the underlying O&M and capex 

amounts supporting the settlement revenue requirements for 2006 and 2007. But the settlement 

materials are not “silent” regarding how the imputed adopted amounts should be calculated for 

2006 and 2007 as CPSD claims. 711 The settlement materials include revenue requirements for 

those years and, in the “comparison matrix” provided to the Commission with the proposed 

settlement, indicate that the O&M and capex amounts were to escalate at the same rates as the 

revenue requirements.712 Mr. O’Loughlin closely followed these provisions in calculating his 

imputed adopted amounts for 2006 and 2007. 713 In contrast, Mr. Harpster based his imputed 

adopted capex amount for 2007 on a forecast prepared years after the Gas Accord III

In contrast, Mr.

708

710

707 See Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 27-30, 50-51 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
See PG&E OB at 125-26; R.T. 110 (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 31 (Figure 7) 

(PG&E/O’Loughlin).
R.T. 552 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
See R.T. 116-20 (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. PG&E-19 at 205-08, 216-22.

711 See CPSD OB at 97.
712 See Ex. PG&E-21 at 7; Ex. PG&E-20 at 5, 7.

Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-3 at 11 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-4 at 9-13 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
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settlement.714 Even he conceded that this amount was much higher than the amount actually 

used in rates in 2007.

Gas Accord IV (2008-2010): As PG&E explained in its opening brief,

Accord IV period presents the starkest differences between Mr. Harpster and Mr. O’Loughlin’s 

methods because Mr. O’Loughlin’s imputed adopted amounts were directly tied to the settlement 

revenue requirements and rates whereas Mr. Harpster’s were not. 717 Mr. O’Loughlin certainly 

did not admit, as CPSD asserts, that there was “no basis in the Gas Accord IV Settlement” for his 

imputed adopted amounts.718 Mr. O’Loughlin carefully estimated the imputed adopted amounts 

that most closely correspond to the total revenue requirements and revenue requirement 

escalation factors set forth in the Gas Accord IV settlement. 719 To assist the Commission in 

assessing the reasonableness of the Gas Accord IV settlement (including the settlement revenue

715

716 the Gas

requirements and revenue requirement escalation factors), PG&E provided a “litigation 

forecast,” which represented the cost of service forecast that it would hav e filed if the case had 

been litigated, i.e., prior to any negotiated concessions. 720 Mr. Harpster’s imputed adopted 

amounts are unreasonable on their face because he uses the O&M and capex amounts in PG&E’s

“litigation forecast” even though those amounts d id not reflect any of the concessions PG&E 

made during the settlement process. Because Mr. Harpster’s imputed adopted amounts are based

on the litigation forecast and not the settlement revenue requirements, they correspond to rates 

that the Commission found, and TURN emphasized, were much higher than the actual rates

723 Theadopted in the settlement and the Commission’s decision approving the settlement.

Overland Report itself shows that the settlement revenue requirement was $11 million less than

714 PG&E OB at 127-29; Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 52-53 & fig. 14 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
R.T. 71, 138-39, 141, 144-45 (CPSD/Harpster); see also PG&E OB at 128.

716 PG&E OB at 134.
Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 56- 57 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. PG&E -10, MPO- 3 at 12 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. 

PG&E-10, MPO-4 at 13 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 (Table 2-3) (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. PG&E-27 at 
26 (Finding of Fact No. 11). See generally PG&E OB at 129-34.

See CPSD OB at 98.
719 Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-3 at 12 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-4 at 13 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. PG&E- 
26 at 6.

Ex. PG&E-25 at 3.
721 Ex. PG&E- 27 at 26 (Finding of Fact No. 11) (“As compared to PG&E’s litigation position, the Settlement 
Agreement’s revenue requirements and rates are much lower for all three years.”).
722 Ex. PG&E-l 1, MPO-19 at 2 (fact that settlement rates were lower than the rates that PG&E would have 
requested absent a settlement was one of TURN’S “substantial contributions”).
723 See also R.T. 168-69 (CPSD/Harpster); PG&E OB at 130-31.
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the litigation forecast revenue requirement in 2008, $25 million less in 2009, and $39 million 

less in 2010. 724 Mr. Harpster admitted that if PG&E’s litigation forecast had been used to 

calculate rates, the rates would have been much higher. 725 Further deviating from the settlement, 

Mr. Flarpster took yet another approach to determine his imputed adopted capex amount for 

2010. Fie did not use the litigation forecast amount but instead a much higher forecast for 2010

Mr. Flarpster acknowledged that he used a726from the Gas Accord V proceeding, 

contemporaneous forecast for 2010 capex - which was prepared years after rates were set for 

2010 - only because the 2010 capex amount in the Gas Accord IV litigation forecast was, in his 

opinion, too low.727 Fie further admitted that his 2010 imputed adopted capex amount was not in 

rates in 2010. 728

CPSD nonetheless contends that Mr. O’Lough 1 in’s imputed adopted amounts for 2008 -

2010 are unreasonable because PG&E actually spent much more. This argument does not apply 

to O&M expenses, as Mr. O’Loughlin found only slight overspending compared to his imputed 

adopted amounts in 2008 and 2009. 729 With respect to capital, Mr. O’Loughlin did find

significant overspending compared to the imputed adopted amounts in 2008 to 2010. But that 

fact alone cannot call into question Mr. O’Loughlin’s analysis, since his imputed adopted 

amounts are directly connected to the settlement revenue requirements. If actual spending is the 

test for whether the imputed adopted amounts are accurate, the entire exercise is circular. This is 

an example of CPSD wanting it both ways: it challenges Mr. O’Loughlin’s imputed adopted 

numbers because they are different from PG&E’s actual expenditures only when PG&E spent 

more than his imputed adopted amounts (as in 2008-20 10), not when PG&E spent less (as with 

capex m 1998-2000). Furthermore, the fact that PG&E’s internal documents do not discuss 

the capex overspending in 2008 to 2010 likely reflects that PG&E’s budgeting process was 

focused on spending compared to plan, and not necessarily on how actual expenditures compared

724 Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-10 (Table 2-4) (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 160-61 (CPSD/Harpster).
725 R.T. 168-69 (CPSD/Harpster).
726 Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-8 (Table 2-3) (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 174 (CPSD/Harpster).
727 R.T. 171 (CPSD/Harpster); PG&E OB at 132.

R.T. 172 (CPSD/Harpster).
729 See Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 19 (Figure 4) (PG&E/O’Loughlin).

See Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 43 (Figure 10) (PG&E/O’Loughlin); see also PG&E OB at 133-34 (discussing how 
using more than one forecast for the same rate case period tends to bias the result, particularly when done to increase 
the imputed adopted amount in a particular year).
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731to the O&M or capex amounts implicit in the adopted rates, 

evidence purportedly showing that PG&E “was cutting GT&S budgets” during 2008 to 2010 

somehow undercuts the validity of Mr. O’Loughlin’s imputed adopted capex amounts has no 

support in the record. CPSD offered no evidence that GT&S capital budgets were constrained

and Mr. Harpster himself found that PG&E spent over $26.5 million 

more than the imputed adopted amounts for safety-related capex during that period.

Lastly, CPSD’s argument that
732

733during 2008 to 2010
734

2. CPSD Did Not Prove That PG&E Should Be Penalized Based On the 
Returns Of Its GT&S Business

PG&E does not dispute that GT&S viewed as a standalone business generated more 

revenues than its actual cost of service or that it earned, on average, more than the authorized

-called “surplus” revenues “should be 

TURN suggests that the “surplus” reve nues

But CPSD does not

735rate of return.

considered during the fines and remedies phase, 

are somehow relevant to the allocation of costs in the PSEP proceeding, 

allege any violation based on GT&S’s revenues and returns and no party provides a basis for 

penalizing PG&E based on the past performance of GT&S.

CPSD contends that GT&S’s so
„ 736

737

Both experts agree that most of the so- called “surplus” GT&S revenues were generated

PG&E was entirely at738by PG&E’s market storage business (parking and lending in particular), 

risk for the costs of its market storage business, and the Commission approved a pricing structure 

for market storage that permitted PG&E to earn more than its cost of service if external market

731 See Ex. CPSD-278 (OCHP-18). Regulatory funding levels were available as a data point in the budgeting and 
planning process, but budgets were ultimately set according to PG&E’s operating priorities rather than by the 
revenue source. Ex. PG&E-10, MPO- 1 at 79 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); see also Ex. CPSD-304 at 14-1 (in setting 
budgets “management looks across the entire utility to allocate funds to those areas that require additional 
resources”).
732 See CPSD OB at 101.
733 See infra Section V.F.3.C.
734 Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 (Table 4-2) (CPSD/Harpster).
735 See PG&E OB at 138.
736 See CPSD OB at 103 n. 113.
(recommending that PG&E be required to “use the $429,841,000 in revenue c ollected since 1999 that is above and 
beyond what it required to earn its authorized return on equity, to fund future gas transmission and storage 
operations before it seeks additional ratepayer funds going forward”).

See TURN OB at 1-2,31-33.
See PG&E OB at 139-40; Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 64 (Figure 17), 68-70 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. CPSD-170 at 

134, 136-37 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 219 (CPSD/Harpster).

See also Ex. CPSD-1 at 168 (Recommendation No. 33) (CPSD/Stepanian)

737
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conditions allowed.739 CPSD mistakenly suggests that the “surplus” revenues must be at least 

partly the result of PG&E spending less than the imputed adopted O&M and capex amounts. 

CPSD appears to assume that GT&S’s returns can be explained only by either GT&S having 

higher revenues than needed to cover its authorized cost of service or PG&E having spent less

740

than the imputed adopted O&M and capex amounts. In fact, as Mr. Harpster acknowledged, 

many other factors having nothing to do with spending on safety-related work could have 

affected GT&S’s returns. 741 CPSD did not establish any inconsistency between Mr. 

O’Loughlin’s finding both overspending and returns above the authorized rates.

CPSD and other parties also contend that PG&E “diverted” GT&S revenues to what they 

deem to be inappropriate uses, but they offer no proof. 742 As an initial matter, there is nothing 

improper with PG&E using a portion of G T&S revenues to fund other aspects of PG&E’s 

business. As DRA explains, “[itemized cost -recovery requests used in general rate cases 

(whether adjudicated or settled) have no bearing on how PG&E spends the money it collects;
„ 743how PG&E spends its money is u p to PG&E.

possible to trace how particular revenues are used (as money is fungible), 

utility as a whole earned rates of return that were consistent with the authorized rates of return 

indicates that any GT&S revenues not spent within GT&S were used for other utility 

operations.

And while both experts agree that it is not

the fact that the744

745

CPSD relies on an excerpt from PG&E’s testimony in the 2011 General Rate Case to 

support its contention that “PG&E diverted revenues from safety budgets to cover a r eserve for

CPSD argues that3-> 746PG&E’s electric business and to fulfill shareholders’ earning expectations.

739 See PG&E OB at 138-39; Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 11, 62, 71-75 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
See CPSD OB at 103.

741 R.T. 218 (CPSD/Harpster). As PG&E explained in its opening brief, a difference between (1) what was assumed 
for the adopted revenue requirement and (2) the actual result for any component of the revenue requirement could 
result in higher than authorized returns. See PG&E OB at 142 n.792. Mr. Harpster identified federal bonus tax 
depreciation as one of the factors “driving the high GT&S ROE.” Ex. CPSD -168 at 5-3 (CPSD/Harpster). But he 
never quantified the effect of bonus tax depreciation on GT&S’s return s. R.T. 217 (CPSD/Harpster). He also did 
not quantify the effect of any of the other factors that he conceded could have affected GT&S’s returns because, he 
asserted, “it would be difficult to quantify and identify, break down that $435 million differenc e precisely by causal 
factor.” R.T. 218 (CPSD/Harpster).
742 See CPSD OB at 104; San Bruno OB at 34-37; TURN OB at 33.
743 DRA OB at 30.
744 R.T. 210-11 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 649-50 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
745 Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 83 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
746 CPSD OB at 104 (original in heading format).
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the high level description in the GRC testimony of PG&E’s budgeting and planning priorities 

proves that PG&E prioritized financial performance over safety, because, according to CPSD,

But counting bullet points and747the document lists “only one bullet which addresses safety.” 

jumping to sweeping conclusions from a few words in a single document are not a substitute for

actual, substantial evidence, which CPSD lacks.748 Furthermore, CPSD’s description of PG&E’s 

reserve fund is misleading. PG&E’s GRC testimony never states that PG&E “had taken 

funds”749 from GT&S’s budget for a reserve fund for the rest of the utility 750 and, even if it had, 

it was prudent for PG&E to have funds available to address unplanned contingencies in whatever 

line of business they occurred. CPSD’s further assertion that “[njowhere does PG&E ever 

indicate that, prior to the San Bruno explosion, funds were transferred to GT&S to help improve 

the safety of PG&E gas transmission system” 751 is also incorrect. Although the GRC testimony 

that CPSD cites does not provide information about the use of the contingency or reserve fund 

since it was established in 2007, PG&E provided CPSD’s consultant Overland precisely that 

information in discovery prior to the hearings in this proceeding. As PG&E said in that data 

request response, GT&S requested and received $4.9 million in expense contingency funding in 

2007 to pay for additional integrity management inspections, emergency repairs, and other 

related work. 752 GT&S also received additional expense and capital funding from the reserve 

fund in 2010.753

TURN asserts that there is “ample evidence that much of this overeaming did not support 

the provision of utility service to customers.”754 This purported “ample evidence” consists of (1)

747 See CPSD OB at 105.
In fact, a close reading of Table 14-1 does not reflect an undue focus on financial goals. As described there, 

PG&E’s goal of staying “on budget, on plan and on purpose” focuses just as much if not more on “operational 
benefits for our customers” and “investing in infrastructure” than it does on shareholder benefits. Moreover, 
“improving safety and human performance” is listed among the highest priorities. See Ex. CPSD-304 at 14-5.

See CPSD OB at 106.
See Ex. CPSD-304 at 14- 2 (“The Company sets aside an un -allocated reserve of funds for unforeseen events 

during the year requiring a timely and flexible response outside the standard planning and budgeting process.”).
751 CPSD OB at 106.
752 See PG&E’s response to OC 008 -209. Prior to CPSD’s opening brief, PG&E had no notice that CPSD was 
making any allegations regarding PG&E’s contingency or reserve fund.
753 See PG&E’s response to OC_008-209.
754 TURN OB at 33. TURN also purports to reserve the right to comment in its reply brief on evidence regarding 
how GT&S was able to earn more, on average, than the authorized rate of return. TURN OB at 32. TURN should 
not be allowed to wait until its reply to raise new issues so that PG&E will have no opportunity to respond. 
Furthermore, TURN mischaracterizes Mr. Harpster’s finding that GT&S generated $435 million more in revenues

See Ex. CPSD-170 at 10 (Table 3-6)

748

749

750

from 1999 to 2010 than needed to earn the authorized rate of return.
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a reference to TURN’S own prior criticisms of PG&E’s alleged “lavish” spending on “projects of 

dubious value to ratepayers”; 755 and (2) the fact that PG&E earned 168 basis points more than 

the authorized return on equity on a cumulative basis from 2004 to 2010. 

support in the record and is unconnected to any evidence about the use of GT&S revenues. The 

latter is a very thin reed on which to try to hang a penalty or adverse finding. The cumulative 

168 basis point difference TURN identifies between PG&E’s reported and authorized returns 

over the seven year period from 2004 to 2010 amounts to 24 basis points per year or a 0.24% 

difference in annual returns ( i.e., the average reported rate of return was 0.24% higher than the 

average authorized rate of return). Focusing on the combined gas business only (gas 

transmission and gas distribution), from 2004 to 2010 PG&E cumulatively earned only 24 basis 

points more than the authorized return on rate base, or 0.03% on an annual basis, 

difference is so tiny that it would have been difficult for PG&E to have come any closer to 

earning exactly the authorized return on rate base. What is more, in 2008 to 2010 

during which the parties contend that PG&E unnecessarily constrained GT&S’s expense 

budgets - the combined gas business cumulatively earned 104 basis points 

authorized return on rate base (or 0.35% less on an annual basis). All of this evidence strongly 

indicates that any GT&S revenues not spent within GT&S during those years were used to fund 

gas distribution - hardly an improper use of funds.

For its part, CPSD tries to flip the burden of p roof with its argument that Mr. O’Loughlin 

admitted that it was not possible to trace the precise use of the GT&S revenues that were not 

spent within GT&S.

756 The former lacks

757 This

the years

less than the

759 Neither CPSD nor any other party has offered evidence that GT&S 

revenues were used for a purpose t hat would reflect negatively on PG&E’s safety culture or 

support a penalty against PG&E. CPSD seems to think that all it has to do is refer to the fact that 

PG&E paid dividends, officer bonuses, engaged in public relations, or spent money on ballot

(CPSD/Harpster); Ex. CPSD-168 at 5-2 (Table 5-2) (CPSD/Harpster) (showing earlier calculation of $430 million). 
TURN mistakenly describes this amount as “shareholder profits.” See TURN OB at 32. In the first place, the $435 
million represents revenues not profits. Second, GT&S does not have “shareholders” or any actual “profits.” GT&S 
is not an independent company, and any analysis of its revenues and returns needs to take into account the returns of 
the utility as a whole. See PG&E OB at 143-44; Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 79, 82 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
755 TURN OB at 33.
756 TURN OB at 33.

See Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 81 (Figure 24) (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
See Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 81 (Figure 24) (PG&E/O’Loughlin).

159 See CPSD OB at 105.

757

758

136

SB GT&S 0486627



initiatives to prove that PG&E used GT&S revenues for improper purposes. 760 There is no proof 

either that GT&S funds were used for those purposes or, even if there were, that such uses were 

somehow improper and warrant penalizing PG&E. 761

3. CPSD Did Not Prove That PG&E Placed Profits Over Safety

As discussed above, CPSD now alleges a separate violation of Section 451 for PG&E’s 

purported “failure to place safety over profits” based on a hodge -podge of accusations including 

that PG&E “reduc[ed] safety -related budgets,” “prematurely end[ed] its transmission pipeline 

replacement program,” “us[ed] less effective and cheaper IM tools,” and “reduc[ed] safety - 

related personnel.”762 While CPSD quotes generously from the Overland Report and internal 

PG&E documents to try to paint a picture of a company with a flawed safety culture, it never 

explains with any specificity which decisions or conduct by PG&E violated the law or offers any 

proof that PG&E “fail[ed] to place safety over profits.”

The Overland Report Cannot Prove That PG&E Operated An 
Unsafe System

a.

CPSD’s purported showing that PG&E operated an unsafe system in violation of Section 

451 relies heavily on the Overland Report. DRA’s discussion of PG&E’s safety culture and 

financial priorities also draws extensively on the Overland Report. The Overland Report cannot 

satisfy CPSD’s burden of proof. As discussed above, Overland and its lead consultant Gary 

Harpster reviewed PG&E’s gas transmission business from a “financial and ratemaking 

perspective.”763 They were never asked to conduct an operational safety analysis and they would

Mr. Harpster is an accountant who764not have been qualified to do one if they had been.

760 See CPSD OB at 83; Ex. CPSD-1 at 140- 44 (CPSD/Stepanian) (discussing alleged “possible redirections of
operational revenues”); see also San Bruno OB at 34-37 (discussing executive compensation).
761 For example, CPSD’s own expert agrees that it is important f or PG&E to pay a dividend to ensure efficient 
access to the equity markets to fund capital improvements. See R.T. 1379 (CPSD/Malko) (discussing importance of 
PG&E paying a healthy dividend to attract investors and describing dividend payout ratio as “impo rtant given that 
we are talking primarily about income stocks”).
762 CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
763 R.T. 56 (CPSD/Harpster).
764 See Ex. CPSD-168 at 2- 6 (CPSD/Harpster) (“This audit assesses gas safety issues from a financial perspective 
and is intended to complement, rather than duplicate, the engineering and operations analysis conducted by the 
CPSD Staff, the IRP and the NTSB.”); R.T. 237-38 (CPSD/Harpster).
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765specializes in “regulatory accounting and ratemaking,” 

include any engineers.

Consistent with Mr. Harpster’s expertise in regulatory accounting rather than gas 

engineering, the Overland Report does not analyze any single budgeting decision in depth to 

determine whether safety was impaired. Instead, the Overland Report’s high -level conclusions, 

such as that PG&E’s alleged “consistent underspending on transmission O&M has negative 

implications for gas pipeline safety,” 767 are either predicated on Mr. Harpster’s flawed 

conclusion that PG&E spent less than the imputed adopted amounts or are nothing more than 

conjecture. At most, Mr. Harpster’s conclusions are based on his reading of PG&E documents, 

which was not informed by engineering expertise or in-depth analysis to determine whether any 

decisions relating to specific projects or w ork actually impaired safety. In Mr. Harpster’s own 

words, “Overland’s approach was to survey the available documentation and focus on the most 

readily apparent indications of resource adequacy.

Mr. Harpster jumps to conclusions without either the expertise or analysis to support 

them. Not surprisingly, consistent with his own description of Overland’s methodology, Mr. 

Harpster’s conclusions are often framed in terms of what his reading of particular documents 

“indicates,” “suggests” or “implies.” 769 Stringing together quotations from documents in which 

employees identify potential risks does not prove that any particular actions taken by PG&E 

actually jeopardized safety. This is especially true here because, as discussed below, employees

and his supporting team did not
766

„768

765 Ex. CPSD-170, Attachment A at 1 (CPSD/Harpster).
R.T. 237-38 (CPSD/Harpster).

767 See Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-1 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 2-14 (CPSD/Harpster) (emphasis added).
For example, Mr. Harpster concludes that one short statement in a single document about PG&E’s response to 

the TIMP audit “is an indication” of a backlog of integrity management work that, in turn, “implies” staffing 
shortages. See Ex. CPSD-168 at 9-14 to 9-15 (CPSD/Harpster) (citing Ex. CPSD-197 at OC-92 Attachment 4). As 
DRA describes, “the Overland Audit surmises that Integrity Management resources were constrained.” DRA OB at 
56 (emphasis added). As another example, Mr. Harpster concluded that the “ 
implies resource constraints in pipeline maintenance. ” Ex. CPSD -168 at 3-8 (CPSD/Harpster) (bold emphasis 
added). This conclusion is based solely on the percentage by which PG&E’s costs in Major Work Category BX 
grew over a 14 year period, not any analysis of the amount of work completed or whether PG&E was able to contain 
costs through efficiencies. See also, e.g. , id. at 6- 6 (“gas distribution headcount reductions and safety-related 
deficiencies have negative implications for local transmission pipeline safety ”) (bold emphasis added); id. at 6-16 
(“the evidence suggests risk management continued to be a separate program in name only 
added); id. at 6-19 (“The large number of leaks discovered in the 2009 and 2010 special leak surveys indicates that 
leak survey resources were inadequate in prior years 
management prob lems in PG&E’S gas distribution divisions implicate local transmission safety and indicate safety- 
related resource constraints.”) (bold emphasis added).

766

768

769

low rate of increase in BX costs

”) (bold emphasis

.”) (bold emphasis added); id. at 7- 5 (“ The significant
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were encouraged to identify risks and concerns as a matter of course in reports addressing 

budgeting and planning issues. That Overland’s approach proves to be superficial and broad - 

brush is not surprising given Mr. Harpster’s lack of engineering and operational experti se but it 

is insufficient to satisfy CPSD’s burden of proof here.

CPSD Did Not Prove That GT&S Staffing Levels Contributed 
To An Unsafe Gas Transmission System

b.

In its post- hearing brief, CPSD alleges for the first time that PG&E’s reduction of its 

“safety-related workforce” contributed to creating an unreasonably unsafe system in violation of 

Section 451.770 CPSD’s showing, which is based entirely on Mr. Harpster’s review of headcount 

data in the Overland Report, falls far short of proving that PG&E’s staff ng levels created an 

unsafe gas transmission system.

First, it is impossible to draw any meaningful conclusions from employee headcount 

numbers without knowing more about the underlying work and who is performing what type of 

work. Thus, for example, the mere fact that GT&S union headcount declined by 64 people from 

1996 to 2010,771 without more analysis, does not reflect on the safety of the gas transmission 

system one way or the other. Mr. Harpster himself found that the headcount reductions between 

1996 and 2000 “made PG&E’s workforce more cost effective.” 772 Furthermore, PG&E’s non

union GT&S headcount, including engineers, increased by 25 during the same period, 

fact that overall gas distribution headcount declined is equally inconclusive, particularly as this 

reflected at least in part a decline in new home construction and an increase in developers using 

their own crews to install gas facilities in new subdivisions, 

analysis ignores the use of outside contractors, 

management assessments and other transmission pipeline projects.

773 The

774 More important, Overland’s 

who play an important role in integrity 

According to a 2009

775

776

770 See CPSD OB at 83.
771 Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-1 (Table 6-1) (CPSD/Harpster).
772 Ex. CPSD-168 at 7-1 (CPSD/Harpster) (citing a third party consultant’s review of PG&E staffing).

Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-3 (Table 6-2) (CPSD/Harpster).
774 See Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-6 (CPSD/Harpster).

See Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-1 to 6-6 (CPSD/Harpster) (failing to include any non-employee staffing).
776 See, e.g. , Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259 Attachment 4, p. 9 (identifying contractor availability as concern in 
scheduling integrity management assessments).

773

775

139

SB GT&S 0486630



777PG&E document, 62% of gas transmission capital projects were done by contractors, 

considering contractor staffing, Overland presents an incomplete picture at best.

Second, to the extent the numbers cited in the Overland Report are to be relied on at all, 

they show that PG&E increased headcount in important safety-related areas. Overland found 

that the non-union headcount in the GT&S risk management and integrity management 

organizations increased from 9 in 1996 to 32 in 2010. 

headcount (union and non-union) almost tripled from 2004 to 2010. 

engineering staffing, including pipeline engineers, increased from 64 in 1996 to 89 in 2010. 

Gas systems operations non-union staffing remained relatively stable from 1998 to 2010. 

Conversely, the non-union headcount in the marketing organization 

with safety - decreased from 61 in 1996 to 47 in 2010.

Without

778 PG&E’s overall integrity management 

Other non-union779

780

781

which has nothing to do
782

CPSD Did Not Prove That PG&E Underfunded GT&S Safety- 
Related Capital Expenditures Or That The Implementation Of 
The Risk Management Program Contributed To An Unsafe 
System

c.

GT&S’s capital budgets include, a mong other things, pipeline replacement, the capital 

portion of the integrity management program ( e.g., upgrades to make lines piggable), and other 

safety-related work, as well as a significant amount of non-safety work ( 

construction to increase capacity and work requested by others). CPSD has not proven that 

PG&E’s capital safety budgets were constrained at any point from 1997 to 2010 (the time period

e.g., pipeline

analyzed by Mr. Harpster). Mr. Harpster explicitly stated in the Overland Report that he did not

Furthermore, as already discussed, he also„ 783find “significant budget constraints prior to 2007. 

found that PG&E spent more than the imputed adopted amounts for safety-related capital

expenditures from 2003 to 2010 and he offered no opinion about whether PG&E underspent

in Ex. CPSD-224 at OC-257 Attachment 2, p. 37 (showing 62% of gas transmission capital work and 18% of gas 
transmission expense work done by contractors).

Ex. CPSD-168 at 6- 3 (CPSD/Harpster). According to Overland, this increase “implies some degree of
willingness to increase staffing as work load increases.” Id.
779 Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-4 (Table 6-3) (CPSD/Harpster).

Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-3 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-3 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-3 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-4 (CPSD/Harpster).

778

780

781

782

783

140

SB GT&S 0486631



784prior to 2003 on safety-related capex compared to the imputed adopted amounts.

O’Loughlin, whose imputed adopted analysis is much more reliable in any event, found that 

PG&E spent $63 million more than the imputed adopted safety-related capex amounts from 2004 

to 2010.

Mr.

785

CPSD’s and especially DRA’s briefs extensively cite and quote the portions of the 

Overland Report addressing purported budgetary constraints in the 2008 through 2010 budget 

years. Although it is not clear from their briefs, the evidence on which they rely relates almost

Thus, Mr. Harpster found evidence of786entirely to GT&S’s O&M expense budgets, not capital.

“significant pressure to reduce expenses” in 2008 through 2010, but did not make a similar

finding regarding capital.787 To the contrary, he found that PG&E spent more than the imputed 

adopted safety-related capex in each year from 2007 through 20 1 0. 788 Indeed, according to Mr.

Harpster, PG&E spent 23% more than the imputed adopted safety-related capex in 2008 through 

the same years that are the focus of the evidence cited by CPSD and DRA. The 

Overland Report identifies only one instance in which GT&S was asked to reduce its capital 

budget during those years. With regard to that situation, which involved the transfer of part of 

GT&S’s capital budget to fund gas and electric distribution operations, Mr. Harpster concluded 

that the “capital budget cuts did not adversely impact pipeline safety compared to the initial
„790

7892010

budget.

Notwithstanding this evidence that GT&S’s capital budgets were not constrained during 

the period analyzed by Mr. Harpster - which is the only period addressed by any substantial

CPSD now asserts, for the first time, that PG&E somehow 

contributed to a violation of Section 451 by “prematurely ending its transmission pipeline

791evidence in the record

784 See supra Section V.F. 1 .a.
Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 46-47 (PG&E/O’Loughlin).
See Ex. CPSD-168, Chapters 7-9 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-4 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 (Table 4-2) (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 (Table 4-2) (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-5 (CPSD/Harpster); see also id. at 8-9 to 8-10.

791 It is also the only time period during which CPSD alleges a safety culture violation.
Appendix C at 10. San Bruno’s brief, however, quotes a draft presentation to management (which apparently never 
was finalized or presented) that references “[cjapital budget reductions” in the early 1980s. See San Bruno OB at 34 
(citing Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 3 at 2); see also Ex. CPSD-165 at 99- 100 (“I do not recall that we ever had this 
presentation take place.”). As CPSD does not even allege a safety culture violation prior to 1998, and there is no 
evidence in the record providing context for PG&E’s bud 
Commission should disregard random references to older documents.

785

786

787

788

789

790

See CPSD OB, Revised

geting and spending prior to the late 1990s, the

141

SB GT&S 0486632



792replacement plan” in 2000.

PG&E’s decision to implement its transmission risk management program (RMP).

Contrary to CPSD and DRA’s contention that PG&E moved transmission pipe out of the 

GPRP and into its new RMP solely as a cost reduction initiative,794 PG&E developed the RMP to 

improve and expand the operational processes related to managing gas transmission system

PG&E’s risk management model provided a more comprehensive way of evaluating 

risks and consequences and afforded more mitigation and prevention strategies for the entire gas 

transmission system than the GPRP, which was focused solely on replacing specific types of pre- 

PG&E’s development of the RMP anticipated the regulatory and industry 

movement toward a risk management approach, which ultimately led to PHMSA’s adoption of 

the integrity management rules in Subpart O.

In 2000, with the concurrence of CPSD’s Utilities Safety Branch (USB), PG&E removed 

approximately 212 miles of transmission pipeline from the GPRP and placed them under the

On April 20, 2000, in response to PG&E’s announced plan to remove transmission pipe 

from the GPRP, the Chief of the USB wrote to PG&E:

The record, however, does not support a violation based on
793

795risks.

7961947 pipe.

797

798RMP.

792 CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10. CPSD and others also claim that if transmission pipe had remained within 
the GPRP, PG&E would have replaced all of Line 132. PG&E discusses those allegations infra in Section V.F.4.a.
793 CPSD also suggests that PG&E replaced less transmission pipe under the GPRP (prior to the transition to the 
RMP) than intended under the program. CPSD OB at 81; 
conclusion of law no. 55). CPSD offers no evidence to support this contention, but cites D.92- 12-057 and D.07-03- 
044 as support. See CPSD OB at 81. D.92- 12-057 does not specifically discuss PG&E’s spending or progre sson 
the transmission component of the GPRP ( see Application ofPac. Gas & Elec. Co ., D.92-12-057,1992 Cal. PUC 
LEXIS 971, at *59-64, *79-80) and D.07- 03-044 was issued years after transmission pipe was removed from the 
GPRP. Moreover, in D.00- 02-046, the Commission recognized that, at the approximate midpoint of the original 
planned length of time to complete the GPRP, PG&E had replaced 57% of the transmission pipe in the program. 
Application ofPac. Gas & Elec. Co., D.00-02-046, 2000 Cal. PUC LEXIS 239, at *349-350.

See CPSD OB at 84, 86-87; DRA OB at 32-33.
795 Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-2 to 4-3 (PG&E/Keas).

Ex. CPSD-186 at OC-68 Attachment 12, p. 60 (comparing GPRP to RMP); PG&E Gas Transmission Facilities 
Risk Management Annual Report -2000 at 2, available at http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/62C87F54-8558- 
4C5D-92FB-124C15325FB2/0/2000PGEGTSRiskManagementAnnualReport.pdf (discussing benefits of transition 
from GPRP to RMP); infra Section V.F.4.a (discussing the type of pipe intended to be replaced under the GPRP). 
Prior to CPSD’s opening brief, PG&E had no notice that CPSD was alleging a violation of Section 451 predicated in 
part on PG&E allegedly “ending the transmission replacement part of its GPRP prematurely,”
Appendix B, p. 8 (proposed conclusion of law no. 55) & Revised Appendix C, p. 10, and thus could not know that 
the GPRP and RMP reports cited in this and the following footnotes were relevant. See also supra Section III.C.
797 Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-2 to 4-3 (PG&E/Keas).

PG&E, Gas Pipeline Replacement Program, 2000 Annual Progress Report, pp. 2, 28, Appendix II (April 20,
2000 letter from Mahendra Jhala, Chief, USB to Shan Battacharya, Vice President, PG&E), 
http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/5301B509-4ED8-41A2-A8C4- 
8C005E588D74/0/GPRP2000AnnualReport.pdf.

see also CPSD OB at Appendix B, p 8 (proposed

794

796

see CPSD OB at

798

available at
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The RM program appears to be a good program and it is obvious 
PG&E has invested time to develop it. In addition to other gas 
regulatory matters, we hope to acknowledge the RM program at 
the national level when USB management attends the National 
Association of Pipeline Safety Representative national convention 
at the end of this month.799

At the same time, PG&E discussed planned spending on the RMP with the USB. According to a

PG&E memorandum documenting a conversation with the Chief of the USB, which PG&E

provided to the Commission with its 2000 Annual Progress Report for the GPRP:

I reiterated that in going forward, our Pipeline Reliability and 
Safety spending was comparable to what we had previously 
projected [in the 1996 GRC], I didn’t provide specific numbers, 
but told him that it wasn’t a scenario where we had projected 20 
million and were only spending 1 million. He said his primary 
concern was to ensure that the program wouldn’t significantly cut 
spending below appropriate levels, relative to what was used to 
build the Gas Accord.... [f ] Mahendra and I both agreed that 
based on our knowledge of this issue, our planned risk reduction 
activities and associated spending levels should be comparable to 
previous projections. . . . 800

CPSD offers no evidence that the transition to a risk management program violated the 

law. It also has not proven that PG&E spent less on pipeline risk management after the transfer 

of transmission pipe from the GPRP to the RMP. According to reports prepared at the time, 

PG&E spent more on gas transmission risk management projects in 2000, 2001 and 2002 (after 

the transition to the RMP), for example, than it did to replace transmission pipes within the

Finally, there is no support in the record for CPSD and DRA’s801GPRP in 1998 and 1999.

799 PG&E, Gas Pipeline Replacement Program, 2000 Annual Progress Report, p. 28, Appendix II (April 20, 2000 
letter from Mahendra Jhala, Chief, USB to Shan Battacharya, Vice President, PG&E), 
http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/5301B509-4ED8-41A2-A8C4- 
8C005E588D74/0/GPRP2000AnnualReport.pdf.

PG&E, Gas Pipeline Replacement Program, 2000 Annual Progress Report, Appendix II, p. 30 (June 8, 2000 
memorandum from Alan Eastman documenting conversation with Mahendra Jhala, USB), 
http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/5301B509-4ED8-41A2-A8C4- 
8C005E588D74/0/GPRP2000AnnualReport.pdf.

PG&E spent $6.8 million to replace transmission pipe under the GPRP in 1998 and $4.8 million in 1999. PG&E, 
Gas Pipeline Replacement Program, 1999 Annual Progress Report at 12, 15, 
http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/DFOC 1643-CB00-49BC-BAFB- 
7C18BFB4C583/0/1999AnnualProgressReport.pdf. PG&E spent $13 million on pipeline risk reduction projects 
under the RMP in 2000 (including $7.6 million in pipeline replacement costs), $15.7 million in 2001 (including $3.7 
million in pipeline replacement costs) and $20.7 million in 2002 (including regulator stations).

2000, p. 4,

available at

800

available at

801

available at

See PG&E Gas
Transmission Facilities Risk Management Annual Report available at
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suggestion802 that the fact that PG&E stopped preparing (voluntary) annual RMP reports for the 

Commission meant PG&E also had stopped managing pipeline risk altogether. 803

d. CPSD Did Not Prove That PG&E’s Funding Of Gas
Transmission O&M Expenses Showed That It Placed Profits 
Over Safety

PG&E does not dispute that there were pressures on O&M expense budgets from 2008 to 

2010 and that some work was deferred at least in part due to budgetary considerations during 

those years.804 But PG&E does dispute - and CPSD has not proven - that its efforts to contain 

expense costs in 2008 to 2010 were made “regardless of the impact on system safety” 805 or that 

PG&E’s budgeting decisions “made catastrophic failure inevitable.” 806 CPSD’s purported proof 

- like the Overland Report on which it is based - consists mostly of quotations from emails or 

other internal documents in which PG&E employees identified potential risks associated with 

contemplated funding levels rather than an assessment of the actual safety ramifications of any 

particular decision to defer or change planned work.

CPSD and DRA’s approach of cataloguing excerpts from the Overland Report (itself 

presenting snippets from various PG&E documents) is apparently intended to show PG&E’s 

disregard for safety concerns. A more thorough assessment of the underlying evidence on which 

the Overland Report relies, however, reveals the opposite. The emails, program reviews and 

other information in the record show that:

• A compilation of project forecasts proposed by project advocates would form the 
basis for a preliminary plan for the next budget year submitted for review and 
discussion to an internal GT&S committee each year in the spring (i.e., approximately

http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/62C87F54-8558-4C5D-92FB-
124C15325FB2/0/2000PGEGTSRiskManagementAnnualReport.pdf; PG&E Gas Transmission Facilities Risk

2001, Appendix A, p. 1, 
http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/DD94E697-9F7D-483F-A9CA- 
D63F833DAADC/0/2001PGERMPDocumentpdfAdobeAcrobatProfessional.pdf; PG&E Gas Transmission 
Facilities Risk Management Annual Report - 2002, available at http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/8F152748- 
63BF-4F28-AC30-4256507C7465/0/2002PGEGTSRiskManagementAnnualReport.pdf .

See CPSD OB at 85 (“After 2004, PG&E’s PRMP existed in name only.”); DRA OB at 32 (“the Overland Audit 
concludes there are no risk metrics in PG&E’s RMP”).

See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-225 at OC-258 Attachment 1 (describing process for determining relative risk priorities).
See Ex. CPSD-168 at 1- 1

Management Annual Report available at

802

803

804 Overland did not find budget constraints prior to the 2008 budget year.
(CPSD/Harpster); see also id. at 1- 4 (“The planning documentation reviewed by Overland does not contain many 
references to significant budget constraints prior to 2007.”).

See DRA OB at 37.805

806 See CPSD OB at 106.
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eight months before the beginning of the budget year in question). This preliminary 
plan typically would include every project that might be completed in the upcoming 
year, without necessarily taking into account the broader GT&S plan for the 
upcoming year and factors such as the availability of contractor resources, 
preliminary plan would be reviewed and revised during the year based on input from 
individuals across the GT&S organization before being submitted to Finance as a 
formal request for funding, typically in the fall. 808 By involving many people in the 
planning process, GT&S tried to ensure that the most important work would be 
identified and included in the proposed work plan for the next year.

• GT&S managers and engineers communicated openly about the potential 
implications of budget and planning decisions to help others make informed decisions 
about which work to include in the proposed budget and which work ultimately to 
fund and complete within the approved budget.

• Work was prioritized both within GT&S and across the utility so that the most 
important safety-related work would be completed.810 Finance requested information 
about the risk of not funding particular categories of work as a regular part of the 
budget and planning process.

807 The

809

811

807 See Ex. CPSD-229 at OC-262, p. 2 (explaining planning process); Ex. CPSD-231 (OC-267). References in 
documents to budget “requests” do not always refer to the formal request submitted to Finance but rather sometimes 
reflect the list of projects compiled early in the planning process. For example, references to the expense budget 
“request” for the integrity management p rogram in 2009 (see Ex. CPSD-168 at 8-3 (CPSD/Harpster); CPSD OB at 
89) appear to be based on an early compilation in 2008 of potential integrity management work for 2009.
CPSD-229 at OC-262 at 2; see also Ex. CPSD-168 at 8-3 (CPSD/Harpster) (discussing same). Similarly, the 
referenced request of $25.2 million for maintenance projects in 2008 ( see CPSD OB at 89, DRA OB at 45) appears 
to have been based on an early compilation of potential maintenance projects. See Ex. CPSD-231 (OC-267).

See Ex. CPSD-229 at OC-262, p. 2; Ex. CPSD-182 at OC-63 Attachment 1, pp. 10-11.
For example, the template for the “program reviews” (which provided an overview of the budgetary and 

operational issues facing the gas transmission expense and capital “programs”) explicitly included a section for “top 
risks/challenges.” See Ex. CPSD-186 at OC-68 Attachment 3, p. 2; see also Ex. CPSD-186 at OC-68 Attachment 2, 
p. 18. The risk identification sections of the program reviews are quoted extensively in the Overland Report (and by 
CPSD and DRA), but there is no record evidence that PG&E did not appropriately address the identified risks in its 
final budgeting decisions.

See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-185 at OC-67 Attachment 7, p. 28 (showing definitions for Mandatory, Priority 1, 2, and 3 
work used by the utility); Ex. CPSD-182 at OC-63 Attachment 1, p. 13 (showing priority definitions used within 
GT&S); Ex. CPSD-261 at OC-347, Attachment 1 (2010 GT&S budget request to Finance showing priority ranking 
and description of “risk of not funding” categories of non-mandatory work).

See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-261 at OC-347 Attachment 1 (2010 GT&S budget request to Finance with description of 
“risk of not funding” categories of non -mandatory work). For example, when Finance asked the various lines of 
business to identify potential reductions in expense costs during the last months of 2009, it provided a template that 
required the lines of business to identify the “risks of not funding.” Ex. CPSD -224 at OC-257 Attachments 5 & 5a. 
DRA quotes from GT&S’s description of potential risks if the identified possible reductions were to be implemented 
in late 2009, but acknowledges that there is no proof that “the reductions were implemented.” DRA OB at 50. 
Furthermore, DRA mistakenly states that Finance requested that the lines of business identify possible expense 
reductions in both August and November 2009. See DRA OB at 48, 50. The underlying evidence cited by DRA 
confirms that there was only one such request, in August 2009. See Ex. CPSD-168 at 8-5, 8-8 (CPSD/Harpster); see 
also Ex. CPSD-224 at OC-257 Attachment 5.

See Ex.

808

809

810

811
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• Critical safety work was considered “mandatory” in the budgeting and planning
o 1 o

process.

• Decisions to defer or change specific projects or categories of work were made with 
the input and involvement of the engineers and managers closest to the work, 
adjustments to plans were needed to stay within approved funding levels, the 
individuals charged with managing the GT&S budget would ask those responsible for 
the work itself to identi fy projects that could be deferred so that “compliance and 
safety are not compromised.

In short, the conclusion from a thorough reading of the record is not of an organization that did

not care at all about safety, as CPSD and Intervenors would have the Commission believe, but

rather that the GT&S managers and engineers worked very hard to ensure that budgetary

considerations did not negatively impact safety, compliance or reliability.

Furthermore, consistent with the lack of an in-depth operational focus to its analysis, the 

Overland Report does not identify any specific budget decisions that either demonstrably harmed 

safety or that prove that the company emphasized meeting financial goals over operating a safe 

system. PG&E was responsible not only for maintaining a safe system but also for carefully 

managing its financial resources and “obtaining efficiencies wherever possible.” 

violation, it cannot be enough for CPSD to point to evidence that GT&S expense budgets were 

set at less than requested by someone at some point during the pre-budget-year planning process. 

That likely would be the case for most utilities in most years. Moreover, as discussed above, 

PG&E had a process for prioritizing work to ensure that the most important safety work was 

completed. There is no proof that PG&E’s budgeting and planning process did not identify and 

prioritize the most important safety and compliance work.

CPSD’s and DRA’s briefs focus in particular on funding for integrity management and 

maintenance work. Integrity management funding is discussed separately in the next section. 

CPSD’s proof regarding the effect on safety of any decision not to fund all maintenance work 

identified in the planning process consists of generalized potential risks rather than any proof 

connected to specific deferred or cancelled work. Moreover, many of the expressed concerns 

cited by CPSD and DRA relate to reliability, not safety. For example, one program review

813 jf

„814

815 To prove a

812 Ex. CPSD-304 at 14-7; Ex. CPSD-185 at OC-67 Attachment 7, p. 28.
See, e.g., infra Section V.F.3.e (discussing decisions regarding integrity management assessment deferrals or 

methodology changes).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 8-6 (CPSD/Harpster) (quoting OC-262 Attachment 4).
See D. 12-12-030, slip op. at 43.

813

814

815
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quoted in the Overland Report identifies the “greatest risk to the gas transmission expense 

program [as] decreased funding of high priority reliability projects, leading to more frequent
o i r

breakdowns of equipment and higher emergency repair costs.” PG&E’s point here is not to 

argue that reliability is not important. PG&E has learned many lessons after the San Bruno 

accident and has made many improvements across the gas organization. But CPSD cannot prove 

that PG&E failed to operate a safe system by pointing to statements in documents that do not 

relate to any specific project or funding decision, but rather were intended to catalog in general 

(albeit sometimes stark) terms, hypothetical, potential risks that did not occur and that may have 

had little bearing on safety. CPSD did not attempt to prove that any failure to fund maintenance 

work led to actual reliability problems on PG&E’s gas transmission system.

CPSD has not cited a single example where PG&E did not fund specific maintenance 

projects notwithstanding a communicated safety imperative to do so. The fa ct that PG&E’s 

employees were encouraged to, and did, identify and discuss potential risks in documents such as 

program reviews and budget requests to Finance, as well as in less formal business 

communications such as emails, reflects positively on PG&E’s safety culture. Such statements 

cannot prove a violation, and allowing CPSD to use them to bootstrap its allegation that PG&E 

violated Section 451 by failing to “place safety over profits” would discourage the type of open 

and frank discussion of risks that should be encouraged.

CPSD Did Not Prove A Violation Based On Spending On 
Integrity Management.

e.

CPSD’s allegations regarding spending on the integrity management program concern the 

extent to which PG&E used direct assessment rather than in-line inspection (ILI) 

having deferred or changed certain planned assessments in the 2008 to 2010 time period. With 

regard to PG&E’s reliance on direct assessment, PG&E already has shown that CPSD failed to 

prove PG&E’s Integrity Management program’s choic e of assessment tools violated the law. 

That analysis does not change merely because CPSD or the other parties try to put a safety 

culture gloss on the same issues. CPSD cannot dispute that the integrity management regulations

817 and PG&E

818

816 Ex. CPSD-168 at 7-11 (CPSD/Harpster) (quoting Ex. CPSD-186 at OC-68 Attachment 3, p. 2) (emphasis added); 
cf. R.T. 84 (significant portion of GT&S O&M costs relate to reliability rather than safety) (CPSD/Harpster).

See CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10 (alleged violation predicated in part on PG&E “using less effective and 
cheaper IM tools”).

See PG&E OB at 57-93; supra Section V.B.4.

817

818
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819authorize the use of direct assessment for corrosion, 

with ILI for identifying and assessing corrosion risk,

PG&E’s gas transmission system.

CPSD’s discussion of this issue also disregards the prac tical implications of using ILI 

rather than direct assessment. PG&E pipelines are diverse in terms of their sizes, age and 

characteristics.822 Federal pipeline safety laws did not require newly installed gas transmission 

lines to be piggable until 1994.823 Making a section of pipe piggable to run an ILI tool requires a 

physical upgrade. At a minimum it requires installing pig launching and receiving stations, and 

could include removing sharp bends in the pipeline, replacing non-piggable valves and making 

the pipe uniform in diameter.824 Preparing a pipeline to be pigged can take up to three years, and 

the costs to upgrade the pipeline make up the majority of the costs for conducting ILI.

2010, approximately 17% of PG&E’s gas transmission system could accommodate ILI tools. 

Given this reality, PG&E’s decision to use direct assessment when appropriate and permissible 

under the law does not show that PG&E prioritized profits over safety or violated Section 451.

PG&E has acknowledged that it deferred or changed the method of certain planned 

assessments in 2008 to 2010 based at least in part on budgeting considerations. But CPSD’s and 

DRA’s briefs misstate the record concerning those actions. All decisions about which planned 

assessments could be changed or deferred were grounded in engineering judgments. With regard 

to deferrals, the engineers responsible for the Integrity Management program selected which

Direct assessment is considered on a par 

and corrosion is the principal risk in820

821

825 As of
826

827

819 49C.F.R. § 192.921.
See Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S-2004), Appendix A, § A1.4 at 39-40.
Joint R.T. 1115 (PG&E/Keas) (PG&E baseline assessment plan reflects that 100% of HCA segments are 

identified as having external corrosion threat); Ex. Joint-46 (PG&E Baseline Assessment Plan).
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-8 n.7 (PG&E/Keas).
49C.F.R. § 192.150.
Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-10) at GTR0007130-32, GTR0007154-55 (PG&E RMP 11 at 13-15, 37-38).
Ex. CPSD-233 at OC-274 (showing ILI cost breakdown by phase). As an illustration, in 2008, PG&E estimated 

that it spent $17.3 million on “phase 1” of its ILI projects, which included pre -assessment, engineering of upgrades 
and construction of upgrades. Id. By contrast, “phase 2” and “phase 3” work performed in 2008, namely cleaning 
and inspecting the pipeline and direct examination, repair and post assessment work was estimated at $3.8 million.

820

821

822

823

824

825

Id.
826 Ex. CPSD-10 at 52.

See 68 Fed. Reg. 4,280 (Jan. 28, 2003) (discussing proposed rules regarding transmission pipeline integrity 
management and noting that the rule proposes to allow direct assessment “as a primary assessment method on a 
covered pipeline where in-line inspection and pressure testing are not possible or economically feasible or where the 
pipeline operates at a low stress”) (emphasis added). Furthermore, in its 2010 audit of PG&E’s Integrity 
Management program, CPSD identified “no issues” with respect to PG&E’s selection of assessment methodology 
for baseline assessments or reassessments. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 18 (B.Ol.a), 102 (F.02.b).

827
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assessments reasonably could be delayed without jeopardizing compliance or safety. 828 As the 

documents reflect, GT&S viewed the timing of the integrity management assessments principally 

as a compliance issue - i.e., the main concern was whether GT&S would be able to complete the 

required assessments by the end of 2012 as required under 49 C.F.R. § 192.921(d).829 And while 

PG&E assessed fewer miles in 2009 and 2010 than its internal targets in those years, it 

nonetheless maintained the integrity program on course to complete the required baseline 

assessments by the end of 20 1 2 . 830 CPSD has not offered evidence showing that any specific 

integrity management assessment deferral was not allowed by the integrity management 

regulations or otherwise raised a safety concern.

The record also does not support CPSD and DRA’s contention that PG&E changed

certain in tegrity management assessments from ILI to ECDA “against the advice of its own
0-2 1

engineers.” CPSD and DRA rely on statements in documents that reflect the apparent view of 

at least some PG&E engineers that ILI is generally preferable to ECDA.832 These documents do 

not refer to any specific pipelines or planned assessments. The selection of an appropriate 

assessment method depends on the specific characteristics of the pipeline segment and the ability 

of the available technology to assess the identified threats. Decisions regarding which planned 

integrity management assessments reasonably could be changed from ILI to ECDA were made 

by the engineers most knowledgeable about the integrity management program and the 

characteristics of the specific pipelines. 834 Budgeting managers did not select planned ILI 

assessments and change them to ECDA. Nor did PG&E stop using ILI altogether beginning in 

2008, as some of the comments in the briefs seem to suggest. Rather, PG&E changed a discrete

828 See Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259 Attachment 4, p. 9 (identifying engineering team involved); Ex. CPSD-227 at OC- 
260 Attachment 1 (summarizing the assessment schedule and method changes “decided” by the integrity 
management team “based on a review of the best assessment method for the affected lines”).

See Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259 Attachment 4, p. 9 (ident ified “key challenges/risks” all relate to scheduling, not 
safety).

See Ex. CPSD-211 (OC-216).
See CPSD OB at 26; DRA OB at 39.
See Ex. CPSD-186 at OC-68 Attachment 3, p. 2; Ex. CPSD-230 at OC-264 Supp. Attachment 6, p. 9.
See 49 C.F.R. § 192.921(a); Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S-2004), Appendix A; Ex. CPSD-10 at 12 (noting that 

ILI technology has changed over the last decade).
See Ex. CPSD-227 at OC- 260 Attachment 1 (summarizing assessment schedule and method changes “decided” 

by the integrity ma nagement team “based on a review of the best assessment method for the affected lines”); Ex. 
CPSD-226 at OC-259 Attachment 4, p. 8 (identifying engineering team involved).

829

830

831

832

833

834

149

SB GT&S 0486640



number of assessments from ILI to ECDA, 835 but continued to use ILI as an assessment tool in 

2008 through 20 1 0.836 Finally, and most relevant to any safety-related allegation, CPSD offers 

no engineering analysis showing that ECDA was not an appropriate assessment method for the 

specific assessments that PG&E changed from ILI to ECDA in 2008 through 2010.

4. CPSD Did Not Prove That Budgetary Considerations Detrimentally 
Affected The Safety Of Line 132

CPSD does not allege a specific violation relating to PG&E’s spending with respect to 

Line 132. CPSD does hypothesize, however, contrary to all the evidence, that “[i]f PG&E had 

appropriately prioritized and spent the funds the Commission had authorized for safety, either 

through its GPRP or its integrity management program, it is likely that PG&E would have 

replaced Segment 180 before the San Bruno explosion.” 837 CPSD also discusses several capital 

projects involving Line 132. CPSD appears to contend that these projects were either delayed 

due to budgetary pressures or that they demonstrate that PG&E had notice of problems on Line 

132 that it failed to address before the San Bruno accident - both of which allegedly reflect 

negatively on PG&E’s safety culture. Even with the benefit of hindsight, however, CPSD fails 

to prove that not replacing Segment 180 prior to the accident or PG&E’s budgeting decisions 

involving Line 132 reflected a deficient safety culture.

PG&E Would Not Have Replaced All Of Line 132 Or Segment 
180 Under The GPRP

a.

CPSD and other parties contend that if PG&E had not implemented the RMP it would 

have replaced Line 132 including Segment 180 under the GPRP. 838 In the first place, even if it 

were correct that Line 132 would have been replaced under the GPRP, the implementation of the 

RMP was consistent with the industry practice of focusing on broader risk factors and

835 See Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-12 (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. CPSD-248 (OC-325).
During 2008 to 2010, ILI was used for approximately 30% of the total miles assessed by PG&E. Ex. CPSD-168 

at 6-8 (Table 6-7) (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. CPSD-258 (OC-343). PG&E spent only about 13% less on ILI work in 
2008-2010 than in 2005-2007, even though 2007 involved higher spending because it marked the deadline for 
completing 50% of the baseline assessments under 49 C.F.R. § 192.921(d). See Ex. CPSD-233 (OC-274). As of the 
beginning of 2010, PG&E was planning six pigging runs per year in 2011 and 2012. Ex. CPSD- 
Attachment 4, p. 9.

CPSD OB at 112.
See CPSD OB at 111-12; San Bruno OB at 31-32; DRA OB at 33.

836

226 at OC-259

837

838
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remediation measures and was supported by the Commission. 839 If the implementation of the 

RMP was not itself a violation - which it was not - then the fact that PG&E might have taken a 

different action under one program than under another, in and of itself, cannot prove a violation 

either. PG&E’s safety culture cannot be judged through the lens of what we know today, but 

rather must be evaluated based on what PG&E knew or should have known when it was deciding 

how to allocate its financial resources. In any event, the record shows that Segment 180 never 

would have been replaced under the GPRP.

The GPRP began in 1985. As it related to gas transmission lines, the GPRP was not 

intended to replace all pipelines, or even to replace all pipelines installed prior to a certain point 

in time. Rather, the GPRP was a targeted effort to replace pre-1947 transmission pipe that was 

welded using the oxyacetylene (oxy-butt) technique or constructed using bell-bell chill ring 

(BBCR) or bell and spigot (BLSP) girth joint configurations. 840 All the transmission pipe 

planned to be replaced under the GPRP as proposed in 1984 fell into one of these three 

categories (oxy-butt, BBCR or BSLP). 841 These types of outdated girth welds and joint 

configurations are particularly susceptible to ground movement-related failure. 842 The girth 

welds on Segment 180 did not fall within the scope of the GPRP program, as they were 

constructed in 1956, 843 after the outdated girth welding techniques were replaced with more 

modern methods. Therefore, PG&E never contemplated replacing Segment 180 under the 

GPRP. 844

CPSD and the other parties rely principally on a 1984 presentation describing the planned 

GPRP to support their claim that Segment 180 would have been replaced under the GPRP.

The presentation mentions Line 132 but does not say that the entire line would be replaced

845

839 See supra Section V.F.3.c.
Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2, p. 4, 5.
Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2, p. 4, 6 (showing all planned 539 miles by weld category).

840

841

842 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S -2004), Appendix A, § A4.3 atp. 47. The pre-1947 girth weld techniques are 
viewed by PG&E as being subject to a construction threat. See, e.g., Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-5) (RMP-05).
843 Ex. PG&E-l at 2-1, 2-3 (PG&E/Harrison).

See Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2, p. 4.
See CPSD OB at 112; San Bruno OB at 31-32. CPSD incorrectly refers to this as a 1983 presentation and cites 

Mr. Tateosian’s testimony discussing this document as Ex. CPSD-162 rather than Ex. CPSD-165. DRA cites (DRA 
OB at 33 n. 112) a 1978 document discussing a program apparently then under consideration that also would have 
been limited to pipe installed using oxyacetylene girth welds or arc- welded joints made using “bell and bell” pipe 
and a “chill” ring, i.e., not Segment 180. See Ex. CPSD-167, Exhibit 178, p. 1 & Table 7 at 2.

844

845
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QAf. SlAIunder the program as CPSD and San Bruno imply. To the contrary, the presentation

explicitly shows that only approximately half of Line 132’s original pipe remained in the ground 

in 1984.848 Furthermore, the presentation defines the recommended scope of the GPRP for 

transmission lines as replacing “ 539 miles of pre-1947pipe containing oxyacetylene, bell-bell 

and chill ring or bell and spigot girth welds ,”849 As presented, the GPRP did not include 

modern transmission pipe with shielded-metal arc girth welds, 850 like Segment 180. Thus, the 

GPRP contemplated replacing only the pre-1947 portion of Line 132 that contained suspect girth 

welds - not all of Line 132 and not Segment 180.

This is consistent with Mr. Tateosian’s deposition testimony on which the parties also
851rely.

the “potential for catastrophic failures, 

concerns related to pipeline that was installed with oxyacetylene welding (oxy-butt), 

Segment 180:

San Bruno cites an excerpt of Mr. Tateosian’s testimony regarding his concerns about

but omits the very next answer, which clarifies that his

i.e., not

„852

Q. Did you have any concerns from 1970 up to 1985, that because 
of these pipeline failures, that you could have a catastrophic event 
that would cause injury, harm or property damage?

A. Yes.
Q. And please tell me what those concerns were.

A. Well, the concerns were, as I’ve described in this document, 
that the welding on these pipelines that were installed with the 
oxyacetylene welding wasn’t anywhere as good as what we would 
use at the time I was talking about. And that we had some failures, 
so -

Q. And you were - go ahead.
A. So my thought was that we ought to start looking at replacing 
this over some kind of a program. 853

846 Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2, p. 6.
See CPSD OB at 24, 80-81, 111-12; San Bruno OB at 31-32. 
Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2, p. 6.
Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2, p. 4 (emphasis added).
Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2, p. 4.
See CPSD OB at 24, 81, 111-12; San Bruno OB at 31-32. 
San Bruno OB at 31 (citing Ex. CPSD-165 at 92:17-21).
Ex. CPSD-165 at 92-93 (emphasis added).

847

848

849
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Notwithstanding this evidence, San Bruno further suggests that if PG&E had continued to 

replace transmission pipeline under the GPRP as proposed in 1984, Segment 180 would have
„ 854 But the evidence on which Sanbeen designated “Priority 1” and perhaps replaced “by 1988.

Bruno relies shows that the priority designations applied only to pipe that met the criteria for

replacement under the GPRP in the first place, which, as discussed, did not include Segment

Mr. Tateosian underscored this point in his deposition:

Q. And as part of the priority system for the replacement of 
transmission gas lines, you placed as a Priority 1, any segment of 
pipeline that’s within 30 feet of a dwelling; is that correct?
A. That’s what that sentence says, but this is also in context of the
piping that’s going to be replaced, which was the oxyacetylene
welded pipe, the cast iron, and the old distribution lines.

The bottom line, as Mr. Tateosian testified, is that “[t]he piping that w as covered by this 

replacement program at the time was cast iron piping, the oxyacetylene welded piping and the 

older distribution piping, it did not involve the piping that  failed at San Bruno.

855180.

856

„857

CPSD Has Not Proven That Budgetary Considerations 
Harmed The Maintenance Or Integrity Management Of Line

b.

132

858It is difficult to glean from CPSD’s safety 

exactly what it claims PG&E did that purportedly proves that PG&E placed profits over safety or 

operated an unsafe system. CPSD insinuates that budgetary considerations affected “the safety 

and integrity of Segment 180 or Line 132”

allegation. The record is clear that any expense budget pressures in 2008 through 2010 did not 

affect either the selection of assessment method or the timing of planned integrity management

-culture-related discussion of Line 132

859 but it fails to provide evidence to back up its

854 San Bruno OB at 32.
See Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2 at 6 (showing breakdown by priority of oxy-butt, BBCR and BSLP); see also Ex.

CPSD-166, Exhibit 6, p. PLNTFS EVID.00333 1 (showing that all priorities of transmission pipe under the
proposed GPRP totaled 524 miles, or slightly less than the 539 miles referenced in Ex. CPSD-166, Exhibit 2, p. 6). 
Furthermore, San Bruno’s argument that if PG&E had not removed transmission pipe from the GPRP it would have 
replaced Segment 180 by 1988 is illogical given that transmission pipe remained in the GPRP until 2000. See supra 
Section V.F.3.C.

Ex. CPSD-165 at 159 (intervening objection omitted; emphasis added).
Tateosian Depo., Vol. II at 463 (emphasis added).
See CPSD OB at 107-12.
CPSD OB at 110.

855

856
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860 861CPSD effectively concedes the point,

Martinelli for not having addressed “whether PG&E’s planned use of ECDA for Line 132 in the 

first place was appropriate or improperly driven by budget constraints and whether Line 132 

should have been planned to have been tested, replaced or repaired sooner.” 862 Although PG&E 

does not have the burden of proof, it has established that ECDA was an appropriate method of 

assessment generally and for the threats identified on Line 132 (principally external corrosion), 

and discusses that in detail in its section on integrity management.

provided no engineering analysis or other evidence to prove that PG&E’s original selection of 

ECDA for Line 132 in the 2004 Baseline Assessment Plan was driven by budget constraints 

rather than engineering judgment.

The bulk of CPSD’s safety culture discussion of Line 132 mirrors the short section of the 

Overland Report that summarizes a seemingly random selection of capital projects involving 

Line 132. This section of the Overland Report merely lists the projects and quotes selected 

passages from PG&E’s PSRS database concerning those projects. Overland applied no 

engineering expertise to its interpretation of the PSRS reports and made no attempt to determine 

whether financial constraints played a significant role in any of these projects. CPSD cites this 

list of projects in support of its assertion that “PG&E was well aware of maintenance and
o/z

integrity management issues on Line 132,” but it makes no effort to explain how any of these 

projects reflect budget constraints or a deficient safety culture.

Replacement project: In its summary of Line 132 capital projects, Overland identifies a 

project to replace a section of Line 132 from mile point 42.13 to mile point 43.55, several miles

assessments for Line 132. but criticizes Mr.

863 Conversely, CPSD

864

860 See Ex. PG&E-l at 12-3 (PG&E/Martinelli); Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-12, 7-10, 8-4, 9-10 to 9-11 (CPSD/Harpster) 
(discussing and identifying integrity management deferrals and method changes, but not identifying any involving 
Line 132); Ex. CPSD-241 at OC-304 Attachment 1 (identifying all assessment method changes for any reason, none 
of which involved Line 132).

See CPSD OB at 109 (arguing that Mr. Martinelli’s testimony “misses the point” but not trying to show that it is 
wrong).

CPSD OB at 109.
See supra Section V.B.4; PG&E OB at 57-92; Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-35 to 4-36 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-l at 5- 13 

(PG&E/Zurcher); see also supra Section V.F.3.e.
Under the federal regulations, it would not have been improper to consider cost in selecting ECDA for Line 132. 

See supra n.827.
Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-5 to 4-6 (CPSD/Harpster).
CPSD OB at 107.

861
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867north of the rupture site (mile point 39.28). 

completed in 2009 and was included in PG&E’s capital workpapers in the Gas Accord IV 

proceeding.868 PG&E later deferred the project and included it in its capital forecast for the Gas 

Accord V proceeding, where it showed that most of the costs would be incurred in 2013.

CPSD does not contend that PG&E should be penalized for including this project in two separate 

rate case forecasts. There is no dispute that PG&E was entitled to reprioritize work after the 

beginning of a rate case period. Furthermore, CPSD’s own expert found that PG&E spent more 

than the imputed adopted amounts on pipeline safety capital projects in 2008-2010, which would 

have included the forecast amounts for this particular project.

evidence, CPSD and other parties challenge the validity of Mr. Martinelli’s testimony 871 that the 

project was delayed based on engineering, not budgetary considerations.

In fact, as the record shows, engineering and risk management considerations, and not 

budgetary ones, were the reasons for the reprioritization of the project. 873 Specifically, based on 

data from field investigations and ECDA conducted on Line 132, PG&E revised the priority of 

this project relative to other risk management projects and changed the schedule as originally 

planned. Mr. Harpster’s testimony effectively supports this conclusion. He acknowledged the 

non-budgetary reason for the delay in the project, i.e., that the project “was removed from the

This project was originally forecast to be

869

870 But, without any contrary

872

867 Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-5 (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 10.
See Ex. TURN-2.
See Ex. TURN-3.
See Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 (Table 4-2) (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. PG&E-l at 12-3 to 12-4 (PG&E/Martinelli).
See CPSD OB at 108-09; TURN OB at 36- 37. CPSD’s contention that the Commission should disregard Mr. 

Martinelli’s testimony because CPSD “can only guess what specific information [he] reviewed and believes 
supports his conclusions” should be rejected. See CPSD OB at 109. First, Mr. Martinelli stated in his written 
testimony that he relied on a deposition and related exhibits for his opinions regarding this project. Ex. PG&E-l at 
12-2 (PG&E/Martinelli). Moreover, CPSD could have inquired into the basis for Mr. Martinelli’s testimony but it 
elected to waive cross-examination of him . See R.T. 480. In any event, PG&E’s showing that this project was not 
affected by budget constraints does not depend solely on Mr. Martinelli’s testimony. As discussed further in text, 
the documentary evidence in the record also establishes that budgets did not cause this project to be deferred. See 
Ex. CPSD-240 at OC- 303 Attachment 10, p. 4 (entry for 2/12/2008 noting that “this pipe segment has been 
determined not to be in the top 100 risk line segments”).

Ex. PG&E-l at 12-3 to 12-4 (PG&E/Martinelli); Ex. TURN-4 (PG&E Response to TURN_002-35 Data 
Request).

See Ex. TURN-4; Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 10, p. 4.

868

869
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risk management top 1 00 list,”875 and did not identify any constraints on capital budgets during 

this time period that would have caused the project to be delayed for financial reasons.

Upgrade project: CPSD notes that “[i]n 2008 and 2010, PG&E also considered 

upgrading Line 132 for ILI from MP 0.00 to MP 32.93, but the project was delayed due to lack

876

of resources to perform engineering work and PG&E’s changing criteria for choosing

CPSD further contends that the fact that the project would not have reached as
878 t

3->877ILI/ECDA.

far as Segment 180

integrity of Segment 180 or Line 132.”

no evidence that the project was delayed for budgetary reasons (much less that it affected 

Segment 180). A “lack of resources to perform engineering” is not the same thing as a lack of 

money in the current capital budget, and there is no indication in the PSRS report on which 

CPSD and Overland rely that budget constraints caused the project to be delayed, 

discussed, during that time period, there is no evidence of constraints on capital budgets. 

Furthermore, CPSD fails to mention that, even before the project was delayed in September 2010 

due to “lack of resources,” PG &E had not planned to start the capital upgrade work to make part 

of Line 132 piggable before 2011, and the inspection would not have taken place until 2013.

Pressure verification project: Based on a PSRS report for a Line 132 project stating 

there are sections of Line 132 that have “suspected manufacturing threats,

“[i]n 2008 PG&E suspected that sections of Line 132 had ‘manufacturing threats’ at maximum 

operating pressure.

described was the 2008 planned pressure increases to maintain the ability to operate Line 132 at

‘does not mean that PG&E’s budget cuts did not affect the safety and 

The problem with CPSD’s argument is that it offers879

880 As already
881

882

„ 883 CPSD alleges that

„ 884 CPSD mischaracterizes the PSRS on which it relies. The project

875 Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-5 (CPSD/Harpster).
See supra Section V.F.3.c.
CPSD OB at 108.
The San Bruno accident occurred at mile point 39.28. Ex. CPSD-1 at 7 (CPSD/Stepanian).
CPSD OB at 110.
See Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 26. To the contrary, an earlier entry in the PSRS database in the same 

year explicitly refers to a “lack of ILI Engineer to work on this project at this time.” Id. at 3 (2/1/10 entry).
See supra Section V.F.3.c.
Ex. CPSD-240 at OC- 303 Attachment 26, p. 3 (PSRS database entry for 5/3/09 reads: “Due to large scope of 

work, plan [to] spread[] capital upgrade over two years, starting in 2011 and completing in 2012. Inspection will 
occur in 2013.”)

Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 37.
CPSD OB at 107.
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885its MAOP. The PSRS report says nothing about the line having “‘manufacturing threats’ at 

Furthermore, CPSD fails to explain the budgetary or safety„ 886maximum operating pressure.

culture-related significance of this project. CPSD already has asserted violations relating to 

identification of manufacturing threats on Line 132 and planned pressure increases, 

may not seek additional penalties on this basis simply by discussing it under a different heading 

in its brief. As PG&E explained in detail in its response to CPSD’s allegations, PG&E reviewed 

data relating to manufacturing threats on Line 132 and appropriately concluded that Segment 180 

was not subject to a manufacturing threat that would require a long seam assessment, 

planned pressure increases were consistent with industry practice.

887 CPSD

888 PG&E’s
889 CPSD’s citing a document 

for the proposition that PG&E suspected an unspecified “manufacturing threat” does not 

demonstrate that PG&E had a deficient safety culture or that financial considerations caused it to 

operate an unsafe gas transmission system.

Leak repair project: Lastly, CPSD observes that on February 2, 2010, “PG&E repaired 

a circumferential weld leak on Line 132 caused by a ‘workmanship problem’ with the original
„890construction.

defects in very close proximity to Segment 180 at MP 39.28.”

Overland acknowledges that the San Bruno rupture “occurred on a longitudinal weld, not a girth 

Neither CPSD nor the NTSB has established that the referenced girth welds on Line 

Moreover, even if they were, the presence of substandard girth welds 

constitutes a construction threat, not a manufacturing threat related to the long seam of the pipe 

that would have triggered an obligation to assess the affected segments of Line 132 with a

CPSD also states that “[t]he NTSB also has confirmed several other girth weld

In discussing this project,891

„892weld.
893132 were substandard.

885 Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 37.
Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 37.
Ex. CPSD-1 at 42-49 (CPSD/Stepanian); CPSD OB at 43-44.
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-13 to 4-23 (PG&E/Keas); PG&E OB at 81-93.
Joint R.T. 783 (PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-14 (PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-25 (PG&E/Keas). 

Some operators believed such pressure increases were required by the regulations at the time. Joint R.T. 783 
(PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-14 (PG&E/Zurcher).

CPSD OB at 108 (citing Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-6 (CPSD/Harpster), Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 42 
(CPSD mistakenly cites Attachment 4 rather than 42)).

CPSD OB at 108 (citing Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-6 (CPSD/Harpster), Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 43).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-6 & n.16 (CPSD/Harpster).
As discussed supra in Section V.A.3, there is no evidence that any girth weld imperfections were outside of what 

is considered acceptable under the applicable welding standards.
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method capable of detecting seam defects, such as hydro testing. 894 CPSD makes no attempt to 

connect the repair of a circumferential (girth) weld to any budgetary constraints affecting 

PG&E’s efforts to ensure the safety of Line 132.

5. CPSD Has Not Proven That PG&E’s Safety Culture Was A 
Continuing Violation Of Section 451

CPSD alleges that PG&E’s “failure to place safety over profits” constituted a continuing 

violation of Section 451 from January 1, 1998 through September 9, 2010. 895 Putting aside that, 

as discussed above, CPSD has not proven any sort of violation based on PG&E’s safety culture, 

CPSD offers no explanation for its contention that this alleged continuing violation began on that 

date. Mr. Harpster compared PG&E’s actual expenditures to the imputed adopted amounts 

beginning in 1997, not 1998.896 Moreover, even if Mr. Harpster’s analysis were correct (which it 

is not), he found that PG&E spent more than the imputed adopted O&M amount in 1998. 897 He 

also found that PG&E spent $80 million more than the imputed adopted capex amounts in 2001 

and 2002898 and $35 million more than the imputed adopted safety-related capex from 2003 

through 2010,899 so it is hard to see how that could constitute a continuing violation. With regard 

to CPSD’s allegation that PG&E prioritized profits over safety by “reducing safety -related 

budgets,” CPSD offered little or no evidence regarding budgets for any year before 2008, and its 

own expert found that the record “does not contain many references to significant budget 

constraints prior to 2007.” 900 As these examp les illustrate, CPSD’s arbitrary and inexplicable 

selection of January 1, 1998 as the beginning of PG&E’s alleged continuing safety culture 

violation is on par with CPSD’s overall approach with respect to this alleged violation. CPSD 

never explains agains t what standard PG&E’s conduct should be judged or which specific acts 

prove that PG&E “fail[ed] to place safety over profits.”

894 Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S-2004), Appendix A § 4.3.
CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 10.
Ex. CPSD-170 at 7-8 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-170 at 7 (Table 3-2) (CPSD/Harpster). And Mr. Harpster offered no evidence that PG&E spent less 

than the imputed adopted amounts for safety-related O&M costs in any year. R.T. 83-85 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-170 at 8 (Table 3-3) (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-1 (CPSD/Harpster).
Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-4 (CPSD/Harpster).
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901VI. INTERVENORS LACK AUTHORITY TO ALLEGE VIOLATIONS

Based on the same evidentiary record addressed by CPSD, Intervenors collectively assert 

approximately 32 violations, 902 903many of which Intervenors allege as “continuing” violations.

As discussed below, all Intervenors lack the authority to independently assert violations in this 

enforcement proceeding. Additionally, the assertion of new violations after the close of 

evidence - whether by Intervenors or CPSD - violates PG&E’s due process right to notice of the 

charges and the opportunity to defend against them. 904 Cal. Const, art. I, § 7(a).

A. Only CPSD Can Allege Violations

PG&E has welcomed the participation of Intervenors and has not questioned their right to 

participate in enforcement proceedings. See Pub. Util. Code § 1801.3(a) (expressing legislative 

intent that intervenor compensation be available for all formal proceedings of the Commission). 

But their participation is limited in certain respects. One important limitation is that only the 

Commission’s enforcement staff has authority to allege violations in a Commission 

enforcement proceeding.

Prior to the post-hearing discussion among the parties of a common briefing outline, none 

of the Intervenors stated that they alleged any violation independent of and in addition to those 

alleged by CPSD. Nor had any Intervenor set forth any such violation that it alleged. PG&E

-initiated

901 against PG&E in one
combined discussion. This “Section VI” corresponds to and includes from the Common Outline the separate 
sections entitled “Other Allegations Raised By Testimony Of TURN,” “Other Allegations Raised By Testimony Of 
CCSF,” and “Other Allegations Raised By Testimony Of San Bruno.”

See TURN OB at 38-41; CCSF OB, Appendix B; San Bruno OB at 50-52. Due to vague language and 
duplication, the number of violations Intervenors allege is difficult to determine precisely. PG&E construed certain 
allegations as constituting one violation, though some are stated so broadly they could be counted differently.
TURN appears to allege two violations, although one allegation could be interpreted as alleging fifteen violations: 
“[t]he extent of PG&E’s deliberate pressure spiking (occurring fifteen times over a period of seven years) warrants a 
finding that PG&E violated PU Code 451.” TURN OB at 39. CCSF alleges nine violations, and the City of San 
Bruno twenty-one. CCSF OB, Appendix B; San Bruno OB at 50-52 (San Bruno asserts twenty numbered 
violations; however, number eleven references two code sections that PG&E allegedly violated.) Most, if not all, of 
the City of San Bruno’s alleged violations are duplications of CPSD’s newly 
“safety culture” violations.

CCSF explicitly alleges that all nine of its violations are continuing violations. The City of San Bruno asserts 
that the “safety culture” violation has been on -going “for decades.” TURN’S alleged violations also ap pear to be 
characterized as continuing violations, though TURN does not say so expressly. CCSF OB, Appendix B; San Bruno 
OB at 39, 52; TURN OB at 39-41.

On February 4, 2013, the ALJs issued a ruling permitting the Intervenors to separately make allegations in their 
opening briefs. The ruling indicated that PG&E’s concerns that such action was unlawful could be addressed in 
reply briefing. See Administrative Law Judges’ Ruling Adopting Revised Schedule and Common Briefing Outlines 
(Feb. 4, 2013).

For clarity, PG&E addresses the Intervenors’ improper assertion of alleged violations

902

-alleged emergency response and

903
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considered their testimony in the context of the violations CPSD was alleging, and determined 

how, if at all, it would respond.

At the January 29, 2013 status conference, TURN stated, “we don’t agree there is only 

one prosecutor here.

as prosecutor. See Investigation of Prime Time Shuttle International, Inc ., D.96-08 -034, 1996 

Cal. PUC LEXIS 854, at *108 (likening enforcement staff to a “prosecutor” and stressing the 

“separation of prosecutorial and quasi- judicial functions within the agency”). The staff 

prosecutor framework is consistent with several defining features of enforcement proceedings. 

Foremost, the Commission’s staff at all times bears the burden to prove al leged violations. See, 

e.g., Union Pacific Railroad Co ., D.93105, 1981 Cal. PUC LEXIS 1290, at *10 (“The staff had 

the burden of proof in this investigation.”); see also D.05-07-010, 2005 Cal. PUC LEXIS 294, at 

*22 (concluding that it would “violate^ California constitutional law” to place the burden of 

proof on respondents in an enforcement proceeding “where substantial property rights are at 

issue”). The Commission staff- here CPSD - possesses “the general investigatory authority of 

the Commission”, not the Intervenors.

Addressing the enforcement and investigatory power of the Commission’s staff, the 

Commission in the Oil cited both the Public Utilities Code and Government Code sections

3-> 905 TURN is mistaken. In enforcement cases, the Commission’s staff acts

-as-

906

11180-11191 that vest formal investigatory powers in the heads of state departments and

These provisions do not907authorize them to “make investigations and prosecute actions.” 

authorize the Commission to delegate its investigatory or enforcement authority to a private 

party, nor did the Commission attempt to do so in this proceeding. The Commission invited

“interested parties to actively participate,” and expected that the “the record in this proceeding 

and the Commission’s ultimate disposition will benefit from the expertise, participation, and 

evidence of other parti es.”908 The Commission did not and could not delegate its investigatory 

and enforcement authority to the Intervenors.

The Commission has stressed the importance of ensuring the prosecutorial independence 

of its enforcement staff. The U.S. Supreme Court agr ees. In concluding that “an agency’s

905 Joint R.T. 1272.
1.12-01-007 at 9.
Gov’t Code § 11180; Pub. Util. Code § 7; see also Application of Union Pac. R.R. Co ., D.09-05-020, 2009 Cal. 

PUC LEXIS 250 at *13-14 (explaining that the Commission may delegate its investigatory authority to its staff 
pursuant to Pub. Util. Code § 7).

1.12-01-007 at 9-10.

906

907

908
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decision not to exercise its enforcement authority, or to exercise it in a particular way, is 

committed to its absolute discretion,” the Supreme Court in Heckler v. Chaney , 470 U.S. 821 

(1985) explained:

[T]he agency must not only assess whether a violation has 
occurred, but whether agency resources are best spent on this 
violation or another, whether the agency is likely to succeed if it 
acts, whether the particular enforcement action requested best fits 
the agency’s overall policies, and, indeed, whether the agency has 
enough resources to undertake the action at all. An agency 
generally cannot act against each technical violation of the statute 
it is charged with enforcing. 909

CPSD’s prosecutorial independence and dis cretion would be usurped if Intervenors were 

permitted to prosecute and assert their own violations.

The analogy between agency enforcement proceedings and criminal prosecutions, 

endorsed by both the Commission and the U.S. Supreme Court, underscores the impermissibility 

of Intervenors alleging violations. Only a duly empowered prosecutor may file criminal charges. 

See, e.g., People v. Cortes, 71 Cal. App. 4th 62, 79 (1999) (discretion to prosecute includes the 

authority to decide “the type and number of crimes to charge” and is not ordinarily subject to 

judicial review). Similarly, the Commission’s staff has the exclusive authority to exercise the 

Commission’s prosecutorial function in enforcement proceedings, which includes deciding what 

violations to pursue. No private party, Intervenors included, may interfere with that authority by 

purporting to make competing charging decisions.

In line with these principles, the Commission has previously concluded that intervenors 

may not usurp certain core prosecutorial functions of its enforcement staff. Intervenors may not, 

for example, negotiate a settlement of violations; that prerogative belongs solely to the 

Commission’s staff. See, e.g., Application ofPac. Gas & Elec. Co ., D.97-08 -055, 1997 Cal.

910

909 Heckler, 470 U.S. at 831-32.
In 2008, FERC revised its regulations to clarify that intervention is not permitted as a matter of right in FERC 

proceedings arising from Section lb investigations. See Ex Parte Contacts and Separation of Functions, 125 FERC 
f 61,063 at P 9 (2008). In reaching that determination, FERC wrote:

We consider our views in line with judicial precedent on the subject of an 
agency’s considerable discretion in making enforc
discretion extends, among other things, to the decision whether to initiate an 
enforcement proceeding, as well as the conduct of the proceeding and any 
settlement efforts. Inclusion of third parties as a matter of right would 
necessarily cede a portion of the Commission’s discretion to those parties.

910

ement decisions. This
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PUC LEXIS 763, at *73 (“[t]he sanctity of the Commission’s rules is not a matter that private 

parties or the ORA [Office of Ratepayer Advocates] can settle”). The authority to settle is an 

essential incident of the enforcement authority and, as such, belongs to the Commission’s staff 

So too is the authority to allege violations.

Permitting Intervenors to allege violations would also be incompatible with the carefully 

calibrated procedures that apply in enforcement proceedings. Because the Commission can 

impose substantial fines, enforcement proceedings represent one of the most serious exercises of 

its regulatory authority. Appropriately, special procedural protections apply. One such 

safeguard is that only the Commission may initiate enforcement proceeding s.911 This restrictive 

procedure is in contrast with the procedure for bringing complaints, which may be filed by “any 

corporation or person.” 912 Enforcement proceedings must always be classified as 

“adjudicatory,” and respondents are therefore entitled to the procedural rights that apply in 

such proceedings.914 A scheme in which Intervenors could independently assert violations 

exposes the respondent (in this case PG&E) to procedural uncertainty and potential abuse of 

prosecutorial discretion.

Intervenors’ Post-Hearing Assertion Of Violations Violates Due ProcessB.

As demonstrated above, Intervenors cannot lawfully assert violations against PG&E.

Even if they could, alleging violations after the close of evidence violates due process.

Due process guarantees notice and a hearing before the state may deprive a person of his 

property.915 Each of these basic rights is essential; without fair notice, for instance, the right to a 

hearing would be worthless and hollow. See Fuentes, 407 U.S. at 80 (“Parties whose right s are 

to be affected are entitled to be heard; and in order that they may enjoy that right they must first 

be notified.” (citation and internal quotation marks omitted)). The right to notice is broader than 

the mere right to be informed of pending proceedings.

911 See Comm’n Rules of Practice & Proc., Rule 5.1; see also Order Instituting Rulemaking, D.06-03-013, 2006 Cal. 
PUC LEXIS 86, at *193-94 (the Commission must vote to issue an Oil and initiate a formal investigation).
912 Comm’n Rules of Practice & Proc., Rule 4.1(a)(1).
913 See Comm’n Rules of Practice & Proc., Rule 1.3(a).
914 See, e.g., Comm’n Rules of Practice & Proc., Rule 10.1 (discovery), Rule 8.3(b) (prohibition against ex parte 
communications); D.96-08-034, 1996 Cal. PUC LEXIS 854, at *108 (“separation of prosecutorial and quasi -judicial 
functions”).
915 See, e.g., Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67, 80 (1972).
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916The respondent is entitled to “notice of the charges” against it. Notice of the charges
917and a reasonable opportunity to respond are among the “basic” requirements of due process.

essential safeg uards of the “fundamentalThese “basic ingredients]” of fair procedure are 

principle of justice” that no party may be “prejudiced in [its] rights without an opportunity to

make [its] defense.” Pinsker v. Pac. Coast Soc’y of Orthodontists , 12 Cal. 3d 541, 555 (1974); 

see also Salkin, 176 Cal. App. 3d at 1122 (“The individual must have the opportunity to present a 

defense.” (citing Pinsker, 12 Cal. 3d at 555));

(without notice of the charges, the respondent would be denied “a reasonable opportunity to 

prepare and present [its] defense and not be taken by surprise by evidence offered” during the 

hearing). Notice of the charges is thus essential to the “fundamental” due process guarantee “to 

be heard ‘at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.

California courts have condemned the late assertion of new charges in administrative 

enforcement proceedings. In Rosenblit, for example, the court of appeal decried disciplinary

People v. Jones , 51 Cal. 3d 294, 317 (1990)

,,,918

proceedings in which the accused “was kept in the dark about the specific charges made ag ainst

919 Inhim” as being “a charade” and “offensive]” to “even an elementary sense of fairness.”

Smith v. State Bd. of Pharmacy , 37 Cal. App. 4th 229 (1995), the court denounced the board’s

. . elements” of due processmid-hearing change of legal theories as violative of “the basic .

because the respondent was “misled by the [initial] accusation” as to what charges he would 

have to defend against. 

statutory theory in the accusation

Qualifications, 14 Cal. 3d 678 (1975), the California Supreme Court held that a charge not 

“contained in the formal notice” of proceedings had to “be stricken as irrelevant.” 

holding, the Court relied on In re Ruffalo , which found a due process violation where a county 

bar association added a new charge midway through a disbarment proceeding.

920 “[Fundamental fairness,” the court concluded, “requires notice of the

Cannon v. Commission on Judicial,,921 And in

922 In so

923 The Ruffalo

916 Cleveland Bd. ofEduc. v. Loudermill , 470 U.S. 532, 546 (1985); accord Goss v. Lopez , 419 U.S. 565, 581 
(1975); In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. at 550 ; Rosenblit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1445- 48 (reversing hospital’s removal of a 
physician where he “was kept in the dark about the specific charges made against him”).

Salkin, 176 Cal. App. 3d at 1121 (quoting Hackethal v. Cal. Med. Ass’n, 138 Cal. App. 3d 435,442 (1982)). 
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976) (quoting Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552 (1965)). 
Rosenblit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1447-48.
Smith, 37 Cal. App. 4th at 242.

921 Smith, 37 Cal. App. 4th at 243 (emphasis added).
922 Cannon, 14 Cal. 3d at 695-96.
923 In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. at 552.

917

918

919

920
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Court found that procedure unconstitutional due to the “absence of fair notice as to... the 

precise nature of the charges ,” and emphasized that this deficiency “serious[ly] prejudice[d]” 

the respondent’s right to mount a defense, saying: “How the charge would have been met had it 

been originally included in those leveled against [the respondent] no one k nows.”924 See also 

Rosenhlit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1446 (“It is impossible to speculate how [the respondent] might 

have defended had he been informed of the specific problems with each patient.”). In each of 

these cases the reviewing court granted relief.

As of January 29, 2013, after the close of evidence, even CPSD, with which the 

Intervenors are allied, did not know whether the Intervenors would allege new violations or what 

they would be:

I don’t know that we know exactly how [Intervenors] are going to 
frame their allegations. It may be that all the allegations are 
already within the scope of the same, you know, state and federal 
laws that we’re alleging. So there may not be any new allegations 
of law. These are supplementary factual allegations. 925

PG&E as the respondent cannot be required to anticipate based on Intervenors’ testimony 

the violations against which it must defend in CPSD’s enforcement proceeding.

Rosenhlit, 231 Cal. App. 3d at 1446 (finding a due process violation where respondent had to 

undertake “a painstaking effort. . . to uncover the basis and scope of the allegations”). Even 

assuming Intervenors had lawful authority to charge violations, which they do not, the post

hearing assertion of violations against PG&E does not comport with due process requirements. 

See In re Rujfalo , 390 U.S. at 551 (“The charge must be known before the proceedings 

commence.”); Smith, 37 Cal. App. 4th at 243 (holding that an agency violated due process by 

raising a new legal theory midway thro ugh the hearing because due process “requires notice of 

the statutory theory in the accusation” (emphasis added)).

See, e.g. ,

924 In reRuffalo, 390 U.S. at 551-52 & n.4 (emphasis added).
925 Joint R.T. 1277.

164

SB GT&S 0486655



VII. CONCLUSION

PG&E accepts responsibility for the San Bruno pipeline accident and has made numerous 

changes to its management, organization and procedures to ensure that such an accident never 

happens again.

The task now facing the ALJ and the Commission is separating PG&E’s 

acknowledgement of responsibility and liability to the injured from the narrower question of 

PG&E’s compliance with laws and regulations. The Commission is bound to follow the law and 

make a decision based on the evidentiary record before it and an objective determination of 

whether CPSD has met its burden of proving violations. As detailed in PG&E’s opening brief 

and this reply, CPSD, aided by Intervenors, has failed to prove the vast majority of the violations 

it has alleged.
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REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX A

(1.12-01-007)

ADDITIONAL PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT926

Regulatory Background

In 1952, the American Society of Mechanical Engineers (ASME) published its 
first integrated pipeline safety standard, called the American Standard Code for 
Pressure Piping, Section 8, Gas Transmission and Distribution Piping Systems 
(ASA § B31.1.8, also referred to as ASME standards).

1.

The ASME standards were substantially revised in 1955 and have been revised 
thereafter over time.

2.

The Commission first adopted gas pipeline safety rules in December 1960, when 
it issued General Order (GO) 112, effective July 1961. See D.61269.

3.

GO 112 adopted, with modifications, what was then a voluntary industry standard 
(ASA B31.1.8 - 1958), and mandated that California gas utilities adhere to it.

4.

GO 112 exempted existing facilities from those provisions applicable to design, 
initial construction, initial inspection, and initial testing of new pipelines, thus 
grandfathering in Line 132, Segment 180 based on prior operating pressure 
history and did not require that existing pipelines be pressure tested to establish 
MAOP. D.61269 § 104.3.

5.

The Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act, enacted in 1968, was the first 
comprehensive federal pipeline safety law. Pub. L. 90-481, 82 Stat. 720 (1968).

6.

In November 1968, the Secretary of Transportation adopted existing state 
regulations, including the Commission’s, as interim standards, recognizing that a 
majority of the states utilized the standards contained in the 1968 edition of 
ASME B31.8. 33 Fed. Reg. 16,500, 16,500-01 (November 13, 1968).

7.

In August 1970, the Office of Pipeline Safety, within the Department of 
Transportation, promulgated final rules at 49 C.F.R. Parts 191 and 192 
establishing minimum federal safety standards, including reporting requirements 
(Part 191) and design, construction, operation, and maintenance requirements for 
natural gas pipeline facilities (Part 192).
1970).

8.

See 35 Fed. Reg. 13,247 (Aug. 19,

926 PG&E provides additional Proposed Findings of Fact in response to the numerous additional contentions and 
arguments CPSD and Intervenors asserted in their opening briefs.
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49 C.F.R. Part 192 exempted existing facilities from “those provisions ap plicable 
to design, initial construction, initial inspection, and initial testing of new 
pipelines.” 35 Fed. Reg. 13,247, 13,248.

9.

10. 49 C.F.R. § 192.619(c) “grandfathered” existing pipelines, such as Line 132, 
Segment 180, based upon prior operating pressure history, and did not require 
existing pipelines to be pressure tested to establish the appropriate MAOP. 35 
Fed. Reg. 13,247, 13,273; Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 34-35.

11. In promulgating Part 192, the Office of Pipeline Safety recognized that “many 
operators [were] not familiar with the recommended standards of the B31.8 
Code.” 35 Fed. Reg. 13,247, 13,250.

Effective April 30, 1971, the Commission adopted GO 112-C, incorporating the 
1970 federal pipeline regulations, 49 C.F.R. Part 192, in their entirety, a 
deleting references to ASME B31.8. D.78513 (adopting GO 112-C).

12.
nd

In 1994, Congress merged the Natural Gas Pipeline Safety Act and the Flazardous 
Liquid Pipeline Safety Act under the Pipeline Safety Act. Pub. L. No. 103-272, 
108 Stat. 1303-29 (1994).

13.

In 1995, the Commission adopted GO 112-E, which automatically incorporated 
all revisions to the federal regulations by reference.

14.

GO 112-E remains the primary GO governing gas transmission pipeline safety in 
California.

15.

In 2002, Congress enacted the Pipeline Safety Improvement Act, which 
established integrity management requirements for gas transmission pipelines in 
high consequence areas. Pub. L. No. 107-355, 116 Stat. 2985 (2002).

16.

In 2004, Congress also created the Pipeline and Flazardous Materials Safety 
Administration over the Office of Pipeline Safety to focus on safety as its highest 
priority. Pub. L. No. 108-426, 118 Stat. 2423 (2004).

17.

Effective February 14, 2004, the Pipeline and Flazardous Materials Safety 
Administration promulgated the first integrity management regulations at 49 
C.F.R. Part 192, Subpart O. Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 69.

18.

Legal Issues Of General Applicability

Clear And Convincing Evidentiary Standard

These enforcement proceedings, made up of this Oil proceeding and the related 
Records Oil and Class Location Oil, are the most significant enforcement 
proceedings the Commission has ever undertaken.

19.

2
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The Commission indicated that if violations were found in this Oil it was 
prepared to impose on PG&E “daily fines for the full duration of any 
violations, even if this encompasses a lengthy period of time.” 1.12-02-007 at 9.

20.
such

CPSD has alleged continuing violations spanning as many as 55 years (and 80 
years in the Records Oil). Should the Commission find even one such violation, 
PG&E would be subject to a minimum penalty of about $10 million and a 
maximum of roughly $140 million.
Telemanagement Corp. v. Pacific Bell, D. 95-01-044, 1995 Cal. PUC LEXIS 43, 
at *33-34 & n.34.

21.

See Pub. Util. Code § 2107; Marin

In imposing civil fines and penalties for asserted violations spanning more than 50 
years, the Commission is entrusted with the ability to impose fines that, as a 
practical matter, are almost without limit.

22.

The Commission has emphasized that its “remedial powers are not limited to its 
authority to impose civil penalties” and that it may order, in addition to fines and 
penalties, that PG&E “change or improve its maintenance, operations, or 
construction standards for gas pipelines” including an order “to implement the 
recommendations made in CPSD’s Report.” 1.12-01-007 at 10.

23.

The Commission has indicated that it may make rate adjustments based on 
findings of past violations. Order Instituting Rulemaking, D. 12-12-030 at 4.

24.

CPSD’s Evidentiary Showing

CPSD relies primarily on citation to its January 12, 2012 report (Ex. CPSD- 
(CPSD/Stepanian)), its August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony (Ex. CPSD- 
(CPSD/Stepanian)), and statements from the NTSB Report (Ex. CPSD-9) that 
CPSD incorporated into the January 12, 2012 report and the August 20, 2012 
rebuttal testimony. CPSD OB at 4-27, 33-80, Appendix A.

25. 1
5

26. CPSD’s opening brief mirrors the text of the January 12, 2012 report and the 
August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony, with minor modifications and incorporation 
of statements from the NTSB report. Compare Ex. CPSD-1 (CPSD/Stepanian) 
and Ex. CPSD-5 (CPSD/Stepanian) with CPSD OB at 4-27, 33-80.

27. Absent from CPSD’s opening brief are references or citations to PG&E’s written 
testimony or the testimony and documentary evidence PG&E submitted during 
the evidentiary hearings. CPSD OB at 4-27, 33-80, Appendix A.

Much of the evidence CPSD relies upon consists of unsupported conclusory 
allegations that were incorporated into testimony without any additional 
evidentiary support.

28.

CPSD’s nearly exclusive reliance on its own prior report and rebuttal testimony 
renders its evidentiary showing insufficient to meet its burden of proof.

29.

3
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PG&E Bears No Burden Of Proof

Failure to directly controvert proffered testimony does not transform its subjective 
character into conclusive truth. There are many reasons for which the 
Commission may properly choose to reject testimony.

30.

PG&E is not required to affirmatively disprove any evidence offered against it 
without reference to whether the proffered evidence meets the required standard 
of proof.

31.

32. For example, without explicitly referring to Mr. Gawronski’s testimony claiming 
a 1988 pinhole leak on line 132 was a “failure” under TIMP regulations, Ex. 
CCSF-1 at 5, PG&E presented evidence demonstrating that a pinhole leak is not 
considered a “failure” for integrity management purposes. Pinhole leaks are 
common in the industry and have been occurring without incident on pipeline 
systems since the industry began tracking them forty years ago. Joint R.T. 871 
(PG&E/Zurcher); PG&E OB at 82-84 (and citations contained therein); ASME 
B.318S at 34, 35.

33. PG&E’s submission of evidence and argument refuting the allegations against it 
does not constitute the assertion of an “affirmative defense” for which PG&E 
bears a burden of proof.

PG&E Is Not Required to Prove Its Conduct Was “Prudent” Or “Reasonable”

TURN and CCSF contend that, even if CPSD fails to prove any violations of law 
against PG&E, the Commission should make “prudence” or “reasonableness” 
determinations in this proceeding and that PG&E bears the burden of proof on 
such determinations. TURN OB at 6-8; CCSF OB at 5-6.

34.

35. The purpose of this enforcement proceeding is to “focus on PG&E’s past actions 
and omissions, to determine whether PG&E has violated laws requiring safe 
utility gas systems practi ces.” 1.12-01-007 at 10. That purpose does not include 
“reasonableness” or “prudence” determinations.

PG&E defended itself against alleged legal violations, not alleged lack of 
“prudence” or “reasonableness,” and the testimony and evidence PG&E proffered 
has been for that purpose. See, e.g., Ex. PG&E-l (PG&E/Various).

36.

PG&E did not receive notice before presenting its defense that it could be 
required to prove that its actions were “prudent” and “reasonable” in addition to 
not violating the law.

37.

Section 451 Is Not A Valid Source Of Pipeline Safety Requirements

CPSD relies on Public Utilities Code Section 451 to allege numerous safety 
violations. Ex. CPSD-1 at 3-4, 162 (CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. CPSD-5 at 1-

38.
3
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(CPSD/Stepanian); CPSD OB, Appendix C; CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C 
(fded April 18,2013).

Section 451 is a ratemaking provision of the Public Utilities Code.39.

CPSD did not produce evidence about whether PG&E furnished a level of service 
commensurate with the rates it received during the time period under 
investigation.

40.

CPSD did not offer testimony that PG&E’s past rates reflected the Commission’s 
past adoption of a “good engineering practices,” “best engineering practices 
available,” or “good utility safety practices” standard.

41.

CPSD did not offer testimony that PG&E’s past rates reflected the Commission’s 
past adoption of an “unreasonably dangerous” or “unreasonably unsafe” standard.

42.

Apart from references to the ASME B31.8 voluntary standard for the period from 
1956 to 1961, CPSD has not identified any industry practice, standard, or 
common understanding with which PG&E failed to comply in order to support its 
alleged Section 451 violations.

43.

In adopting GO 112 in 1960, the Commission twice described the existing ASA 
B31.8 standard as a “voluntary” industry standard. See D.61269 at 4, 6.

44.

Utilities opposed the original enactment of GO 112 on the ground that general 
adherence to the voluntary ASA B31.8 standard forestalled the need for 
regulation. D.. 61269 at 6.

45.

When the Commission adopted the ASA B31.8-1955 standard in GO 112, it 
modified it to make certain its provisions were “mandatory rather than left 
optional.” D.61269 at 11.

46.

When the Commission adopted GO 112, it did so without reference to Section 
451.

47.

To construe Section 451 as having mandated adherence to the ASA B31.8 
voluntary industry standard in the era prior to GO 112 renders the Commission’s 
GO 112 rulemaking superfluous in contravention of established rules of 
construction and interpretation.

48.

The Commission has never applied Section 451 to punish a utility for actions that 
do not violate applicable pipeline safety regulations. See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-1 at 24 
(CPSD/Stepanian) (conceding Line 132 pressure was below legal limits on 
September 9, 2010); Joint R.T. 828 (PG&E/Zurcher) (indicating awareness of no 
regulatory authority ever imposing fines for missing or inactive records).

49.
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50. CPSD’s prior audits and inspections of PG&E’s gas operations have not included 
a review for compliance with Section 451. See, e.g., Ex. PG&E-7 (Tabs 4-13, 4
14, 4-25); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario).

51. CPSD has audited PG&E’s facilities and records for decades without previously 
raising the violations it has asserted in this enforcement proceeding. See, e.g., Ex. 
PG&E-7 (Tabs 4-13, 4-14, 4-25); Ex. PG&E -1, Chapter 10, Appendices A & B 
(PG&E/Almario).

PG&E understood that in the past CPSD approved of many aspects of its risk 
management and integrity management programs. See, e.g., Ex. PG&E-7 (Tabs 
4-13, 4-14, 4-25); Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-1, 4-6, 4-11 to 4-12 (PG&E/Keas).

52.

CPSD has referred within this and related proceedings to the different 
expectations required under Section 451, including “good engineering practices,” 
“best engineering practices available,” “good utility safety practices,” and an 
“unreasonably dangerous” or “unreasonably unsafe” standard.

53.

The Commission has never given prior notice to California gas utilities that it 
views Section 451 as incorporating a “good engineering practices,” “best 
engineering practices available,” or “good utilities practices” requirement.
Ex. CPSD-5 at 1-3 (CPSD/Stepanian) (fded August 20, 2012).

54.

See

In its opening brief, CPSD repeatedly refers to “unreasonably dangerous” and 
“unreasonably unsafe” standards, which may be additional standards that CPSD 
seeks to impose through Section 451. CPSD OB at 31, 32, 34, 38, 39, 47, 50, 55, 
60,61,64, 65,68,75,83.

55.

CPSD has not identified any instance in which the Commission put utilities on 
notice during the period of allegedly violative conduct that the Commission views 
Section 451 as imposing an “unreasonably dangerous” or “unreasonably unsafe” 
standard.

56.

CPSD Improperly Alleged New Violations in Appendix C And Revised Appendix C

When it filed its opening brief on March 11, 2013, CPSD included Appendix C, 
listing 55 distinct violations alleged against PG&E.

57.

58. In its January 12, 2012 initial report, CPSD specified “PG&E’S VIOLATIONS 
OF APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS,” charging 18 violations.

CPSD had not previously alleged most of the 55 violations set forth in Appendix 
C, including all but one of 37 alleged continuing violations that CPSD claims go 
back as far as 54 years.

59.

On March 18, 2013 PG&E moved to strike Appendix C and to have the 
proceeding decided on CPSD’s original charges on the grounds that basic due 
process principles guarantee PG&E adequate prior notice of all the charges

60.
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against it, and CPSD’s assertion of new violations after the close of evidence fell 
far short of meeting that mandate. See PG&E’s Motion to Strike Appendix C, 
filed March 18, 2013.

61. On April 2, 2013, the ALJ granted in part and denied in part PG&E’s motion to 
strike. The ALJ struck Appendix C, but permitted CPSD to resubmit it after 
adding a column with “specific reference to where the Oil or one or more of its 
referenced documents provides PG&E with notice of the factual basis for the 
allegation. See Administrative Law Judge’s Ruling On Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company’s Motion to Strike Appendix C to the Opening Brief of the Consumer 
Protection and Safety Division, April 2, 2013

The April 2nd Ruling’s rationale for allowing CPSD to resubmit Appendix C was 
the following: “I do not find that the Commission intended Section X of the 
CPSD Report to be the exclusive charging document in this investigation. On the 
contrary, if a statement of alleged facts constituting a violation is set forth in the 
Oil or in its referenced documents, then PG&E had adequate notice prior to 
evidentiary hearings of the factual allegations that it needed to defend against.” 
See Administrative Law Judge’s Ruling On Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s 
Motion to Strike Appendix C to the Opening Brief of the Consumer Protection 
and Safety Division, April 2, 2013

62.

On April 8, 2013, CPSD filed a revised Appendix C that only addressed alleged 
violations related to emergency response.

63.

The ALJ issued another order on April 12, 2013, directing CPSD to submit a 
second revised Appendix C, addressing all 55 alleged violations with 
“reference[s] to where the Oil or one or more of its referenced documents 
provides PG&E with notice of the factual basis for the allegation.” 
Administrative Law Judge’s Ruling Addressing Motion of the Consumer 
Protection and Safety Division for Clarification and Setting Date for Reply Briefs, 
April 12. 2013 (the “April 12th Ruling”).

64.

See

On April 18, 2013, CPSD submitted its further revised Appendix C (“Revised 
Appendix C”).

65.

The references CPSD added in Revised Appendix C describe PG&E’s purported 
conduct and CPSD’s contention that the conduct was deficient in some manner.

66.

CPSD’s prior discussion of PG&E’s conduct, even where CPSD asserted a 
purported deficiency, does not provide notice to PG&E that, based on that 
conduct, CPSD is alleging or intends to allege a violation of law for which PG&E 
can be subject to fines, penalties and remedial directives.

67.

Even assuming prior notice of the factual basis for a later-alleged legal violation 
could satisfy constitutional requirements, many of the “references” in Revised 
Appendix C fail to demonstrate even that level of notice.

68.
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Proper “Continuing” OffensesCPSD Does Not Allege

69. CPSD asserted numerous “continuing violations” against PG&E for the first time 
in Appendix C, submitted March 11, 2013 with CPSD’s opening brief.

A continued result of a violation does not make that violation continuing for 
purposes of Section 2108. For example, if PG&E failed to visually inspect the 
pups during installation (and assuming that constitutes a violation of Section 451), 
that event occurred once in 1956, and not again every day thereafter through 
September 9, 2010.

70.

Once Segment 180 was installed it was unlikely that an occasion for internal 
visual inspection would arise because the pipe was in the ground and PG&E was 
not required or called upon in the normal course of business to conduct an internal 
visual inspection.

71.

With respect to CPSD’s alleged “continuing violations,” PG&E did not have 
notice and an opportunity to cure the violations CPSD asserts during the period of 
the allegedly violative conduct.

72.

Laches

CPSD has existed as a unit of the Commission in one form or another since the 
1950s.

73.

CPSD has been charged with oversight and regulation of utilities and as part of its 
duties has overseen and regulated PG&E’s gas operations for decades. Among 
the many activities involved in that oversight and regulation, have been numerous 
audits and inspections.

74.

Throughout a time period going up to January 2012, CPSD has made findings and 
asserted violations against PG&E when CPSD identified deficiencies.

75.

For the first time, in January 2012, CPSD asserted that deficiencies existed in 
PG&E’s Integrity Management Program and emergency plans that CPSD claims 
constitute legal violations though they were never raised in any audit or 
inspection. In Appendix C, CPSD claimed many more alleged violations, 
including “continuing violations” going back as far as 1970.

76.

CPSD audited PG&E’s Integrity Management program in 2005 and May 2010, 
and did not assert the numerous alleged violations CPSD’s opening brief contends 
permeated that program since at least 2003. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-1 3 and Tab 4
25).

77.

CPSD’s delay of between eight and forty -two years in asserting previously 
unidentified integrity management violations brought in this proceeding is 
unreasonable.

78.
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CPSD audited PG&E Operations, Management and Emergency Plan in August 
2010, and did not assert the violations now alleged against PG&E involving its 
emergency plans. CPSD OB, Appendix C at 4-6; Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, 
Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario).

79.

CPSD’s belated assertion of the alleged emergency plan violations that its 
opening brief claims began in August 2009 is unreasonable.

80.

CPSD’s unreasonable delay in asserting its violations related to PG&E’s Integrity 
Management Program and emergency plans subjects PG&E to substantially larger 
penalties and invasive remedial relief than would have been available had CPSD 
asserted these allegations in a timely manner.

81.

CPSD’s unreasonable delay in asserting its violations related to PG&E’s Integrity 
Management Program and emergency plans adversely impacting PG&E’s ability 
to defend against those alleged violations.

82.

Other Issues Of General Applicability

Automated Valves And Hindsight

Prior to September 9, 2010, the use of closely-spaced automated valves on gas 
transmission pipelines was not the industry norm. Ex. PG&E-l at 5-17 
(PG&E/Zurcher); R.T. 340 (PG&E/Almario).

83.

Neither Federal pipeline regulations nor GO 112-E mandate that automated valves 
be installed in any minimum numbers or at any particular distance along 
transmission pipelines. See 49 C.F.R. § 192.935(c).

84.

Automated valves do not prevent ruptures. Ex. CPSD-1 at 105 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

85.

86. Automated valves would not prevent the “vast majority of injuries, fatalities and 
property damage associated with a catastrophic pipeline” event. Ex. CPSD -1 at 
105 (CPSD/Stepanian); Joint R.T. 820-21 (PG&E/Zurcher).

There remain various views regarding the installation of automated valves and 
their overall effectiveness of restricting damage in the event of a rupture on a 
transmission pipeline. Ex. CPSD-1 at 105 (CPSD/Stepanian) R.T. 340 
(PG&E/Almario).

87.

In 1999, the Department of Transportation “acknowledged that there had been 
insufficient studies on the reduction of property damage with the use of RCVs 
[remote control valves] or AS Vs [automated safety valves],” collectively known 
as “automated valves.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 105 (CPSD/Stepanian).

88.

The San Bruno accident on September 9, 2010, changed the way industry, 
regulators, lawmakers, and the public view pipeline safety and the actions that

89.
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should be taken to best ensure it. Increased use of automated valves is among 
those changes. See, e.g., Pub. Util. Code § 957 (mandating automated valves in 
certain situations).

Since the San Bruno accident, PG&E has committed to install more automated 
valves throughout the gas transmission system. Ex. PG&E-l at 8 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); R.T. 341-42 (PG&E/Almario); Joint R.T. 195 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky).

90.
-17 to 8-19

PG&E’s Post Accident Improvement Efforts

PG&E’s actions to enhance the safety of its gas operations following the San 
Bruno accident are a combination of, among other things, remedial actions to 
improve identified shortcomings, new initiatives to respond to changed 
expectations and safety standards, good -faith response to directives by the 
Commission, recommendations by the NTSB and the IRP, and internally- 
identified programs focused on top to bottom improvement in PG&E’s gas 
operations.

91.

PG&E’s efforts since the San Bruno accident to enhance the saf ety of its gas 
operations do not demonstrate that PG&E violated the law prior to the accident.

92.

93. PG&E’s improvement actions will meet and in some instances exceed new 
regulatory and industry standards. Ex. PG&E-l at 8- 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); R.T. 1003 (PG&E/Yura); R.T. 1004 
(PG&E/Yura); Ex. PG&E-l at 13-9 (PG&E/Yura).

1

PG&E is seeking to become certified under the Publicly Available Specification 
55 (PAS-55). R.T. 1015-17 (PG&E/Yura).

94.

The evidence demonstrates that the industry as a whole is confronting many of the 
same issues that PG&E is addressing following the San Bruno accident. Ex. 
PG&E-l at 5-4 to 5-8 (PG&E/Zurcher); Joint R.T. 21-22, 662-63, 706-08, 710-13 
(PG&E/Zurcher); Joint R.T. 487 (PG&E/Harrison).

95.

Credibility And Competency Of Witnesses

The reports utilized by CPSD and the Intervenors (NTSB, IRP) contain multiple 
levels of hearsay. It would be inequitable to reject PG&E witness testimony on 
the basis of hearsay, while allowing CPSD and the Intervenors to rely on hearsay 
in their case in chief.

96.

The practice in Commission proceedings is to present witnesses who start with a 
broad foundational knowledge on a subject, who then gather, learn and come 
prepared to testily about the additional issues or topics involved in their aspect of 
the proceeding.

97.
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98. Presenting as a witness the “most knowledgeable” person on each topic and issue 
involved in this proceeding would involve many witnesses, substantially 
extending the duration and increasing the complexity of the evidentiary hearing 
and record.

Consultants are hired based on the depth and quality of their knowledge, their 
experience, and the integrity that their opinions carry.

99.

All consultants are paid for their work; a financial interest does not indicate a lack 
of credibility.

100.

PG&E’s consultant w itnesses possess extensive knowledge, experience, and 
integrity, and are credible.

101.

PG&E’sSafety Culture And Financial Priorities

102. CPSD’s expert Mr. Harpster (Overland Consulting) did not present an analysis of 
how PG&E’s actual expenditures compared to wha t PG&E should have spent to 
run a safe and reliable gas transmission system. Ex. CPSD-168 at 1- 
(CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 56 (CPSD/Harpster).

2

103. Mr. Harpster did not consistently present an analysis of PG&E’s actual 
expenditures compared to PG&E’s budgets or in temal forecasts. Ex. CPSD-168 
at 2-8 to 2-10 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 116-18, 124-26, 133-35 (CPSD/Harpster).

CPSD did not introduce evidence relating to the sufficiency of PG&E’s requests 
for GT&S O&M funding in the GT&S rate cases.

104.

Mr. O’Loughlin correc tly reflected the imputed adopted O&M costs associated 
with Line 401 during the Gas Accord I period. Ex. PG&E-10, MPO -1 at 35-36 
(PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. PG&E -13 at 38; Ex. PG&E-10, MPO 
(PG&E/O’Loughlin); R.T. 577 -78 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). In any even 
O’Loughlin’s treatment of those costs had only a minor effect on his comparison 
of PG&E’s actual O&M costs to the imputed adopted amounts and did not affect 
his capex comparison at all. Ex. CPSD-170 at 16-17 (CPSD/Harpster).

105.

-3 at 4-6
t, Mr.

CPSD did not connect the information about declines in GT&S union and gas 
distribution headcounts to information about the amount of work completed or 
any other factors potentially relating to safety. Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-1, 6-5, 6-6, 7-1 
(CPSD/Harpster).

106.

Contractors played an important role in performing GT&S work, particularly 
capital projects. Ex. CPSD-224 at OC-257 Attachment 2, p. 37; Ex. CPSD-226 at 
OC-259 Attachment 4, p. 9.

107.

Overland’s analysis of GT&S staffing is incomplete because it did not include 
information about contractor staffing. Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-1 to 6-6 
(CPSD/Harpster).

108.
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GT&S headcount increased in important safety-related areas, including integrity 
management. Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-3 to 6-4 (CPSD/Harpster).

109.

The evidence did not show that GT&S capital budgets were constrained at any 
point in time. Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-4, 4-3 (CPSD/Harpster).

110.

The reduction in GT&S’s capital budget during 2009 did not detrimentally affect 
safety. Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-5, 8-9 to 8-10 (CPSD/Harpster).

111.

CPSD did not introduce evidence regarding PG&E’s spending on the transmission 
portion of the Gas Pipeline Replacement Program (GPRP) or its progress on 
replacing the transmission pipe in the GPRP prior to the transfer of the 
transmission pipe in the GPRP to the Risk Management Program (RMP) in 2000.

112.

PG&E did not move transmission pipe out of the GPRP and into its new RMP in 
2000 solely as a cost a reduction initiative. To the contrary, the RMP provided a 
more comprehensive way of evaluating and mitigating risk on the gas 
transmission system. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-2 to 4-3 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. CPSD-186 at 
OC-68 Attachment 12, p. 60; PG&E Gas Transmission Facilities Risk 
Management Annual Report
http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/62C87F54-8558-4C5D-92FB- 
124C15325FB2/0/2000PGEGTSRiskManagementAnnualReport.pdf.

113.

available at2000 at 2,

PG&E’s development of the RMP anticipated the regulatory and industry 
progression toward a risk management approach. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-2 to 4- 
(PG&E/Keas).

114.
3

115. PG&E informed CPSD’s Utilities Safety Branch (USB) of its plan to 
transmission pipe from the GPRP. The USB concurred in this approach and 
commented favorably on the RMP. PG&E, Gas Pipeline Replacement Program, 
2000 Annual Progress Report, pp. 2, 28, Appendix II (April 20, 2000 letter from 
Mahendra Jhala, Chief, USB to Shan Battacharya, Vice President, PG&E), 
available at
A8C4-8C005E588D74/0/GPRP2000AnnualReport.pdf.

remove

http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/5301B509-4ED8-41A2-

CPSD did not offer evidence showing that PG&E spent less on transmission pipe 
risk mitigation after 2000, when it transferred transmission pipe out of the GPRP 
and into the RMP, than it spent to replace transmission pipeline in prior years 
under the GPRP.

116.

PG&E continued to manage transmission system risk after the transition to the 
RMP. See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-225 at OC-258 Attachment 1.

117.

The record did not show expense budget constraints prior to the 2008 budget year. 
Ex. CPSD-168 at 1-4 (CPSD/Harpster).

118.

The preliminary GT&S work plan for the upcoming year typically would include 
every project that might be completed in the upcoming year, without necessarily

119.
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taking into account the broader GT&S plan for the upcoming year or factors such 
as the availability of contractor resources. Ex. CPSD-229 at OC-262, p. 2.

The preliminary plan would be reviewed and revised during the year based on 
input from individuals across the GT&S organization before being submitted to 
Finance as a formal request for funding, typically in the fall. Ex. CPSD-229 at 
OC-262, p. 2; Ex. CPSD-182 at OC-63 Attachment 1, pp. 10-11.

120.

GT&S managers and engineers communicated openly about the potential 
implications of budget and planning decisions to help others make informed 
decisions about which work to include in the proposed budget and which work 
ultimately to fund and complete within the approved budget.
CPSD-186 at OC-68 Attachment 3, p. 2; Ex. CPSD-186 at OC-68 Attachment 2,
p. 18.

121.

See, e.g., Ex.

Work was prioritized both within GT&S and across the utility so that the most 
important safety-related work would be completed. See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-185 at 
OC-67 Attachment 7, p. 28; Ex. CPSD-182 at OC-63 Attachment 1, p. 13; Ex. 
CPSD-261 at OC-347 Attachment 1.

122.

Finance regularly requested information about the risk of not funding particular 
categories of work as a part of the budget and planning process. See, e.g., Ex.
CPSD-261 at OC-347 Attachment 1; Ex. CPSD-224 at OC-257 Attachments 5 &

123.

5 a.

Critical safety work was considered “mandatory” in the budgeting and planning 
process. Ex. CPSD-304 at 14-7; Ex. CPSD-185 at OC-67 Attachment 7, p. 28.

124.

Decisions to defer or change specific projects were made with the input and 
involvement of the engineers and managers closest to the work. See Ex. CPSD- 
227 at OC-260 Attachment 1; Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259 Attachment 4, pp. 8-9. If 
adjustments to plans were needed to stay within approved funding levels, the 
individuals charged with managing the GT&S budget would ask those responsible 
for the work itself to identify projects that could be deferred without 
compromising compliance or safety. Ex. CPSD-168 at 8-6 (CPSD/FIarpster) 
(quoting OC-262 Attachment 4).

125.

Making a section of pipe piggable to run an ILI tool requires a physical upgrade. 
At a minimum it requires installing pig launching and receiving stations, and 
could include removing sharp bends in the pipeline, replacing non-piggable 
valves and making the pipe uniform in diameter. Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-10) at 
GTR0007130-32, GTR0007154-55 (PG&E RMP 11 at 13-15 and 37-38). 
Preparing a pipeline to be pigged can take up to three years, and the costs to 
upgrade the pipeline make up the majority of the costs for conducting ILI. Ex. 
CPSD-233 at OC-274.

126.

Decisions about which planned integrity management assessments could be 
deferred were grounded in engineering judgments. The engineers responsible for

127.
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the integrity management program selected the assessments that could be delayed 
without jeopardizing compliance or safety. Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259 Attachment 
4, p. 9; Ex. CPSD-227 at OC-260 Attachment 1.

Decisions about which planned integrity management assessments could be 
changed were grounded in engineering judgments. The engineers responsible for 
the integrity management program and most knowledgeable about the 
characteristics of the specific pipelines identified which planned integrity 
management assessments reasonably could be changed from ILI to ECDA 
without compromising safety or compliance. Ex. CPSD-227 at OC-260 
Attachment 1; Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259 Attachment 4, p. 8.

128.

PG&E continued to use ILI for a significant number of assessments after 2007.
Ex. CPSD-168 at 6-8 (Table 6-7) (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. CPSD-258 (OC-343); Ex. 
CPSD-233 (OC-274).

129.

There is no evidence that any integrity management assessment change or deferral 
violated the integrity management regulations or otherwise raised a safety 
concern.

130.

The GPRP as implemented in 1985 was not intended to replace all pipelines, or 
even to replace all pipelines installed prior to a certain point in time. Rather, with 
regard to transmission pipe, the GPRP was a targeted effort to replace pre-1947 
transmission pipe that was welded using the oxyacetylene (oxy-butt) technique or 
constructed using bell-bell chill ring (BBCR) or bell and spigot (BLSP) girth joint 
configurations. Ex. CPSD-166 at Exhibit 2, pp. 4-6; Ex. CPSD-165 at 92-93, 159. 
These types of outdated girth welds and joint configurations are particularly 
susceptible to ground movement-related failure. Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S- 
2004) at p. 47, Appendix A, Section A4.3.

131.

PG&E never planned to replace all of Line 132 under the GPRP. Ex. CPSD-1 66 
at Exhibit 2, p. 4, 6.

132.

Segment 180 was never within the scope of the GPRP. The girth welds on 
Segment 180 did not fall within the scope of the GPRP program, as they were 
constructed in 1956, after the outdated girth welding techniques were replaced 
with more modem methods. Ex. CPSD-166 at Exhibit 2, pp. 4, 5; PG&E-l at 2-1, 
2-3 (PG&E/Harrison); Tateosian Depo. Vol. II at 463.

133.

CPSD did not offer evidence showing that the selection of ECDA for Line 132 
was driven by budgetary constraints and not based on engineering judgment.

134.

PG&E deferred the project to replace Line 132 from mile point 42.13 to mile 
point 43.55 based on engineering judgments, not budgetary constraints. PG&E- 1 
at 12-3 to 12-4 (PG&E/Martinelli); Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 10, p.
4; Ex. TURN-4.

135.
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The deferral of a project to upgrade a portion of Line 132 to make it piggable had 
no effect on Segment 180 and the deferral was not caused by budgeting 
constraints. The project was not originally scheduled to be completed before 
2010 and was never intended to include Segment 180. Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 
Attachment 26.

136.

The PSRS report relating to a planned pressure increase on Line 132 in 2008 does 
not reflect that PG&E placed profits over safety or that it operated an unsafe 
transmission system. Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 37; Ex. PG&E-lc at 
4-13 to 4-23 (PG&E/Keas); Joint R.T. 783 (PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-14 
(PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-25 (PG&E/Keas).

137.

The PSRS report relating to a leak repair project on Line 132 in 2010 does not 
reflect that PG&E placed profits over safety or that it operated an unsafe 
transmission system. Ex. CPSD-240 at OC-303 Attachment 42; Ex. Joint-28 
(ASME B31.8S-2004), Appendix A, Section A4.3.

138.

Intervenors Lack Authority To Allege Violations

Intervenors collectively assert approximately 32 violations. See TURN OB at 38
41; CCSF OB, Appendix B; San Bruno OB at 50-52.

139.

140. Many of the violations Intervenors allege are “continuing” violations. See TURN 
OB at 38-41; CCSF OB, Appendix B; San Bruno OB at 50-52.

CCSF alleges that all nine of its violations are continuing violations. CCSF OB, 
Appendix B. The City of San Bruno asserts that the alleged “safety culture” 
violation has been on- going “for decades.” San Bruno OB at 50 -52. TURN’S 
alleged violations also appear to be characterized as continuing violations, though 
TURN does not say so expressly. TURN OB at 38-41.

141.

The Commission invited the participation of third parties, but did not delegate its 
investigative and enforcement authority to intervenors. 1.12-01-007 at 9-10.

142.

The Commission has stressed the importance of ensuring the prosecutorial 
independence of its enforcement staff. CPSD’s prosecutorial independence and 
discretion would be impacted if Intervenors were permitted to prosecute and 
assert their own violations.

143.

As of January 29, 2013, after the close of evidence, CPSD did not know whether 
the Intervenors would allege new violations or what they would be. Joint R.T. 
1277.

144.
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REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX B

(1.12-01-007)

ADDITIONAL PROPOSED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW92?

Legal Issues Of General Applicability

Clear And Convincing Evidentiary Standard

The unprecedented scope and significance of these enforcement proceedings 
justify the use of the clear and convincing evidence standard as to each allegation 
alleged by CPSD.

1.

The clear and convincing evidence standard necessitates that CPSD establish each 
asserted violation by evidence so clear as to leave no substantial doubt and 
sufficiently strong to command the unhesitating assent of every reasonable mind. 
In re Angelia P., 28 Cal. 3d 908, 919 (1981).

2.

Burden Of Proof

PG&E is not required to prove its conduct was “prudent” or “reasonable” in this 
enforcement proceeding.

3.

The inquiry in this enforcement proceeding did not include whether PG&E’s 
actions were reasonable or prudent in the context of rate setting or rate recovery.

4.

Requiring PG&E to affirmatively prove that its conduct was prudent or 
reasonable would violate the California Constitution.

5.

Accepting purportedly “uncontroverted” evidence as necessarily correct would 
improperly shift the burden of proof to PG&E.

6.

Failure to directly controvert proffered testimony does not transform its subjective 
nature into conclusive truth.

7.

There are many reasons by which the Commission may properly choose to reject 
testimony. PG&E is not required to affirmatively disprove any evidence offered 
against it without reference to whether the proffered evidence meets the required 
standard of proof.

8.

The only affirmative defense PG&E has asserted is laches.9.

An affirmative defense is a legal theory upon which a defendant can exonerate 
itself even where the allegations against it are conclusively proven as true.

10.

927 PG&E provides additional Proposed Conclusions of Law in response to the numerous additional contentions and 
arguments CPSD and Intervenors asserted in their opening briefs.
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11. PG&E’s submission of testimony and evidence refuting CPSD’s and Intervenors’ 
evidence and allegations does not constitute an affirmative defense for which 
PG&E bears the burden of proof.

CPSD bears the burden of proving with competent evidence every violation it 
alleges against PG&E.

12.

A conclusory allegation asserted without evidentiary support is not sufficient to 
satisfy CPSD’s burden of proof.

13.

14. CPSD’s primary reliance on its conclusory allegations in its January 12, 2012 
report and rebuttal testimony renders its evidentiary showing insufficient to meet 
the required burden of proof.

Requiring PG&E to affirmatively disprove conclusory allegations without 
evidentiary support would improperly shift the burden of proof on to PG&E.

15.

Section 451 Is Not A Valid Source Of Pipeline Safety Requirements

Interpreting Section 451 as imposing a general safety obligation on utilities would 
be contrary to the statutory text and structure.

16.

17. To interpret Section 451 as imposing a “best engineering practices available” 
standard, a “good engineering practices” standard or a “good utilities safety 
practices” standard would render superfluous provisions of the Public Utilities 
Code and Commission regulations that require safety measures.

18. To interpret Section 451 as incorporating either an “unreasonably dangerous” or 
“unreasonably unsafe” standard would render superfluous provisions of the Public 
Utilities Code and Commission regulations that require safety measures.

Carey v. Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. , 85 CPUC 2d 682, 689 (1999), determined that 
Section 451 ’s reasonable service clause is not void for vagueness because 
reasonableness can be ascertained by reference to an existing “definition, standard 
or common understanding among utilities.”

19.

The reasoning of Carey v. Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. , 85 CPUC 2d 682, 689 (1999) is 
inconsistent with CPSD’s use of Section 451 that creates a heretofore unforeseen 
and broad standard that “[a]ny unsafe condition or violation of a utility safety 
practice may be a violation of Section 451.”

20.

PacBell Wireless, EEC (Cingular) v. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 140 Cal. App. 4th 718 
(2006) is not controlling because the utility in Cingular had notice that its conduct 
“in this instance” was unlawful through prior Commission decisions and 
marketplace reactions to those practices.

21.

PacBell Wireless, LL C (Cingular) v. Pub. Util. Comm’n , 140 Cal. App. 4th 718 
(2006) is not controlling because it concluded that the use of Section 451 was not

22.

2

SB GT&S 0486673



void for vagueness “in application” to the Cingular case; the decision does not 
stand for the broad proposition that every use of Section 451 to allege safety 
violations is permissible.

23. CPSD’s inconsistent articulation of the standard that it seeks to enforce under 
Section 451 underscores the impropriety of CPSD’s reliance on Section 451 in 
this proceeding.

PG&E cannot be held to have had notice of what Section 451 requires, or what it 
prohibits, when the standard it purportedly imposes is infinitely broad and 
CPSD’s attempts to define that standard have repeatedly changed.

24.

Sanctioning CPSD’s use of Section 451 in the manner it has used it here would 
violate the California Constitution.

25.

The Due Process Clause of the California Constitution precludes the Commission 
from applying CPSD’s proposed “good utility practices,” “best engineering 
practices” or “good engineering practices” standard pursuant to Section 451 in 
this proceeding because PG&E did not have notice of that standard prior to the 
enforcement action.

26.

The Due Process Clause of the California Constitution precludes the Commission 
from applying CPSD’s proposed “unreasonably dangerous” or “unreasonably 
unsafe” standard pursuant to Section 451 in this proceeding because PG&E did 
not have notice of that standard prior to the enforcement action.

27.

Due process requires that laws that regulate persons or entities give fair notice of 
conduct that is forbidden or required.

28.

Nothing in the Commission’s 1960 decision adopting GO 112 gave notice of 
CPSD’s proposed “good utility practices,” “best engineering practices” or “good 
engineering practices” standard or gave notice that Section 451 serves as an open- 
ended source of pipeline safety rules.

29.

Nothing in the Commission’s 1960 decision adopting GO 112 gave notice of 
CPSD’s proposed “unreasonably dangerous” or “unreasonably unsafe” standard 
or gave notice that Section 451 serves as an open-ended source of pipeline safety 
rules.

30.

The Commission’s statement in adopting GO 112, that GO 112 did not “remove 
or minimize the primary obligation and responsibility” of the utilities to provide 
safe service and facilities, is too vague and isolated to provide adequate notice 
based on Section 451 of what conduct was prescribed or required.

31.

Section 451 does not by its terms give notice of a safety standard.32.
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Fair notice concerns are especially weighty in this proceeding given the 
Commission’s indication that it may impose significant penalties and other 
remedial relief.

33.

Section 451 did not incorporate the ASME B31.8 standard prior to 1961.34.

As the Commission recognized in its decision adopting GO 112, ASA B31.8 
(1958) was a voluntary industry standard prior to GO 112.

35.

In issuing GO 112, the Commission adopted mandatory gas pipeline safety 
regulations for the first time in California.

36.

Section 451 cannot have mandated adherence to ASA B31.8 prior to 1961 
because, if it did, GO 112 would have been a needless exercise in Commission 
rulemaking.

37.

CPSD Improperly Alleged New Violations In Appendix C

Among the “basic” requirements of due process are notice of the charges and a 
reasonable opportunity to respond.

38.

These “basic ingredients]” of fair procedure are essential safeguards of the 
“fundamental principle of justice” that no party may be “prejudiced in [its] rights 
without an opportunity to make [its] defense.” Pinsker v. Pac. Coast Soc’y of 
Orthodontists, 12 Cal. 3d 541, 555 (1974).

39.

California courts have condemned the late assertion of new charges in 
administrative enforcement proceedings. See, e.g., Rosenhlit v. Superior Court , 
231 Cal. App. 3d 1434(1991).

40.

Due process requires that an accused receive notice of the charge, i.e., what the 
charge is and that it is being asserted, not merely notice of facts that may or may 
not later be the basis for charging a violation of law.

41.

The references in CPSD’s Revised Appendix C to documents that provided 
PG&E prior notice “of the factual basis” for legal violations CPSD did not allege 
until after the close of evidence do not demonstrate constitutionally-sufficient 
notice of the alleged violations.

42.

As a matter of law, the references in Revised Appendix C do not demonstrate that 
PG&E received adequate prior notice of the new violations CPSD alleges.

43.

The due process defect in Revised Appendix C is more pronounced with respect 
to CPSD’s alleged “continuing violations,” which increased from 1 in the January 
12, 2012 report to 37 in Revised Appendix C, increasing by several orders of 
magnitude the potential fines and penalties to which PG&E is exposed.

44.
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Absent a prior, specific allegation of a violation of law, including whether the 
alleged violation is purportedly a continuing one, CPSD has not satisfied its 
constitutional obligation to put PG&E on notice of the legal charges against it in a 
time and manner that permits PG&E to defend itself against those legal charges.

45.

The appropriate result, and the one consistent with due process, is to strike or 
ignore Appendix C in its entirety and permit CPSD to pursue only the alleged 
violations stated in Section X of CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report, which were the 
only alleged violations for which PG&E had constitutionally-adequate notice.

46.

CPSD Does Not Allege Proper “Continuing” Offenses

Public Utilities Code Section 2108 applies to violative conduct that continues 
over time, not to specific instances of violations.

47.

Section 2108 applies to the violation itself, not the effect of the violation. A 
violation does not become “continuing” because the effect continues.

48.

49. CPSD’s assertion of continuing violations transgresses the rule of narrow 
construction that applies to statutes that permit the aggregation of daily penalties.

Section 2108 applies only to violations that are curable.50.

The Commission requires notice and an opportunity to cure a violation as 
prerequisites to imposing fines for continuing violations.

51.

CPSD’s “continuing violation” theory would impermissibly expose PG&E to 
excessive and unreasonable penalties in violation of the California Constitution.

52.

CPSD’s alleged “continuing violations” are improper because PG&E did not have 
prior notice of CPSD’s view of what qualifies as a continuing violation under 
Section 2108.

53.

Laches

Laches bars CPSD’s alleged continuing violations related to PG&E’s Integrity 
Management Program and emergency plans.

54.

A respondent in an enforcement proceeding may demonstrate laches by showing 
that the agency unreasonably delayed and the respondent suffered prejudice.

55.

Laches is presumed where an agency’s delay would violate an analogous statute 
of limitations, and the burden shifts to the agency to show that its delay was 
excusable and that the respondent did not suffer prejudice.

56.

The analogous statute of limitations in this proceeding is the one-year limitations 
period set forth in Code of Civil Procedure Section 340(b).

57.
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CPSD unreasonably delayed in alleging violations of pervasive and continuing 
deficiencies in PG&E’s Integrity Management Program and erne rgency plans 
dating back as far as 1970.

58.

CPSD’s delay of between eight and forty -two years in asserting previously 
unidentified integrity management violations brought in this proceeding is 
unreasonable.

59.

CPSD’s delay in asserting alleged emergency plan 
August 2009 is unreasonable.

violations dating back to60.

CPSD’s unreasonable delay in asserting its violations related to PG&E’s Integrity 
Management Program and emergency plans subjects PG&E to substantially larger 
penalties and invasive remedial relief than would have been available had CPSD 
asserted these allegations in a timely manner.

61.

CPSD’s unreasonable delay in asserting its violations related to PG&E’s Integrity 
Management Program and emergency plans adversely impacting PG&E’s ability 
to defend against those alleged violations.

62.

63. CPSD’s unreasonable delay in alleging these violations prejudiced PG&E.

CPSD cannot rebut the evidentiary presumption of laches.64.

Other Issues Of General Applicability

Hindsight

CPSD has not shown that PG&E knew of the existence of the six pup sections in 
Segment 180 prior to September 9, 2010.

65.

Because PG&E was not aware of the pups in Segment 180 and had records that 
contained pipe attribute information for Segment 180, it was not required to apply 
a conservative value pursuant to 49 C.F.R. § 192.107 when determining the 
appropriate SMYS value for that segment.

66.

Prior and current regulations do not indicate that DSAW pipe is subject to a long 
seam manufacturing threat.

67.

The severe defects in the pups in Segment 180 cannot be properly considered 
“manufacturing defects” that alter whether DSAW pipe is or was considered 
subject to a long seam manufacturing threat.

68.

Prior to September 9, 2010, neither federal pipeline regulations nor GO 112- 
mandated that automated valves be installed in a minimum number or at particular 
intervals along natural gas transmission pipelines.

69. E
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-accident improvements to prove culpable70. Allowing the use of PG&E’s post 
conduct in this enforcement proceeding would violate public policy because, 
among other things, it would discourage actions that could improve safety and 
prevent future accidents in contravention of the public’s interest.

The Credibility And Competency Of PG&E Witnesses

71. Objections to the testimony of PG&E’s witnesses based on hearsay or personal 
knowledge are not well-founded and do not support excluding that testimony.

CPSD and the Intervenors rely on reports that contain hearsay; the parties use 
such reports to assert the truth of the matter.

72.

The IRP report contains hearsay and is utilized by CPSD and the Intervenors in an 
attempt to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

73.

The NTSB report contains hearsay and is utilized by CPSD and the Intervenors in 
an attempt to prove the truth of the matter asserted.

74.

Rejecting the testimony of PG&E’s witnesses because of a hearsay objection is 
contrary to common practice under the Commission’s Rules of Practice and 
Procedure.

75.

It is common practice in Commission proceedings to present witnesses who have 
some knowledge based on personal experience but have obtained knowledge of a 
wider range of issues by talking to others and/or reviewing relevant materials.

76.

The determination as to the credibility of a witness is reserved for the trier of fact.77.

PG&E’sSafety Culture And Financial Priorities

CPSD did not prove that PG&E violated Section 451 by failing to prioritize safety 
over profits.

78.

It is not improper to base the imputed adopted O&M and capex amounts on the 
settlement revenue requirements. To the contrary, where the adopted amounts are 
not expressly set forth in the settlement agreement and related materials, the 
imputed adopted amounts should correspond as closely as possible to the 
settlement revenue requirements and rates. This is consistent with the imputed 
adopted amounts being the amounts that are implicit in the settlement rates.

79.

PG&E should be given credit for the $21.8 million that it spent following the San 
Bruno accident for purposes of any remedy based on alleged underspending 
compared to the imputed adopted O&M amounts.

80.

CPSD did not prove that PG&E failed to seek sufficient O&M funds for GT&S or 
that its alleged failure to do so contributed to an unsafe gas transmission system.

81.
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CPSD did not prove that PG&E spent less than the authorized amounts for safety- 
related capital expenditures or O&M expenses or that its alleged failure to do so 
contributed to an unsafe gas transmission system.

82.

CPSD did not prove that PG&E reduced GT&S staffing for safety-related work or 
that its staffing levels contributed to an unsafe gas transmission system.

83.

CPSD did not pro ve that PG&E’s transition of transmission pipe from the GPRP 
to the RMP contributed to an unsafe gas transmission system or otherwise 
reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

84.

CPSD did not prove that PG&E allegedly spending less than authorized for th e 
GPRP contributed to an unsafe gas transmission system.

85.

CPSD did not prove that PG&E’s spending on the integrity management program 
or its use of direct assessment rather than ILI contributed to an unsafe gas 
transmission system or otherwise reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

86.

87. Any judgment regarding PG&E’s use of direct assessment rather than ILI needs to 
take into account the fact that most of PG&E’s system is not piggable and the 
time, effort and cost involved in upgrading a pipeline to make it piggable.

CPSD did not prove that capital projects relating to Line 132 contributed to an 
unsafe gas transmission system or otherwise reflected negatively on PG&E’s 
safety culture.

88.

89. CPSD did not prove that PG&E’s payment of bonuses or dividends, stock 
repurchases, or spending on public relations contributed to an unsafe gas 
transmission system or otherwise reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

CPSD did not prove that GT&S capital expenditures were constrained at any 
point in time or that PG&E’s le vel of GT&S capital expenditures impaired safety 
or otherwise reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

90.

CPSD did not prove that GT&S O&M expense budget levels impaired safety or 
otherwise reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

91.

CPSD did not prove that any specific budgeting or planning decision by PG&E 
impaired safety or otherwise reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

92.

CPSD did not prove that any decision to defer or change a planned integrity 
management assessment violated any law, impaired safety, or otherwise reflected 
negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

93.

CPSD did not prove that PG&E’s budgeting and planning process failed to 
appropriately prioritize safety.

94.
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CPSD did not prove that all of Line 132 or Segment 180 would have been 
replaced if PG&E had continued the transmission portion of the GPRP after 2000.

95.

CPSD did not prove that PG&E’s proposed project to replace Line 132 from mile 
point 42.13 to mile point 43.55 was delayed due to budgetary constraints or that 
anything related to this project reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

96.

97. CPSD did not prove that PG&E’s planned project to upgrade a portion of Line 
132 to make it piggable had any effect on Segment 180, that it was delayed due to 
budgetary constraints, or that anything related to this project reflected negatively 
on PG&E’s safety culture.

CPSD did not prove that anything relating to a planned pressure increase on Line 
132 in 2008 indicated that PG&E operated an unsafe transmission system or 
otherwise reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

98.

CPSD did not prove that anything relating to a leak repair project on Line 132 in 
2010 indicated that PG&E operated an unsafe transmission system or otherwise 
reflected negatively on PG&E’s safety culture.

99.

Intervenors Lack Authority to Allege Violations

Only the Commission’s enforcement staff has authority to allege violations in a 
Commission-initiated enforcement proceeding.

100.

The Commission’s staff at all times bears the burden to prove alleged violations. 
The Commission staff possesses the general investigatory authority of the 
Commission, not the Intervenors. The Commission did not and could not 
delegate its investigatory and enforcement authority to the Intervenors.

101.

Permitting intervenors to independently assert violations exposes the operator to 
procedural uncertainty and potential abuse of prosecutorial discretion.

102.

PG&E, as the respondent, cannot be required to anticipate based on Intervenors’ 
testimony the violations against which it must defend in CPSD’s enforcement 
proceeding.

103.

104. Intervenors’ assertion of violations after the close of evidence violates due 
process.
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REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

PG&E’S RESPONSES TO CPSD’S AND INTERVENORS’
PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT

Preliminary Statement: Some Proposed Findings of Fact include broad and generalized 
statements; others are generally but not completely accurate. In responding to CPSD’s and 
Intervenors’ Proposed Findings of Fact, PG&E does not exhaustively refute every assertion of 
fact embedded within or implication created by broad and generalized assertions; nor does 
PG&E exhaustively refute immaterial inaccuracies contained within proposed findings. In 
stating that a fact is “generally accurate,” PG&E does not concede the complete accuracy or 
correctness of any broad or generalized assertion, any implication from asserted facts, or any 
immaterial inaccuracies contained in the parties’ Proposed Findings of Fact, whether or not 
PG&E specifically addresses them below. PG&E provides these responses to Proposed Findings 
of Fact only for purposes of this proceeding, 1.12-01-007.

CPSD Proposed Findings of Fact

( PSD Proposed Finding of Fsui PG&E's Response

On September 9, 2010, at approximately 
6:11 p.m., a 30-inch diameter natural gas 
transmission pipeline owned and 
operated by PG&E ruptured in San 
Bruno, California. (CPSD-1, p.7.) Gas 
escaping from the ruptured pipeline 
ignited, resulting in the loss of eight 
lives, injuries to 58 people, destruction of 
38 homes, moderate to severe damage to 
17 homes, and minor damage to 53 
homes. (CPSD-1, p.7.)

Generally accurate.1.

Energy released by the explosion created 
a crater about 72 feet long by 26 feet 
wide. A 28-foot long section of pipe 
weighing approximately 3,000 pounds 
was ejected from the crater and landed 
approximately 100 feet from the crater in 
the middle of Glenview Drive. (CPSD-1, 
P-8.)

Generally accurate.2.
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REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

( PSD Proposed l-'inding of l-'ael PC&E's Response

PG&E’s SC AD A system

PG&E’s gas SCADA system provides 
remote control of 6,438 miles of 
transmission pipeline. Parts of PG&E’s 
42,141 miles of gas distribution pipeline 
are also monitored by SCADA. (CPSD- 
1, P-71.)

Generally accurate as clarified by the following: 
Consistent with industry practices and technical 
feasibility, PG&E’s SCADA system contains 
several thousand monitoring and control points 
throughout its gas transmission system but it does 
not “remote[ly] control 6,438 miles of 
transmission pipeline” as implied in this proposed 
finding. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-5 to 9-7 
(PG&E/Miesner).

3.

Supervisory Control and Data 
Acquisition (SCADA) is the use of 
computers and communications networks 
to gather field data from numerous 
remote locations, perform numerical 
analysis, and generate trends and 
summary reports. These reports are 
displayed in a structured format to 
enhance Gas Control Operators ability to 
monitor, forecast and send commands to 
field equipment. Some pipelines span 
long distances and are usually operated 
from a central location using a SCADA 
system. SCADA is employed for many 
different processes, such as management 
of electric power lines, operation of oil 
refineries, and operation of automobile 
assembly plants. SCADA systems make 
it possible to control a process that is 
distributed over a large area with a small 
group of people located in a single room. 
(CPSD-1, p.70.)

Generally accurate as a generic description of 
SCADA systems. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-3 to 9-5 
(PG&E/Miesner).

4.
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REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

( PSD Proposed Finding of Fact PC&E's Response

About 9,000 sensors and devices are 
installed along the length of the pipelines 
to enable the display of flow rates, 
equipment status, valve position status, 
pressure set points, and pressure control 
among other data. The current generation 
of SCADA used by PG&E is based on 
Citect software from Schneider Electric. 
(CPSD-1, p.71.)

Generally accurate, with clarification. Including 
calculated points, there are approximately 14,000 
monitoring and data points in PG&E’s SCADA 
system. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-3 
(PG&E/ S libs ager/Kazimirsky).

5.

PG&E’s pipelines are controlled and 
managed from the Primary Gas Control 
Center (Gas Control) located in San 
Francisco. An alternate control center is 
located in Brentwood. Several 
compressor stations and local control 
stations, such as the Milpitas Terminal 
are situated along the pipelines, each with 
a separate local control system. (CPSD- 
1, P-72.)

Generally accurate with clarification. The 
Brentwood alternate gas control facility is a 
complete duplicate of San Francisco gas control 
and serves as a back-up control facility in the 
event the San Francisco facility is incapacitated. 
PG&E operates the gas system from the 
Brentwood facility once each quarter. Joint R.T. 
163-64 (PG&E/Slibsager).

6.

The SCADA system is separate from 
PG&E’s Geographical Information 
System (GIS). The GIS data is displayed 
on separate computer screens at each of 
the operator consoles at both the primary 
and alternate gas control centers. 
(CPSD-1, p.72.)

Generally accurate. Each gas control operator 
console, in both San Francisco and the Brentwood 
alternate facility, has multiple computer screens 
that provide access to, among other things, 
SCADA, GIS, PG&E intranet, and the Internet. 
Ex. PG&E-l at 9-5 to 9-7 (PG&E/Miesner).

7.

The SCADA system is programmed to 
register alarms when the pressure exceeds 
the MAOP or if the value is less than a 
preset low level. It does not provide 
automatic control or intelligent alarming 
functions such as high rate of change 
alarms. The operational decisions are 
made by PG&E Gas Operators in charge 
of the five consoles at the Gas Control 
Center. (CPSD-1, p.73.)

Disputed. SCADA alarms are set at various 
points, some of which are fixed and others that gas 
operators control; they are not limited to MAOP 
and one preset low level. PG&E’s SCADA and 
gas control system includes automated 
functionality and intelligent alarm capability; 
CPSD does not explain what it understands these 
terms to mean. As of September 9, 2010, there 
were five gas control consoles; there are now six. 
Ex. PG&E-l at 9-3 to 9-6 (PG&E/Miesner); Ex. 
PG&E-l at 8-2 to 8-4 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky).

8.
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REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

( PSD Proposed l-'indiug of Karl PG&E's Response

Monitor valves act as limiting devices to 
protect against accidental overpressure 
for the outgoing gas pipelines. Regulator 
valve set points for outgoing lines can 
either be manually set at the Milpitas 
Terminal or remotely set through 
SCADA by PG&E Gas Control. (CPSD- 
1, P-74.)

Generally accurate with the addition that monitor 
valves operate pneumatically, not electrically, to 
provide additional redundancy in the pressure 
limiting system. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-5 to 9-7, 9-12 
to 9-14 (PG&E/Miesner).

9.

Milpitas Terminal

The Milpitas Terminal has four incoming 
natural gas transmission lines and five 
outgoing natural gas transmission lines 
and is equipped with pressure regulation 
and overpressure protective devices to 
control incoming and outgoing pressure. 
The pressure regulating valves are 
electrically actuated with the SCADA 
system controls while the monitor valves 
are pneumatically controlled valves. 
(CPSD-1, p.73.)

Generally accurate. The pressure limiting system 
at Milpitas Terminal functioned as designed on 
September 9, 2010 to keep pressure below MAOP 
and regulatory limits. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-4 to 8-8 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-7 
to 9-14 (PG&E/Miesner).

10.

Each of the incoming pipelines to the 
Milpitas Terminal has a regulating valve 
and a monitor valve to limit the pressure 
within the terminal. Pressure is further 
reduced with a second regulating valve 
and a monitor valve for overpressure 
protection before it is sent through the 
outgoing lines. The monitor valves are 
normally left fully open. When the 
downstream pressure starts to increase 
and exceed a pressure set point, the 
monitor valve moves to control the 
downstream pressure. (CPSD-1, p.75.)

Generally accurate with clarification. The 
incoming and outgoing pipelines at Milpitas 
Terminal contain multiple regulating and monitor 
valves.

11.
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REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

( PSD Proposed Finding o(' Fact PG&F/s Response

PG&E’s gas control system consists of 
Programmable Logic Controllers (PLCs), 
pressure controllers and related 
instrumentation which communicate with 
the SCADA computers in San Francisco. 
Redundant PLCs are provided with a fail
over switch so, if one fails, the other will 
pick up. The PLCs communicate with 
the 26 pressure controllers over a local 
Ethernet network. The PLCs execute a 
large program that calculates the flows 
and processes the inputs from many valve 
position sensors. The PLCs manage 
communication with the 26 pressure 
controllers and generate controller error 
alarms should a controller fail or lose 
communication. The PLCs also 
communicate commands issued by the 
Gas Operators located at Gas Control 
Center in San Francisco to control valves 
and to change pressure set points. 
Communication between the PLC 
software and the equipment is transmitted 
over individual wires connected to the 
PLC Input/Output (TO) devices (also 
referred to as Genius Blocks). (CPSD-1, 
P-78.)

Generally accurate, with the clarification that the 
proposed finding relates to Milpitas Terminal, not 
PG&E’s entire “gas control system,” and does not 
describe the complete local control system at 
Milpitas Terminal.

12.

At the Milpitas Terminal, all of the 
pressure instruments have a full scale 
range of 0 to 800 psig. The pipeline at 
the Milpitas Terminal is rated up to 720 
psig, therefore no pressure greater than 
800 psig should ever occur. (CPSD-1, 
P-79.)

Generally accurate with respect to the relevant 
“pressure instruments.”

13.
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PG&E installed an Uninterruptible Power 
Supply (UPS) at Milpitas Terminal to 
power the SCADA and control 
equipment during a power outage and 
before the emergency generators start 
delivering backup power. (CPSD-1, 
P-80.)

Generally accurate with the addition that the UPS 
system provided power to additional equipment 
not mentioned in the proposed finding.

14.

In 2010, PG&E decided to replace the 
entire UPS system with a new one. The 
UPS at the Milpitas Terminal had been in 
service since the 1980s, with a three- 
phase system that was no longer needed 
and for which parts were no longer 
available. (CPSD-1, p.81.)

Misleading as stated. The UPS system at Milpitas 
Terminal was installed in 1989, and was 
continually maintained; it had not been “in service 
since the 1980s.” Ex. PG&E-l at 8-10 to 8-11 
(PG&E/ S libs ager/Kazimirsky).

15.

In February 2010, PG&E asked a 
Contract Engineer to offer a proposal to 
investigate and provide recommendations 
for UPS/battery problems at the Milpitas 
Terminal. In mid-March 2010, a 
Contract Work Authorization was 
approved for the Contract Engineer to 
perform the proposed work on the UPS at 
Milpitas Terminal. (CPSD-1, p.81.)

Misleading with respect to “problems at the 
Milpitas Terminal” but otherwise generally 
accurate. The decision to replace the UPS and 
preparation of the Contract Work Authorization 
occurred prior to any UPS “failure” at Milpitas 
Terminal.

16.

On March 31, 2010, the UPS at the 
Milpitas Terminal failed, exposing the 
gas control system to a short interruption 
of power and potential loss of pressure 
control. (CPSD-1, p.81.)

Disputed. On March 31, 2010, the UPS at 
Milpitas Terminal did not fail in operation; during 
scheduled system testing, the UPS did not function 
as required for reliable operation. The gas control 
system never lost pressure control, nor was it 
exposed to a “potential loss of pressure control.” 
The redundant monitor valves at Milpitas 
Terminal are pneumatically controlled and are not 
impacted by a power failure, thus UPS 
functionality does not (and did not) impact the 
redundant pressure control system. Ex. PG&E-l 
at 8-5 to 8-8 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. 
PG&E-l at 9-12 to 9-14 (PG&E/Miesner); Ex. 
PG&E-5 (Tab 8-2).

17.
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On April 1-2, 2010, PG&E installed three 
temporary mini-UPS units at Milpitas 
Terminal to provide temporary backup 
power. (CPSD-1, p.81.)

Generally accurate; PG&E installed the mini-UPS 
units as a precautionary measure while the new 
UPS was engineered and manufactured (it is not 
an “off-the-shelf’ device). Joint R.T. 91 
(PG&E/Kazimirsky).

18.

A clearance application to install the 
permanent UPS at the Milpitas Terminal 
was submitted on August 19, 2010 as 
Clearance Number MIL-10-09 and 
approved by PG&E Gas Control on 
August 27, 2010. (CPSD-1, p.83.)

Generally accurate.19.

System clearance is required for work 
that affects gas flow, gas quality, or the 
ability to monitor the flow of gas. All 
system clearances require authorization 
from PG&E’s Gas System Operations 
(GSO). PG&E Work Procedure (WP) 
4100-10 issued August 2009 describes 
the two types of clearances required, 
depending on the work to be performed: 
(1) System Clearance and (2) Non
system Clearance. (CPSD-1, p.82.)

Generally accurate with the clarification that the 
clearance Work Procedure 4100-10 is a PG&E 
internal procedure, not a regulatory requirement. 
Ex. PG&E-l at 8-8 to 8-10, 8-21 to 8-22 
(PG&E/ S libs ager/Kazimirsky).

20.
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PG&E’s WP 4100-10 requires a 
designated Clearance Supervisor for all 
clearances at all times. Clearance 
application MIL-10-09 marked the 
Clearance Supervisor as “TBD”. Under 
the Description box is “GC M&C remove 
old UPS system and install new UPS at 
Milpitas Terminal”, with the Special 
Instructions box marked “Yes”. On the 
list of Special Instructions, it states: (1) 
“Technician to contact SF Gas Control 
prior to work and at the completion of 
work - Technicians will be on site with 
GC M&C during work”; and (2) the 
names and contact numbers of the 
technicians working on the project. The 
checkbox on the form which asks if 
normal function of the facility will be 
maintained was checked “No”. The 
clearance application requires an 
explanation whenever this box is checked 
“No”. However, there was no 
explanation provided on the clearance 
application as to how the work will affect 
normal function of the Milpitas Terminal. 
(CPSD-1, p.83.)

Disputed; misleading without clarification. On 
September 9, 2010, the crew at Milpitas Terminal 
was working under a designated Clearance 
Supervisor. The Clearance Supervisor at Milpitas 
Terminal verbally communicated with Gas Control 
before taking each step in the work that would 
impact Gas Control’s ability to receive SC AD A 
data. The planned UPS work did not involve any 
action that could impact gas pressure or flow; the 
issues power supplies PS-A and PS-B experienced 
(that did impact pressure and flow) were not 
related to the UPS. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-8 to 8-10 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Joint R.T. 150-51 
(PG&E/Kazimirsky).

21.
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Under the Sequence of Operations, the 
clearance application states “Report On 
Daily and Report Off’. It did not list any 
specific operations or key communication 
steps to be reported to Gas Control. 
PG&E’s Work Procedure requires the 
Clearance Supervisor to report key 
communication steps identified in the 
Sequence of Operations to Gas Control, 
including operation of any piece of 
equipment that affects the flow and/or 
pressure of gas or ability of Gas Control 
personnel to monitor the flow and/or 
pressure of gas on SCADA. (CPSD-1, 
p.83.) One of the steps taken during the 
UPS work at the Milpitas Terminal was 
switching the controllers to manual, 
which locks the valve to its current 
setting and disables Gas Control’s ability 
to change the valve settings remotely. 
(Ibid.) This should have been clearly 
stated on the clearance application as a 
key communication step within its 
Sequence of Operations. (Ibid.) Further, 
PG&E WP 4100-10 requires the 
Clearance Supervisor to fill in any steps 
in a system clearance with the time, date, 
and initials of the person completing the 
step and file the clearance as completed. 
(Ibid.) No record was provided by PG&E 
showing the specific steps taken and the 
time, date, and initials of the person 
completing each step in the system 
clearance. (Ibid.)

Disputed; misleading without clarification. The 
crew at Milpitas Terminal orally communicated 
with Gas Control before taking each step in the 
work that would impact Gas Control’s ability to 
receive SCADA data. Switching controllers from 
automatic to manual and back was a precautionary 
measure. The planned UPS work did not involve 
any action that could impact gas pressure or flow; 
the issues power supplies PS-A and PS-B 
experienced (that did impact pressure and flow) 
were not related to the UPS. PG&E also disputes 
CPSD’s characterizations “key communication 
steps [,]” and “this should have been clearly stated 
on the clearance application as a key 
communication step[.]” CPSD’s characterizations 
are subjective judgments. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-8 to 8
10 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Joint R.T. 147
51, 155-56 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky).

22.
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At 2:46 p.m. on September 9, 2010, the 
work to replace the temporary UPS was 
begun at PG&E’s Milpitas Terminal. 
(CPSD-1, p.7.)

Generally accurate with the addition that the crew 
held pre-construction meetings earlier on 
September 9, 2010 and in August 2010. Ex. 
PG&E-l at 8-5, 8-8
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky). There had also 
been work authorizations and preliminary work 
and engineering activities in the preceding months, 
as noted in proposed findings 16, 17 and 18.

23.

Between 2:00 p.m. and 4:40 p.m., the 
team installed mini-UPS units 5, 6, 7 and 
8. The three Ethernet Switches that 
connect the pressure controllers to the 
PLCs were also placed on mini-UPS at 
this time. (CPSD-1, p.86.)

Generally accurate.24.

At 4:46 p.m., the PG&E Gas Technician 
at the Milpitas Terminal called Gas 
Operator 2 to let him know SCADA 
communication with the Milpitas 
Terminal would be interrupted for a few 
minutes while they installed Mini-UPS 
unit 7, the last one of the day. (CPSD-1, 
P-86.)

Generally accurate with the addition that the 
Clearance Supervisor communicated with Gas 
Control on multiple occasions throughout the 
work. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-8 to 8-10 
(PG&E/ S libs ager/Kazimirsky).

25.

The workers then discovered that an 
unidentified active circuit breaker 
remained in the Uninterruptible 
Distribution Panel (UDP). The Contract 
Engineer switched it off and the mimic 
panel went dead. After some research, he 
was able to identify power supply PS-C 
as the one which was connected to the 
unidentified breaker, and powered the 
indicators on the mimic panel. The 
Contract Engineer then installed mini- 
UPS unit 9 to power PS-C and the mimic 
panel. (CPSD-1, p.86.)

Disputed; misleading without clarification. Prior 
to switching off the referenced circuit breaker, the 
crew had completed installing temporary UPS 
devices on the critical control equipment. The 
“mimic panel” at Milpitas Terminal is a large 
visual display of the terminal that has been 
functionally replaced by the SCADA and 
computerized local control systems. The power 
interruption to the mimic panel had no operational 
impact, nor could it have. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 
8-10 (PG&E/Slib s ager/Kazimirs ky).

26.
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At that time, the system appeared to be 
operating normally. Alarm records show 
no activity from 5:09 p.m. to 5:21 p.m. 
The crew working in Milpitas was getting 
ready to wrap up, believing they had 
successfully completed the planned 
activities for the day. (CPSD-1, p.86.)

Generally accurate, with the clarification that the 
crew had “successfully completed the planned 
activities for the day.” Ex. PG&E-l at 8-9 & n.8 
(PG&E/ S libs ager/Kazimirsky).

27.

At 5:22 p.m., the SC AD A center alarm 
console displayed over 60 alarms within 
a few seconds, including controller error 
alarms and high differential pressure and 
backflow alarms from the Milpitas 
Terminal. These alarms were followed 
by pressure alarms on several lines 
leaving the Milpitas Terminal, including 
Line 132. (CPSD-1, p.l 1.)

Generally accurate with the addition that the error 
alarms were related to the power fluctuations in 
power supplies PS-A and PS-B. Ex. PG&E-l at 8
5 to 8-6 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky).

28.

At 5:23 p.m., records of SCADA alarms 
and pressure readings indicate valves 
opening and pressure increasing. The 
pressure readings measured at flow 
meters M31, M32 and M38 on Lines 132, 
101 and 109, respectively, increased from 
370 psig to 380 psig in about 90 seconds. 
(CPSD-1, p.87.)

Generally accurate with the clarification that the 
proposed finding is based on CPSD’s post-event 
analysis. Gas control operators had to respond 
immediately without the benefit of hindsight.
They nonetheless quickly recognized the pressure 
increase and that the pressure limiting system was 
functioning properly to stop the pressure increase. 
Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-7
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-8 
to 9-11 (PG&E/Miesner).

29.

C-ll

SB GT&S 0486691



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

( PSD Proposed Finding of Fact PO&E's Response

The alarms were likely caused by an 
intermittent short circuit on a piece of 
wire in the pressure feedback circuit in 
the Control System equipment enclosure 
which contains hundreds of wires. The 
short circuit started a cascade of failures 
in the gas pressure sensors and pressure 
controls which lasted for over three 
hours. The Contract Engineer and 
Construction Lead began disconnecting 
and reconnecting circuits to find where 
the shorted wires loaded on the 24 volt 
current loops. At about 8:40 p.m., they 
eliminated the short and all the 
instruments and controls then resumed 
normal operation. The shorted 
connection was at a terminal block near 
the PS-A and PS-B where wires were 
possibly jostled during connection of the 
mini-UPS. (CPSD-1, p.87.)

Disputed. The cause of the power fluctuations to 
power supplies PS-A and PS-B is not known with 
certainty. Describing the circumstances as a 
“cascade of failures in the gas pressure sensors and 
pressure controls which lasted for over three 
hours” is not accurate. The pressure limiting 
system functioned within minutes to catch and 
limit the pressure increase. SCADA data 
continued to be intermittently invalid for a few 
hours during the troubleshooting the crew 
performed on the electrical system at Milpitas 
Terminal. Ex. PGE-1 at 8-5 to 8-7 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Joint R.T. 98-100 
(PG&E/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-12 to 9-14 
(PG&E/Miesner).

30.

Because of the malfunctions, PG&E’s 
Gas Operators in San Francisco lost the 
ability to monitor and control the valves 
at the Milpitas Terminal with the 
SCADA system displaying inaccurate 
information. (CPSD-1, p.95.)

Disputed. Gas control operators did not lose the 
ability to monitor or control all valves at Milpitas 
Terminal. The power fluctuations in power 
supplies PS-A and PS-B caused some valves to 
open, and some SCADA data to be a mixture of 
valid and invalid information. The pressure 
limiting system functioned within minutes to catch 
and limit the pressure increase at Milpitas 
Terminal, which gas control operators recognized. 
Ex. PG&E-l at 8-4 to 8-8
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-7 
to 9-14 (PG&E/Miesner).

31.
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Loss of information and control over the 
pipelines caused various regulating 
valves to fully open. This caused gas 
pressure in lines leaving the Milpitas 
Terminal, including Lines 101, 109 and 
132, to increase. According to telemetry 
data obtained during the investigation, 
the pressure on Line 132 leaving the 
Milpitas Terminal reached a high of 396 
psig as measured manually. (CPSD-1, 
P-8.)

Disputed. Control over the pipelines was not lost. 
The power fluctuations in power supplies PS-A 
and PS-B caused some regulating valves to open, 
and some SCADA data to be a mixture of valid 
and invalid information. The monitor valve 
system caught and maintained pressure as 
designed, below MAOP and well below regulatory 
limits. The referenced 396 psig reading was based 
on a manual pressure gauge, not “telemetry data.” 
Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-7
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9
12 to 9-14 (PG&E/Miesner).

32.

The Gas Technician at Milpitas began to 
manually apply valve pressure gauges to 
verify and report pressure readings and 
positions of regulating and monitoring 
valves to Gas Operators at the Gas 
Control Center. The Gas Technician was 
instructed to manually close certain 
valves and lower monitor valve set 
points. About 40 minutes after pressures 
began rising in the gas discharge header 
at the Milpitas Terminal, Line 132 
ruptured. (CPSD-1, p.95.)

Disputed. Approximately 50 minutes after the 
power issues occurred at Milpitas Terminal, Line 
132mptured. Ex. PG&E-40 at 2-5. It is not clear 
what significance CPSD is giving to the assertion 
“pressures began rising in the gas discharge header 
at Milpitas Terminal....” The rupture location was 
approximately 39 miles from the “discharge 
header” at Milpitas Terminal; the pressure on Line 
132 at Milpitas Terminal never exceeded 396 psig, 
and did not exceed 386 psig at the rupture 
location. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-8 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9
12 to 9-14 (PG&E/Miesner).

33.

At 6:11 p.m., SCADA data indicated that 
a rupture had occurred when pressures on 
Line 132 upstream of the Martin station 
rapidly decreased from a high of 386 
psig. (CPSD-1, p. 11.)

Disputed. At 6:11 p.m., Line 132 ruptured. The 
first low-low SCADA alarm came in at 6:15 p.m. 
That alarm was one data point among many that 
gas control operators were analyzing. It is not 
accurate to suggest that SCADA immediately 
showed a rupture at 6:11 p.m. or that gas control 
operators should have concluded at 6:11 p.m. that 
a ruptured had occurred. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8
7 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 
9-8 to 9-12 (PG&E/Miesner); Ex. PG&E-40 at 2-

34.

6.
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It was after 10:30 p.m. when the Senior 
Gas Engineer was able to restore 
operation to the three PLCs which had 
malfunctioned. Those units suffered a 
rare type of malfunction and the 
manufacturer had to be contacted to 
advise how to correct it. PG&E did not 
determine if this malfunction was 
indicative of failing or defective units and 
they are still in service. (CPSD-1, p.87.)

Disputed. Three PLCs did not malfunction at 
Milpitas Terminal; three valve controllers did not 
reboot after having power interrupted during post
event troubleshooting. The issue with these three 
valve controllers was not related to the cause of 
the pressure increase. Before putting the 
controllers back into service, PG&E thoroughly 
tested them and confirmed they were functioning 
properly. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-6, 8-14 to 8-15 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Joint R.T. 93-97 
(PG&E/Kazimirsky).

35.

The highest pressure recorded at an 
upstream location closest to Segment 180 
just prior to the failure was determined to 
be386psig. Based on a review of 
historical pressure data, this was the 
highest pressure Segment 180 had 
experienced within the seven years 
preceding the rupture. (CPSD-1, p.8.)

Disputed. PG&E agrees that the high pressure at 
the rupture location on September 9, 2010 was 
approximately 386 psig. CPSD does not provide 
evidentiary support for its assertion regarding 
historical pressure data for “the seven years 
preceding the rupture,” other than referring to a 
prior iteration of the same assertion (that also cites 
no evidence in support). The MAOP of Line 132 
was 400 psig, validly established under 49 C.F.R. 
§ 192.619(c). Ex. CPSD-1 at 24 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

36.

Response to the Explosion

At 6:12 p.m., SCADA showed the 
upstream pressure at the Martin Station 
on Line 132 had decreased from 361.4 
psig to 289.9 psig. At 6:15 p.m., 
SCADA showed a low-low alarm at the 
Martin Station that indicated a pressure 
of 144 psig on Line 132. Pursuant to 
PG&E’s procedure, members of Gas 
Control attempted to troubleshoot the 
alarms by examining the pressures and 
conditions at different stations. (CPSD-
1, p.108.)

Misleading without the additional context that gas 
control operators had been receiving and analyzing 
SCADA alarms and uncertain SCADA data for 
approximately 50 minutes at this time. The 
SCADA points referenced in the proposed finding 
did not exist in isolation. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8
7 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 
9-8 to 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

37.
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At 6:12 p.m. the first police unit arrived 
at the scene. At 6:13 p.m., the first San 
Bruno Fire Department unit arrived at the 
scene. (CPSD-1, p.ll.)

Partially disputed. The San Bruno Fire 
Department first unit arrived at the scene a few 
minutes later at 6:17 p.m. Ex. PG&E-40 at 6.

38.

No outgoing calls were made by PG&E 
to fire or police officials upon discovery 
of the incident. (CPSD-1, p.l 18.)

Misleading without the following additions: 
Although PG&E does not have a record of making 
a call to 911, PG&E field personnel were working 
on site with the public agency first responders 
within 30 minutes of the rupture. Ex. CPSD-97 at 
9, 11; Ex. PG&E-40 at 10; Ex. CPSD-1 at 110 
(CPSD/Stepanian); PG&E OB at 110. As 
emergency response expert David Bull testified, 
the notification and coordination requirement was 
fulfilled at the time PG&E personnel arrived at the 
scene, confirmed that there was a gas emergency 
and coordinated with public responders in taking 
additional emergency actions. PG&E OB at 110; 
R.T. 420-21 (PG&E/Bull).

39.

At 6:18 p.m., an off-duty PG&E 
employee notified the PG&E Dispatch 
center in Concord, California, of an 
explosion in the San Bruno area. Over 
the next few minutes, the dispatch center 
received additional similar reports. 
(CPSD-1, p.ll.)

Generally accurate with additions. This was the 
first notice PG&E had of the event, and the cause 
of the fire was at that time unknown to all. Ex. 
PG&E-l at 8-5 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. 
PG&E-40. That an off-duty PG&E employee 
called to report the existence of a fire of unknown 
cause demonstrates initiative and proper training.

40.

At 6:18 p.m., PG&E Dispatch was 
notified of a fire in San Bruno by an off- 
duty PG&E employee who speculated a 
jet crash. The dispatcher responded that 
a supervisor would be notified. (CPSD-
1, p.108.)

Generally accurate with additions. This call by 
another off-duty PG&E employee further 
demonstrates the concern and training of PG&E 
personnel. Ex. PG&E-40.

41.
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At 6:21 p.m., an off-duty a Gas Service 
Representative (GSR) called into 
Dispatch alerting them that there was a 
fire in San Bruno that appeared to be gas 
fed. The dispatcher responded that he 
would send a GSR out to investigate. 
(CPSD-1, p.108.)

Generally accurate with additions. This call by 
another off-duty PG&E employee further 
demonstrates the concern and training of PG&E 
personnel. Ex. PG&E-40.

42.

At 6:23 p.m., PG&E Dispatch sent a GSR 
working in Daly City (about 8 miles from 
San Bruno) to confirm the report. About 
the same time, PG&E’s Senior 
Distribution Specialist, who saw the fire 
while driving home from work, reported 
the fire to the PG&E Dispatch center and 
proceeded to the scene. (CPSD-1, p. 11.)

Generally accurate with the addition that GSRs are 
the designated first responders under PG&E 
procedure and policy. R.T. 380 (PG&E/Almario).

43.

At 6:25 p.m., PG&E’s Dispatch called 
the Peninsula On-Call Supervisor to 
advise him of the incident. He 
responded, “I’m probably on my way.” 
(CPSD-1, p.108.)

Generally accurate.44.

At 6:27 p.m., while Gas Operators 1 and
2 were still in the process of determining 
the cause of the alarm, PG&E Dispatch 
called Gas Operator 3 to inquire if they 
noticed a loss of pressure in San Bruno. 
PG&E Dispatch advised about large 
flames and that a GSR and a Supervisor 
were heading to the scene. Gas Operator
3 responded that they had not received 
any calls yet. (CPSD-1, p.108.)

Misleading without additional context that the 
referenced “alarm” being analyzed by gas control 
operators did not exist in isolation. By this time, 
gas control operators had been receiving and 
analyzing multiple SCADA alarms and data for 
over an hour. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-7 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-8 
to 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

45.
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At 6:28 p.m., the PG&E Gas Controllers 
discussed the low-low pressure alarms 
amongst themselves and associated the 
reports of the fire at San Bruno with the 
pressure drop at Martin Station. At 6:29 
p.m., a PG&E Gas Controller mentioned 
to a caller that pressure on Line 132 had 
dropped from 396 psig to 56 psig and that 
“we have a line break in San Bruno... 
while we have Milpitas going down.” 
(CPSD-1, p.109.)

Generally accurate.46.

At 6:30 p.m., PG&E Dispatch called the 
GSR to check on his status. The GSR 
was still in traffic at the time. The 
Measurement and Control (M&C) 
Superintendent of the Bay Area, on-call 
24/7 to respond to any gas event within 
his area, arrived at the scene just after 
6:30 p.m., as the result of seeing news of 
the explosion and fire on television. 
(CPSD-1, p.109.)

Mischaracterized as stated. That multiple PG&E 
personnel self-dispatched to the scene of an 
unknown major fire demonstrates initiative and 
concern. R.T. 384-85 (PG&E/Almario).

47.

At 6:31 p.m., Gas Operator 1 called 
PG&E Dispatch regarding the previous 
inquiry about the loss of pressure and 
speculated that PG&E’s gas facilities 
may be involved in the incident. PG&E 
Dispatch responded to Gas Control that a 
radio news report claimed the fire was 
due to a gasoline station explosion. 
(CPSD-1, p.109.)

Generally accurate.48.

At 6:32 p.m., Gas Control left a message 
for San Francisco Transmission and 
Regulation Supervisor about the low-low 
alarm at Martin Station, and the 
possibility of a leak. (CPSD-1, p.109.)

Generally accurate.49.
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At 6:35 p.m., the M&C Superintendent of 
the Bay Area called Gas Control to 
inquire about the fire and told them to 
call the superintendent of the region. He 
then proceeded to the scene. At about the 
same time, Mechanic 1 called Dispatch, 
saying that PG&E’s transmission line ran 
through the scene of the fire and that the 
flame was consistent with ignited gas 
from a transmission line. As Mechanic 1 
headed to the Colma yard (Yard), he was 
called by Mechanic 2, who was then told 
to head to the Yard. (CPSD-1, p.109.)

Generally accurate with the addition that these 
actions again demonstrate the initiative and 
training of PG&E personnel. R.T. 384-85 
(PG&E/Almario).

50.

At 6:36 p.m., the San Francisco T&R 
Supervisor returned the Gas Control’s 
call and told them to contact the 
Peninsula Division T&R Supervisor. The 
gas controllers had been coordinating 
with the Sr. Gas Coordinator to make the 
appropriate contacts. (CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Generally accurate.51.

At 6:40 p.m., after confirming the 
involvement of PG&E’s facilities with 
Dispatch and Gas Control, the Peninsula 
On-Call Supervisor called M&C 
Mechanics 1 and 2 and told them to “get 
to the yard, get their vehicles and head in 
that direction (of the valves).” (CPSD-1, 
p.l 10.)

Generally accurate with the addition that the 
Deputy Incident Commander and the M&C 
Mechanics were already responding to the event. 
Ex. CPSD-97 at 9, 11; Ex. PG&E-40.

52.
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PG&E first responders at the scene of the 
incident could not identify the cause of 
the fire. (CPSD-1, p.102.) PG&E had 
not offered specific training for its first 
responders on how to recognize the 
differences between fires of low-pressure 
natural gas, high-pressure natural gas, 
gasoline fuel, or jet fuel. (CPSD-1,
p.102.)

Disputed with regard to the first sentence.
PG&E’s Gas Maintenance & Construction 
Superintendent for the Bay Area region, who 
arrived at the scene at approximately 6:35 p.m. 
and served as PG&E’s Deputy Incident 
Commander, recognized that the incident likely 
involved a PG&E gas transmission line. Ex. 
CPSD-97 at 11, 15-16. The responding M&C 
mechanic also immediately recognized the 
possibility that the fire was fed by natural gas. 
PG&E OB at 112; Ex. PG&E-40 at 8; Ex. PG&E- 
1 at 10-4 (PG&E/Almario).

53.

Misleading without the following addition with 
regard to the second sentence: there is no legal 
requirement to have such training for first 
responders. PG&E OB at 112. Further, as stated 
above, the responding M&C mechanic 
immediately recognized the possibility that the fire 
was fed by gas. PG&E OB at 112; Ex. PG&E-40 
at 8; Ex. PG&E-l at 10-4 (PG&E/Almario).

At 6:41 p.m., the GSR and the Senior 
Distribution Specialist were at the scene 
and reported to PG&E Dispatch that the 
fire department did not yet know the 
cause of the flames. The GSR made 
PG&E Dispatch aware that there were 
gas transmission lines in the area. PG&E 
Dispatch conveyed to the GSR that a jet 
might have struck a gasoline station, 
which in turn caused the gas line to blow 
with it. The GSR called the Gas Service 
On-Call Supervisor, and the Gas Service 
Night Supervisor, to let them know he 
was on site. The Gas Service Night 
Supervisor arrived on site later. (CPSD- 
1, P-110.)

Misleading without the following addition: 
PG&E’s Gas Maintenance & Construction 
Superintendent for the Bay Area region, who 
arrived at the scene at approximately 6:35 p.m. 
and served as PG&E’s Deputy Incident 
Commander, recognized that the incident likely 
involved a PG&E gas transmission line. Ex. 
CPSD-97 at 9-11, 15-16. The responding M&C 
mechanic also immediately recognized the 
possibility that the fire was fed by natural gas. 
PG&E OB at 112; Ex. PG&E-40 at 8; Ex. PG&E- 
1 at 10-4 (PG&E/Almario).

54.
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At 6:48 p.m., the Senior Distribution 
Specialist told PG&E Dispatch, “We’ve 
got a plane crash” and “we need a couple 
of gas crews and electric crews.” 
Dispatch acknowledged the request. 
(CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Misleading without the following addition: At 
6:39 p.m., Gas Control operator stated that there 
were conflicting reports, some said it involved a 
gas station, some said a jet engine sound, which 
would indicate that it was natural gas. Ex. CPSD- 
56 at 161.

55.

Mechanic 1 arrived at the Yard at 6:50 
p.m. Mechanic 2 arrived soon after.
More internal contacts ensued. At 6:51 
p.m., a Gas Control Operator claimed, “it 
looks like it might [be transmission], if 
anything, distribution.” (CPSD-1, 
p.l 10.)

Generally accurate, but the mechanic’s arrival at 
the Colma Yard and the gas control operator’s 
statement have no relation or relevance to each 
other.

56.

At 6:53 p.m., the San Francisco Division 
T&R Supervisor communicated to Gas 
Control that he had crews responding, but 
they might be heading to Martin Station. 
At 6:54 p.m., San Bruno Police called 
PG&E Dispatch requesting gas support. 
PG&E Dispatch replied, “We know, 
they’re out there already.” PG&E 
Dispatch then told the Troublemen 
Supervisor about a plane that had crashed 
into a gas station, and asked for gas and 
electric utilities in the area to be turned 
off. The Troublemen Supervisor replied 
that he was notifying the troublemen. 
(CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Misleading without the following clarifications. 
Multiple “crews” responded, including personnel 
directed to Martin Station, where the high pressure 
section of Line 132 terminates. PG&E Dispatch 
told the Troublemen that “we are being told” that a 
plane has crashed into a gas station. Ex. PG&E-40 
at 10. Troublemen are electrical personnel, not 
gas responders.

57.

At 6:57 p.m., PG&E’s Operations 
Emergency Center (OEC) was opened. 
While watching the news on a television 
at the Yard, Mechanic 1 identified the 
location of the incident and the nearest 
valves to be shut to cut off fuel to the 
fire. (CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Generally accurate, except for any adverse 
implication intended by the reference to “watching 
the news.”

58.
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At 7:02 p.m., the San Mateo County 
Sheriff asked PG&E Dispatch if they 
were aware of the plane crash; PG&E 
Dispatch responded, “I’ll go ahead and 
relay that message.” At around the same 
time, Mechanic 1 called Dispatch and 
notified them of his plan to shut valves to 
isolate the rupture. (CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Generally accurate.59.

At 7:06 p.m., Mechanic 1 called the 
Peninsula Division T&R Supervisor for 
authorization to shut the valves. The 
Peninsula Division T&R Supervisor 
approved. Mechanics 1 and 2 proceeded 
to the first valve location (containing 
valve V-39.49). Gas Control was 
continuously making and receiving calls 
to gather and relay information. (CPSD- 
l,p.lll.)

The first valve location is V-38.49. Ex. PG&E-40 
at 11-12.

60.

At around 7:07 p.m., a Gas Control 
Operator mentioned that the M&C 
Superintendent of the Bay Area was on 
site but could not get close enough to the 
actual location itself because of the extent 
of the fire and that “until the crew arrives, 
secures it and comes up with a plan, 
we’re just going to continue to feed it.” 
(CPSD-1, p.l 11.)

Misleading without the following clarification: 
“Feeding” the pipelines was necessary to avoid an 
uncontrolled shutdown of gas service to the 
Peninsula itself, which could create significant 
new and additional dangers. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 to 
9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

61.

At 7:12 p.m., the Troublemen Supervisor 
told PG&E Dispatch about his plan to 
order a mandatory call out requiring all 
Colma Yard employees to report in. 
(CPSD-1, p.l 11.)

Generally accurate with the clarification that 
Troublemen are electric operations personnel, not 
gas.

62.
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At 7:15 p.m., a Gas Control operator 
commented, “The fire is so big I guess 
they can’t determine anything right now.” 
At approximately 7:15 p.m., an FAA 
representative informed PG&E’s M&C 
Superintendent of the Bay Area that there 
was no plane involved in the incident. 
(CPSD-1, p.lll.)

Generally accurate.63.

At 7:16 p.m, PG&E Dispatch began to 
relay the Troublemen Supervisor’s plan. 
Minutes later, the M&C Superintendent 
of the Bay Area instructed the Senior 
Distribution Specialist, who was with 
him at the time, to call Gas Control and 
tell them the fire was gas related and to 
declare it a reportable incident. (CPSD- 
1, p. 111.) Mechanics 1 and 2 arrived at 
the first valve location at 7:20 p.m. At 
7:22 p.m., the Senior Distribution 
Specialist contacted PG&E Dispatch and 
said that while unconfirmed, it looked 
like gas was involved. At 7:22 p.m., Gas 
Control told the Senior Vice President 
that the incident was likely to be a Line 
132 break, although nothing had been 
confirmed. At 7:25 p.m., PG&E 
Dispatch informed Gas Control that the 
M&C Superintendent of the Bay Area 
was on scene and confirmed that the 
incident was a reportable gas fire. Gas 
Control confirmed that Line 132 was the 
involved line. At 7:27 p.m., the SF 
Division T&R Supervisor requested that 
Gas Control lower the pressure set points 
as low as possible at the Martin Station to 
isolate Line 132 from the north. (CPSD- 
1, P-112.)

Misleading without the following clarification. 
Troublemen address electrical issues; the 
“Troublemen Supervisor’s plan” is not directly 
related to the response by the M&C mechanics to 
close gas transmission valves. Troublemen 
responded to address electric facilities that may 
have been involved at the site.

64.
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At 7:29 p.m., Gas Control remotely 
closed the involved Line 132 valves at 
Martin Station to cut off the feed of gas 
north of the rupture. By 7:46 p.m., 
Mechanics 1 and 2 had traveled north of 
the rupture and closed valves V-40.05 
and V-40.05-2 at Healy Station to isolate 
the rupture. (CPSD-1, p.l 12.)

Misleading without clarification. Martin Station is 
approximately 8 miles from the accident site. Due 
to that distance, and because gas was coming 
primarily from the upstream side of the rupture, 
closing the remote valves at Martin Station could 
not immediately cut off the gas flow to the rupture. 
It could, however, have created dangerous 
collateral consequences if done rashly. Ex. 
PG&E-l at 8-6 to 8-7
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 
to 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

65.

PG&E took 95 minutes to isolate the 
location of the rupture. The time for 
isolation could have been reduced had 
PG&E installed remote control valves 
(RCVs), automatic shut-off valves 
(ASVs), and/or appropriately spaced 
pressure and flow transmitters throughout 
its system to allow them to quickly 
identify and isolate line breaks. (CPSD-
1, p.102.)

Partially disputed. It is speculative as to what 
would have been considered to be “appropriately 
spaced” pressure and flow transmitters, or RCVs 
or ACVs. Only with hindsight can it be identified 
where transmitters could have been 
“appropriately” located to aid in reducing the time 
for isolating the rupture. Prior to September 9, 
2010, there were no regulations dictating where 
such equipment be installed throughout PG&E’s 
extensive gas transmission system. 49 C.F.R. § 
192.935(c); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-17 (PG&E/Zurcher); 
R.T. 340 (PG&E/Almario); Joint R.T. 820-21 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

66.

By early morning on September 10, 
firefighters declared 75% of all active 
fires to be contained. By the end of the 
day on September 11, 2010, fire 
operations continued to extinguish fires 
and monitor the incident area for hot 
spots and then transferred incident 
command to the San Bruno Police 
Department. (CPSD-1, p.13.)

Generally accurate.67.
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During the 50 hours following the 
incident, about 600 firefighting 
(including emergency medical service) 
personnel and 325 law enforcement 
personnel responded. Fire crews and 
police officers conducted evacuations and 
door-to-door searches of houses 
throughout the response. In total, about 
300 homes were evacuated. Firefighting 
efforts included air and forestry 
operations. Firefighters, police officers, 
and members of mutual aid organizations 
also formed logistics, planning, 
communications, finance, and damage 
assessment groups to orchestrate 
response efforts and assess residential 
damage in the area. (CPSD-1, p. 13.)

Generally accurate.68.

PG&E performed post-incident drug 
testing of three PG&E employees and a 
PG&E contractor working on the UPS 
Clearance at the Milpitas Terminal. The 
drug testing was administered by a third 
party independent laboratory on 
September 10, 2011 between 3:36 a.m. 
and 5:21 a.m., and all four individuals 
tested negative. The post-incident 
alcohol test of the same four individuals 
was performed on September 10, 2011 
between 3:10 a.m. and 5:02 a.m. (CPSD- 
C P-99.)

Generally accurate.69.

PG&E did not perform any drug or 
alcohol testing of its SCADA staff. 
(CPSD-9, p.105.)

Misleading without the following addition: No 
evidence in the record establishes that PG&E was 
required to test the SCADA staff, or even required 
to consider testing the SCADA staff.

70.
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History of Segment 180

The section of pipeline involved in the 
incident was Segment 180, at Mile Post 
(MP) 39.28 of PG&E’s Line 132, located 
at the intersection of Earl Avenue and 
Glenview Drive in San Bruno, California. 
(CPSD-1, p.7.)

Generally accurate.71.

The City of San Bruno is in a Class 3 
location, and Segment 180 was intended 
to meet the design and construction 
requirements in effect at that time for a 
Class 3 location. Class 3 refers to any 
location unit that has 46 or more 
buildings intended for human occupancy. 
(CPSD-5, p.6; CPSD-9, p.133.)

Partially disputed. The class location of “[t]he 
City of San Bruno” is not the relevant inquiry in 
this investigation. In 1956, Segment 180 was in a 
Class 2 location. With the development of the 
Crestmoor neighborhood, the area of Segment 180 
became a Class 3 location. Ex. PG&E-l at 2-10 
(PG&E/Harrison); PGE OB at 56.

72.

PG&E provided a pressure log from the 
Milpitas Terminal dated October 16,
1968, showing a recorded pressure of 400 
psig for Line 132. This pressure log was 
used by PG&E as the basis for 
establishing a Maximum Allowable 
Operating Pressure (MAOP) of 400 psig 
for Line 132. (CPSD-1, p.23.)

Generally accurate. PG&E OB at 51-56; PG&E 
RB at 46-47.

73.
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Segment 180 was installed in 1956 as 
part of a relocation project of 
approximately 1,851 feet of Line 132 that 
originally had been constructed in 1948. 
The relocation of Segment 180 started 
north of Claremont Drive and extended 
south of San Bruno Avenue and moved 
the pipeline from the east side to the west 
side of Glenview Drive. (CPSD-1, p. 15.) 
This relocation was necessary because of 
grading associated with land 
development in the vicinity of the 
existing pipeline. The construction was 
performed by PG&E personnel. (CPSD- 
1, P-15.)

Partially disputed. The construction of Segment 
180 was performed by PG&E. However, PG&E 
did not manufacture the pipe for Segment 180, and 
does not know who manufactured the pups found 
in Segment 180. PG&E OB at 8, 14.

74.

Segment 180 originally was documented 
in PG&E records as being 30-inch 
diameter seamless steel pipe with a 0.375 
inch wall thickness and having a 
Specified Minimum Yield Strength 
(SMYS) of 52,000 psi, installed in 1956. 
PG&E obtained this material 
specification information for Segment 
180 from accounting records rather than 
engineering records. (CPSD-1, p. 16.)

Partially disputed. Mr. Harrison testified that 
PG&E had material specifications for Segment 
180 in the job files. Joint R.T. 322, 329 
(PG&E/Harrison); Ex. Joint-10 at HRG 0063 
(Line Segment 180 Job File); Ex. Joint-12.

75.

PG&E’s identification of the entire 
length of Segment 180 as a seamless pipe 
was incorrect. (CPSD-1, p.7, p.47.)
There was no American Petroleum 
Institute (API)-qualified domestic 
manufacturer of 30-inch diameter 
seamless steel pipe when the line was 
constructed. (CPSD-1, p.32; CPSD-9, 
p.61.) Segment 180 was in fact a 30-inch 
diameter Double Submerged Arc Welded 
(DSAW) pipe. (CPSD-1, p.7.)

Generally accurate with the following 
qualification. PG&E was unaware of the existence 
of the pups and that Segment 180 differed from 
PG&E’s specifications for the job. PG&E became 
aware of this information only after the accident 
and with the release of the NTSB Report. PG&E 
OB at 8, 14, 40-42, 48. Also, seamless and 
DSAW pipe are not treated differently for MAOP 
or integrity management purposes. Ex. PG&E-lc 
at 4-12-31, 36, 65 (PG&E/Keas).

76.
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PG&E believes the pipe was most likely 
produced by Consolidated Western in 
1948, 1949 or 1953. (CPSD-5, p.21; 
CPSD-9, p.28.) According to PG&E, 
between 1947 and 1957, it purchased a 
total of 320,065 feet of 30-inch pipe from 
three suppliers. The pipe used for the 
1956 project was assembled from 
multiple material procurement orders. 
(CPSD-5, p. 21.)

Generally accurate with respect to Segment 180 as 
a whole; PG&E does not know from where the 
pups in Segment 180 originated. PG&E OB at 8,

77.

14.

The rupture of Segment 180 began on a 
fracture that originated in the partially 
welded longitudinal seam of one of six 
short pipe sections, which are known in 
the industry as “pups.” (CPSD-9, p.x of 
the Exec. Summary.)

The cause of the Segment 180 rupture was a 
defective piece of pipe installed in 1956 with a 
missing interior weld. A single event, most likely 
a post-construction hydro test, caused a ductile 
from which a fatigue crack developed and grew 
over time until it ruptured on September 9, 2010. 
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 3 (PG&E/Caligiuri).

78.

PG&E records for Segment 180 did not 
disclose the existence of the pups. The 
manufacturer of the pups is unknown. 
(CPSD-1, p.16.)

Generally accurate with the following 
qualification. Had PG&E known of the existence 
of the pups, it would not have installed them, thus 
no records of their installation would be expected 
to exist. Joint R.T. 830 (PG&E/Zurcher); Joint 
R.T. 1019 (PG&E/Keas); PG&E OB at 8, 14; see 
also PG&E RB at 47.

79.

An NTSB metallurgical examination 
determined that the yield strength values 
of all six pups were lower than 52,000 
psi, which is the designated yield strength 
for Segment 180. (CPSD-1, p.20; CPSD- 
9, p.28.)

Generally accurate with a clarification. PG&E’s 
design for Segment 180 specified pipe with a 
52,000 yield strength; no particular yield strength 
was required by law. Ex. PG&E-l at 2-5 to 2-6 
(PG&E/Harrison); PG&E OB at 48-49; PG&E RB 
at 39-40.

80.

Pup 1, the failed pup on which the facture 
initiated, was found to have yield 
strength of only 36,600 psi, and Pup 2 
had the lowest yield strength of 32,000 
psi. (CPSD-1, p.20.)

Generally accurate with the following additions. 
The yield strength of the pups of Segment 180 did 
not have any role in the accident. No particular 
specified minimum yield strength is required 
under the regulations, subject to the appropriate 
design criteria for the applicable class location. 
PG&E OB at 48-49; PG&E RB at 39-40.

81.
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Longitudinally, Pups 1, 2 and 3 were 
partially welded on the seam from the 
outside and the weld did not penetrate 
through the inside of the pipe. No inside 
weld, required for a DSAW welded pipe, 
was found on the inside of the pipe. 
According to the NTSB metallurgical 
examination, the fusion welding process 
left an unwelded region along the entire 
length of each seam, resulting in a 
reduced wall thickness. (CPSD-1, p.20; 
CPSD-16, p.63.)

Generally accurate with a clarification. The NTSB 
metallurgical examination found “the longitudinal 
seam welds on pups 1-3 were fabricated using a 
fusion welding process that deposited weld metal 
along the outer portion of the seam, but left an 
unwelded region along the inner portion of the 
seam.” Ex. CPSD-9 at 41.

82.

A visual examination of the pipe would 
have detected the anomalous and 
defective welds. The unwelded seam 
defects and manual arc welds ran the 
entire length of each pup and were 
detectable by the unaided eye and/or by 
touch. (CPSD-9, p.96.)

Disputed. While PG&E acknowledges the 
NTSB’s findings, a visual inspection would not 
necessarily have resulted in the detection of the 
pups or the welds. If the pups were delivered 
double-wrapped for external corrosion protection, 
consistent with PG&E design specifications, 
PG&E would not have readily known about the 
pups or the condition of the welds; neither would 
have been visible. Ex. PG&E-l at 2-6 to 2-7 
(PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 379-88, 411-12 
(PG&E/Harrison).

83.

The girth welds and longitudinal seams 
associated with the pups had welding 
deficiencies related to incomplete fusion, 
bum through, slag inclusion, crack, 
undercut, excess reinforcement, porosity 
defects and lack of penetration. (CPSD- 
1, p.20; CPSD- 16, p.6.)

Misleading without the following clarification: 
There is no record evidence that any of the girth 
weld imperfections fell below the applicable 
acceptance criteria applicable in 1956; all welds 
have imperfections but only those falling below 
established acceptance criteria are rejected as 
unfit. PG&E RB at 42-43.

84.
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The initial crack-like defect extended 
longitudinally along the entire length 
inside of the weld (the root) on Pup 1, 
resulting in a net intact seam thickness of 
0.162 inches. With a nominal 0.375 inch 
wall thickness, the intact wall thickness 
was approximately 43% at the weld. 
There was also an angular misalignment 
on the inside of Pup 1. Given this initial 
defect, an additional 2.4 inch defect grew 
to failure. The initial craclc-like defect 
first grew by ductile fracture (Stage 1). 
Then the crack grew by fatigue (Stage 2). 
The final stage was the rupture of the 
pipe, identified as a quasicleavage 
fracture (Stage 3). (CPSD-1, p.50; 
CPSD-9, p.41.)

Partially disputed. PG&E acknowledges the 
NTSB’s finding that the seam weld thickness of 
pup 1 was 0.162 inches. The seam weld thickness 
of pup 1 was the result of the missing interior 
longitudinal seam weld. Ex. CPSD-9 at 41-43.

85.

As Mr. Harrison testified, it is incorrect to 
compare a measurement of the wall thickness of a 
pipe body with a measurement of weld seam 
thickness. Joint R.T. 399-400 (PG&E/Harrison). 
The NTSB concluded that the wall thickness of the 
pups was consistent with the 0.375” specification. 
Ex. CPSD-9 at 41.

Dr. Caligiuri testified that the initial cause of the 
ductile tear in pup 1 was likely a post-installation 
hydro test. Ex. PG&E-l at 3-16 to 3-17 
(PG&E/Caligiuri).

All of the pups used for Segment 180 
were less than 5 feet in length. (CPSD-1, 
P-22.)

Generally accurate with clarification. In itself, 
using short pieces of pipe does not create a safety 
concern, nor does it violate any applicable law or 
regulation. R.T. 1059-61 (PG&E/Caligiuri); Joint 
R.T. 410-11 (PG&E/Harrison); PG&E OB at 50-

86.

51.

PG&E was unable to produce records 
demonstrating that a strength test was 
performed on Segment 180 at the 
conclusion of its construction or at any 
time during its operation. (CPSD-1, 
P-22.)

Generally accurate but misleading without the 
following additions: Although PG&E does not 
have documentation of a post-construction 
pressure test, a PG&E employee at the time recalls 
seeing a hydro test on Segment 180, the bill of 
materials for the Segment 180 job shows materials 
procured for the job that would only be useful in 
performing a hydro test, and Dr. Caligiuri testified 
based on his metallurgical examination of the 
failed pup that the most likely cause of the ductile 
tear was a hydro test. PG&E OB at 53-55; PG&E 
RB at 41-42.

87.
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The NTSB report found that the 
calculated burst pressure estimates were 
594 and 515 psig for Pup 1; 668 and 574 
psig for Pup 2; and 558 and 430 psig for 
Pup 3, respectively. The analysis was 
done assuming no crack growth in the 
weld defect in Pup 1 and no angular 
misalignment of the Pup 1 longitudinal 
seam. Based on the pipeline 
characteristics associated with the pups 
and the Class 3 location, if a strength test 
had been performed to 1.4 times MAOP 
(400 x 1.4 = 560 psig), it is highly 
probable that the pups in Segment 180 
would have failed. (CPSD-1, pp.60-61; 
CPSD-9, p.49.)

Disputed. Dr. Caligiuri testified that even if a 
pressure test had been performed to 1.4 times 
MAOP, the pups in Segment 180 may not have 
ruptured. R.T. 1070-71 (PG&E/Caligiuri). 
Although the pipe materials were designed to meet 
Class 3 requirements, the pipe was not necessarily 
tested to a pressure of 560 psig because the 
location was Class 2 in 1956. R.T. 1068-69 
(PG&E/Caligiuri); Ex. PG&E-l at 2-7 to 2-9 
(PG&E/Harrison).

88.

Integrity Management

In 2004, PHMSA established the Gas 
Transmission Integrity Management Rule 
(49 CFR Part 192, Subpart O), commonly 
referred to as the “Gas IM Rule.” The 
Gas IM Rule specifies how pipeline 
operators must identify, prioritize, assess, 
evaluate, repair and validate the integrity 
of gas transmission pipelines that could, 
in the event of a leak or failure, affect 
high-consequence areas within the United 
States. (CPSD-1, p.133.)

Generally accurate. The integrity management 
regulations (49 C.F.R. part 192 subpart O) were 
effective February 14, 2004. 68 Fed. Reg. 69,778; 
69 Fed. Reg. 2,307.

89.
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The integrity management (IM) 
requirements (49 CFR Part 192) for all 
pipelines in high consequence areas 
(HCAs) were effective with the signing 
into law of the 2002 Pipeline Safety and 
Improvement Act on December 17, 2002. 
This law required PHMSA to promulgate 
regulations concerning transmission 
pipelines in areas that could affect human 
safety no later than one year after 
enactment. PHMSA noticed the new 
regulations on December 15, 2003, and 
these regulations required that by 
December 17, 2004, operators were to 
have IM plans developed and to have 
identified all HCAs. (CPSD-1, p.25.)

Disputed as to effective date. The Pipeline Safety 
and Improvement Act, signed in 2002, required 
PHMSA to promulgate regulations concerning 
transmission pipeline integrity within one year. 
PHMSA noticed the integrity management 
regulations (49 C.F.R. part 192, subpart O) on 
December 15, 2003, effective February 14, 2004. 
68 Fed. Reg. 69,778; 69 Fed. Reg. 2,307. The 
integrity management regulations required 
operators to identify all high consequence areas by 
December 17, 2004, and implement an integrity 
management plan framework by that date. 49 
C.F.R. §§ 192.907, 192.911.

90.

The IM regulations include requirements 
for threat analysis, risk ranking, 
assessment methods and re-assessment 
timetables. (CPSD-1, p.25.)

Generally accurate.91.

PG&E did not always use conservative 
default values for pipeline segments in 
Line 132, when the actual value was 
missing or unknown. (CPSD-1, p.26; 
CPSD-9, p.108.)

Disputed. CPSD failed to prove that PG&E’s use 
of conservative, assumed values other than 24,000 
psig violated regulations or departed from industry 
practice, with respect to Line 132 or any other 
pipeline. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-8 to 4-12 
(PG&E/Keas); PG&E RB at 52-54.

92.

PG&E did not always check the material 
specifications of pipeline segments in 
Line 132 for accuracy. (CPSD-1, p.26.)

Disputed. CPSD failed to prove that PG&E’s data 
quality control measures were inadequate as a 
matter of law, with respect to Line 132 or any 
other pipeline. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-12 
(PG&E/Keas). CPSD did not raise this alleged 
deficiency in the 2005 or 2010 integrity 
management audits. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13, Tab 
4-25).

93.
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PG&E did not always gather all relevant 
leak data on Line 132 and integrate it into 
its Geographic Information System 
(GIS). (CPSD-1, p.26.)

Disputed. PG&E gathered leak records as part of 
the pre-assessment phase of integrity management 
assessments, with respect to Line 132 and other 
pipelines. Additionally, leak records are not 
required data elements to be gathered and 
reviewed for manufacturing threat identification. 
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-14 (PG&E/Keas). CPSD did 
not raise this alleged deficiency in the 2005 or 
2010 integrity management audits. Ex. PG&E-7 
(Tab 4-13, Tab 4-25).

94.

The investigation discovered a number of 
examples where data from PG&E’s GIS 
were in error, but not discovered by 
PG&E, including (CPSD-1, p.32; CPSD- 
9, p.61):

Partially disputed. PG&E acknowledges that GIS 
identified Segment 180 as constmcted from 30- 
inch seamless pipe, which was in error. However, 
PG&E’s use of conservative, assumed values 
where data was unavailable is authorized by 
integrity management regulations and common in 
the natural gas pipeline industry. Ex. PG&E-lc at 
4-8 to 4-10 (PG&E/Keas). Moreover, there is 
more than one possible SMYS value for grade B 
pipe, as operators could specify intermediate 
grades above this value. Joint R.T. 53 
(PG&E/Zurcher). Operators are only required to 
use 24,000 psig SMYS as an assumed value if the 
yield strength of pipe in the segment is truly 
unknown. Joint R.T. 28-29 (PG&E/Zurcher). 
CPSD’s assertion that PG&E should have 
reflected the presence of six short pup sections in 
an 1,800 foot segment is incorrect, and would 
impose an entirely new recordkeeping standard, as 
even today pipeline operators do not document 
pipeline installations on the joint-by-joint level. 
Joint R.T. 487 (PG&E/Harrison). As the 
undisputed evidence shows, had PG&E been 
aware of the presence of the six pups, it would not 
have documented then, it would have not installed 
or removed them. Joint R.T. 830 
(PG&E/Zurcher); Joint R.T. 1019 (PG&E/Keas).

95.

the pipe wall thickness was an 
assumed value for 21.5 miles (41.75 
percent) of Line 132;

the manufacturer of the pipe was 
unknown (“NA”) for 40.6 miles (78.81 
percent) of Line 132;

the pipeline depth of ground 
cover was also unknown for 42.7 miles

a.

b.

c.

(82.79 percent) of Line 132;
three values were used for the 

SMYS of grade B pipe: 35,000 psi, 
40,000 psi, and 45,000 psi;

two segments with unknown 
SMYS were assigned values of 33,000 
psi and 52,000 psi, not 24,000 psi;

six consecutive segments, totaling 
3,649 feet, specified an erroneous 
minimum depth of cover of 40 feet;

several segments, including 
Segment 180, specified 30-inch-diameter 
seamless pipe, although there was no 
API-qualified domestic manufacturer of 
such pipe when the line was constructed;

d.

e.

f.

g-

and
h. the GIS did not reflect the 
presence of the six pups in Segment 180.
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PG&E did not consider known 
longitudinal seam cracks dating to the 
1948 construction and at least one other 
leak, which occurred in 1988, on a long 
seam of the 1948 portion of pipe. Closed 
leak information, such as the October 27, 
1988, leak, which had been repaired, was 
not transferred to the GIS. (CPSD-1, 
p.26; CPSD-9, p.109.)

Disputed. Longitudinal seam cracks identified in 
pipe installed in Line 132 in 1948 are not evidence 
of manufacturing threats, as the cracks were 
repaired at the mill before the pipe was subjected 
to a 90% SMYS mill hydro test. A test of this 
magnitude renders any remaining defect too small 
to fail during the life of the pipeline. Ex. PG&E-7 
(Tabs 4-17, 4-18, 4-20); Ex. PG&E-l at 6-5 
(PG&E/Kiefner); R.T. 691-92, 770, 786-87, 832 
(PG&E/Kiefner). The pinhole leak that occurred 
in 1988 did not signal the presence of an unstable 
manufacturing defect, as leaks of this type do not 
lead to pipeline ruptures. Joint R.T. 871 
(PG&E/Zurcher). Moreover, leak records are not 
required data elements to be gathered and 
reviewed for manufacturing threat identification. 
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-14 (PG&E/Keas).

96.

PG&E did not incorporate and analyze all 
of the known history of seam leaks or test 
failures. A number of defects were not 
incorporated into PG&E’s analysis of the 
condition of the pipe for its 2004 
Baseline Assessment Plan (BAP) (CPSD- 
1, pp.33- 35; CPSD-9, p.39):

1948, Line 132: Multiple 
longitudinal seam cracks found during 
radiography of girth welds during 
construction.

Disputed. None of the “seam leaks or test 
failures” identified by CPSD indicate the presence 
of potential manufacturing threats on Line 132 
because: (1) they occurred on pipe of dissimilar 
material specifications; (2) they were not seam 
failures within the definition of the integrity 
management mles; (3) they were construction 
defects, not manufacturing defects; and/or (4) they 
occurred after San Bruno. See PG&E RB at 60-

97.

a.

65.

b. 1958, Line 300B: Seam leak in
DSAW pipe.

1964, Line 132: A leak was found 
on a “wedding band” weld; the leak was 
the result of construction defect. The

c.

defect was found on segment 200.
1974, Line 300B: Hydrostatic test 

failure of seam weld with lack of 
penetration (similar to accident pipe).

1988, Line 132: Longitudinal 
seam defect in DSAW pipe.

1992, Line 132: Longitudinal 
seam defect in DSAW weld when a tie-in 
girth weld was radiographed.__________

d.

e.

f.

C-33

SB GT&S 0486713



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

( PSD Proposed l-'inding of l-'aol PG&E's Response
1996, Line 109: Cracking of the 

seam weld in DSAW pipe.
1996, Line 109: Seam weld with 

lack of penetration (similar to accident 
pipe) found during camera inspection.

1996, DFM-3: Defect in forge- 
welded seam weld.

g-

h.

l.

1999, Line 402: Leak in ERWJ-
seam weld.
k. 2002, Line 132: During a 2002 
ECDA assessment, miter joints with 
construction defects were found on 
Segment 143.4.

2009, Line 132: A leak was found 
on Segment 189 that was caused by a 
field girth weld defect. Segment 189 was 
originally fabricated by Consolidated 
Western using DSAW and installed in 
1948.

1.

2009, Line 132: During the 
ECDA process, a defective SAW repair 
weld was found on Segment 186. As 
indicated in PG&E’s pipeline survey 
sheet, the segment was originally 
fabricated by Consolidated Western using 
DSAW and installed in 1948.

2011, Line 300A: Longitudinal 
seam crack in 2-foot pup of DSAW pipe 
(found during camera inspection).

2011, Line 153: Longitudinal 
seam defect in DSAW pipe during 
radiographic inspection for validation of 
seam type.

m.

n.

o.
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PG&E’s 2004 Baseline Assessment Plan 
(BAP) did not identify a construction 
threat based on “wedding band” joints in 
its threat algorithms. (CPSD-1, p.34.) 
PG&E’s Likelihood of Failure (LOF) 
algorithm did not include threats from 
internal corrosion, stress corrosion 
cracking, equipment failure, incorrect 
operations (including human error), and 
cyclic fatigue. (CPSD-1, p.38.)

Partially disputed. The LOF algorithm is used in 
risk assessment to prioritize pipelines for 
assessment. It is not used for threat identification, 
as CPSD uses it. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-33 
(PG&E/Keas).

98.

PG&E dismissed cyclic fatigue as a 
threat based on a report prepared for 
PHMSA on the stability of 
manufacturing and construction defects. 
PG&E did not incorporate cyclic fatigue 
or other loading conditions into the 
segment specific threat assessments and 
risk ranking algorithm. (CPSD-1, p.38, 
P-50.)

Disputed. CPSD’s 2010 audit found PG&E’s 
consideration of cyclic fatigue to be satisfactory. 
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 35-37. Prior to San 
Bruno, the consensus industry and regulatory view 
was that cyclic fatigue did not pose an appreciable 
risk to natural gas pipelines. Ex. PG&E-l at 6-4 to 
6-5 (PG&E/Kiefner); Ex. PG&E-3 (August 10, 
2009 PHMSA Letter to NTSB re Safety 
Recommendation P-04-01).

99.

100. PG&E increased the pressure on many 
lines, including Line 132, to a little over 
the line MAOP (referred to as “pressure 
spiking”) so that it could eliminate the 
need to consider manufacturing and 
construction threats as unstable as a result 
of increasing the pressure above the 5 
year maximum operating pressure 
(MOP). (CPSD-1, p.40.)

Disputed. PG&E has previously increased the 
pressure on various lines, including Line 132, to 
approximately MAOP. However, “pressure 
spiking” is not an accurate or appropriate 
description of the process, nor is CPSD’s 
characterization of its purpose. Ex. PG&E-l at 5
13 to 5-14 (PG&E/Zurcher).
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101. Identifying manufacturing and
construction threats as unstable would 
mean that an assessment method capable 
of assessing seam, girth weld, and other 
manufacturing and construction 
anomalies would need to be used (hydro
testing or In-Line-Inspection). (CPSD-1, 
p.40.)

Partially disputed. The integrity management 
regulations require an operator to conduct an 
integrity assessment of the longitudinal seam of 
segments that are identified as having an unstable 
manufacturing seam threat. 49 C.F.R.
§§ 192.917(e)(3)-(e)(4). Integrity management 
regulations do not require similar treatment for 
non-seam related manufacturing defects or 
construction defects. These threats are remediated 
through monitoring for ground movement. Ex. 
Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S) §§ A4.3-4.4, A5.3-5.4.

PG&E’s risk-ranking algorithm in Risk 
Management Protocol (RMP)-06 does 
not consider DSAW pipeline as having 
manufacturing defects, including seam 
and pipe body defects. (CPSD-1, p.41.)

Misleading without the following additions: The 
“risk ranking algorithm” in RMP-01 is used to 
determine relative risk, and is not used in threat 
identification. The integrity management 
regulations do not identify DSAW pipe as being 
subject to a potential manufacturing threat, and 
neither does PG&E’s integrity management 
program. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-15 to 4-16 
(PG&E/Keas). Prior to San Bruno, there was no 
reason for PG&E or any operator to conclude that 
DSAW pipe was potentially subject to a 
manufacturing threat. Joint R.T. 967 
(PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-l at 3-5 
(PG&E/Caligiuri); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-9 
(PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l at 6-5 to 6-6 
(PG&E/Kiefner); R.T. 691-92 (PG&E/Kiefner).

102.
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A report entitled “Integrity 
Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines”, 
referenced by PG&E in its first revision 
of RMP-06, identifies DSAW as having 
manufacturing defects, including seam 
and pipe body defects. Table E-6 in the 
“Vintage Characteristics of Pipelines” 
report identifies Consolidated Western as 
a manufacturer of DSAW pipe that has 
had incidents for both pipe body (1950 
and 1954-56) and seam welds during 
certain years (1947, 1950, 1954-56). 
(CPSD-1, p.41.)

Misleading without the following additions: The 
referenced report indicates that weld-seam 
anomalies in DSAW pipe are “rare” and does not 
indicate the presence of incidents in the pipe used 
in Line 132, including Segment 180. Ex. Joint-49 
at E-6 to E-7. CPSD’s characterization of DSAW 
pipe as commonly experiencing seam defects is 
not supported by their reference to this document.

103.

PG&E’s implementation of the ECDA 
process along Line 132 shows that some 
HCAs were identified and designated as 
such by PG&E before December 2003. 
(CPSD-1, p.43.)

Disputed. The integrity management regulations, 
including the definition of a high consequence 
area, were not effective until February 14, 2004, 
68 Fed. Reg. 69,778; 69 Fed. Reg. 2,307, and thus 
PG&E could not identify HCAs in 2003.

104.

105. PG&E operated Line 132 to
approximately 400 psig in order to 
establish a maximum baseline value on 
two occasions. PG&E operated the line 
at 402.37 psig on December 11, 2003; 
PG&E also operated Line 132 at 400.73 
psig on December 8, 2008. (CPSD-1, 
p.44.)

It is accurate that PG&E operated Line 132 to the 
pressures stated, as recorded at Milpitas Terminal. 
PG&E does not know what is meant by and does 
not agree with the characterization of “to establish 
a maximum baseline value.”

In the 2004 BAP, PG&E identified 
Segment 180 as not having any DSAW 
manufacturing threat. (CPSD-1, p.46.)

Generally accurate, but misleading without the 
following addition: Consistent with PG&E’s 
experience and the federal integrity management 
regulations, PG&E’s 2004 BAP did not identify 
Segment 180 as having any DSAW manufacturing 
threat. Prior to San Bruno, there was no reason for 
PG&E or any operator to conclude that DSAW 
pipe was potentially subject to a manufacturing 
threat. Joint R.T. 967 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-l 
at 3-5 (PG&E/Caligiuri); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-9 
(PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l at 6-5 to 6-6 
(PG&E/Kiefner); R.T. 691-92 (PG&E/Kiefner).

106.
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Safety Culture

Over the period 1997 to 2010, PG&E 
spent approximately $40 million less than 
the Commission authorized, for pipeline 
transmission operations and maintenance 
(O&M). (CPSD-1, p.131.) Over the 13 
years prior to the San Bruno explosion, 
PG&E had focused on decreasing O&M 
expenses. (CPSD-1, p.132; CPSD-168 
(Harpster), p. 1-2.)

Disputed. PG&E spent more than the imputed 
adopted O&M expenses from 1997 to 2010. Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 2 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). 
PG&E’s O&M expenses grew steadily from 1997 
to 2010. Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 19 (Figure 4) 
(PG&E/ O ’ Loughlin).

107.

PG&E’s GT&S capital expenditures were 
approximately $116 million lower than 
the Commission authorized amounts 
between 1997 and 2000. (CPSD-170 
(Harpster), p.8.)

Disputed. PG&E spent more than the imputed 
adopted capital expenditures from 1997 to 2010. 
Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 4 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). 
As CPSD’s own consultant, Overland, found, 
PG&E’s safety-related capital expenditures for 
2003 to 2010 exceeded the imputed adopted 
amounts by $35 million. Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 
(CPSD/Harpster).

108.

109. PG&E cannot identify any PG&E
requests for the recovery of costs for 
safety improvements to the natural gas 
transmission pipeline system that were 
denied by the Commission. (CPSD-1, 
p.131.)

Disputed. In the only fully adjudicated GT&S rate 
case, which set rates for 2004, the Commission 
reduced PG&E’s forecast O&M expenses and 
capital expenditures for integrity management 
work. Ex. PG&E-19 at 206-07, 218.

Between 1999 and 2010, PG&E’s gas 
transmission and storage (GT&S) 
revenues were at least $435 million 
higher than the amounts needed to earn 
the authorized return on equity (ROE). 
(CPSD-1, p.133; CPSD-170 (Harpster), 
pp. 5, 9). Stated another way, between 
1999 and 2010, PG&E’s actual revenues 
for its GT&S exceeded actual revenue 
requirements by at least $435 million. 
(CPSD-170 (Harpster), pp.5, 10).

Generally accurate with the following addition: 
GT&S was able to generate revenues in excess of 
its actual revenue requirement because of the Gas 
Accord rate structure approved by the Commission 
for its market based storage services (particularly 
parking and lending). PG&E OB at 138-41; Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 68-75 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); 
Ex. CPSD-170 at 134-37 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 
219 (CPSD/Harpster).

110.
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In 2009 and 2010, only 13% of the total 
miles assessed by PG&E had been 
inspected using ILI tools. (CPSD-168 
(Harpster), p. 6-8.) At the same time, 
approximately 80% of Southern 
California Gas Company’s transmission 
pipeline located in high-consequence 
areas has been inspected using ILI tools. 
(CPSD-1, p.134.)

The first sentence is generally accurate. With 
regard to the second sentence, PG&E cannot 
verify information regarding Southern California 
Gas Company and the proposed finding of fact is 
ambiguous as to “at the same time.” The 
underlying evidence does not indicate when the 
inspections occurred. See Ex. CPSD-104.

111.

PG&E changed assessment methods for 
some projects from in-line inspections to 
ECDA to reduce costs. (CPSD-1, p. 134.)

Misleading without the following addition: The 
assessment method changes were made based on 
engineering, safety and compliance considerations. 
See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-227 at OC-260 Attachment 1; 
Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259, Attachment 4 at 8.

112.

PG&E deferred some integrity 
management expense projects to future 
years. (CPSD-1, p.134.)

Misleading without the following addition: The 
integrity management assessment deferrals were 
made based on engineering, safety and compliance 
considerations. See Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259, 
Attachment 4 at 9; Ex. CPSD-227 at OC-260, 
Attachment 1.

113.

114. PG&E changed the definition of the 
pipelines covered by integrity 
management rules in 2010 to reduce the 
scope of the integrity management 
program. (CPSD-1, p.135.)

Disputed. CPSD’s own witness found that PG&E 
did not change the definition. Ex. CPSD-168 at 9
12 (CPSD/Harpster).

PG&E’s 2009 Investor Conference 
presentation included a slide on 
“Expenditures,” which showed 
decreasing investments in gas 
transmission infrastructure; from $250 
million in 2009 to $200 million in 2010. 
(CPSD-1, p.135.)

Generally accurate. However, this proposed 
finding of fact has no apparent relationship to this 
proceeding and should not be adopted for that 
reason.

115.
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On February 16, 2005, the Chairman of 
the Board, Chief Executive Officer and 
President presented the idea of 
“Transformation” to the boards of 
directors, a company-wide business and 
cultural transformation campaign to 
reduce operating costs and instill a 
change in its corporate culture. As stated 
in the 2006 Annual Report, the reason for 
the investment in Transformation was, “If 
the actual cost savings are greater than 
anticipated, such benefits would accrue to 
shareholders.” (CPSD-1, p.135.)

Disputed. With regard to the first sentence, the 
Business Transformation initiative was presented 
to the Board by another PG&E executive, not the 
CEO. Furthermore, the description of the 
initiative as a “campaign to reduce operating 
costs” is incomplete and misleading. With regard 
to the second sentence, the 2006 annual report 
states that the Business Transformation initiatives 
were implemented “in an effort to provide better, 
faster and more cost-effective service to [PG&E’s] 
customers.” PG&E’s 2006 Annual Report is 
available at
http://investor.pgecorp.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=110
138&p=irol-
sec&secCatO 1. l_rs= 11 &secCat01. l_rc= 1 O&contr 
ol_searchbox=&control_selectgroup=l. The 
proposed finding of fact is misleading and 
incomplete for the additional reason that the 
sentence immediately following the quoted 
sentence in the proposed finding reads: 
“Conversely, if these cost savings are not realized, 
earnings available for shareholders would be 
reduced.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 136 (CPSD/Stepanian). 
Moreover, Business Transmission is not relevant 
to the issues in this proceeding and therefore this is 
not an appropriate proposed finding of fact.

116.

PG&E Company’s 2009 Annual Report 
discloses that the utility accrued $38 
million, after-tax, of severance costs 
related to the elimination of 
approximately 2% of its workforce. 
(CPSD-1, p.139.) PG&E stated the 2% 
workforce reduction equated to about 409 
employees. (CPSD-1, p.139.)

Generally accurate. However, this proposed 
finding has no apparent relationship to gas 
transmission or the issues in this proceeding and 
should not be adopted for that reason.

117.
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CPSI) Proposed Finding of Fael PCi&E's Response

PG&E’s actual return on equity for gas 
transmission and storage operations 
averaged 14.3% during 1999 to 2010. 
PG&E’s authorized return on equity 
averaged 11.2% over that period. 
(CPSD-1, p.140; CPSD-170 (Harpster), 
p-io.)

Generally accurate with the following additions:
(1) PG&E’s expert calculated a slightly different 
actual return amount (Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 67 
(Figure 19) (PG&E/O’Loughlin)); (2) GT&S is 
not a standalone company with its own GAAP 
financial statements and profits; and (3) PG&E as 
a whole earned returns during that period that were 
consistent with the authorized rates of return (Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 80 (Figure 23)
(PG&E/ O ’ Laughlin)).

118.

119. PG&E Company authorized a cash 
dividend in 2005 of $476 million; in 
2006, $494 million; in 2007, $547 
million; in 2008, $589 million; and, in 
2009, $624 million. (CPSD-1, p.140.)

Generally accurate with the qualification that this 
appears to refer to Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company.

PG&E’s 2010 Annual Report stated that 
during each of 2008, 2009, and 2010, the 
utility paid $14 million of dividends on 
preferred stock. On December 15, 2010, 
the board declared a cash dividend on its 
outstanding series of preferred stock 
totaling $4 million that was paid on 
February 15,2011. (CPSD-1, p.141.)

Generally accurate.120.

On December 15, 2004, PG&E’s board 
authorized a purchase of shares of the 
company’s issued and outstanding 
common stock with an aggregate 
purchase price not to exceed $1.8 billion, 
not later than December 31, 2006. By 
June 15, 2005, the Company projected 
that it may be able to repurchase 
additional shares of common stock 
through the end of 2006 in an aggregate 
amount of $500 million and, as such, 
increased the amount of the common 
stock repurchase authorization for a total 
authorization of $2.3 billion. (CPSD-1, 
p.141.)

Generally accurate.121.
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122. The 2010 Annual Report notes that $57 
million was provided in each year of 
2008 and 2009, and $56 million was 
provided in 2010 as bonus compensation 
to PG&E Corporation employees and 
non-employee directors. (CPSD-1, 
p.142.) PG&E provides a Short-term 
Incentive Plan, a “Pay-for-Performance” 
bonus, and a Reward and Recognition 
Program. (CPSD-1, p.142.)

Generally accurate.
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DRA Proposed Findings of Fact

l)UA Proposed I'inding of l-'acl PG&F’s Response

PG&E Committed Unreasonable Errors and
Omissions

PG&E has committed unreasonable 
errors and omissions in operating and 
maintaining its gas transmission system 
for which the remediation will cost far 
more than $50 million.

Disputed. This statement is more properly 
characterized as a conclusion of law. Moreover, 
determinations regarding “unreasonable errors and 
omissions” are not properly made and have not 
been at issue in this enforcement proceeding. Nor 
is DRA’s (apparent) reliance on Public Utilities 
Code Section 463 appropriate in an enforcement 
proceeding, in addition to being an incorrect 
interpretation and application of that statute.

1.

Based on the evidence presented in the 
NTSB Report and the evidence produced 
in this proceeding, the Commission 
concurs with the NTSB’s finding that the 
San Bruno explosion was the result of 
“organizational failure,” and thus there 
were many contributing causes of the 
explosion.

Disputed. This proposed factual finding is too 
broad and generalized to permit a specific or 
comprehensive response. The record evidence 
shows that the cause of the San Bruno accident 
was a defective piece of pipe installed in 1956 
with a missing interior weld. A single event, most 
likely a post-construction hydro test, caused a 
ductile from which a fatigue crack developed and 
grew over time until it ruptured on September 9, 
2010. The reference to “many contributing 
causes” is too broad and ambiguous to be 
meaningful. To the extent “contributing causes” 
equates to alleged violations of law, voluminous 
record evidence shows that those allegations have 
not been proven. Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 3 
(PG&E/Caligiuri); see generally, PG&E OB, 
Section V., and PG&E RB, Section V., and the 
record evidence detailed therein.

2.
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i)RA Proposed l-'inding of l acl PG&I/s Response

The San Bruno explosion was caused by 
a gas pipe that was defective when 
PG&E installed it in 1956, and the 
defects would have been visible when it 
was installed.

Disputed in part. The record evidence shows that 
the defects in the pups installed in Segment 180 
may not have been visible when installed. The 
pups may have been delivered to the job site 
wrapped in protective coating and/or welded in the 
middle of a longer piece of pipe. This proposed 
factual finding is speculative. Ex. PG&E-l at 2-3 
to 2-4 (PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 379-88, dll- 
12 (PG&E/Harrison).

3.

PG&E’s inadequate quality assurance 
and quality control which allowed 
installation of the defective line in 1956, 
and its inadequate pipeline integrity 
management program, which failed to 
detect and repair or remove the defective 
pipe section in later years, were 
contributing factors in the explosion.

Disputed. This proposed factual finding is too 
broad and generalized to permit a specific or 
comprehensive response. PG&E installed a 
defective piece of pipe in 1956. The record 
evidence shows, however, that the defects may 
have been concealed when installed, and that once 
installed PG&E (or any operator) would not 
reasonably be expected to discover the defect 
through integrity management, maintenance or 
other operational actions, whether or not mandated 
by law. See, e.g., Ex. PG&E-l at 2-3 to 2-4 
(PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 379-88, 411-12 
(PG&E/Harrison); Joint R.T. 1210 (PG&E/Keas); 
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 4 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. 
PG&E-l, Chapter 5 (PG&E/Zurcher).

4.

The San Bruno explosion was a 
consequence of multiple weaknesses in 
PG&E’s management and oversight of 
the safety of its gas transmission system 
which resulted in PG&E’s inaccurate 
records and a lack of a strong quality 
assurance program.

Disputed. This proposed finding is too broad and 
generalized to permit a specific or comprehensive 
response. However, the record evidence 
establishes that the many allegations regarding 
PG&E’s “safety culture,” including PG&E’s 
“management and oversight of the safety of its gas 
transmission system,” have not been proven. Ex. 
PG&E-10 (PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. PG&E-l 1 
(PG&E/O’Loughlin); see PG&E OB, Section 
V.F.; PG&E RB, Section V.F.

5.
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Every report on the San Bruno explosion 
concludes that PG&E’s integrity 
management program was deficient.

Disputed. “Every report” is overly-broad and does 
not assert a meaningful factual finding, nor is 
“deficient” adequately specific. PG&E does not 
dispute that the NTSB Report (Ex. CPSD-9) and 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 report (Ex. CPSD-1) 
asserted that aspects of PG&E’s integrity 
management program were “deficient.” The 
record evidence establishes, however, that 
PG&E’s integrity management program was in 
compliance with applicable law, and that it is 
incorrect to assert the program was “deficient” 
because PG&E did not discover the defective pipe 
in Segment 180. Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 4 
(PG&E/Keas); Joint R.T. 1210 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. 
PG&E-l, Chapter 5 (PG&E/Zurcher); PG&E OB, 
Section V.B.; PG&E RB, Section V.B.

6.

The NTSB correctly found that PG&E’s 
pipeline integrity management program, 
which should have ensured the safety of 
the system, was deficient and ineffective 
because it relied on pipeline information 
that was inaccurate and incomplete, was 
missing mission critical information, and 
was not designed to consider the most 
relevant information - such as pipeline 
design, materials, and repair history - 
when determining how to prioritize 
repairs and replacements.

Disputed. PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in both its 2005 
and 2010 audit of PG&E’s integrity management 
program. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13, Tab 4-25). 
PG&E’s data gathering also was consistent with 
industry standards and regulatory requirements. 
Joint R.T. 797-98 (PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l, 
Chapter 4 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 5 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

7.
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The NTSB correctly concluded that 
PG&E’s integrity management program 
led to internal assessments that were 
superficial and resulted in no 
improvements.

Disputed. PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2005 and 
2010 audits. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13, Tab 4-25). 
PG&E’s data gathering was consistent with 
industry standards and regulatory requirements. 
Joint R.T. 797-98 (PG&E/Zurcher). PG&E’s 
threat identification process evaluated all potential 
threats (with the exception of equipment failure 
and hard spots), including interactive threats and 
cyclic fatigue, also as confirmed in the 2005 and 
2010 CPSD audits. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 35
37; Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-25).

8.

The IRP correctly concluded that 
PG&E’s integrity management program 
is not identifying all threats, as required 
by regulation; is not identifying the 
segments of highest risk and remediating 
significant anomalies; and hence is not 
taking programmatic actions to prevent 
or mitigate threats.

Disputed. PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2005 and 
2010 audits. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13. Tab 4-25). 
PG&E’s data gathering was consistent with 
industry standards and regulatory requirements. 
Joint R.T. 797-98 (PG&E/Zurcher). PG&E’s 
threat identification process evaluated all potential 
threats (with the exception of equipment failure 
and hard spots), including interactive threats and 
cyclic fatigue, also as confirmed in the 2005 and 
2010 CPSD audits. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 35
37; Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-25).

9.
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A form of PG&E’s integrity management 
program has been in place for nearly 30 
years.

Disputed. PG&E has undertaken several 
systematic efforts to address pipeline safety 
considerations in the last thirty years, such as 
replacement of transmission lines with inferior 
girth welds in the Gas Pipeline Replacement 
Program, and implementation of the Risk 
Management Program in the late 1990s. However, 
PG&E’s Integrity Management Program has 
different objectives, uses different data sources, 
and addresses different regulatory requirements 
than GPRP and RMP. See PG&E RB at 142-44. 
PG&E’s integrity management program was 
launched in response to PHMSA’s adoption of the 
Subpart O regulations effective February 14, 2004.

10.

PG&E’s integrity management program 
lacked reliable data from the beginning.

Disputed. PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2010 audit. 
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13). PG&E’s data gathering 
was consistent with industry standards and 
regulatory requirements. Joint R.T. 797-98 
(PG&E/Zurcher). PG&E’s creation of its GIS, 
which serves as a source of data during PG&E’s 
initial data gathering step, was consistent with 
industry practice. Joint R.T. 663 (PG&E/Zurcher). 
Prior CPSD audits did not find issues relating to 
PG&E’s integrity management program data 
gathering and data quality. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4
13 (2010 audit) and Tab 4-25 (2005 audit)).

11.
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DBA Proposed l-'indiiig of l ael PG&E’s Response

The evidence shows that well before the 
San Bruno explosion, PG&E was put on 
notice of its significant record keeping 
deficiencies, and their impacts on its 
integrity management risk assessments.

Disputed. PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2010 audit. 
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13). PG&E’s data gathering 
was consistent with industry standards and 
regulatory requirements. Joint R.T. 797-98 
(PG&E/Zurcher). PG&E’s creation of its GIS, 
which serves as a source of data during PG&E’s 
initial data gathering step, was consistent with 
industry practice. Joint R.T. 663 (PG&E/Zurcher). 
Prior CPSD audits did not find issues relating to 
PG&E’s integrity management program data 
gathering and data quality. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4
13 (2010 audit) and Tab 4-25 (2005 audit)).

12.

PG&E’s expert testimony that its 
integrity management program met 
regulatory requirements and industry 
standards is not credible and should be 
disregarded.

Disputed. John Zurcher is a 30-year veteran of the 
pipeline industry and an ASME B31.8S committee 
member responsible for drafting and revising 
industry standards relating to integrity 
management. Ex. PG&E-l at 5-1 to 5-3 
(PG&E/Zurcher). Mr. Zurcher’s conclusions are 
the same as those reached by CPSD in its 2005 
and 2010 audits of PG&E’s integrity management 
program. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13, Tab 4-25).

13.

The evidence shows that PG&E was not 
complying with integrity management 
regulatory requirements or industry 
standards.

Disputed. PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2010 audit. 
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13). PG&E’s data gathering 
was consistent with industry standards and 
regulatory requirements. Joint R.T. 797-98 
(PG&E/Zurcher). PG&E’s threat identification 
process evaluated all potential threats (with the 
exception of equipment failure and hard spots), 
including interactive threats and cyclic fatigue.
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) (2010 audit results) at 35
37; Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-25) (2005 audit results).

14.
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l)UA Proposed I'inding of l acl PG&E's Response

PG&E’s expert witnesses intentionally 
ignored well-documented evidence that 
PG&E’s integrity management records 
have significant errors and omissions.

Disputed. There is no record evidence to support 
this proposed finding, and DRA cites none.
PG&E cannot determine what DRA is referring to. 
PG&E’s expert witnesses incorporated all 
information necessary to formulate their respective 
opinions and testimony provided in this 
proceeding. Ex. PG&E-l at 5-3 to 5-4 
(PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l at 6-2 
(PG&E/Kiefner).

15.

PG&E’s expert witness incorrectly 
asserted that accurate data is not 
important for integrity management 
purposes and is not necessary to operate a 
functional integrity management 
program.

Disputed. This mischaracterizes Mr. Zurcher’s 
testimony. Operators did not interpret the integrity 
management rules to mandate that they recreate 
pipeline data from original construction records, 
and it was common industry practice to accept the 
accuracy of preexisting pipeline data collections, 
such as pipeline survey sheets. Ex. PG&E-l at 5-7 
(PG&E/Zurcher). Inaccurate data would be 
identified through integrity management 
processes, such as assessments, and corrected.
Joint R.T. 663 (PG&E/Zurcher).

16.

PG&E’s expert witnesses emphasized 
that integrity management was an 
iterative process requiring new and 
updated information to be added when 
pipeline assessments were performed and 
data became otherwise available.

Generally accurate.17.

The evidence shows that PG&E took no 
meaningful actions to systematically 
update its integrity management data, or 
correct the errors over time. It did not 
systematically update the integrity 
management data base when pipeline 
assessments were performed.

Disputed. PG&E’s two-step data gathering 
process involved obtaining additional information 
from locally-stored and archived pipeline records 
and interviews with field personnel to gather 
relevant pipeline data. This second step was done 
to validate the assessment method and inform 
future assessment steps through increased 
knowledge of the covered segment. Ex. PG&E-lc 
at 4-8 (PG&E/Keas). The integrity management 
group implemented the audit change log as a 
means to identify and track changes to GIG 
information that affected HCAs.

18.
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DBA Proposed I'inding ol' l acl PG&E's Response

One of PG&E’s integrity management 
witnesses joined PG&E after the San 
Bruno explosion and could not testify as 
an eye witness to PG&E’s actual data 
collection and integration practices 
before San Bruno; nor could she testify 
regarding the actual functionality of 
PG&E’s integrity management program 
at that time.

Disputed. PG&E’s witness, the Supervisor of Risk 
Management, developed an understanding of how 
PG&E’s integrity management program gathered 
data and conducted threat assessments as of, and 
prior to, San Bruno to develop a working 
understanding of how the program worked and to 
continue the program. Joint R.T. 1155 
(PG&E/Keas). The testimony she sponsored was 
initially prepared by the then-manager of integrity 
management, who had personal knowledge of the 
matters set forth in the testimony. Joint R.T. 906- 
OS (PG&E/Keas)

19.

PG&E Received Sufficient Money In Rates To
Operate and Maintain A Safe System

All of PG&E’s integrity management 
work covering nearly three decades has 
been funded by ratepayers through rates.

Disputed. PG&E spent more than the imputed 
adopted safety-related capital amounts, including 
integrity management work, from 2003 to 2010. 
Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 (CPSD/Harpster); Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 46-47 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). 
PG&E also spent more than the imputed adopted 
O&M amounts from 1997 to 2010. Ex. PG&E-10, 
MPO-1 at 24 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). It is unclear 
what DRA means by integrity management work, 
as the integrity management regulations did not 
come into effect until 2004. Furthermore, there is 
no evidence in the record regarding rate case 
results going back three decades.

20.
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All the experts, including PG&E’s, agree 
that PG&E’s GT&S operations have been 
extremely profitable for over a decade.

As worded, this proposed finding of fact is 
inaccurate and misleading. As a result of the at- 
risk market activities that were part of the rate 
structure adopted by the Commission in the Gas 
Accords, PG&E earned more than the authorized 
rate of return for GT&S, if viewed as a standalone 
entity. See PG&E OB at 138-41; Ex. PG&E-10, 
MPO-1 at 11, 62, 64 (Figure 17), 68-75 
(PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. CPSD-170 at 134-37 
(CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 219 (CPSD/Harpster).
But, GT&S is not an independent entity with 
publicly filed GAAP financial statements showing 
profits or losses and the returns of PG&E as a 
whole were consistent with the authorized rates of 
return. Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 80 (Figure 23) 
(PG&E/O ’ Loughlin).

21.

22. PG&E does not dispute that its GT&S 
operations made substantial profits over 
and above its authorized rate of return.

As worded, this proposed finding of fact is 
inaccurate and misleading. As a result of the at- 
risk market activities that were part of the rate 
structure adopted by the Commission in the Gas 
Accords, PG&E earned more than the authorized 
rate of return for GT&S, if viewed as a standalone 
entity. See PG&E OB at 138-41; Ex. PG&E-10, 
MPO-1 at 11, 62, 64 (Figure 17), 68-75 
(PG&E/O’Loughlin); Ex. CPSD-170 at 134-37 
(CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 219 (CPSD/Harpster).
But, GT&S is not an independent entity with 
publicly filed GAAP financial statements showing 
profits or losses and the returns of PG&E as a 
whole were consistent with the authorized rates of 
return. Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 80 (Figure 23) 
(PG&E/O ’ Loughlin).

C-51

SB GT&S 0486731



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

OKA Proposed Finding of l acl PG&E's Response

PG&E’s ratepayers paid for maintenance 
and operation of a safe gas transmission 
system for decades, but PG&E did not 
invest that money into gas transmission 
safety.

Disputed. PG&E spent more than the imputed 
adopted amounts for both capital and O&M 
expenses from 1997 to 2010. Ex. PG&E-10, 
MPO-1 at 2-5 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). CPSD’s own 
witness found that PG&E spent more on safety- 
related capital expenditures than the imputed 
adopted amounts from 2003 to 2010. Ex. CPSD- 
168 at 4-3 to 4-4 (CPSD/Harpster). There is no 
substantial evidence in the record regarding 
PG&E’s spending compared to the imputed 
adopted amounts prior to 1997. Furthermore, this 
proposed finding of fact is vague and lacking in 
context.

23.

Notwithstanding the significant profits 
earned by PG&E’s GT&S operations, 
PG&E systematically underfunded 
GT&S integrity management and 
maintenance operations for the years 
2008 through 2010, engaging in a “run to 
failure” strategy whereby it deferred 
needed maintenance projects and 
changed the assessment method for 
several pipelines from ILI to the less 
informative and less appropriate ECDA 
approach, to increase profits even further.

Disputed. With regard to “significant profits,” see 
PG&E’s response to DRA’s Proposed Finding of 
Fact No. 22. PG&E spent more than the imputed 
adopted amounts for both expense and capital 
during 2008-2010. Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 19 
(Figure 4), 43 (Figure 10) (PG&E/O’Loughlin). 
CPSD’s own witness found that PG&E spent 
$26.5 million more than the imputed adopted 
safety-related capex, including integrity 
management, in 2008 through 2010. Ex. CPSD- 
168 at 4-3 (Table 4-2) (CPSD/Harpster). 
Furthermore, this entire proposed finding of fact is 
argumentative and unclear, especially as to the 
undefined phrase “run to failure” and everything 
that follows it. Decisions to defer or change 
specific projects or categories of work were made 
with the input and involvement of the engineers 
and managers closest to the work. For example, 
any changes to planned integrity management 
assessments were based on engineering judgment. 
Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259, Attachment 4 at 8, 9; 
Ex. CPSD-227 at OC-260, Attachment 1.

24.
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Findings of Fact Supporting Adoption of an 
Independent Third Party Monitor

PG&E’s inattention to safety is pervasive 
and goes back over 50 years.

Disputed. This proposed factual finding is too 
broad and generalized to permit a specific or 
comprehensive response. The record evidence 
refutes the assertion that “PG&E’s inattention to 
safety is pervasive and goes back over 50 years.” 
The CPUC has repeatedly audited PG&E’s gas 
operations without ever having asserted that 
PG&E’s “inattention to safety is pervasive and 
goes back 50 years.” See generally, PG&E OB 
and PG&E RB (and record evidence detailed 
therein).

25.

The evidence shows that PG&E has 
never had a gas safety culture, or 
systematic and effective quality 
assurance or risk assessment mechanisms 
in place to ensure the safe operation of a 
high pressure gas transmission pipeline 
system.

Disputed. This proposed factual finding is too 
broad and generalized to permit a specific or 
comprehensive response. The record evidence 
refutes the assertion that “PG&E has never had a 
gas safety culture, or systematic and effective 
quality assurance or risk assessment mechanisms 
in place to ensure the safe operation of a high 
pressure gas transmission pipeline system.” The 
CPUC has repeatedly audited PG&E’s gas 
operations without ever having asserted that 
“PG&E has never had a gas safety culture, or 
systematic and effective quality assurance or risk 
assessment mechanisms in place . . .” See 
generally, PG&E OB and PG&E RB (and record 
evidence detailed therein).

26.

The Commission’s failure to detect the 
inadequacies of PG&E’s pipeline 
integrity management program 
contributed to the San Bruno Explosion.

Disputed. This proposed factual finding is too 
broad and generalized to permit a specific or 
comprehensive response. The record evidence 
refutes the assertion that “PG&E’s pipeline 
integrity management program” was 
“inadequate]”. Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 4 
(PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 5 
(PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 6 
(PG&E/Kiefner); see generally, PG&E OB and 
PG&E RB (and record evidence detailed therein).

27.
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Independent third party monitors are 
routinely used on large scale public 
works projects where independent 
monitors are on site, inspecting all 
aspects of the work being performed on a 
daily basis as an additional check to 
ensure the public is getting what it is 
paying for.

Not a relevant or material statement of fact, 
unsupported, and therefore disputed.

28.

It is not uncommon for independent 
monitors to be employed in response to 
destructive oil and gas pipeline incidents.

Not a relevant or material statement of fact, 
unsupported, and therefore disputed.

29.
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Probable Cause1.

The deficiencies identified during the 
NTSB and CPSD investigations are 
indicative of an organizational accident. 
(CPSD-9, p.125.)

Disputed. The terms “deficiencies” and 
“organizational accident” are too vague to be 
meaningM in a factual finding, and this proposed 
finding is too generalized to permit a specific or 
comprehensive response. The record evidence 
shows that the cause of the San Bruno accident 
was a defective piece of pipe installed in 1956 
with a missing interior weld. A single event, most 
likely a post-construction hydro test, caused a 
ductile from which a fatigue crack developed and 
grew over time until it ruptured on September 9, 
2010. Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 3 (PG&E/Caligiuri); 
see generally PG&E OB and PG&E RB and the 
record evidence detailed therein.

1.

The multiple and recurring deficiencies in 
PG&E operational practices indicate a 
systemic problem. (CPSD-9, page 125.)

Disputed. The terms “deficiencies” and “systemic 
problem” are too vague to be meaningful in a 
factual finding, and this proposed finding is too 
generalized to permit a specific or comprehensive 
response. The record evidence also rebuts the 
assertion of a “systemic problem.” See generally 
PG&E OB and PG&E RB and the record evidence 
detailed therein.

2.

Because PG&E had not incorporated the 
use of effective and meaningful metrics 
as part of their performance-based 
pipeline safety management programs, 
PG&E was unable to effectively evaluate 
or assess the integrity of its pipeline 
system. (CPSD-9, p. 126.)

Disputed. PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2005 and 
2010 audit. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13, Tab 4-25). 
PG&E’s data gathering was consistent with 
industry standards and regulatory requirements. 
Joint R.T. 797-98 (PG&E/Zurcher). PG&E’s 
threat identification process evaluated all potential 
threats (with the exception of equipment failure 
and hard spots), including interactive threats and 
cyclic fatigue. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 35-37.

3.
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The probable cause of the explosion was 
PG&E’s (1) inadequate quality assurance 
and quality control in 1956 during its 
Line 132 relocation project, which 
allowed the installation of a substandard 
and poorly welded pipe section with a 
visible seam weld flaw that, over time 
grew to a critical size, causing the 
pipeline to rupture during a pressure 
increase stemming from poorly planned 
electrical work at the Milpitas Terminal; 
and (2) inadequate pipeline integrity 
management program, which failed to 
detect and repair or remove the defective 
pipe section. (CPSD-9, page 127.)

Disputed. This proposed finding is too broad and 
generalized to permit a specific and 
comprehensive response. PG&E does not dispute 
it installed a defective pipe in 1956. Voluminous 
record evidence refutes the generalizations and 
characterizations in this asserted finding. See 
generally PG&E OB and PG&E RB and the 
record evidence detailed therein.

4.

Contributing to the severity of the 
explosion was the lack of either 
automatic shutoff valves or remote 
control valves on Line 132. (CPSD-9, 
page xii.)

Disputed in part. The presence of automated 
valves at the valve locations closest to the rupture 
would have enabled PG&E to shut off the gas 
sooner, potentially reducing damage. The 
evidence establishes, however, that not having 
automated valves at those locations was not a 
violation of law or contrary to industry standards 
at the time. Ex. PG&E-l at 5-17 (PG&E/Zurcher); 
Ex. PG&E-l at 9-6 (PG&E/Miesner); R.T. 340 
(PG&E/Almario); Ex. CPSD-1 at 105 
(CPSD/Stepanian); Joint R.T. 820-21 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

5.
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Contributing to the severity of the 
explosion was PG&E’s delay in isolating 
the rupture to stop the flow of the gas. 
(CPSD-9, page xii).

Disputed. The presence of automated valves at the 
valve locations closest to the rupture would have 
enabled PG&E to shut off the gas sooner, 
potentially reducing damage. The evidence 
establishes, however, that not having automated 
valves at those locations was not a violation of law 
or contrary to industry standards at the time. The 
record evidence also demonstrates that PG&E’s 
response time to isolate the rupture and stop the 
flow of gas was reasonable under the 
circumstances, and did not violate any law. Ex. 
PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-7
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-8 
to 9-12 (PG&E/Miesner); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 
10 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 11 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. CPSD-1 at 105 
(CPSD/Stepanian); Joint R.T. 820-21 
(PG&E/Zurcher); R.T. 269 (PG&E/Almario); R.T. 
415-16 (PG&E/Bull); R.T. 861-62 
(PG&E/Miesner).

6.

Contributing to the explosion were the 
California Public Utilities Commission’s 
(CPUC) and the U.S. Department of 
Transportation’s exemptions of existing 
pipelines from the regulatory requirement 
for pressure testing, which likely would 
have detected the installation defects. 
(CPSD-9, page xii.)

Disputed as hindsight judgment. Since 1961 and 
1970, both state and federal law, respectively, 
exempted existing facilities from pressure testing 
requirements. See CPUC GO 112; 49 C.F.R. § 
192.619(c). Line 132 was operating based on a 
validly established MAOP, and under MAOP and 
regulatory limits, when it ruptured on September 
9, 2010. Ex. CPSD-1 at 24 (CPSD/Stepanian).

7.
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Also contributing to the explosion was 
CPUC’s failure to detect the inadequacies 
of PG&E’s pipeline integrity 
management program. (CPSD-9, page 
xii.)

Disputed. The pipeline rupture was the result of 
defective pipe that did not meet material 
specifications, not the result of deficiencies in 
PG&E’s integrity management program. Integrity 
management regulations treat DSAW and 
seamless pipe as equivalent in terms of 
manufacturing threat analysis. The record 
evidence also establishes that PG&E’s integrity 
management program was incompliance with 
applicable law, and that it is incorrect to assert the 
program was “deficient” because PG&E did not 
discover the defective pipe in Segment 180. Ex. 
PG&E-l, Chapter 4 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-l, 
Chapter 5 (PG&E/Zurcher); Joint R.T. 1210 
(PG&E/Keas); PG&E OB, Section V.B.; PG&E 
RB, Section V.B..

8.

Emergency Response to the ExplosionII.

At 6:12 p.m., SCADA showed the 
upstream pressure at the Martin Station 
on Line 132 had decreased from 361.4 
psig to 289.9 psig. At 6:15 p.m., 
SCADA showed a low-low alarm at the 
Martin Station that indicated a pressure 
of 144 psig on Line 132. Pursuant to 
PG&E’s procedure, members of Gas 
Control attempted to troubleshoot the 
alarms by examining the pressures and 
conditions at different stations. (CPSD-
1, p.108.)

Generally accurate but misleading without the 
additional context that gas control operators had 
been receiving and analyzing SCADA alarms and 
uncertain SCADA data for approximately 50 
minutes at this time. The SCADA points 
referenced in the proposed finding did not exist in 
isolation. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-5 to 8-7 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-8 
to 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

9.

At 6:12 p.m. the first police unit arrived 
at the scene. At 6:13 p.m., the first San 
Bruno Fire Department unit arrived at the 
scene. (CPSD-1, p.ll.)

Partially disputed. The San Bruno Fire 
Department first unit arrived at the scene a few 
minutes later at 6:17 p.m. Ex. PG&E-40 at 6.

10.
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No outgoing calls were made by PG&E 
to fire or police officials upon discovery 
of the incident. (CPSD-1, p.l 18.)

Misleading without the following additions: 
Although PG&E does not have a record of making 
a call to 911, PG&E field personnel were working 
on site with the public agency first responders 
within 30 minutes of the rupture. Ex. CPSD-97 at 
9, 11; Ex. PG&E-40 at 10; Ex. CPSD-1 at 110 
(CPSD/Stepanian); PG&E OB at 110. As 
emergency response expert David Bull testified, 
the notification and coordination requirement was 
fulfilled at the time PG&E personnel arrived at the 
scene, confirmed that there was a gas emergency 
and coordinated with public responders in taking 
additional emergency actions. PG&E OB at 110; 
R.T. 420-21 (PG&E/Bull).

11.

At 6:18 p.m., an off-duty PG&E 
employee notified the PG&E Dispatch 
center in Concord, California, of an 
explosion in the San Bruno area. Over 
the next few minutes, the dispatch center 
received additional similar reports. 
(CPSD-1, p.l 1.)

Generally accurate with additions. This was the 
first notice PG&E had of the event, and the cause 
of the fire was at that time unknown to all. Ex. 
PG&E-l at 8-5 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. 
PG&E-40. That an off-duty PG&E employee 
called to report the existence of a fire of unknown 
cause demonstrates initiative and proper training.

12.

At 6:18 p.m., PG&E Dispatch was 
notified of a fire in San Bruno by an off- 
duty PG&E employee who speculated a 
jet crash. The dispatcher responded that 
a supervisor would be notified. (CPSD- 
1, P-108.)

Generally accurate with additions. This call by 
another off-duty PG&E employee further 
demonstrates the concern and training of PG&E 
personnel. Ex. PG&E-40.

13.

At 6:21 p.m., an off-duty a Gas Service 
Representative (GSR) called into 
Dispatch alerting them that there was a 
fire in San Bruno that appeared to be gas 
fed. The dispatcher responded that he 
would send a GSR out to investigate. 
(CPSD-1, p.108.)

Generally accurate with additions. This call by 
another off-duty PG&E employee further 
demonstrates the concern and training of PG&E 
personnel. Ex. PG&E-40.

14.
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At 6:23 p.m., PG&E Dispatch sent a GSR 
working in Daly City (about 8 miles from 
San Bruno) to confirm the report. About 
the same time, PG&E’s Senior 
Distribution Specialist, who saw the fire 
while driving home from work, reported 
the fire to the PG&E Dispatch center and 
proceeded to the scene. (CPSD-1, p. 11.)

Generally accurate with the addition that GSRs are 
the designated first responders under PG&E 
procedure and policy. R.T. 380 (PG&E/Almario).

15.

At 6:25 p.m., PG&E’s Dispatch called 
the Peninsula On-Call Supervisor to 
advise him of the incident. He 
responded, “I’m probably on my way.” 
(CPSD-1, p.108.)

Generally accurate.16.

At 6:27 p.m., while Gas Operators 1 and
2 were still in the process of determining 
the cause of the alarm, PG&E Dispatch 
called Gas Operator 3 to inquire if they 
noticed a loss of pressure in San Bruno. 
PG&E Dispatch advised about large 
flames and that a GSR and a Supervisor 
were heading to the scene. Gas Operator
3 responded that they had not received 
any calls yet. (CPSD-1, p.108.)

Misleading without additional context that the 
referenced “alarm” being analyzed by gas control 
operators did not exist in isolation. Ex. PG&E-l at 
8-5 to 8-7 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. 
PG&E-l at 9-8 to 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

17.

At 6:28 p.m., the PG&E Gas Controllers 
discussed the low-low pressure alarms 
amongst themselves and associated the 
reports of the fire at San Bruno with the 
pressure drop at Martin Station. At 6:29 
p.m., a PG&E Gas Controller mentioned 
to a caller that pressure on Line 132 had 
dropped from 396 psig to 56 psig and that 
“we have a line break in San Bruno... 
while we have Milpitas going down.” 
(CPSD-1, p.109.)

Generally accurate.18.
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At 6:30 p.m., PG&E Dispatch called the 
GSR to check on his status. The GSR 
was still in traffic at the time. The 
Measurement and Control (M&C) 
Superintendent of the Bay Area, on-call 
24/7 to respond to any gas event within 
his area, arrived at the scene just after 
6:30 p.m., as the result of seeing news of 
the explosion and fire on television. 
(CPSD-1, p.109.)

Mischaracterized as stated. That multiple PG&E 
personnel self-dispatched to the scene of an 
unknown major fire demonstrates initiative, 
concern, and training. R.T. 384-85 
(PG&E/Almario).

19.

At 6:31 p.m., Gas Operator 1 called 
PG&E Dispatch regarding the previous 
inquiry about the loss of pressure and 
speculated that PG&E’s gas facilities 
may be involved in the incident. PG&E 
Dispatch responded to Gas Control that a 
radio news report claimed the fire was 
due to a gasoline station explosion. 
(CPSD-1, p.109.)

Generally accurate.20.

At 6:32 p.m., Gas Control left a message 
for San Francisco Transmission and 
Regulation Supervisor about the low-low 
alarm at Martin Station, and the 
possibility of a leak. (CPSD-1, p.109.)

Generally accurate.21.

At 6:35 p.m., the M&C Superintendent of 
the Bay Area called Gas Control to 
inquire about the fire and told them to 
call the superintendent of the region. He 
then proceeded to the scene. At about the 
same time, Mechanic 1 called Dispatch, 
saying that PG&E’s transmission line ran 
through the scene of the fire and that the 
flame was consistent with ignited gas 
from a transmission line. As Mechanic 1 
headed to the Colma yard (Yard), he was 
called by Mechanic 2, who was then told 
to head to the Yard. (CPSD-1, p.109.)

Generally accurate with the addition that these 
actions again demonstrate the initiative and 
training of PG&E personnel. R.T. 384-85 
(PG&E/Almario).

22.
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At 6:36 p.m., the San Francisco T&R 
Supervisor returned the Gas Control’s 
call and told them to contact the 
Peninsula Division T&R Supervisor. The 
gas controllers had been coordinating 
with the Sr. Gas Coordinator to make the 
appropriate contacts. (CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Generally accurate.23.

At 6:40 p.m., after confirming the 
involvement of PG&E’s facilities with 
Dispatch and Gas Control, the Peninsula 
On-Call Supervisor called M&C 
Mechanics 1 and 2 and told them to “get 
to the yard, get their vehicles and head in 
that direction (of the valves).” (CPSD-1, 
p.l 10.)

Generally accurate with the addition that the 
Deputy Incident Commander and M&C 
Mechanics were already responding to the event. 
Ex. CPSD-97 at 9, 11; Ex. PG&E-40.

24.

PG&E first responders at the scene of the 
incident could not identify the cause of 
the fire. (CPSD-1, p.102.) PG&E had 
not offered specific training for its first 
responders on how to recognize the 
differences between fires of low-pressure 
natural gas, high-pressure natural gas, 
gasoline fuel, or jet fuel. (CPSD-1,
p.102.)

Disputed with regard to the first sentence. PG&E’s 
Gas Maintenance & Construction Superintendent 
for the Bay Area region, who arrived at the scene 
at approximately 6:35 p.m. and served as PG&E’s 
Deputy Incident Commander, recognized that the 
incident likely involved a PG&E gas transmission 
line. Ex. CPSD-97 at 11, 15-16. The responding 
M&C mechanic also immediately recognized the 
possibility that the fire was fed by natural gas. 
PG&E OB at 112; Ex. PG&E-40 at 8; Ex. PG&E- 
1 at 10-4 (PG&E/Almario).

25.

Misleading without the following addition with 
regard to the second sentence: there is no legal 
requirement to have such training for first 
responders. PG&E OB at 112. Further, as stated 
above, the responding M&C mechanic 
immediately recognized the possibility that the fire 
was fed by gas. PG&E OB at 112; Ex. PG&E-40 
at 8; Ex. PG&E-l at 10-4 (PG&E/Almario).
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At 6:41 p.m., the GSR and the Senior 
Distribution Specialist were at the scene 
and reported to PG&E Dispatch that the 
fire department did not yet know the 
cause of the flames. The GSR made 
PG&E Dispatch aware that there were 
gas transmission lines in the area. PG&E 
Dispatch conveyed to the GSR that a jet 
might have struck a gasoline station, 
which in turn caused the gas line to blow 
with it. The GSR called the Gas Service 
On-Call Supervisor, and the Gas Service 
Night Supervisor, to let them know he 
was on site. The Gas Service Night 
Supervisor arrived on site later. (CPSD- 
1, P-110.)

Misleading without the following addition: 
PG&E’s Gas Maintenance & Construction 
Superintendent for the Bay Area region, who 
arrived at the scene at approximately 6:35 p.m. 
and served as PG&E’s Deputy Incident 
Commander, recognized that the incident likely 
involved a PG&E gas transmission line. Ex. 
CPSD-97 at 9-11, 15-16. The responding M&C 
mechanic also immediately recognized the 
possibility that the fire was fed by natural gas. 
PG&E OB at 112; Ex. PG&E-40 at 8; Ex. PG&E- 
1 at 10-4 (PG&E/Almario).

26.

At 6:48 p.m., the Senior Distribution 
Specialist told PG&E Dispatch, “We’ve 
got a plane crash” and “we need a couple 
of gas crews and electric crews.” 
Dispatch acknowledged the request. 
(CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Misleading without the following addition: At 
6:39 p.m., a Gas Control operator stated that there 
were conflicting reports, some said it involved a 
gas station, some said a jet engine sound, which 
would indicate that it was natural gas. Ex. CPSD- 
56 at 161.

27.

Mechanic 1 arrived at the Yard at 6:50 
p.m. Mechanic 2 arrived soon after.
More internal contacts ensued. At 6:51 
p.m., a Gas Control Operator claimed, “it 
looks like it might [be transmission], if 
anything, distribution.” (CPSD-1, 
p.l 10.)

Generally accurate, but the mechanic’s arrival at 
the Colma Yard and the gas control operator’s 
statement have no relation or relevance to each 
other.

28.
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At 6:53 p.m., the San Francisco Division 
T&R Supervisor communicated to Gas 
Control that he had crews responding, but 
they might be heading to Martin Station. 
At 6:54 p.m., San Bruno Police called 
PG&E Dispatch requesting gas support. 
PG&E Dispatch replied, “We know, 
they’re out there already.” PG&E 
Dispatch then told the Troublemen 
Supervisor about a plane that had crashed 
into a gas station, and asked for gas and 
electric utilities in the area to be turned 
off. The Troublemen Supervisor replied 
that he was notifying the troublemen. 
(CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Misleading without the following clarifications. 
Multiple “crews” responded, including personnel 
directed to Martin Station, where the high pressure 
section of Line 132 terminates. PG&E Dispatch 
told the Troublemen that “we are being told” that a 
plane has crashed into a gas station. Ex. PG&E-40 
at 10. Troublemen are electrical personnel, not 
gas responders.

29.

At 6:57 p.m., PG&E’s Operations 
Emergency Center (OEC) was opened. 
While watching the news on a television 
at the Yard, Mechanic 1 identified the 
location of the incident and the nearest 
valves to be shut to cut off fuel to the 
fire. (CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Generally accurate, except for any adverse 
implication intended by the reference to “watching 
the news.”

30.

At 7:02 p.m., the San Mateo County 
Sheriff asked PG&E Dispatch if they 
were aware of the plane crash; PG&E 
Dispatch responded, “I’ll go ahead and 
relay that message.” At around the same 
time, Mechanic 1 called Dispatch and 
notified them of his plan to shut valves to 
isolate the rupture. (CPSD-1, p.l 10.)

Generally accurate.31.
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At 7:06 p.m., Mechanic 1 called the 
Peninsula Division T&R Supervisor for 
authorization to shut the valves. The 
Peninsula Division T&R Supervisor 
approved. Mechanics 1 and 2 proceeded 
to the first valve location (containing 
valve V-39.49). Gas Control was 
continuously making and receiving calls 
to gather and relay information. (CPSD- 
1, p.l 11.)

The first valve location is V-38.49. Ex. PG&E-40 
at 11-12.

32.

At around 7:07 p.m., a Gas Control 
Operator mentioned that the M&C 
Superintendent of the Bay Area was on 
site but could not get close enough to the 
actual location itself because of the extent 
of the fire and that “until the crew arrives, 
secures it and comes up with a plan, 
we’re just going to continue to feed it.” 
(CPSD-1, p.l 11.)

Misleading without the following clarification: 
“Feeding” the pipelines was necessary to avoid an 
uncontrolled shutdown of gas service to the 
Peninsula itself, which could create significant 
new and additional dangers. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 to 
9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

33.

At 7:12 p.m., the Troublemen Supervisor 
told PG&E Dispatch about his plan to 
order a mandatory call out requiring all 
Colma Yard employees to report in. 
(CPSD-1, p.l 11.)

Generally accurate with the clarification that 
Troublemen are electric operations personnel, not 
gas.

34.

At 7:15 p.m., a Gas Control operator 
commented, “The fire is so big I guess 
they can’t determine anything right now.” 
At approximately 7:15 p.m., an FAA 
representative informed PG&E’s M&C 
Superintendent of the Bay Area that there 
was no plane involved in the incident. 
(CPSD-1, p.l 11.)

Generally accurate.35.
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At 7:16 p.m, PG&E Dispatch began to 
relay the Troublemen Supervisor’s plan. 
Minutes later, the M&C Superintendent 
of the Bay Area instructed the Senior 
Distribution Specialist, who was with 
him at the time, to call Gas Control and 
tell them the fire was gas related and to 
declare it a reportable incident. (CPSD- 
1, p. 111.) Mechanics 1 and 2 arrived at 
the first valve location at 7:20 p.m. At 
7:22 p.m., the Senior Distribution 
Specialist contacted PG&E Dispatch and 
said that while unconfirmed, it looked 
like gas was involved. At 7:22 p.m., Gas 
Control told the Senior Vice President 
that the incident was likely to be a Line 
132 break, although nothing had been 
confirmed. At 7:25 p.m., PG&E 
Dispatch informed Gas Control that the 
M&C Superintendent of the Bay Area 
was on scene and confirmed that the 
incident was a reportable gas fire. Gas 
Control confirmed that Line 132 was the 
involved line. At 7:27 p.m., the SF 
Division T&R Supervisor requested that 
Gas Control lower the pressure set points 
as low as possible at the Martin Station to 
isolate Line 132 from the north. (CPSD- 
1, P-112.)

Misleading without the following clarification. 
Troublemen address electrical issues; the 
“Troublemen Supervisor’s plan” is not directly 
related to the response by the M&C mechanics to 
close gas transmission valves. Troublemen 
responded to address electric facilities that may 
have been involved at the site.

36.

At 7:29 p.m., Gas Control remotely 
closed the involved Line 132 valves at 
Martin Station to cut off the feed of gas 
north of the rupture. By 7:46 p.m., 
Mechanics 1 and 2 had traveled north of 
the rupture and closed valves V-40.05 
and V-40.05-2 at Healy Station to isolate 
the rupture. (CPSD-1, p.l 12.)

Misleading without clarification. Martin Station is 
approximately 8 miles from the accident site. 
Closing the remote valves at Martin Station could 
not immediately cut off the gas flow to the rupture, 
but could have created collateral consequences if 
done rashly. Ex. PG&E-l at 8-6 to 8-7 
(PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky); Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 
to 9-10 (PG&E/Miesner).

37.
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PG&E took 95 minutes to isolate the 
location of the rupture. The time for 
isolation could have been reduced had 
PG&E installed remote control valves 
(RCVs), automatic shut-off valves 
(ASVs), and/or appropriately spaced 
pressure and flow transmitters throughout 
its system to allow them to quickly 
identify and isolate line breaks. (CPSD-
1, p.102.)

Partially disputed. It is speculative as to what 
would have been considered to be “appropriately 
spaced” pressure and flow transmitters, or RCVs 
or AC Vs. Only with hindsight can it be identified 
where transmitters could have been 
“appropriately” located to aid in reducing the time 
for isolating the rupture. Prior to September 9, 
2010, there were no regulations dictating where 
such equipment be installed throughout PG&E’s 
extensive gas transmission system. 49 C.F.R. § 
192.935(c); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-17 (PG&E/Zurcher); 
R.T. 340 (PG&E/Almario); Joint R.T. 820-21 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

38.

By early morning on September 10, 
firefighters declared 75% of all active 
fires to be contained. By the end of the 
day on September 11, 2010, fire 
operations continued to extinguish fires 
and monitor the incident area for hot 
spots and then transferred incident 
command to the San Bruno Police 
Department. (CPSD-1, p.13.)

Generally accurate.39.

During the 50 hours following the 
incident, about 600 firefighting 
(including emergency medical service) 
personnel and 325 law enforcement 
personnel responded. Fire crews and 
police officers conducted evacuations and 
door-to-door searches of houses 
throughout the response. In total, about 
1,000 homes were evacuated.
Firefighting efforts included air and 
forestry operations. Firefighters, police 
officers, and members of mutual aid 
organizations also formed logistics, 
planning, communications, finance, and 
damage assessment groups to orchestrate 
response efforts and assess residential 
damage in the area. (CPSD-1, p. 13.)

Generally accurate.40.
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PG&E performed post-incident drug 
testing of three PG&E employees and a 
PG&E contractor working on the UPS 
Clearance at the Milpitas Terminal. The 
drug testing was administered by a third 
party independent laboratory on 
September 10, 2011 between 3:36 a.m. 
and 5:21 a.m., and all four individuals 
tested negative. The post-incident 
alcohol test of the same four individuals 
was performed on September 10, 2011 
between 3:10 a.m. and 5:02 a.m. (CPSD- 
1, P-99.)

Generally accurate.41.

III. Safety Culture

Over the period 1997 to 2010, PG&E 
spent 4.9%, a total of $39 million less 
than the Commission authorized, for 
pipeline transmission operations and 
maintenance (O&M). (CPSD-1, p. 131.) 
PG&E cannot identify any PG&E 
requests for the recovery of costs for 
safety improvements to the natural gas 
transmission pipeline system that were 
denied by the Commission. (CPSD-1, 
p. 131.) Over the past 13 years prior to 
the San Bruno explosion, PG&E has 
focused on decreasing O&M expenses 
(CPSD-1, p.132; CPSD - 168 (Harpster),
p. 1-2.)

Disputed. PG&E spent more than the imputed 
adopted O&M expenses from 1997 to 2010. Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-10 at 2 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). In 
the only fully adjudicated GT&S rate case, which 
set rates for 2004, the Commission reduced 
PG&E’s forecast O&M expenses and capital 
expenditures for integrity management work. Ex. 
PG&E-19 at 206-07, 218. PG&E’s O&M 
expenses grew steadily from 1997 to 2010. Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 19 (Figure 4)
(PG&E/ O ’ Loughlin).

42.
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Between 1999 and 2010, PG&E’s gas 
transmission and storage (GT&S) 
revenues were at least $435 million 
higher than the amounts needed to earn 
the authorized return on equity (ROE). 
(CPSD-1, p.133; CPSD-170 (Harpster), 
pp. 5, 9). Stated another way, between 
1999 and 2010, PG&E’s actual revenues 
for its GT&S exceeded actual revenue 
requirements by at least $435 million. 
(CPSD-170 (Harpster), pp.5, 10).

Generally accurate with the following addition: 
GT&S was able to generate revenues in excess of 
its actual revenue requirement because of the Gas 
Accord rate structure approved by the Commission 
for its market based storage services (particularly 
parking and lending). PG&E OB at 138-41; Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 68-75; Ex. CPSD-170 at 
134-37 (CPSD/Harpster); R.T. 219 
(CPSD/Harpster).

43.

Between 1997 and 2010, actual 
functional operations and maintenance 
for PG&E’s GT&S expenditures were 
approximately $40 million lower than 
adopted. (CPSD-170 (Harpster), p.7.) 
PG&E’s GT&S capital expenditures were 
approximately $116 million lower than 
adopted between 1997 and 2000. 
(CPSD-170 (Harpster), p.8.)

Disputed. PG&E spent more than the imputed 
adopted O&M expenses from 1997 to 2010. Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 2 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). 
PG&E also spent more than the imputed adopted 
capital expenditures from 1997 to 2010. Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 4 (PG&E/O’Loughlin). As 
CPSD’s own consultant, Overland, found, 
PG&E’s safety-related capital expenditures for 
2003 to 2010 exceeded the imputed adopted 
amounts by $35 million. Ex. CPSD-168 at 4-3 
(CPSD/Harpster).

44.
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Gas transmission and storage rates were 
not reduced in 2008 through 2010 to 
reflect the federal bonus tax depreciation 
adopted as part of the federal economic 
stimulus measures. (CPSD-1, p.133.)

Generally accurate with the following additions: 
(1) PG&E spent significantly more than the 
imputed adopted capex amounts for GT&S during 
that period (Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 43 
(PG&E/O’Loughlin)); (2) the bonus tax 
depreciation was based on the specific amount of 
PG&E’s capital additions, including PG&E’s 
incremental additions in those years; and (3) by 
law, the bonus depreciation tax benefits could only 
be reflected as a rate base offset, and then only if 
the related capital additions were included in rate 
base. Effective 2011, the Commission established 
a memorandum account to track the benefits of 
new bonus depreciation against the cost of 
PG&E’s incremental spending, providing the 
Commission with the ability to determine if 
ratepayers should receive a refund in the event the 
benefits of the tax savings exceed the costs of the 
incremental spending.

45.

The imputed adopted rate base exceeded 
the actual rate base by an average of 
$60.7 million per year during 1998 to 
2010. (CPSD-170 (Harpster), p.86.)

Disputed. Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-7 at 26 
(PG&E/O’Loughlin). Furthermore, there is no 
support for this proposed fact on Ex. CPSD-170, p.

46.

86.
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As of 2010, approximately 17% of 
PG&E’s overall pipeline transmission 
system could accommodate ILI tools and 
slightly more than 21% of its 
transmission pipeline system located in 
high-consequence areas could be 
inspected using ILI tools. At the same 
time, about 50% of the combined Sempra 
Energy utilities’ natural gas transmission 
pipelines could accommodate ILI tools, 
and approximately 80% of Southern 
California Gas Company’s transmission 
pipeline located in high-consequence 
areas has been inspected using ILI tools. 
(CPSD-1, p.134.)

The first sentence is generally accurate. With 
regard to the second sentence, PG&E cannot 
verify information regarding Sempra Energy or 
Southern California Gas Company.

47.

PG&E changed assessment methods for 
some projects from in-line inspections to 
ECDA to reduce costs. (CPSD-1, p. 134.)

Misleading without the following addition: The 
assessment method changes were made based on 
engineering, safety and compliance considerations. 
See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-227 at OC-260 Attachment 1; 
Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259, Attachment 4 at 8.

48.

PG&E deferred some integrity 
management expense projects to future 
years. (CPSD-1, p.134.)

Misleading without the following addition: The 
integrity management assessment deferrals were 
made based on engineering, safety and compliance 
considerations. See Ex. CPSD-226 at OC-259, 
Attachment 4 at 9; Ex. CPSD-227 at OC-260, 
Attachment 1.

49.

PG&E changed the definition of the 
pipelines covered by integrity 
management rules in 2010 to reduce the 
scope of the integrity management 
program. (CPSD-1, p.135.)

Disputed. CPSD’s own witness found that PG&E 
did not change the definition. Ex. CPSD-168 at 9
12 (CPSD/Harpster).

50.
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PG&E’s 2009 Investor Conference 
presentation included a slide on 
“Expenditures,” which showed 
decreasing investments in gas 
transmission inffastmcture; from $250 
million in 2009 to $200 million in 2010. 
(CPSD-1, p.135.)

Generally accurate. However, this proposed 
finding of fact has no apparent relationship to this 
proceeding and should not be adopted for that 
reason.

51.

On February 16, 2005, the Chairman of 
the Board, Chief Executive Officer and 
President presented the idea of 
“Transformation” to the boards of 
directors, a company-wide business and 
cultural transformation campaign to 
reduce operating costs and instill a 
change in its corporate culture. As stated 
in the 2006 Annual Report, the reason for 
the investment in Transformation was, “If 
the actual cost savings are greater than 
anticipated, such benefits would accrue to 
shareholders.” (CPSD-1, p.135.)

Disputed. With regard to the first sentence, the 
Business Transformation initiative was presented 
to the Board by another PG&E executive, not the 
CEO. Furthermore, the description of the 
initiative as a “campaign to reduce operating 
costs” is incomplete and misleading. With regard 
to the second sentence, the 2006 annual report 
states that the Business Transformation initiatives 
were implemented “in an effort to provide better, 
faster and more cost-effective service to [PG&E’s] 
customers.” PG&E’s 2006 Annual Report is 
available at
http://investor.pgecorp.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=110
138&p=irol-
sec&secCatO 1. l_rs= 11 &secCat01. l_rc= 1 O&contr 
ol_searchbox=&control_selectgroup=l. The 
proposed finding of fact is misleading and 
incomplete for the addition reason that the 
sentence that immediately follows the quoted 
sentence in the proposed finding reads: 
“Conversely, if these cost savings are not realized, 
earnings available for shareholders would be 
reduced.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 136 (CPSD/Stepanian). 
Moreover, Business Transmission is not relevant 
to the issues in this proceeding and therefore this is 
not an appropriate proposed finding of fact.

52.
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PG&E reduced its revenue requirements 
by $41 million in 2008 and another $56 
million in 2009. PG&E under-spent its 
adopted functional operations and 
maintenance amount by $2.9 million in 
2006, $2.2 million in 2007, and $3.5 
million in 2008. (CPSD-1, p.137.)

The first sentence of this proposed finding of fact 
lacks context and is unclear as written. The 
underlying evidence shows that PG&E reduced its 
requested revenue requirement in the 2007 
General Rate Case (GRC) by $41 million for 2008 
and another $56 million for 2009. Ex. CPSD-106. 
GT&S costs are not part of the GRC. The first 
sentence of the proposed finding of fact is 
therefore unrelated to the issues in this proceeding 
and is not an appropriate proposed finding of fact. 
The second sentence is disputed. Ex. PG&E-10, 
MPO-1 at 19 (PG&E/O ’Loughlin).

53.

In 2008, presentations from PG&E 
leadership highlight that PG&E had a 
plan to “Deliver on its Financial 
Objectives.” The presentations did not 
mention Transformation. (CPSD-1, 
p. 138.)

Disputed. The presentations cited at Ex. CPSD-1, 
p. 138 n.291 both mention “Transformation” - in 
the May 22, 2008 presentation slides at p. 8 and in 
the June 5-6, 2008 conference slides at p. 4. These 
presentations are available at 
http://www.pgecorp.com/investors/pdfs/080522In 
vestorConference.pdf and
http://www.pgecorp.com/investors/pdfs/2008CitiP 
owerGasUtilityConf.pdf. Furthermore, this 
proposed finding of fact is confusing and vague 
and has no apparent connection to this proceeding 
and therefore it is not an appropriate proposed 
finding of fact.

54.

PG&E Company’s 2009 Annual Report 
discloses that the utility accrued $38 
million, after-tax, of severance costs 
related to the elimination of 
approximately 2% of its workforce. 
(CPSD-1, p. 139.) PG&E stated the 2% 
workforce reduction equated to about 409 
employees. (CPSD-1, p.139.)

Generally accurate. However, this proposed 
finding has no apparent relationship to gas 
transmission or the issues in this proceeding and 
should not be adopted for that reason.

55.
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PG&E’s actual return on equity for gas 
transmission and storage operations 
averaged 14.3% during 1999 to 2010. 
PG&E’s authorized return on equity 
averaged 11.2% over that period. 
(CPSD-1, p.140; CPSD-170 (Harpster), 
p-io.)

Generally accurate with the following additions:
(1) PG&E’s expert calculated a slightly different 
actual return amount (Ex. PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 67 
(Figure 19) (PG&E/O’Loughlin)); (2) GT&S is 
not a standalone company with its own GAAP 
financial statements and profits; and (3) PG&E as 
a whole earned returns during that period that were 
consistent with the authorized rates of return (Ex. 
PG&E-10, MPO-1 at 80 (Figure 23)
(PG&E/ O ’ Loughlin)).

56.

PG&E Company authorized a cash 
dividend in 2005 of $476 million; in 
2006, $494 million; in 2007, $547 
million; in 2008, $589 million; and, in 
2009, $624 million. (CPSD-1, p.140.)

Generally accurate with the qualification that this 
appears to refer to Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company.

57.

PG&E’s 2010 Annual Report stated that 
during each of 2008, 2009, and 2010, the 
utility paid $14 million of dividends on 
preferred stock. On December 15, 2010, 
the board declared a cash dividend on its 
outstanding series of preferred stock 
totaling $4 million that was paid on 
February 15,2011. (CPSD-1, p.141.)

Generally accurate.58.

On December 15, 2004, PG&E’s board 
authorized a purchase of shares of the 
company’s issued and outstanding 
common stock with an aggregate 
purchase price not to exceed $1.8 billion, 
not later than December 31, 2006. By 
June 15, 2005, the Company projected 
that it may be able to repurchase 
additional shares of common stock 
through the end of 2006 in an aggregate 
amount of $500 million and, as such, 
increased the amount of the common 
stock repurchase authorization for a total 
authorization of $2.3 billion. (CPSD-1, 
p.141.)

Generally accurate.59.
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The 2010 Annual Report notes that $57 
million was provided in each year of 
2008 and 2009, and $56 million was 
provided in 2010 as bonus compensation 
to PG&E Corporation employees and 
non-employee directors. (CPSD-1, 
p.142.) PG&E provides a Short-term 
Incentive Plan, a “Pay-for-Performance” 
bonus, and a Reward and Recognition 
Program. (CPSD-1, p.142.)

Generally accurate.60.

Previous NTSB Investigations Regarding 
PG&E

IV.

The NTSB previously found several 
deficiencies in PG&E’s poor pipeline 
installation and inadequate emergency 
response in the 2008 Rancho Cordova, 
California explosion. (CPSD-9, pages 
87, 116-117; see NTSB Investigation 
PAB-10/10.)

Disputed. The content of the prior NTSB report is 
the best evidence of what the NTSB found; the 
summary asserted in this Proposed Finding of Fact 
is vague and does not accurately describe the 
NTSB’s prior findings. Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB 
Report) at 87, 116-17; NTSB Investigation PAB- 
10/10.

61.

The NTSB found that the Rancho 
Cordova explosion involved the 
inappropriate installation of a pipe that 
was not intended for operational use and 
did not meet application pipe 
specifications. (CPSD-9, pages 87, 116
117; see NTSB Investigation PAB- 
10/10.)

Generally accurate with the clarification that the 
involved pipe was small diameter plastic 
distribution pipe, not similar to the Segment 180 
pipe. The content of the prior NTSB report is the 
best evidence of what the NTSB found. Ex. 
CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) at 87, 116-17; NTSB 
Investigation PAB-10/10.

62.

The NTSB found that PG&E’s 
emergency response to the Rancho 
Cordova explosion was inadequate. 
(CPSD-9, pages 87, 116-117; see NTSB 
Investigation PAB-10/10.)

Disputed. The content of the prior NTSB report is 
the best evidence of what the NTSB found; the 
summary asserted in this Proposed Finding of Fact 
is vague and does not accurately describe the 
NTSB’s prior findings. Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB 
Report) at 87, 116-17; NTSB Investigation PAB- 
10/10.

63.
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The NTSB found that PG&E initially 
dispatched an unqualified person to the 
emergency, causing an unnecessary delay 
in dispatching a properly trained and 
equipped technician. (CPSD-9, pages 87, 
116-117; see NTSB Investigation PAB- 
10/10.)

Disputed. The content of the prior NTSB report is 
the best evidence of what the NTSB found. 
However, consistent with its procedure, PG&E 
dispatched a Gas Service Representative to the 
initial leak report for the purpose of investigating 
and determining the appropriate personnel for 
additional response. Ex. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) 
at 87, 116-17; NTSB Investigation PAB-10/10.

64.

The NTSB concluded that some of the 
deficiencies found in the Rancho 
Cordova explosion were also factors in 
the 1981 PG&E gas pipeline leak in San 
Francisco, which involved inaccurate 
recordkeeping, the dispatch of first 
responders who were not trained or 
equipped to close valves, and 
unacceptable delays in shutting down the 
pipeline. (CPSD-9, pages 87, 116-117; 
see NTSB Investigation PAB-10/10.)

Disputed as overbroad and misleading. The 
content of the prior NTSB report is the best 
evidence of what the NTSB found. Ex. CPSD-9 
(NTSB Report) at 87, 116-17; NTSB Investigation 
PAB-10/10.

65.
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GENERALI.

PG&E’s witness admits that testimony on 
industry practices is irrelevant to the 
inquiry of whether an operator complied 
with the applicable safety laws. Joint RT 
715:8-17 (Zurcher/CCSF).

Disputed. The assertion takes out of context and 
mischaracterizes the testimony. In addition, this is 
not a finding of fact, but is more properly 
characterized as argument.

1.

As Mr. Zurcher characterized it, for 
natural gas operators, “Compliance with 
the regulations is the price of admission.” 
Joint RT 752:2-3 (Zurcher/CCSF).

Disputed. The assertion takes out of context and 
mischaracterizes the testimony.

2.

As a general principle, where aspects of 
gas operations create uncertainty, the 
operator must take steps to ensure the 
safe and reasonable operations of its 
system. Ex CCSF-1 atpp. 2-3.

Disputed. CCSF does not provide sufficient 
specificity as to what aspects of gas operations it is 
referring to and what uncertainty is created to 
enable a response.

3.

II. PG&E’S TIMP

The Independent Review Panel found 
that “PG&E was not identifying all 
threats, as required by regulation; is not 
identifying segments of highest risk and 
remediating significant anomalies; and 
hence is not taking programmatic actions 
to prevent or mitigate threats.” 
Independent Panel Report at p. 8.

Disputed. PG&E does not dispute that the IRP 
made the quoted statement. However, no one with 
knowledge of the basis for the IRP’s statement 
testified in this proceeding and thus this statement 
has not been tested. The record evidence shows 
that PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2005 and 
2010 audits. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13, Tab 4-25). 
PG&E’s data gathering was consistent with 
industry standards and regulatory requirements. 
Joint R.T. 797-98 (PG&E/Zurcher). PG&E’s 
threat identification process evaluated all potential 
threats (with the exception of equipment failure 
and hard spots), including interactive threats and 
cyclic fatigue. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 35-37.

4.
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The NTSB found that “the PG&E gas 
transmission integrity management 
program was deficient and ineffective.” 
Ex CPSD-9 (NTSB Pipeline Accident 
Report) atp. 125 (Finding 19).

Disputed. PG&E does not dispute that the NTSB 
made the quoted statement. However, no one with 
knowledge of the basis for the NTSB’s statement 
testified in this proceeding and thus this statement 
has not been tested. The record evidence shows 
that PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2005 and 
2010 audits. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13, Tab 4-25). 
PG&E’s data gathering was consistent with 
industry standards and regulatory requirements. 
Joint R.T. 797-98 (PG&E/Zurcher). PG&E’s 
threat identification process evaluated all potential 
threats (with the exception of equipment failure 
and hard spots), including interactive threats and 
cyclic fatigue. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 35-37.

5.
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The NTSB made three recommendations 
to PG&E. These three recommendations 
were to: (1) revise its risk model to 
reflect PG&E’s actual recent experience 
data on leaks, failures and incidents, (2) 
consider all defect and leak data for the 
life of the pipeline, including risk 
analysis for similar or related segments, 
and (3) revise its risk analysis 
methodology to ensure that the proper 
assessment methods are selected for all 
applicable integrity threats, with 
particular emphasis on design/material 
and construction threats. Ex CPSD-9 at 
p. 114.

PG&E does not dispute that NTSB made these 
recommendations. However, PG&E disputes that 
these recommendations are evidence of a failure 
on the part of PG&E’s integrity management 
program.

6.

(1) As stated in ASME B31.8S, risk assessment 
models are not an exact mathematical calculation, 
but should be used in conjunction with subject 
matter experts and people familiar with the 
facilities, and should evolve over time based on 
incorporation of information learned through 
operation of the system. PG&E’s risk model 
complied with federal regulations and industry 
standards. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-32 (PG&E/Keas).

(2) PG&E’s integrity management program 
gathered and integrated data from the required data 
elements, as confirmed by CPSD in its 2005 and 
2010 audits. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13, Tab 4-25). 
PG&E’s data gathering was consistent with 
industry standards and regulatory requirements. 
Joint R.T. 797-98 (PG&E/Zurcher).

(3) PG&E’s threat identification process 
evaluated all potential threats (with the exception 
of equipment failure and hard spots), including 
interactive threats and cyclic fatigue. Ex. PG&E-7 
(Tab 4-13) at 35-37.

Data GatheringA.

Eight months after the NTSB requested 
to provide all leak and repair information 
for Line 132, PG&E produced a 1988 an 
inspection report stating that Line 132 
had experienced a longitudinal seam leak 
at mile post 30.44, approximately 8.78 
miles south of the rupture. Ex CPSD-9 at 
p. 38. fn 61.

Generally accurate with the addition that the leak 
was identified as a pin hole leak that could not be 
detected during metallurgical analysis. Ex. 
PG&E-7 (Tab 4-16).

7.
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The segment identified in the 
memorandum was 0.375 inch wall 
thickness, X52, 30” DSAW pipe, 
installed in 1948. Ex. CCSF-1 (Exhibit 2 
to Testimony of John Gawronski: 1989 
TES Memorandum).

Generally accurate.8.

This report included a March 1, 1989 
memorandum from PG&E’s 
Technological and Ecological Services 
stating that a 30” section of Line 132 had 
been “removed for failure analysis 
because of a pinhole leak in the 
longitudinal seam weld.” Ex. CCSF-1 
(Exhibit 2 to Testimony of John 
Gawronski: 1989 TES Memorandum).

Generally accurate with the addition that the leak 
was identified as a pin hole leak that could not be 
detected during metallurgical analysis. Ex. 
PG&E-7 (Tab 4-16). Moreover, as the 
memorandum states, “With the leak removed, the 
remaining pipe should be fully operational again.”

9.

Id.

The memorandum also states that “the 
cracks are pre-service defects, i.e. they 
are from the original manufacturing of 
the pipe joint.” Id.

Misleading without additional information. As 
described by a Moody report, the method of 
fabricating DSAW pipe used by Consolidated 
Western (the manufacturer of the pipe used in this 
segment) in 1948 often resulted in cracking in the 
external longitudinal weld at the ends of pipe 
joints due to “spring-back” of the plate. Workers 
at the pipe mill repaired the small cracks in the 
exterior weld prior to fabricating the interior 
longitudinal weld. The finished pipe length was 
then carefully inspected inside and out, and 
subjected to a 90% SMYS hydrotest at the pipe 
mill before being placed into service. Ex. PG&E- 
7 (Tab 4-18). Any remaining defects are too small 
to fail at the allowable operating pressure 
established by the mill test. Ex. PG&E-l at 6-5 
(PG&E/Kiefner). Moreover, as the memorandum 
states, “With the leak removed, the remaining pipe 
should be fully operational again.” Ex. PG&E-7 
(Tab 4-16).

10.
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PG&E replaced the segment upon 
discovering the leak in the longitudinal 
seam. Joint RT 885:19-886:2 
(Zurcher/CCSF)

Generally accurate.11.

PG&E admits that the pipe characteristics 
of this segment are essentially identical to 
the pipe characteristics of segment 180 as 
identified in its job files. Joint 
Evidentiary Hearings of 1.11-02-016 and 
1.12-01-007, atp. 567:23-27 
(Harrison/CCSF).

Generally accurate. The 1956 relocation project 
that constructed Segment 180 called for the use of 
approximately 1,900 feet of the same type of 30- 
inch DSAW pipe used in the 1948 Line 132 
project, 1949 Line 153 project, and 1953 Line 131 
project. Ex. PG&E-l at 2-1 to 2-3 
(PG&E/Harrison). The leak was identified as a 
pin hole leak that could not be detected during 
metallurgical analysis. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-16). 
Moreover, as the memorandum states, “With the 
leak removed, the remaining pipe should be fully 
operational again.” Id.

12.

PG&E’s testimony concedes that it did 
not consider this report in its TIMP. 
PG&E-lc at p. 4-15 (“Even if our data 
gathering process had located records 
following the 1988 leak...”) (emphasis 
added)

Misleading. Pinhole leaks such as the leak on 
Line 132 discovered in 1988 are not evidence of 
manufacturing threats, and are therefore not 
relevant to the integrity management 
manufacturing threat identification process. Joint 
R.T. 779-780, 870-71 (PG&E/Zurcher). 
Moreover, as the 1989 TES memorandum states, 
“With the leak removed, the remaining pipe 
should be fully operational again.” Ex. PG&E-7 
(Tab 4-16).

13.

The NTSB found that “until May 6,
2011, the PG&E GIS had listed the cause 
of the leak as ‘unknown.’” Ex CPSD-1 
atp. 38.

Generally accurate. PG&E notes that page 38 of 
Exhibit CPSD-1 (the CPSD January 12, 2012 Staff 
Report) does not discuss the 1988 leak.

14.

Following the discovery of the 
memorandum, PG&E updated its 
database to indicate the pipe had been 
replaced due to a longitudinal defect. Id.

CCSF presents no evidence that PG&E updated 
GIS. Page 38 of Exhibit CPSD-1 does not discuss 
the 1988 leak.

15.
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PG&E did not consider radiography 
records of girth from the 1948 
construction of Line 132 indicating 
longitudinal seam defects. Ex CPSD-9 at
p. 110-111.

Disputed. The radiography records did not 
indicate the presence of potential manufacturing 
defects. As described by a Moody report, the 
method of fabricating DSAW pipe used by 
Consolidated Western (the manufacturer of the 
pipe used in this segment) in 1948 often resulted in 
cracking in the external longitudinal weld at the 
ends of pipe joints due to “spring-back” of the 
plate. Workers at the pipe mill repaired the small 
cracks in the exterior weld prior to fabricating the 
interior longitudinal weld. The finished pipe 
length was then carefully inspected inside and out, 
and subjected to a 90% SMYS hydrotest at the 
pipe mill before being placed into service. Ex. 
PG&E-7 (Tab 4-18). Any remaining defects are 
too small to fail at the allowable operating 
pressure established by the mill test. Ex. PG&E-l 
at 6-5 (PG&E/Kiefner). Radiography records 
from the 1948 construction are not evidence of 
manufacturing threats, and are therefore not 
relevant to the manufacturing threat identification 
process. Joint R.T. 779-780 (PG&E/Zurcher).

16.

The NTSB found that “because only 10 
percent of the welds were radiographed 
as part of the 1948 construction, and 
those radiographs captured only a few 
inches of each longitudinal seam weld, 
less than 0.2 percent of the longitudinal 
seams on pipe segments installed in 1948 
were radiographed. In light of the fact 
that five rejectable defects were found in 
the small percentage of longitudinal seam 
welds that were so examined, it is 
probable that additional longitudinal 
seam weld defects have remained in 
service since 1948.” Id. (emphasis 
added).

Disputed. The radiography records did not 
indicate the presence of potential manufacturing 
defects. As described by a Moody report, the 
method of fabricating DSAW pipe used by 
Consolidated Western (the manufacturer of the 
pipe used in this segment) in 1948 often resulted in 
cracking in the external longitudinal weld at the 
ends of pipe joints due to “spring-back” of the 
plate. Workers at the pipe mill repaired the small 
cracks in the exterior weld prior to fabricating the 
interior longitudinal weld. The finished pipe 
length was then carefully inspected inside and out, 
and subjected to a 90% SMYS hydrotest at the 
pipe mill before being placed into service. Ex. 
PG&E-7 (Tab 4-18). Any remaining defects are 
too small to fail at the allowable operating 
pressure established by the mill test. Ex. PG&E-l 
at 6-5 (PG&E/Kiefner).

17.
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The 1948 and 1989 memoranda 
demonstrate that PG&E should have been 
aware of both potential manufacturing 
and construction defects present on Line 
132. Ex CCSF-1 atp. 6.

Disputed. Neither of these records indicate the 
presence of potential manufacturing or 
construction threats, and are not relevant to the 
integrity management threat identification process. 
Joint R.T. 779-80 (PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l 
at 5-11 to 5-13 (PG&E/Zurcher).

18.

19. When asked whether he knew if PG&E 
has considered these weld reports, PG&E 
witness Zurcher conceded that he does 
not know if PG&E considered these 
reports. Joint RT 779:17-21 
(Zurcher/C C SF)).

Misleading without additional information.
Neither of these records indicate the presence of 
potential manufacturing or construction threats, 
are not relevant to the integrity management threat 
identification process, and were not required to be 
considered under integrity management 
regulations. Joint R.T. 779-80 (PG&E/Zurcher); 
Ex. PG&E-l at 5-11 to 5-13 (PG&E/Zurcher).

Instead, Mr. Zurcher asserted that the 
1948 and 1988 weld reports were 
irrelevant to PG&E’s TIMP. Joint RT 
779:22-28 (Zurcher/CCSF)).

Generally accurate. Neither of these records 
indicate the presence of potential manufacturing or 
construction threats, and are not relevant to the 
integrity management threat identification process. 
Joint R.T. 779-80 (PG&E/Zurcher); Ex. PG&E-l 
at 5-11 to 5-13 (PG&E/Zurcher).

20.

CCSF witness Gawronski reviewed 
additional PG&E records of pipe seam 
inspection and welding defects. Ex 
CCSF-1 atp. 10.

Generally accurate.21.

These documents confirm the existence 
of manufacturing and construction 
defects on steel transmission lines over 
50 years old in PG&E’s service territory. 
Ex CCSF-1 at pp. 10-11.

Misleading as stated. These reports indicate the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods, and the 
presence of single submerged arc welded 
longitudinal seam pipe. PG&E identified and 
properly reviewed each segment identified in these 
reports for potential manufacturing or construction 
threats. See PG&E RB at 56-58.

22.
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First, there are laboratory test reports 
from 1975 discussing brittle failure on 
four unidentified segments of Line 101 
constructed with oxyacetylene welds, and 
two unidentified segments of Line 109 
constructed with arc welds. Ex CCSF-1 
(1975 PG&E Lab Test Report (Exhibit

Misleading as stated. These reports indicate the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods. PG&E 
conservatively identifies all pipelines constructed 
prior to 1947 as being potentially susceptible to a 
construction threat. See PG&E RB at 56-58.

23.

6))-

For the segments removed from Line 
101, the 1975 reports notes “weld defects 
present in fracture of all test specimens 
(porosity, lack of fusion, and slag 
includions (sic)). Some shear fracture 
present at all test temperatures.” Id., at p.

Misleading as stated. These reports indicate the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods. PG&E 
conservatively identifies all pipelines constructed 
prior to 1947 as being potentially susceptible to a 
construction threat. See PG&E RB at 57. 
Moreover, industry standards allow for the 
presence of imperfections in welds. CCSF does 
not assert that the imperfections in the reports 
exceed what is allowed by code. E.g., Ex. Joint-13 
(API 1104).

24.

16.

For the segments removed from Line 
109, the report notes “weld defects 
present in fracture of all test specimens 
(porosity, lack of fusion and slag 
inclusions). No shear fracture present in 
specimens tested at +70° or +100 0 F, 
some shear fracture present in specimens 
tested at +185° F.” Id., at p. 17.

Misleading as stated. This report indicates the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods. PG&E 
conservatively identifies all pipelines constructed 
prior to 1947 as being potentially susceptible to a 
construction threat. See PG&E RB at 57. 
Moreover, industry standards allow for the 
presence of imperfections in welds. CCSF does 
not assert that the imperfections in the report 
exceed what is allowed by code. E.g., Ex. Joint-13 
(API 1104).

25.
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There are even earlier reports discussing 
issues with oxy-acetylene welds on Line 
109. In 1965, PG&E issued an 
evaluation of an oxyacetylene weld from 
Main #109, San Francisco. CCSF-1 
(Exhibit 7 to Testimony of John 
Gawronski: 1965 PG&E Evaluation of 
Oxy-Acetylene Weld From Main #109 
San Francisco) at p. 1.

Misleading as stated. This report indicates the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods. PG&E 
conservatively identifies all pipelines constructed 
prior to 1947 as being potentially susceptible to a 
construction threat. See PG&E RB at 57. 
Moreover, industry standards allow for the 
presence of imperfections in welds. CCSF does 
not assert that the imperfections in the report 
exceed what is allowed by code. E.g., Ex. Joint-13 
(API 1104).

26.

The report found that the oxy-acetylene 
weld on a section of 26 inch diameter 
pipe on Line 109 in San Francisco did not 
meet the minimum requirements of the 
(then) current A.P.I. Standard 1104, and 
that excessive carbon in the weld metal 
caused the failure. Id. at p. 1.

Misleading as stated. These reports indicate the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods. PG&E 
conservatively identifies all pipelines constructed 
prior to 1947 as being potentially susceptible to a 
construction threat. See PG&E RB at 57. 
Moreover, this section of Line 109 was 
constructed several decades prior to issuance of 
the report. CCSF does not assert that the 
imperfections in the reports exceed what was 
allowed by code at the time of installation.

27.

PG&E agrees that “these welding 
techniques are obsolete methods of 
fabricating larger diameter transmission 
pipeline girth welds.” Ex. Joint-34 
(PG&E Response to Data Request 
CCSF001-Q05).

Not disputed. PG&E conservatively identifies all 
pipelines constructed prior to 1947 as being 
potentially susceptible to a construction threat. 
See PG&E RB at 56-58.

28.
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In a metallurgical report, PG&E found 
evidence of cracking in its girth welds 
from 2 spools removed from Line 109. 
CCSF-1 (Exhibit 8 to Testimony of John 
Gawronski: 1996 Metallurgical 
Evaluation of Cracking in Line 109 Seam 
Welds) at p. 1.

Misleading as stated. This report indicates the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods. PG&E 
conservatively identifies all pipelines constructed 
prior to 1947 as being potentially susceptible to a 
construction threat. See PG&E RB at 57. 
Moreover, industry standards allow for the 
presence of imperfections in welds. CCSF does 
not assert that the imperfections in the reports 
exceed what is allowed by code. E.g., Ex. Joint-13 
(API 1104).

29.

Although the report did not identify 
which segments the sections of pipe were 
removed from, it states “the spools are 
believed to be from gas transmission line 
109 which was installed in 1935.” Id.

Misleading as stated. This report indicates the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods. PG&E 
conservatively identifies all pipelines constructed 
prior to 1947 as being potentially susceptible to a 
construction threat. See PG&E RB at 56-58.

30.

One of the cracks was found to be 76.5% 
of the wall thickness. Id., at p. 2.

Misleading as stated. This report indicates the 
presence of girth welds constructed prior to 1947 
using now-obsolete welding methods. PG&E 
conservatively identifies all pipelines constructed 
prior to 1947 as being potentially susceptible to a 
construction threat. See PG&E RB at 56-58.

31.
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Using in-pipe remote video inspection of 
22-inch line 109 gas pipe along Miranda 
Avenue, Palo Alto, another report found 
“linear crack-like indication, about lA 
inch long ... in the toe of a flush-ground, 
seam repair weld,” “another linear 
indication, 4 inches long, ... in the base 
metal about lA inch away from the seam,” 
and “[incomplete root penetration ... in 
the seams of several spools. In two 
spools it extends intermittently for the 
entire spool length.” CCSF-1 (Exhibit 9 
to Testimony of John Gawronski: 1996 
In-Pipe Remote Video Inspection of 
Long Seam Welds 22-Inch Line 109 Gas 
Pipe, Miranda Avenue, Palo Alto) at p. 2.

Misleading as stated. This report summarizes an 
investigation of sections of Line 109, installed in 
1935, with a longitudinal seam manufactured 
using the single submerged arc welding (SSAW) 
process. PG&E’s integrity management program 
identifies pipe manufactured using the SSAW 
process as subject to a potential manufacturing 
threat, and subjects such pipe to a stability 
evaluation to determine whether conditions on the 
pipeline have rendered the manufacturing threat 
unstable. Ex. Joint-34.

32.

PG&E was unable to provide any 
documentation demonstrating that these 
reports were considered as part of 
PG&E’s TIMP. Ex. Joint-34 (PG&E 
Response to Data Request CCSF 001- 
Q05).

Disputed. See PG&E RB, Section V.B.l.d. The 
data response that CPSD cites (Ex. Joint-34) 
indicates that PG&E conservatively identifies all 
pipeline constructed prior to 1947 as potentially 
subject to construction threats for ground 
movement-related failure, and identifies SSAW 
pipeline as potentially subject to a manufacturing 
seam threat. The data response indicates that 
PG&E appropriately assessed each of the lines in 
question for the threats identified in the reports. 
Ex. Joint-34.

33.
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PG&E’s witnesses were unable to 
provide any evidence that PG&E 
considered these reports in its TIMP. Ex 
Joint 34 (PG&E Response to Data 
Request CCSF 001-Q05 in 1.12.01-007 
(“Mr. Zurcher has no personal basis for a 
conclusion as to whether PG&E was or 
was not aware of the referenced reports at 
the time it developed its TIMP.”).

Disputed. See PG&E RB, Section V.B.l.d. The 
data response that CPSD cites (Ex. Joint-34) 
indicates that PG&E conservatively identifies all 
pipeline constructed prior to 1947 as potentially 
subject to construction threats for ground 
movement-related failure, and identifies SSAW 
pipeline as potentially subject to a manufacturing 
seam threat. The data response indicates that 
PG&E appropriately assessed each of the lines in 
question for the threats identified in the reports. 
Ex. Joint-34.

34.

PG&E does not dispute that Mr. Zurcher, who is 
not a PG&E employee, is not aware of whether 
PG&E considered these reports in its integrity 
management program.

Threat IdentificationB

As part of its TIMP, an operator’s threat 
identification needs to be proactive and 
investigative in nature. Ex CCSF-1 at p.

This proposed finding of fact is vague and does 
not provide an objective or measurable standard 
for conduct of integrity management programs.

35.

3.

Operators must address all other threats 
that stem from the unique characteristics 
of their pipeline system. Id.

Disputed. ASME B31.8S states: “All threats to 
pipeline integrity shall be considered. Gas 
pipeline incident data has been analyzed and 
classified by the Pipeline Research Committee 
International (PRCI) into 22 root causes. Each of 
the 22 causes represents a threat to pipeline 
integrity that shall be managed. One of the causes 
reported by operators is “unknown”; that is, no 
root cause or causes were identified. The 
remaining 21 threats have been grouped into nine 
categories of related failure types according to 
their nature and growth characteristics, and further 
delineated by three time-related defect types.” Ex. 
Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S) § 2.2 - Integrity Threat 
Classification.

36.
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In addition to considering the nine threat 
categories identified by the ASME 
B31.8S, operators need to address all 
other threats that stem from the unique 
characteristics of their pipeline system. 
M; Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B.31.8S) section 
2.3.2.

Disputed. ASME B31.8S states: “All threats to 
pipeline integrity shall be considered. Gas 
pipeline incident data has been analyzed and 
classified by the Pipeline Research Committee 
International (PRCI) into 22 root causes. Each of 
the 22 causes represents a threat to pipeline 
integrity that shall be managed. One of the causes 
reported by operators is “unknown”; that is, no 
root cause or causes were identified. The 
remaining 21 threats have been grouped into nine 
categories of related failure types according to 
their nature and growth characteristics, and further 
delineated by three time-related defect types.” Ex. 
Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S) § 2.2 - Integrity Threat 
Classification.

37.

In practice, if any additional threats are 
known, it is incumbent on the operator to 
identify and evaluate any threat to the 
integrity of the pipeline. Ex CCSF-1 at p.

Disputed. See PG&E’s response to CCSF 
proposed finding of fact 36 and 37.

38.

3.

If a line is missing data specified in 
ASME B31.8S-2004, Appendix A, then 
the line must be assessed for that threat. 
CCSF-1 at p. 18.

Disputed. See PG&E RB at 50-54. ASME B31.8S 
allows operators to use conservative assumptions 
in the place of actual attribute data during threat 
identification. Joint R.T. 1186-87 (PG&E/Keas). 
ASME B31.8S was written with full recognition 
that records would not be available in all instances. 
Joint R.T. 653 (PG&E/Zurcher).

39.

When a pipeline operator concludes that 
a particular threat is not applicable to its 
pipeline, the threat evaluation must be 
documented and the basis for drawing 
such conclusions must be documented. 
Joint-38 (ASME B.31.8S).

Misleading as stated. ASME B31.8S does not 
contain such a requirement. Documentation 
requirements for integrity management programs 
are set forth in 49 C.F.R. § 192.947.

40.
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PG&E’s Risk Management Procedure 06 
(RMP-06) represents its Integrity 
Management Program as it existed on 
September 9, 2010. PG&E’s Joint RT 
1106:7-26 (Keas/CCSF).

Generally accurate. RMP-06 provides the 
framework for PG&E’s Integrity Management 
Program. For clarification, RMP-06, Revision 5 
was effective as of September 9, 2010. Ex. 
PG&E-6 (Tab 4-6).

41.

Section 5.1 of RMP-06 “describes the 
tools and method selected to assess 
pipeline integrity and the process by 
which the assessment results are collected 
and integrated with other data.” Ex 
PG&E-6 (Tab 4-6) at p. 39.

Partially disputed. Section 5.1 sets forth the scope 
of Section 5, but does not contain any substantive 
discussion. Section 5 describes the tools and 
method selected, and the process by which 
assessment results are collected and integrated.
Ex. PG&E-6 (Tab 4-6) at 39.

42.

Section 5.5 of RMP-06 states that “the 
Company does not plan to use pressure 
testing to assess the integrity of its 
pipelines unless it is a post installation 
test or up-rate test for an HCA. 
However, during the course of assessing 
data for ECDA or ILI, it may become 
apparent that pressure testing is the only 
feasible option. If so, the Company will 
perform a pressure test.” Id. at p. 40.

Not disputed.43.

In its 2004 Baseline Assessment Plan, 
PG&E identified 456.6 miles of pipeline 
that had manufacturing threats, and 88.75 
miles with construction threats. Ex Joint 
46 (Coversheet and summary page of 
PG&E’s 2004 Baseline Assessment Plan)

Generally accurate. The vast majority of this 
mileage is identified as having a manufacturing 
threat due to the fact that the pipe is more than 50 
years old. The 50 year condition is not related to 
the presence of seam-related manufacturing 
threats. Joint R.T. 1181-82 (PG&E/Keas).

44.

According to PG&E’s 2004 Baseline 
Assessment Plan, PG&E believed that 
100% of its pipelines were subject to the 
external corrosion threat. Ex Joint 46 
(Coversheet and summary page of 
PG&E’s 2004 Baseline Assessment Plan)

Not disputed.45.
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PG&E used External Corrosion Direct 
Assessment (ECDA) to assess the 
external corrosion threat on its pipelines. 
ECDA, however, does not detect missing 
or cracked seams and the “code doesn't 
allow for the use of ECDA in the 
evaluation of manufacturing threats.” 
Joint RT 960:3-961:7 (Keas/CPSD)

PG&E does not dispute that the code requires 
operators to use an assessment method capable of 
assessing the integrity of the longitudinal seam 
where records indicate the presence of an unstable 
manufacturing seam threat. ECDA is an 
appropriate assessment method to assess for the 
threat of external corrosion. 49 C.F.R. § 192.925.

46.

According to PG&E’s 2009 Baseline 
Assessment Plan, of the 1021 miles to be 
assessed by December 17, 2012 “zero 
miles will be assessed using pressure 
testing. Ex CCSF-8 (8/12/11 NTSB 
Factual Addendum Report) at p. 28

Generally accurate.47.

As of September 9, 2010, PG&E’s TIMP 
“had identified 11.15 miles of piping to 
be assessed for manufacturing seam 
threats.” Ex CCSF-1 (Exhibit 3 to 
Testimony of John Gawronski: PG&E 
Response to Data Request CCSF 004- 
Q08 in R. 11-02-016).

Generally accurate.48.

Of these approximately 11 miles, PG&E 
had assessed 4.9 miles of piping using an 
in-line inspection tool called Transverse 
Field Inspection. Id.

Generally accurate.49.

PG&E intended to inspect the remaining 
6.2 miles using a similar tool. Id.

Generally accurate.50.
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In March 2012, PG&E identified 523 
pipeline segments (247,206 feet or over 
46 miles of pipeline) that it admits have 
unstable seam-related manufacturing 
defects Ex CCSF-1 at p. 9.

Disputed. PG&E’s post-accident changes to its 
integrity management program included an 
enhanced manufacturing threat identification 
process that exceeds what is required by law. This 
process identifies all pipe that has not been 
pressure tested to at least 1.25 times pipeline 
MAOP as subject to a potential manufacturing 
threat, even though it is not required by code. 
Following March 2012, the majority of the miles 
of pipe on this list were determined to not be 
subject to an unstable manufacturing threat, as 
PG&E personnel located records demonstrating 
that the segments were subjected to a qualifying 
strength test. Joint R.T. 1206-09 (PG&E/Keas). 
Moreover, it is inappropriate to use post-accident 
improvement efforts to support alleged violations.

51.

As of March 2012, PG&E had not yet 
assessed those defects. Id.

Disputed. The majority of the miles of pipe on 
this list were subsequently determined to not be 
subject to an unstable manufacturing threat, as 
PG&E personnel located records demonstrating 
that the segments were subjected to a qualifying 
strength test. Joint R.T. 1206-09 (PG&E/Keas).

52.

In San Francisco alone there are 6 
segments on Line 101, totaling 
approximately one mile (5,333 feet) in 
length, that have unstable manufacturing 
defects. Id.

Disputed. The majority of the miles of pipe on the 
original list were subsequently determined to not 
be subject to an unstable manufacturing threat, as 
PG&E personnel located records demonstrating 
that the segments were subjected to a qualifying 
strength test. Joint R.T. 1206-09 (PG&E/Keas). 
CCSF has not presented evidence that the six 
segments in question are still subject to an 
unstable manufacturing defect.

53.

These segments were all installed in 
1953. Id.

CCSF does not identify the particular segments 
that it refers to, which prevents PG&E from 
specifically responding. More importantly, 
CCSF’s failure to identify particular segments 
renders its evidentiary showing inadequate.

54.
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These segments with oxy-acetylene 
welds in San Francisco, which have been 
identified as being susceptible to brittle 
like cracking, are not included in Phase I 
of PG&E’s recently filed Pipeline 
Enhancement Safety Plan, and will not be 
addressed by 2014 under PG&E’s current 
proposals. Id.

CCSF does not identify the particular segments 
that it refers to, which prevents PG&E from 
specifically responding. More importantly, 
CCSF’s failure to identify particular segments 
renders its evidentiary showing inadequate. 
Moreover, the question of whether segments will 
be replaced is more properly addressed in the 
PSEP rulemaking (OIR 11-02-019).

55.

There are also 22 segments on Line 109, 
amounting to nearly 2 miles (9,781 feet) 
of pipeline, that have unstable seam- 
related manufacturing defects. Id.

Disputed. The majority of the miles of pipe on the 
original list were subsequently determined to not 
be subject to an unstable manufacturing threat, as 
PG&E personnel located records demonstrating 
that the segments were subjected to a qualifying 
strength test. Joint R.T. 1206-09 (PG&E/Keas). 
CCSF has not presented evidence that the six 
segments in question are still subject to an 
unstable manufacturing defect.

56.

Most of these segments were installed in 
1932, and many also have oxy-acetylene 
girth welds. Id.

CCSF does not identify the particular segments 
that it refers to, which prevents PG&E from 
specifically responding. More importantly, 
CCSF’s failure to identify particular segments 
renders its evidentiary showing inadequate.

57.

In October 2009, PG&E hired an outside 
consultant to perform a high-level audit 
of its integrity management program and 
identify strengths and weaknesses. Ex 
Joint 48 (October 20, 2009 WKMC 
Review of Pipeline IMP Documents).

Generally accurate.58.
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The consultants identified PG&E’s risk 
assessment methodology as a 
“weakness.” Id. atp. 1.

Disputed. The 2009 WKMC audit found that 
“This set of control documents is a very good 
collection of IMP procedures .... The main 
criticism is directed at the risk assessment (RA) 
methodology. Note that this criticism is not 
suggesting that errors were made. The current 
PG&E RA methodology is in fact consistent with 
models in widespread use several years ago and 
still today by many pipeline operators.” The 2009 
WKMC found that PG&E’s risk assessment 
methodology was a “possible” weakness. Ex. 
Joint-48 (emphasis in original).

59.

RMP-06 was one of the documents 
considered in this audit. Id.

Generally accurate.60.

Based on this review, the consultant 
found that PG&E’s risk assessment 
methodology suffered from “significant 
weaknesses.” Id. atp. 3.

Disputed, misleading as stated. CCSF omits the 
consultant’s more relevant conclusion: “Note that 
this criticism is not suggesting that errors were 
made. The current PG&E RA methodology is in 
fact consistent with models in widespread use 
several years ago and still today by many pipeline 
operators.” Ex. Joint-48 at 1 (emphasis in 
original).

61.

PG&E notes that risk assessment determines when 
a segment is assessed, relative to all other 
identified HCA segments, which had to be 
assessed by December 17, 2012. Ex. PG&E-lc at 
4-33 (PG&E/Keas).
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The two of the significant weaknesses in 
PG&E’s risk assessment methodology 
were weighting and awarding of points or 
scores. Id.

Disputed, misleading as stated. CCSF omits the 
consultant’s more relevant conclusion: “Note that 
this criticism is not suggesting that errors were 
made. The current PG&E RA methodology is in 
fact consistent with models in widespread use 
several years ago and still today by many pipeline 
operators.” Ex. Joint-48 at 1 (emphasis in 
original).

62.

PG&E notes that risk assessment determines when 
a segment is assessed, relative to all other 
identified HCA segments, which had to be 
assessed by December 17, 2012. Ex. PG&E-lc at 
4-33 (PG&E/Keas).

Weightings “carry inherent risks of bias 
and masking” and some “reasons why 
weightings are currently out of favor and 
not used in robust risk assessment include 
the following: force pre-conceived 
results, difficult to support technically, 
potential for masking risk issues.” Id.

Disputed, misleading as stated. CCSF omits the 
consultant’s more relevant conclusion: “Note that 
this criticism is not suggesting that errors were 
made. The current PG&E RA methodology is in 
fact consistent with models in widespread use 
several years ago and still today by many pipeline 
operators.” Ex. Joint-48 at 1 (emphasis in 
original).

63.

PG&E notes that risk assessment determines when 
a segment is assessed, relative to all other 
identified HCA segments, which had to be 
assessed by December 17, 2012. Risk assessment 
does not determine if a segment will be assessed, 
or how the segment will be assessed. Ex. PG&E- 
lc at 4-33 (PG&E/Keas).

Using points or scores “often has 
inadequate defensible linkage to real 
world phenomena.” Id.

Disputed, misleading as stated. CCSF omits the 
consultant’s more relevant conclusion: “Note that 
this criticism is not suggesting that errors were 
made. The current PG&E RA methodology is in 
fact consistent with models in widespread use 
several years ago and still today by many pipeline 
operators.” Ex. Joint-48 at 1 (emphasis in 
original).

64.
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An April 12, 2010 PG&E internal 
memorandum shows that PG&E 
purposefully under-calculated potentially 
unstable manufacturing threats for 
assessment. Ex Joint 9 (PG&E Response 
to CPSD Data Request 015-Q01, 
Attachment 692 in 1.11-02-016).

Disputed. 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3), relating to 
the stability of manufacturing threats, was 
intended to address changed operating conditions, 
not transient pressure excursions. 68 Fed. Reg. 
69,804; Joint R.T. 749-50 (PG&E/Zurcher).

65.

The April 12, 2010 memorandum 
“documents that the operating pressure in 
a pipeline with a manufacturing seam 
threat, that has previously not been 
pressure tested, will not activate unless 
the historical operating pressure (MOP) 
plus 10 percent is exceeded.” Id.

PG&E does not dispute that the memorandum 
contains this statement. However, for 
clarification, 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3), relating to 
the stability of manufacturing threats, was 
intended to address changed operating conditions, 
not transient pressure excursions. 68 Fed. Reg. 
69,804; Joint R.T. 749-50 (PG&E/Zurcher).

66.

As PG&E uses MOP in this context, it is 
the MAOP for the pipeline system, i.e. 
the entire line as opposed to one segment.

The April 12, 2010 memorandum is the best 
evidence of what it says. As stated in the 
memorandum, PG&E defines maximum operating 
pressure (MOP) as “the maximum pressure a gas 
pipeline system may operate in accordance with 
the requirements of CFR Title 49, Part 192 
definition of maximum allowable operating 
pressure for a system.” Ex. Joint-9.

67.

Id.

In the memorandum, PG&E 
acknowledges that section 192.917(e)(3), 
and ASME B31,8S do not specify any 
allowance past the MOP (as it is used in 
that memorandum). Id.

Disputed in part. The April 12, 2010 
memorandum is the best evidence of what it says. 
The assertion in the Proposed Finding of Fact is 
not accurate. PG&E does not dispute that the 
memorandum contains the statement “does not 
specify any allowance past MOP ...” The 
meaning and application of 49 C.F.R. § 
192.917(e)(3) and ASME B31.8S are legal issues 
that are not addressed in this proposed finding.
Ex. Joint-9. Moreover, 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3), 
relating to the stability of manufacturing threats, 
was intended to address changed operating 
conditions, not transient pressure excursions. 68 
Fed. Reg. 69,804; Joint R.T. 749-50 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

68.
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The memorandum states “although 
PHMSA FAQs further states (sic) that 
‘any pressure increase, regardless of 
amount’ will require assessment, PG&E 
will interpret that an allowance of MOP + 
10% is suitable before the pipeline with a 
manufacturing defect must be assessed.”

PG&E does not dispute that the memorandum 
contains this statement. However, 49 C.F.R. § 
192.917(e)(3), relating to the stability of 
manufacturing threats, was intended to address 
changed operating conditions, not transient 
pressure excursions. 68 Fed. Reg. 69,804; Joint 
R.T. 749-50 (PG&E/Zurcher).

69.

Id.

Older DSAW pipe is more susceptible to 
rupture. Ex Joint 49 9(Integrity 
Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines 
(INGAA report)) at p. E-6.

Disputed. DSAW pipe is considered to be the 
highest quality welded pipe, and federal 
regulations assign DSAW a joint efficiency rating 
equivalent to seamless pipe without distinction as 
to age of pipe. Ex. PG&E-l at 3-5 
(PG&E/Caligiuri); 49 C.F.R. § 192.113.

70.

Based on this report over 44% of the 
incidents are attributed to pipe produced 
in 1950, and another 17% in 1949, 1951, 
or 1952. Id.

PG&E does not dispute that this is what is stated 
in Joint Exhibit 49. However, neither this 
proposed finding of fact nor the Integrity 
Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines report provide 
any information relating to the characteristics and 
circumstances of the incidents reflected in the 
report. These incidents do not contain the 
requisite level of detail to inform the integrity 
management manufacturing threat analysis 
process. Joint R.T. 973-74 (PG&E/Keas).

71.

PG&E admitted that the INGAA report is 
one of the sources of information that 
PG&E uses to determine whether there 
are any defects in its older pipelines as 
part of its Integrity Management 
Program. Joint RT 970:21-26 
(Keas/CPSD).

Disputed. The INGAA report does not contain 
sufficient information or detail relating to what 
service the pipelines were in, what specifications 
the pipes were ordered pursuant to, and how the 
pipelines were installed to be relevant to a 
manufacturing threat identification process. Joint 
R.T. 973-74 (PG&E/Keas).

72.
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PG&E provided a Moody’s report that 
shows that some of the steel used by 
Consolidated Western for PG&E’s 
pipelines came from the Kaiser 
Company. Ex PG&E -7 (Tab 4-20: July 
19, 1949 Moody’s Report) at p. 2 (“the 
balance of the steel plates were supplied 
by Kaiser Company, Inc., and rolled at 
their plant in Fontana California.”).

Disputed. Exhibit PG&E-7 (Tab 4-18) contains 
the Moody Report that PG&E believes CCSF 
intended to reference. This document states: “The 
major portion of the steel plates from which the 
pipe was made were supplied through the 
Columbia Steel Company, Los Angeles California, 
by the Geneva Steel Company, and rolled at their 
plant in Geneva, Utah. The balance of the plates 
were supplied by the Kaiser Company, Inc. and 
rolled at their plant in Fontana, California.” The 
Moody Report also indicates that the pipe was to 
be subjected to a 90% SMYS hydrotest at the mill. 
The document referenced in this proposed finding 
of fact does not represent that any pipe plate came 
from Kaiser. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-20). The 
document does indicate that pipe ordered for the 
1948 installation of Line 132 was to be subject to a 
90% SMYS (1170 psig) hydrotest at the mill. Ex. 
PG&E-7 (Tab 4-20) at 3.

73.

The INGA A report specifically identifies 
the Kaiser Company as being the 
predominant supplier of SSAW and 
DSAW pipelines that resulted in reported 
incidents. Ex Joint 49 at p. E-6 .

Generally accurate. Ex. Joint-49 at E-6.
However, neither this proposed finding of fact nor 
the Integrity Characteristics of Vintage Pipelines 
report provide any information relating to the 
characteristics and circumstances of the incidents 
reflected in the report. These incidents do not 
contain the requisite level of detail to inform the 
integrity management manufacturing threat 
analysis process. Joint R.T. 973-74 (PG&E/Keas).

74.

During the years 2002-2009, 6 out of the 
17 reportable incidents involving 
longitudinal seam welds occurred on 
DSAW pipelines. Pinhole leaks 
accounted for all six reportable incidents. 
Ex PG&E-l at p. 5-10.

Generally accurate. As discussed by John 
Zurcher, the pinhole leaks likely were reported 
because they were significant in the judgment of 
the operator, even though they did not meet other 
criteria for reportable incidents. Joint R.T. 764 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

75.

PG&E has stated that it believes that 
segment 180 was constructed with 
DSAW pipe from Consolidated Western. 
Ex PG&E-l at p. 2-1.

Generally accurate.76.
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During the hearings, PG&E admitted that 
if segment 181 was identified as having a 
manufacturing threat in 2004 BAP 
because segment 181 was identified as 
being over 50 years old, segment 180 
should also have been identified as 
having a manufacturing threat because it 
was also over 50 years old in 2004. Joint 
RT 966:20-26 (Keas/CPSD).

Partially disputed. Kris Keas testified that 
Segment 180 should have been identified as 
having a non-seam related manufacturing threat, as 
the pipe used in constructing segment 180 was 
manufactured more than 50 years prior to 2004, 
even though it was not installed until 1956. Joint 
R.T. 966, 1181-82 (PG&E/Keas). That 
designation is not related to a seam manufacturing 
threat.

77.

When questioned why PG&E’s TIMP did 
not identify segment 180 as having a 
manufacturing defect, PG&E’s witness 
asserted that she believed it was because 
“we thought we knew what the 
installation was, which was in, I believe 
1956.” Joint RT 967:5-7 (Keas/CPSD).

Generally accurate, though misleading without the 
following additional information: Kris Keas 
testified that Segment 180 should have been 
identified as having a non-seam related 
manufacturing threat, as the pipe used in 
constructing segment 180 was manufactured more 
than 50 years prior to 2004, even though it was not 
installed until 1956. Joint R.T. 966, 1181-82 
(PG&E/Keas). That designation is not related to a 
seam manufacturing threat.

78.

PG&E asserted that it over-pressurized 
its pipelines “to avoid [pressure testing] 
and any potential customer curtailments 
that may result.” CCSF-1 (Exhibit 11 to 
Testimony of John Gawronski: PG&E’s 
Amended Data Response NTSB Exhibit 
2-AI of the San Bruno Investigation 
(Docket No. SA-534)).

Disputed. PG&E did not “over-pressurize” its 
pipelines. PG&E’s practice of raising pressure in 
its pipelines to pipeline MAOP was common in 
the pipeline industry, both before and after 
implementation of the Integrity management 
regulations. Ex. PG&E-l at 5-14 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

79.

PG&E “operated, within the applicable 
five-year period, some of its pipelines 
that would be difficult to take out of 
service at the maximum pressure 
experienced during the preceding five- 
year period in order to meet peak demand 
and preserve the line’s operational 
flexibility.” Id.

Generally accurate.80.
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Increasing the pressures in this way can 
affect the stability of manufacturing and 
construction (especially weld) defects in 
pipeline segments. Ex CCSF-1 atp. 16.

Disputed. There is no empirical evidence to 
support this proposed finding. Even yearly 
pressure excursions that exceed MAOP by up to 
five percent do not meaningfully diminish the 
expected time to failure of manufacturing defects. 
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-25 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-7 
(Tab 4-21) (Kiefner 2007 DOT Report at 28).

81.

PHMSA believes that “if you’re 
adjusting the pressure periodically, you 
need to ... make that part of your overall 
assessment of the risk on that pipeline.’” 
Ex CPSD-9 at p. 37.

Disputed. The MAOP and MOP of PG&E’s 
pipelines remained unchanged. 49 C.F.R. § 
192.917(e)(3) require a change to one or both of 
these operating conditions to render a 
manufacturing threat unstable. See PG&E OB at 
91; 68 Fed Reg. 69,804, Joint R.T. 749-50 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

82.

In addition, it appears that PG&E is the 
only operator who followed this practice. 
Id. (“PHMSA officials were unaware of 
any other operators following such a 
practice.”)

Disputed. The practice of operating transmission 
pipelines to MAOP was common within the gas 
industry and considered standard industry practice 
by many operators. Ex. PG&E-l at 5-13 to 5-14 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

83.

PG&E over-pressurized segments of Line 
101 and Line 109 within the City and 
County of San Francisco on December 
11, 2003. Ex CCSF-1 (Exhibit 11 to 
Testimony of John Gawronski: NTSB 
Exhibit 2-AI of the San Bruno 
Investigation (Docket No. SA-534)), p. 4 
of spreadsheet titled “NTSB 036-005 
Amended.”)

Disputed. CCSF does not present evidence that 
the segments of Lines 101 and 109 that are within 
the City and County of San Francisco exceeded 
the MAOP of each line. CCSF’s failure to identify 
the segments and pressures reached on these lines 
renders its evidentiary showing inadequate.

84.

Prior to December 11, 2003, the five-year 
MOP for the Line 101 segments in San 
Francisco (segment numbers 181 to 201) 
was 223.5 psi. Ex CCSF-1 (Exhibit 12 to 
Testimony of John Gawronski: PG&E 
Response to Data Request 
OIIDRCCSF 003-Q05 in 1.11-02
016).

Misleading as stated. As of December 11, 2003, 
no federal or state pipeline regulation attached any 
significance to the highest pressure experienced on 
a particular pipeline in the preceding five years.

85.
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The five-year MOP for Line 109 
segments in San Francisco (segment 
numbers 195.2 to 248) was 149.8 psi. Id

Misleading as stated. The DR response cited 
refers to the MOP in the five years prior to 
December 11, 2003. As of that date, no federal or 
state pipeline regulation attached any significance 
to the highest pressure experienced on a particular 
pipeline in the preceding five years.

86.

On December 3, 2011, PG&E raised the 
pressure on these segments of Line 101 
to 249.42. Ex CCSF-1 (Exhibit 11 to 
Testimony of John Gawronski: NTSB 
Exhibit 2-AI of the San Bruno 
Investigation (Docket No. SA-534), p. 4 
of spreadsheet titled “NTSB 036-005 
Amended.”)

Misleading as stated. As of December 11, 2003 
(assuming the intended date reference was 
December 11, 2003 not December 3, 2011), no 
federal or state pipeline regulation attached any 
significance to the highest pressure experienced on 
a particular pipeline in the preceding five years.

87.

Similarly, PG&E raised the pressures on 
these segments of Line 109 to 150.01 psi.

Misleading as stated. As of December 11, 2003, 
no federal or state pipeline regulation attached any 
significance to the highest pressure experienced on 
a particular pipeline in the preceding five years.

88.

Id.

PG&E’s witness admitted that it is very 
possible that PG&E exceeds its MAOP 
everyday on every pipeline. Joint RT 
750:2-20 (Zurcher/CCSF).

Disputed. This statement is not an accurate 
characterization of the testimony. Joint R.T. 
750:2-20 (PG&E/Zurcher).

89.

PG&E’s witness admitted that “I don’t 
believe a prudent operator would exceed 
MAOP on purpose.” Joint RT 788:7-8 
(Zurcher/CCSF).

Disputed. This is not an accurate quotation of the 
testimony. Joint R.T. 788:7-8 (PG&E/Zurcher). 
The actual statement was, “I don't believe an 
operator would exceed MAOP on purpose.” 
CCSF added the word prudent.

90.
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It is Mr. Zurcher’s opinion that “prudent 
pipeline operators manage system 
pressures to never exceed MAOP, which 
often means that a safety margin below 
MAOP is necessary.” Ex Joint 35 
(Determination of Available Capacity 
and A Review of Maintenance on the El 
Paso Natural Gas Co. System for the 
Period November 1, 2000 through March 
31, 2001) at p. 12.

The quote of the testimony is accurate.91.

Even after the San Bruno explosion, 
PG&E still asserts that “even a 20-pound 
excursion (equivalent to 5% over the 400 
psig MAOP) would not be enough to 
render a manufacturing threat unstable.” 
Ex PG&E-lc at p. 4-26.

PG&E does not dispute that this quote comes from 
its testimony. However, as explained by witness 
Kris Keas, if a pressure increase over MAOP 
occurs, PG&E would conduct a stability 
determination that takes into consideration several 
factors, such as whether the pipe was hydrotested, 
and what method was used to manufacture the 
pipe. Applying the pipe specifications for pipe 
that was to be used in construction of Segment 
180, the stability analysis would not identify an 
unstable manufacturing defect if the line was 
pressured to 420 psig. Joint R.T. 1102-04 
(PG&E/Keas).

92.

Cyclic FatigueC.

The NTSB found that fatigue cracking 
weakened the pipe segment that ruptured. 
Ex CPSD-9 at p. 124 (Finding 5)

Generally accurate, with a modification. The pipe 
that ruptured was not properly manufactured gas 
transmission pipe. Ex. PG&E-l at 3-5. 
(PG&E/Caligiuri). In addition to missing an 
interior weld, the pipe experienced a ductile tear 
likely caused by a post-constmction hydro test. 
Properly manufactured DSAW pipe without a 
ductile tear would not have experienced the fatigue 
cracking seen on the pup in Segment 180. Ex. 
PG&E-l at 3-5 to 3-17 (PG&E/Caligiuri); Ex. 
PG&E-l at 6-5 (PG&E/Kiefner).

93.
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PG&E admits the rupture of segment 180 
was caused by a ductile tear that grew 
from “fatigue cracking [...] to a point that 
the relatively small increase in pressure 
on September 9, 2010 caused the Pup 1 
longitudinal seam to rupture.” Ex 
PG&E-l atp. 3-7.

Generally accurate.94.

PG&E did not incorporate cyclic fatigue 
or other loading conditions into their 
segment specific threat assessments and 
risk ranking algorithm in either its 2005 
or 2010 Integrity Management Protocol 
Matrices. Ex CPSD-1 atp. 51.

Disputed. PG&E conducted initial calculations to 
determine whether pipelines in its system were 
subject to cyclic fatigue. Using this, in 
combination with an evaluation of industry 
literature regarding the potential for cyclic fatigue 
to occur, PG&E determined that cyclic fatigue was 
not an active threat. Joint R.T. 1001 
(PG&E/Keas).

95.

PG&E lacks a documented record that it 
evaluated the pressure cycles on its 
pipelines. CCSF-1 atp. 18.

Disputed. PG&E documented its evaluation of 
cyclic fatigue in audit protocol matrices provided 
to PHMSA and CPSD during 2005 and 2010 
audits. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-30 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. 
PG&E-7 (Tab 4-24) (2005 audit protocol matrix); 
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-25 (2010 audit protocol 
matrix).

96.

PG&E’s RMP-06 does not even list 
cyclic fatigue as one of the threats to be 
considered. Joint RT 110:5-17 
(Keas/CCSF).

Misleading as stated. PG&E’s RMP-06 identifies 
threat categories consistent with ASME B31.8S, 
section 2.2. CPSD audits of PG&E integrity 
management program found that PG&E properly 
evaluated cyclic fatigue. Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-24) 
(2005 audit protocol matrix) at 31-32; Ex. PG&E- 
7 (Tab 4-25) (2010 audit protocol matrix) at 35-36. 
Cyclic fatigue is not an identified category of 
threat in the ASME standard. Ex. Joint-28 (ASME 
B31.8S) § 2.2. Joint R.T. 1187-90 (PG&E/Keas) 
(“Q: Are there any threats listed in the ASME that 
are not listed in RMP06? A: No.”).

97.
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To perform the cyclic fatigue analysis, an 
operator must track its pressure histories. 
CCSF-1 at p. 17.

Disputed. CCSF does not present any evidence 
that any operator uses its method of evaluation of 
cyclic fatigue. The pressure cycle analysis may 
use recent pressure cycles as a proxy for older 
data, because “as time goes on the systems tend to 
be operated more vigorously, let’s say, or 
aggressively, because the demand increases.” This 
is a conservative approach. R.T. 802 
(PG&E/Kiefner). Moreover, CCSF presents no 
evidence that its specific method of evaluation is 
the only acceptable way to consider the threat of 
cyclic fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT- 
sponsored research that found cyclic fatigue to not 
constitute a threat to natural gas pipelines also 
constitutes a proper and legally adequate 
evaluation of cyclic fatigue. R.T. 719-20 
(PG&E/Kiefner).

98.

The operator must consider the changes 
or variations in pressures and related 
stress levels on the pipeline and track the 
percent increase or decrease caused by 
the change in pressure. Id.

Disputed. CCSF does not present any evidence 
that any operator uses its method of evaluation of 
cyclic fatigue. CCSF presents no evidence that its 
specific method of evaluation is the only 
acceptable way to consider the threat of cyclic 
fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT-sponsored 
research that found cyclic fatigue to not constitute 
a threat to natural gas pipelines also constitutes a 
proper and legally adequate evaluation of cyclic 
fatigue. R.T. 719-20 (PG&E/Kiefner).

99.

Next, the operators must identify what 
constitutes a significant threat due to 
severe or moderate pressure/stress cycles.

Disputed. CCSF does not present any evidence 
that any operator uses its method of evaluation of 
cyclic fatigue. CCSF presents no evidence that its 
specific method of evaluation is the only 
acceptable way to consider the threat of cyclic 
fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT-sponsored 
research that found cyclic fatigue to not constitute 
a threat to natural gas pipelines also constitutes a 
proper and legally adequate evaluation of cyclic 
fatigue. R.T. 719-20 (PG&E/Kiefner).

100.

Id.
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101. Operators must count the number of 
severe cycles experienced by the 
pipeline. Id.

Disputed. CCSF does not present any evidence 
that any operator uses its method of evaluation of 
cyclic fatigue. The pressure cycle analysis may 
use recent pressure cycles as a proxy for older 
data, because “as time goes on the systems tend to 
be operated more vigorously, let’s say, or 
aggressively, because the demand increases.”
This is a conservative approach. R.T. 802 
(PG&E/Kiefner). Moreover, CCSF presents no 
evidence that its specific method of evaluation is 
the only acceptable way to consider the threat of 
cyclic fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT- 
sponsored research that found cyclic fatigue to not 
constitute a threat to natural gas pipelines also 
constitutes a proper and legally adequate 
evaluation of cyclic fatigue. R.T. 719-20 
(PG&E/Kiefner).

102. All operators must perform this analysis, 
and although failure due solely to cyclic 
fatigue is rare, the effects due to pressure 
cycling should be considered as part of 
an operator’s evaluation of interactive 
threats. Id.

Disputed. CCSF does not present any evidence 
that any operator uses its method of evaluation of 
cyclic fatigue. CCSF presents no evidence that its 
specific method of evaluation is the only 
acceptable way to consider the threat of cyclic 
fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT-sponsored 
research that found cyclic fatigue to not constitute 
a threat to natural gas pipelines also constitutes a 
proper and legally adequate evaluation of cyclic 
fatigue. R.T. 719-20 (PG&E/Kiefner).
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Based on this analysis, operators 
calculate an expected time to failure and 
time for reassessment. The expected time 
to failure is the “minimum amount of 
time that we would expect to see a 
failure.” 704:13-14 (Kiefner/CPSD).

PG&E does not dispute that this is one method of 
analysis for cyclic fatigue. However, CCSF 
presents no evidence that its specific method of 
evaluation is the only acceptable way to consider 
the threat of cyclic fatigue. Informed reliance on 
DOT-sponsored research that found cyclic fatigue 
to not constitute a threat to natural gas pipelines 
also constitutes a proper and legally adequate 
evaluation of cyclic fatigue. R.T. 719-20 
(PG&E/Kiefner). PG&E notes that Dr. Kiefner 
described this type of analysis as a worst case 
scenario that assumes that the pipeline is operating 
at the maximum pressure allowed in a class-1 
location (72% SMYS), and also assumes that the 
pipe contains defects, which may not exist in 
reality. R.T. 704-05 (PG&E/Kiefner).

103.

This calculation is not 100% predictive, 
i.e. the pipeline could fail before or after 
that time. 706:21-28. (Kiefner/CPSD).

Generally accurate, with the clarification that the 
calculation is a minimum time to failure. R.T. 704 
(PG&E/Kiefner). The logical implication is that it 
is more likely that a pipeline would fail after the 
minimum time to failure, not before.

104.

The time for re-assessment is half the 
expected time to failure. In other words, 
operators apply a safety factor of two by 
taking the calculated time to failure and 
dividing that number by two. 707:3-22 
(Kiefner/CPSD).

PG&E does not dispute that this is what Dr. 
Kiefner recommends. However, CCSF presents 
no evidence that this method of evaluation is the 
only acceptable way to consider the threat of 
cyclic fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT- 
sponsored research that found cyclic fatigue to not 
constitute a threat to natural gas pipelines also 
constitutes a proper and legally adequate 
evaluation of cyclic fatigue. R.T. 719-20 
(PG&E/Kiefner)

105.
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Upon reaching time for assessment, 
operators have two options: “one is to 
hydrostatically test the pipeline again to 
reset the clock. The other is to run in-line 
inspection with a crack detection tool 
that’s capable of finding the defects.” 
708:7-12.” (Kiefner/CPSD).

PG&E does not dispute that this is what Dr. 
Kiefner recommends. However, CCSF presents 
no evidence that this method of evaluation is the 
only acceptable way to consider the threat of 
cyclic fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT- 
sponsored research that found cyclic fatigue to not 
constitute a threat to natural gas pipelines also 
constitutes a proper and legally adequate 
evaluation of cyclic fatigue. R.T. 719-20 
(PG&E/Kiefner)

106.

107. The results of the cyclic fatigue analysis 
will vary depending on the specific 
characteristics of the pipelines subject to 
cyclic fatigue. 780:7-10 (Kiefner/CCSF).

PG&E does not dispute that this is what Dr. 
Kiefner states. However, CCSF presents no 
evidence that this method of evaluation is the only 
acceptable way to consider the threat of cyclic 
fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT-sponsored 
research that found cyclic fatigue to not constitute 
a threat to natural gas pipelines also constitutes a 
proper and legally adequate evaluation of cyclic 
fatigue. R.T. 719-20 (PG&E/Kiefner)

In March 2012, Kiefner and Associates 
wrote a report addressing the threat of 
cyclic fatigue on PG&E’s peninsula 
pipelines based on the pressure histories 
for 10 years prior to September 9, 2010 
(KAI report). 801:16-21 
(Kiefner/CCSF).

Generally accurate. However, the proper citation 
is R.T. 786 (PG&E/Kiefner).

108.

The report finds that some segments in 
PG&E’s gas transmission system have 
passed the time for reassessment and 
some have even passed their expected 
time to failure based on seam weld 
fatigue. Ex. CCSF-5.

Misleading as stated. The reassessment intervals 
are worst case scenarios, and “in real life, the 
answer is that [cyclic fatigue is not present] 
because they haven’t failed, they haven’t failed in 
tests in some of the segments.” R.T. 801-02 
(PG&E/Kiefner).

109.

Failure due to seam-weld fatigue on high 
pressure transmission lines tends to lead 
to rupture. 797:16-18 (Kiefner/CCSF)

Generally accurate.110.
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111. The report makes clear that several of the 
key assumptions contained in PG&E’s 
testimony are inapplicable to the older 
vintages of PG&E’s gas transmission 
system. 780:22-25 (Kiefner/CCSF).

Disputed. The record citation does not support 
this proposed finding of fact. As explained by Dr. 
Kiefner, the key factor in his fatigue analysis is the 
existence of a hydrostatic test. R.T. 780 
(PG&E/Kiefner). The record citation 
demonstrates that Dr. Kiefner used a hypothetical 
24-inch diameter, .289 wall, X52 pipe with a 
toughness level equivalent to 25 foot pounds of 
Charpy energy to provide an example of different 
times to failure given different hydrostatic test 
levels. R.T. 780 (PG&E/Kiefner). As explained 
by Dr. Kiefner, pipelines of other specifications 
“would have some effect, not a big effect, but it 
would have some.” R.T. 781 (PG&E/Kiefner).
The fact that PG&E has pipeline of different 
specifications from the hypothetical used in the 
table referred to in this finding of fact does not 
render Kiefner’s conclusions inapplicable to 
PG&E’s system.

One key assumption is based on the 
vintage of the pipe. Pipelines of older 
vintage were not tested to as high a level, 
or possibly not even at all. CCSF-05 
(March 2012 Kiefner and Associates Inc. 
Final Report: Analysis of the Effects of 
Pressure-Cycle-Induced Fatigue-Crack 
Growth on the Peninsula Pipeline) at p. 1.

Partially disputed. As stated by Dr. Kiefner, the 
“key factor” is the existence of a hydrostatic test, 
not the vintage of the pipe. R.T. 780 
(PG&E/Kiefner). PG&E does not dispute that 
older pipelines were not subject to regulatory 
pressure test requirements, but API-specification 
pipe was subject to a hydro test in the pipe mill. 
R.T. 712 (PG&E/Kiefner) (“Well, having 
knowledge that your pipeline is comprised of a 
material made to a line-pipe specification, an API 
5L for example, guarantees that you had a mill 
hydrostatic test. If you didn’t get one, the 
manufacturer was cheating. And I know of no 
instances where that’s ever been proven. You 
cannot put an API monogram on a piece of pipe 
without having done the mill hydrostatic test.”).

112.
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Not all of PG&E’s pipelines were tested 
to the highest levels. Several types lower 
grade pipe that are present in PG&E’s 
system and are more susceptible to seam 
failure are PG&E specified grade, API 5L 
Grade A and Grade B pipe. Ex CCSF-05 
atp. 1.

Partially disputed. CCSF presents no evidence 
that lower grade pipe in PG&E’s system is more 
susceptible to seam failure. PG&E does not 
dispute that certain grades of pipe are subjected to 
lower percentage SMYS hydrostatic mill tests than 
other grades.

113.

114. API 5L Grade A and Grade B pipe were 
subject to minimum test pressure of only 
60 percent SMYS. Ex CCSF-05 at p. 2.

Generally accurate with regard to the mill test 
specified in the API standard. However, these 
pipelines were often tested in the field to a higher 
pressure, resulting in a longer fatigue life. Ex. 
CCSF-2 at 2. .

In some cases, the calculated fatigue life 
for these types of pipe is on the order of 
50 years. Id.

Misleading as stated. For each of the pipe 
segments identified in Table 1 (cited by CCSF for 
this proposed finding of fact), the pipe was either 
tested by PG&E to a higher pressure resulting in a 
long fatigue life, or the pipe is seamless so the 
threat of seam-weld fatigue does not apply. Ex. 
CCSF-2 at 2.

115.
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Not all of PG&E’s pipelines may been 
pressure tested. Based on the NTSB’s 
interview of a former Consolidated 
Western employee it appears that not 
every piece of pipe made at Consolidated 
Western was subjected to a mill test. Ex 
CCSF-08 (NTSB Operations Chairman 
Factual Report Addendum, Dated 
8/12/11).

Disputed. CCSF presents no evidence that not all 
of PG&E’s pipelines were pressure tested, either at 
the mill or in the field. PG&E further disputes the 
accuracy and relevance of the statements made by 
the former Consolidated Western employee, as he 
did not work at the plant that manufactured 30” 
DSAW pipe for PG&E in 1948 and 1949, and he 
retired two years before PG&E’s 1953 pipe 
purchase was fulfilled by Consolidated Western. 
Ex. CPSD-305 at 32-33. The former employee 
was not involved in making pipe for PG&E or 
familiar with the process by which it was made. 
The Moody’s Engineering report that describes the 
actual manufacturing process for PG&E’s 1949 
Consolidated Western pipe purchase is the best 
evidence of how the Line 132 pipe was 
manufactured. Ex. PG&E-5 (Tab 2-3). API- 
specification pipe, such as the pipe ordered for 
Line 132 and Segment 180, was subject to a hydro 
test in the pipe mill. R.T. 712 (PG&E/Kiefner) 
(Well, having knowledge that your pipeline is 
comprised of a material made to a line-pipe 
specification, an API 5L for example, guarantees 
that you had a mill hydrostatic test. If you didn’t 
get one, the manufacturer was cheating. And I 
know of no instances where that’s ever been 
proven. You cannot put an API monogram on a 
piece of pipe without having done the mill 
hydrostatic test.”).

116.
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In the NTSB’s deposition of a former 
Consolidated Western employee, the 
employee stated that he believed only 1 
in 50 pipes manufactured were subject to 
a mill test. Ex CPSD-305 (Deposition of 
Arthur “Mike” Massaglia) at p. 11:4-5.

Disputed. The former Consolidated Western 
employee did not work at the plant that 
manufactured 30” DSAW pipe for PG&E in 1948 
and 1949, and retired two years before PG&E’s 
1953 pipe purchase was fulfilled by Consolidated 
Western. Ex. CPSD-305 at 32-33. The former 
employee was not involved in making pipe for 
PG&E or familiar with the process by which it was 
made. The Moody’s Engineering report that 
describes the actual manufacturing process for 
PG&E’s 1949 Consolidated Western pipe 
purchase is the best evidence of how the Line 132 
pipe was manufactured. Ex. PG&E-5 (Tab 2-3). 
API-specification pipe, such as the pipe ordered 
for Line 132 and Segment 180, was subject to a 
hydro test in the pipe mill. R.T. 712 
(PG&E/Kiefner) (Well, having knowledge that 
your pipeline is comprised of a material made to a 
line-pipe specification, an API 5L for example, 
guarantees that you had a mill hydrostatic test. If 
you didn’t get one, the manufacturer was cheating. 
And I know of no instances where that’s ever been 
proven. You cannot put an API monogram on a 
piece of pipe without having done the mill 
hydrostatic test.”).

117.
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PG&E admits that cyclic fatigue was a 
threat to its pipelines even before the 
explosion on September 9, 2010.
“Q: So even before the San Bruno 
explosion happened, based on the 
operating pressures, the threat of cyclic 
fatigue was present on PG&E’s 
pipelines?
A: Well, on the basis of these 
calculations, you could infer that.” 
801:16-21 (Kiefner/CCSF).

Disputed. This proposed finding of fact omits the 
context of the cited testimony. The full response 
reads as follows:

118.

“Q: So even before the San Bruno explosion 
happened, based on the operating pressures, the 
threat of cyclic fatigue was present on PG&E’s 
pipelines?
A: Well, on the basis of these calculations, you 
could infer that. But in real life the answer is 
probably still no because they haven’t failed, 
they haven’t failed in tests of some of the 
segments, and so evidence, really evidence is 
pointing to the fact that there isn’t a fatigue 
problem. R.T. 801 (PG&E/Kiefner). Moreover, 
this testimony discusses the 2012 Kiefner and 
Associates report on cyclic fatigue that was 
commissioned using information gained in 
hindsight from the San Bruno incident.

Based on these considerations, the 
manufacturing techniques and the lack of 
documented pressure tests, PG&E should 
have considered cyclic fatigue a threat to 
its pipelines before the September 9,
2010 rupture occurred. Ex CCSF-05 at p.

Disputed. This proposed finding of fact requires 
hindsight knowledge. Prior to San Bruno, 
informed reliance on DOT-sponsored research that 
found cyclic fatigue to not constitute a threat to 
natural gas pipelines also constituted a legally 
adequate evaluation of cyclic fatigue. R.T. 719-20 
(PG&E/Kiefner).

119.

2.
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Based on the report’s analysis, one 
segment of Line 109 made with PG&E 
Spec pipe, which was installed in 1936 
had an expected time to failure of 139 
years, and a time for reassessment of 70 
years. Ex CCSF-05 at p. 2

PG&E does not dispute that this is what is 
recommended in the Kiefner and Associates 
report. However, the reassessment intervals are 
worst case scenarios, and “in real life, the answer 
is that [cyclic fatigue is not present] because they 
haven’t failed, they haven’t failed in tests in some 
of the segments.” R.T. 801-02 (PG&E/Kiefner). 
CCSF presents no evidence that this method of 
evaluation is the only acceptable way to consider 
the threat of cyclic fatigue. Informed reliance on 
DOT-sponsored research that found cyclic fatigue 
to not constitute a threat to natural gas pipelines 
also constitutes a proper and legally adequate 
evaluation of cyclic fatigue. R.T. 719-20 
(PG&E/Kiefner)

120.

121. Based on the ten year pressure history 
prior to September 9, 2010, the cyclic 
fatigue analysis shows that this segment 
should have been hydrotested or in-line 
inspected for crack growth in 2006. 
793:25-794:28 (Kiefner/CCSF)

For clarity, the Kiefner and Associates cyclic 
fatigue analysis was conducted after the San Bruno 
incident, using pressure cycle data from the years 
preceding the incident as a proxy for the pressure 
cycles experienced during the life of the pipeline. 
PG&E does not dispute that this proposed finding 
of fact is what is recommended in the Kiefner and 
Associates report. However, the reassessment 
intervals are worst case scenarios, and “in real life, 
the answer is that [cyclic fatigue is not present] 
because they haven’t failed, they haven’t failed in 
tests in some of the segments.” R.T. 801-02 
(PG&E/Kiefner). Moreover, CCSF presents no 
evidence that this method of evaluation is the only 
acceptable way to consider the threat of cyclic 
fatigue. Informed reliance on DOT-sponsored 
research that found cyclic fatigue to not constitute 
a threat to natural gas pipelines also constitutes a 
proper and legally adequate evaluation of cyclic 
fatigue. R.T. 719-20 (PG&E/Kiefner)

It also appears that this segment has not 
been pressure tested as of March 2012. 
796:1-22 (Kiefner/CCSF).

Disputed. CCSF does not establish that Dr. 
Kiefner had knowledge whether certain segments 
had been hydrotested as of March 2012.

122.
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In addition, the KAI report finds that a 
segment of Line 132 installed in 1948 
with a SMYS of 33,000 psi that has not 
been pressure tested passed time to 
failure in 2008. 797:19-798:19 
(Kiefner/CCSF).

PG&E does not dispute that this is what is stated 
in the Kiefner and Associates report. However, 
the time to failure intervals are worst case 
scenarios, and “in real life, the answer is that 
[cyclic fatigue is not present] because they haven’t 
failed, they haven’t failed in tests in some of the 
segments.” R.T. 801-02 (PG&E/Kiefner).

123.

124. Yet another segment of Line 132 passed 
its time to failure in 1997. 798:20-799:1 
(Kiefner/CCSF).

PG&E does not dispute that this is what is stated 
in the Kiefner and Associates report. However, 
the time to failure intervals are worst case 
scenarios, and “in real life, the answer is that 
[cyclic fatigue is not present] because they haven’t 
failed, they haven’t failed in tests in some of the 
segments.” R.T. 801-02 (PG&E/Kiefner).

125. The KAI report also makes clear that the 
threat of cyclic fatigue exists on DSAW 
pipelines too. 800:19-801:7 
(Kiefner/CCSF).

PG&E does not dispute that this is what is stated 
in the Kiefner and Associates report. However, 
the threat of cyclic fatigue and the analysis in the 
report are the result of worst case scenarios and 
with the hindsight knowledge of the San Bruno 
accident, and “in real life, the answer is that 
[cyclic fatigue is not present] because they haven’t 
failed, they haven’t failed in tests in some of the 
segments.” R.T. 801-02 (PG&E/Kiefner).

There may have been additional over
pressurizations of PG&E’s pipelines that 
could further shorten the expected times 
to failure. 804:26-805:3 (Kiefner/CCSF).

This proposed finding of fact is unsupported 
speculation.

126.

PG&E has admitted that it lost records 
relating to over-pressurizations from 
2005 and 2007, and although it was able 
to provide a partial list of lines that it 
over-pressurized, it “cannot confirm that 
this represents all such events.” Ex 
CCSF-7 (PG&E Response to CCSF Data 
Request 004-Q01 and Q05 in 1.11-02
016) See response to Q-01.

Disputed. CCSF took the data response out of 
context for its testimony. PG&E maintains 
pressure in its SC ADA data historian from 1998 
and 2000 through the present day. Joint R.T. 973
74 (PG&E/Keas). That data shows any “over
pressurization events” that may have occurred.

127.
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PG&E only “began tracking over
pressurization events in the Gas Events 
database in September 2008.” Ex CCSF- 
1 (Exhibit 13 to Testimony of John 
Gawronski: PG&E Response to Data 
Request TURN 040-27 (A.09-12-020)).

Disputed. CCSF took the data response out of 
context for its testimony. PG&E maintains 
pressure in its SCAD A data historian from 1998 
and 2000 through the present day. Joint R.T. 973
74 (PG&E/Keas). That data shows any “over
pressurization events” that may have occurred.

128.

129. PG&E states that prior to 2008 it
experienced approximately 10 to 20 
untracked over-pressurization events each 
year. Id.

Disputed. CCSF took the data response out of 
context for its testimony. PG&E maintains 
pressure in its SC ADA data historian from 1998 
and 2000 through the present day. Joint R.T. 973
74 (PG&E/Keas). That data shows any “over
pressurization events” that may have occurred.

PG&E also admitted that it does not have 
pressure histories for the entire year of 
1999. Ex CCSF-1 (Exhibit 14 to 
Testimony of John Gawronski: PG&E 
Response to Data Request CPUC 015-10 
(1.11-02-016)).

Generally accurate.130.

131. PG&E did not incorporate the loss of the 
1999 SC AD A pressure records into its 
integrity management model because it 
believes that “pipeline pressure and flow 
data are not directly incorporated into the 
integrity management risk model. The 
reason the risk model does not directly 
incorporate pressure and flow data is that 
the condition those records might provide 
information about, cyclic fatigue in a 
pipeline, is considered to be a low 
likelihood event for pipelines carrying 
natural gas.” Id.

Generally accurate, but for clarification, this data 
response related to risk assessment, not threat 
identification.
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132. The fact that PG&E did not track over
pressurization events prior to 2008 means 
that it cannot know the full extent to 
which cycling has affected the integrity 
of its pipelines and the stability of the 
manufacturing defects. CCSF-1 atp. 18.

Disputed. CCSF is mistaken that “PG&E did not 
track over-pressurization events prior to 2008....” 
See PG&E’s response to Proposed Finding of Fact, 
No. 128 & 129, above. Regardless, operators do 
not have to maintain a full pressure history to 
conduct a fatigue analysis. As discussed by Dr. 
Kiefner, one method of evaluating cyclic fatigue 
uses recent pressure cycle data in place of older 
data, which Dr. Kiefner believes to be a 
conservative approach. R.T. 802 (PG&E/Kiefner).

133. PG&E’s witness stated that he had no 
reason to believe that PG&E lacked the 
resources and ability to perform this 
analysis. 741:6-10(Kiefner/CPSD).

CCSF does not establish that Dr. Kiefner has the 
knowledge to answer this question. This statement 
cannot support a finding of fact.

PG&E has still has not asked Kiefner and 
Associates to perform a cyclic fatigue 
analysis for other lines that it over
pressurized. 809:8-18 (Kiefner/CCSF).

Generally accurate, though PG&E does not adopt 
CCSF’s characterization of “over-pressurized.”

134.

Interactive ThreatsD.

PG&E did not evaluate or analyze the 
interactive nature of threats (i.e., more 
than one threat occurring on a section of 
pipeline at the same time). Ex CCSF-1 at 
p. 19.

Disputed. CPSD integrity management audits in 
2005 and 2010 did not identify any issues in 
PG&E’s threat identification procedure, including 
specifically its evaluation of interactive threats. 
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 35-37; Ex. PG&E-7 
(Tab 4-25).

135.
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RMP-06 does not include interactive 
threats. Ex PG&E 6 (Tab 4-6 (RMP-06), 
Joint RT 1110:14-20 (Keas/CCSF).

Misleading as stated. PG&E’s RMP-06 identifies 
threat categories consistent with ASME B31.8S, 
Section 2.2. Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S) § 2.2; 
Joint R.T. 1187-90 (PG&E/Keas) (“Q: Are there 
any threats listed in the ASME that are not listed 
in RMP06? A: No.”). Additionally, CPSD 
integrity management audits in 2005 and 2010, 
which CPSD describes as focusing on operator 
procedures, did not identify any issues in PG&E’s 
threat identification procedure, including 
specifically its evaluation of interactive threats. 
Ex. PG&E-7 (Tab 4-13) at 35-37; Ex. PG&E-7 
(Tab 4-25).

136.

ASME B31.8S-2004 requires operators 
to consider interactive threats. Ex CCSF- 
1 at p. 19; Ex Joint-28 (ASME B.31.8S ) 
section 2.2.

Generally accurate as a generic description of the 
ASME standard.

137.

This is particularly important when 
considering manufacturing and 
construction threats as well as pipe seam 
threats. Ex CCSF-1 atp. 19.

This is opinion, is not objectively measurable or 
reviewable, and would be an inappropriate and 
meaningless finding of fact.

138.

Interacting threats can result in otherwise 
stable defects becoming unstable, and 
necessitate assessment. Id

Disputed. CCSF presents no evidence supporting 
this proposed finding of fact. ASME B31,8S only 
provides: “The interactive nature of threats (i.e., 
more than one threat occurring on a section of 
pipeline at the same time) shall also be considered. 
An example of such an interaction is corrosion at a 
location that also has third party damage.” Joint- 
28 (ASME B31.8S) §2.2.

139.

140. It is clear that PG&E relied on the
manufacturing and construction defects 
in its system being stable, and failed to 
consider the interactive nature of the 
threats on its lines, or that changing 
pressures could affect the stability of the 
manufacturing and construction defects.

Disputed. PG&E gathered adequate data and 
appropriately identified and assessed threats 
indicated by that data. See PG&E OB at 57-92.

Id
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E. Emergency Response

141. On the evening of the rupture, PG&E 
“did not notify emergency responders 
that the fire was being fed from a rupture 
in PG&E’s natural gas transmission line.” 
CPSD-9 at p. 100; RT 284:22-23 
(Almario/CPSD).

Disputed. PG&E does not have a record of 
making a call to 911 on the day of the incident. 
PG&E disputes that it did not “notify” emergency 
responders. PG&E sent first responders to the 
scene to investigate and respond to the cause of the 
fire. R.T. 284-85 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-40 
at 6. At 6:41 p.m., the GSR and Peninsula On- 
Call Supervisor were confirmed at the scene of the 
incident working side-by-side with the fire 
department and the police. Ex. PG&E-40 at 10; 
R.T. 284-85 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. CPSD-1 at 110 
(CPSD/Stepanian); PG&E OB at 110. PG&E’s 
Gas Maintenance & Construction Superintendent 
for the Bay Area region, who arrived at the scene 
at approximately 6:35 p.m., served as PG&E’s 
Deputy Incident Commander and was in 
communication with the fire battalion chief 
regarding the fact that the fire involved a PG&E 
gas transmission line. Ex. CPSD-97 at 9-11, 15
16. As emergency response expert David Bull 
testified, the notification and coordination 
requirement was fulfilled at the time PG&E 
personnel arrived at the scene, confirmed that 
there was a gas emergency and coordinated with 
public responder on additional emergency actions. 
PG&E OB at 110; R.T. 420-21 (PG&E/Bull).

In general, PG&E’s first responders to a 
gas incident are general its Gas Service 
Representatives (GSRs). RT 297:23
298:2 (Almario/CPSD).

Generally accurate with the following addition: 
PG&E’s Gas Maintenance & Construction 
Superintendent for the Bay Area region arrived at 
the scene at approximately 6:30 p.m. and served as 
PG&E’s Deputy Incident Commander. Ex. 
CPSD-97 at 11-12, 15-16.

142.
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The NTSB found although GSRs are 
directed to evaluate the danger to life and 
property, assess damage, and make or 
ensure that conditions are safe, PG&E’s 
emergency response procedures for Gas 
Service Representatives does not direct 
them to call 911. CPSD-9 at p, 14, fn 25.

Partially disputed. PG&E’s written procedures 
provide for notifying the appropriate fire and 
police officials. Ex. PG&E-39 at 1-40, 1-47, IV- 
20; Ex. PG&E-l at 11-24 to 11-25 (PG&E/Bull).

143.

PG&E’s Company Gas Emergency Plan 
“defines the required procedures that all 
local gas operating departments must 
have in place to respond to gas 
emergencies.” Ex PG&E-39 at p. Part I-

Generally accurate.144.

1

The plan states that the first step in “GAS 
EMERGENCY RESPONSE POLICIES” 
is to “shut off gas if possible.” Id. at p. 
Part 1-37.

Generally accurate but misleading without 
additional context. Shutting off the gas to a large 
geographic area, such as the San Francisco 
Peninsula, can create additional and severe 
dangers. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 to 9-10 
(PG&E/Miesner).

145.

146. PG&E did not turn of the gas for 95 
minutes. CPSD-9 (NTSB Report 
Executive Summary at p. x)

Generally accurate with the following addition: 
PG&E does not dispute that 95 minutes elapsed 
from the time of the rupture to the time the closest 
valves on both sides of the rupture were closed. 
However, “no specific regulations exist pertaining 
to emergency response time.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 102 
(CPSD/Stepanian). The record evidence 
establishes that the response time was reasonable. 
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10 (PG&E/Almario); Ex. 
PG&E-l, Chapter 11 (PG&E/Bull).

Further under External Notification 
Requirements, the Gas Emergency Plan 
states “local fire departments must be 
contacted whenever a gas emergency 
poses a threat of fire or explosion. Fire 
department can assist in fire suppression, 
evacuations, and traffic control.” Ex 
PG&E-39 atp. Part 1-40.

Generally accurate.147.
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148. Depending on circumstances at the scene, 
initiate a previously developed joint 
action to control the gas emergency.” Id. 
atp. Part 1-47.

Generally accurate.

149. Despite this direction, and even though it 
had knowledge that the fire was near a 
gas transmission line, PG&E did not call 
the fire department when it dispatched its 
GSR at 6:23 pm. RT 360:24-361:12 
(Almario/CCSF).

Partially disputed. PG&E admits that it does not 
have a record of making a call to 911 on the day of 
the incident. San Bruno Fire Department already 
had notice of the fire and was onsite when PG&E 
was first notified about the fire at 6:18 p.m. Ex. 
PG&E-40 at 6; R.T. 369-71 (PG&E/Almario). 
PG&E sent first responders to the scene to 
investigate and respond to the cause of the fire. At 
6:41 pm, the GSR and Senior Distribution 
Specialist were at the scene of the incident 
working side-by-side with the first department and 
the police. Ex. CPSD-1 at 110 (CPSD/Stepanian); 
PG&E OB at 110. PG&E’s Gas Maintenance & 
Construction Superintendent for the Bay Area 
region, who arrived at the scene at approximately 
6:35 p.m., served as PG&E’s Deputy Incident 
Commander and was in communication with the 
fire battalion chief regarding the fact that the fire 
involved a PG&E gas transmission line. Ex. 
CPSD-97 at 9-11, 15-16. As emergency response 
expert David Bull testified, the notification and 
coordination requirement was fulfilled at the time 
PG&E personnel arrived at the scene, confirmed 
that there was a gas emergency and coordinated 
with public responders on additional emergency 
actions. PG&E OB at 110; R.T. 420-21 
(PG&E/Bull).

150. As of 6:31 pm (20 minutes after Line 132 
ruptured), PG&E’s Concord Dispatch 
knew that the explosion may have 
involved a PG&E’s gas transmission line 
in the area. Ex PG&E 40 (NTSB San 
Bruno Event Timeline, Exhibit 2-DX) at 
P-8.

Generally accurate.

C-120

SB GT&S 0486800



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX C
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

C'C'SE Proposed Finding of l-'ael PC&E's Response

151. Although PG&E did not call 911 at that 
time, PG&E admits that first responders 
would have been aided by the knowledge 
that the possibility that the fire was being 
fed by a high pressure transmission line. 
RT 355:12-16 (Almario/CCSF).

Partially disputed. PG&E’s Gas Maintenance & 
Construction Superintendent for the Bay Area 
region, who arrived at the scene at approximately 
6:35 p.m., served as PG&E’s Deputy Incident 
Commander, recognized that the cause of the fire 
likely was gas and was in communication with the 
fire battalion chief about the cause of the fire. Ex. 
CPSD-97 at 11-12.

Credibility of PG&E WitnessesF.

Prior to submitting his testimony in this 
case, Mr. Zurcher and his associates at P- 
PIC were retained by PG&E’s Board of 
Directors to perform an independent 
review of PG&E’s natural gas 
transmission and distribution practices 
(Blacksmith Audit). Ex Joint 31 (PG&E 
Response Data Request CCSF 002-Q02, 
Attachment 1)

Generally accurate.152.

This “review was intended to identify 
industry practices that PG&E could adopt 
to improve the operations and 
maintenance of its natural gas system.”

Generally accurate.153.

Id.

154. Mr. Zurcher considered this to be a top to 
bottom examination of PG&E’s 
Customer Care, Field Operations, 
Prevention and Maintenance, Damage 
Prevention, Information and Support, 
Capital and Expense Budgeting, Safety 
Culture, Public Awareness, and 
Emergency Response and Preparedness. 
Joint RT 696:13-697:24 (Zurcher/CCSF).

Disputed. The proposed finding combines 
disparate testimony into a single statement that 
was not made.
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Mr. Zurcher was the lead for the 
Blacksmith Audit’s review of PG&E’s 
prevention and maintenance practices. 
Joint RT 703:3-22 (Zurcher/CCSF).

Generally accurate.155.

Included in this part of the audit were 
assessing PG&E’s pressurization 
practices, and PG&E’s integrity 
management. Joint RT 703:23-704:8 
(Zurcher/CCSF).

Disputed. The cited testimony states that Mr. 
Zurcher did not recall assessing “pressurization 
practices” in the audit. Joint R.T. 703:14-27 
(PG&E/Zurcher).

156.

157. Despite the very clear relationship
between this aspect of the Blacksmith 
Audit and the scope of this investigation, 
Mr. Zurcher stated that he did not believe 
that any of the facts from the Blacksmith 
Audit were relevant to the San Bruno 
testimony. Joint RT 699:8-17 
(Zurcher/CCSF).

Disputed. CCSF’s statement, “Despite the very 
clear relationship....” is a statement of opinion, not 
fact, and CCSF’s opinion is contradicted by the 
witness who performed the audit. PG&E does not 
dispute the content of the cited testimony.

158. When asked specifically if was directed 
to not consider the Blacksmith Audit 
when preparing testimony for this 
investigation, Mr. Zurcher was unable to 
answer no (“Q: Were you directed to not 
consider this audit in your testimony for 
either case? A: Not that I recall. I am 
just not sure. I should say that. I’m not 
sure.”). Joint RT 698:1-5 
(Zurcher/CCSF)

Disputed. CCSF’s characterization of the 
testimony is not accurate; the witness testified that 
he did not recall. PG&E does not dispute the 
content of the testimony.

159. PG&E very carefully manipulated the 
scope of Mr. Zurcher’s testimony by 
providing him with only a limited set of 
materials upon which he was asked to 
prepare testimony for this case. Joint RT 
705:19-27 (Zurcher/CCSF).

Disputed. CCSF’s characterization of the cited 
testimony is inaccurate and misleading. The 
assertion that “PG&E very carefully manipulated 
the scope of Mr. Zurcher’s testimony” is 
inappropriate and has no basis in fact.
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160. When discussing his 2007 study on the 
stability of manufacturing and 
construction defects, Mr. Kiefer stated 
that he believed the purpose of the study 
was “to prove the point that in a natural 
gas pipeline, this cyclic fatigue is simply 
not a threat.” RT 716:26-717:2 
(Kiefner/CPSD).

Misleading as stated. The record evidence 
establishes that cyclic fatigue is, in fact, “simply 
not a threat” on properly manufactured natural gas 
pipelines. PHMSA itself stated that in a letter to 
the NTSB. CCSF’s suggestion that Dr. Kiefner’s 
study was result-oriented is without factual 
support, and contrary to universally-held industry 
and expert opinion. Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 6 
(PG&E/Kiefner); Ex. PG&E-3 (PHMSA letter to 
NTSB stating cyclic fatigue is not a threat).

As Mr. Kiefner noted, this 2007 report is 
premised upon several key assumptions, 
and that not all of the assumptions are 
applicable to PG&E’s pipelines. RT 
780:22-782:1 (Kiefner/CCSF).

Disputed. Dr. Kiefner indicated that the results of 
the table on page 6-5 of his testimony (reproduced 
from the 2007 report) were based on a particular 
set of specifications (24 inch diameter, .289 wall, 
X52 pipe, with a toughness equivalent to 25-foot 
pounds of Charpy energy) that are not identical to 
all pipe in PG&E’s system. R.T. 780 
(PG&E/Kiefner). Dr. Kiefner did not indicate that 
the broader conclusion of the study (“cyclic 
fatigue is simply not a threat”) is inapplicable to 
PG&E’s pipelines.

161.

In Mr. Kiefner’s view, in absence of 
specificity, the cyclic fatigue analysis is 
“somewhat arbitrary unless you actually 
do a study of a particular material in a 
particular environment...” RT 687:6-9 
(Kiefner/CPSD).

Disputed. This quote is taken from a discussion of 
what constitutes a single pressure cycle, not what 
is required to conduct the larger process for 
evaluating cyclic fatigue. As described by Dr. 
Kiefner, “one benchmark that we tend to go by in 
analysis is 25 pounds per square inch. . . .in most 
cases, we don’t do a true test of the material 
and the environment to get a threshold stress.” 
R.T. 687 (PG&E/Kiefner). Thus, Dr. Kiefner 
confirms that, in most cases, a cyclic fatigue 
evaluation will use a pressure variation minimum 
of 25 psig , rather than an actual, calculated 
minimum depending on pipe characteristics.

162.
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163. Mr. Kiefner’s firm (Kiefner and
Associates Inc.) prepared a report (KAI 
Report) applying the analysis from the 
2007 study to the specific characteristics 
of PG&E’s peninsula pipelines. Ex 
CCSF-5

Not disputed that Kiefner and Associates prepared 
the referenced report.

164. Mr. Kiefner asserted that his testimony 
was based upon a review and analysis of 
PG&E’s gas transmission pipeline 
system, with specific focus on data and 
records relating to the physical assets and 
operations of gas transmission Line 132; 
records related to PG&E’s TIMP; and the 
testimony provided by other parties in 
this proceeding. Ex PG&E-l at p. 6-2.

Generally accurate.

The KAI report was prepared in March 
2012. Ex CCSF-5.

Generally accurate.165.

166. Even though the KAI report was 
available to Mr. Kiefner prior to 
submitting his testimony in this case, he 
did not consider the report prior to 
preparing testimony. RT 783:26-28 
(Kiefner/CCSF).

Misleading as stated. Dr. Kiefner’s testimony 
addressed pre-San Bruno facts and events related 
to cyclic fatigue. CCSF has no valid basis for 
suggesting that the March 2012 report was 
necessary to Dr. Kiefner’s testimony. Ex. PG&E- 
1, Chapter 6 (PG&E/Kiefner). As demonstrated 
by the cited transcript, CCSF also had full 
opportunity to ask Dr. Kiefner about the study.

While Mr. Kiefner was familiar with the 
KAI report’s analysis, he “didn’t see 
anything that I needed to quote from this 
report.” RT 784:6-19 (Kiefner/CCSF).

Not disputed that this reflects Dr. Kiefner’s 
testimony, but the proposed finding is misleading 
as stated. Dr. Kiefner’s testimony addressed pre- 
San Bruno facts and events related to cyclic 
fatigue. CCSF has no valid basis for suggesting 
that the March 2012 report was necessary to Mr. 
Kiefner’s testimony. Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 6 
(PG&E/Kiefner). As demonstrated by the cited 
transcript, CCSF also had full opportunity to ask 
Mr. Kiefner about the study.

167.
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In other words, even though Kiefner’s 
firm had conducted a detailed assessment 
of the threat of cyclic fatigue for Line 
132 for PG&E prior to the time he 
submitted his testimony, he did not 
believe the KAI report was relevant to the 
Commission’s examination of PG&E’s 
“past operations, practices and other 
events or courses of conduct that could 
have led to or contributed to the San 
Bruno explosion and fire.” RT 784:6-19 
(Kiefner/CCSF).

Misleading as stated. Dr. Kiefner’s testimony 
addressed pre-San Bruno facts and events related 
to cyclic fatigue. However, the referenced report 
was prepared after San Bruno and with the benefit 
of the hindsight knowledge of that accident.
PG&E acknowledges that pipeline operators and 
regulators have reconsidered the significance of 
cyclic fatigue following San Bruno. However, this 
does not support CCSF’s assertion that the report 
is relevant to determine whether pre-San Bruno 
practices violated the law. Moreover, post
accident improvements are inappropriate to use as 
evidence of pre-accident legal violations.

168.

169. In a data response Mr. Kiefner stated that 
“Mr. Kiefner has no personal basis for a 
conclusion that the pipe used in Segment 
180 was subject to a mill test.” Ex 
CCSF-6 (PG&E Response to Data 
Request CCSF 001-Q02).

Dr. Kiefner has no direct personal knowledge of 
the mill tests performed on the DSAW pipe PG&E 
purchased in the late 1940s and early 1950s, which 
is the pipe used in Segment 180 was installed. Dr. 
Kiefner inferred that the pipe designated for use in 
Segment 180 was subject to a mill test based on 
the fact that the pipe was ordered to the API 5LX- 
52 grade standard. R.T. 731 (PG&E/Kiefner).

On cross-examination, when Mr. Kiefner 
was asked about whether or not segment 
180 was subject to a mill test, he asserted 
that he believed that it was. RT 780:9-25 
(Kiefner/CCSF).

Dr. Kiefner inferred that the pipe designated for 
use in Segment 180 was subject to a mill test 
based on the fact that the pipe was ordered to the 
API 5LX-52 grade standard. R.T. 731 
(PG&E/Kiefner).

170.

171. When further questioned about this
inconsistency, Mr Kiefner stated that he 
was unfamiliar with the data response, 
had not prepared the data response, that 
he had never been asked about his 
personal knowledge related to the 
question in the response, and that he did 
not agree with the response. RT 789:3-

Disputed. There is no inconsistency. Dr. Kiefner 
has no personal knowledge regarding the pipe 
PG&E ordered and purchased approximately 60 
years ago. His conclusion that the pipe was 
subject to a mill test was inferred based on the API 
specifications to which the pipe was ordered.

14.
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Preliminary Statement : Most of the parties’ Proposed Conclusions of Law are actually 
allegations of legal violations against PG&E. PG&E objects to every Proposed Conclusion of 
Law to the extent it reiterates or is based on an improper newly-alleged and/or recharacterized 
violation contained in CPSD’s Appendix C, submitted March 11, 2013 with CPSD’s opening 
brief, or CPSD’s Revised Appendix C, submitted April 18, 2013, pursuant to the ALJ’s April 2, 
2013 Ruling on PG&E’s Motion to Strike Appendix C and/or the ALJ’s April 12, 2013 Ruling 
on CPSD’s Motion for Clarification of ALJ’s April 2, 2013 Ruling on PG&E’s Motion to Strike 
Appendix C. In responding to the Proposed Conclusions of Law below, PG&E provides 
citations to sections in its Opening Brief (OB) and Reply Brief (RB) that address the Proposed 
Conclusion of Law or the related legal issue. PG&E provides these responses only for purposes 
of this proceeding, 1.12-01-007.

CPSD Proposed Conclusions of Law

PG&E’s Response( PSD Proposed Conclusion of Law

1. PG&E failed to follow industry safety
standards during the construction of Segment 
180 in 1956, creating an unreasonably unsafe 
system in violation of Public Utilities Code 
Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. The 
industry standards PG&E is alleged to have violated 
were voluntary guidelines without the force of law. 
PG&E OB at 28-39, 48-57; PG&E RB at 15-19, 39-
48.

2. By installing pipe sections (pups) in Segment 
180 that did not meet any known industry 
specifications for fabrication of gas 
transmission pipe, PG&E created an 
unreasonably unsafe system in violation of 
Public Utilities Code Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. The 
industry standards PG&E is alleged to have violated 
were voluntary guidelines without the force of law. 
PG&E OB at 28-39, 48-57; PG&E RB at 15-19, 39
48. This proposed conclusion is also duplicative of 
proposed conclusion no. 1.

3. By installing pipeline sections that were not 
suitable and safe for the conditions under 
which they were used, PG&E violated the 
safe industry practices described in Section 
810.1 of ASME B31.1.8-1955, creating an 
unsafe system in violation of Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. In addition, 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
industry guidelines in 1956, without the force of 
law. PG&E OB at 28-39; PG&E RB at 15-19, 47
48. Further, Section 810.1 of [ASA] B31.1.8-1955 
does not establish a duty of reasonable care. PG&E 
RB at 45. This proposed conclusion is also 
duplicative of proposed conclusion no. 1.
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4. PG&E violated Section 841.412(c) by not 
conducting a hydrostatic test on Segment 180 
post-installation, creating an unsafe system in 
violation of Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. In addition, 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
industry guidelines in 1956, without the force of 
law. PG&E OB at 28-39, 51-52; PG&E RB at 15
19, 47-48. Segment 180 was never subject to a legal 
requirement to be hydrostatically tested. PG&E OB 
at 51 -52. Despite the lack of any legal requirement 
to do so, the record supports the conclusion that 
PG&E performed a post-installation hydro test on 
Segment 180. PG&E OB at 53-55; PG&E RB at 41.

5. By failing to visually inspect for and
discover the defects in Segment 180, PG&E 
violated Section 811.27(A) of ASME 
B31.1.8-1955, creating an unsafe system in 
violation of Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. In addition, 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
industry guidelines in 1956, without the force of 
law, and thus Section 811.27(A) did not create any 
duty to inspect. PG&E OB at 28-39, 51-52; PG&E 
RB at 15-19, 47-48. Further, Section 811.27(A), 
which applies to used pipe, unidentified new pipe, 
and pipe purchased under Specification ASTM 
A120, does not apply to the pipe specified for use in 
Segment 180. PG&E OB at 49.

6. By installing pipe sections in Segment 180 
that were less than 5 feet in length, PG&E 
violated API 5LX Section VI, creating an 
unsafe system in violation of Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. PG&E OB 
at 28-39; PG&E RB at 15-19, 47-48. In addition, 
API 5LX, Section VI is a standard directed to 
manufacturers and not pipeline operators and pipe 
purchasers, like PG&E. PG&E OB at 50; PG&E 
RB at 45-46. Properly made and installed short 
pieces of pipe do not present a safety issue. R.T. 
1059-61 (PG&E/Caligiuri); Joint R.T. 410-11 
(PG&E/Harrison).
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7. By installing pipe sections which did not 
meet the minimum yield strength prescribed 
by the specification under which the pipe was 
purchased, PG&E violated Section 805.54 of 
ASME B31.1.8-1955, creating an unsafe 
system in violation of Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. In addition, 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
industry guidelines in 1956, without the force of 
law. PG&E OB at 28-39; PG&E RB at 15-19, 47
48. Further, Section 805.54 is part of a section of 
ASA B31.1.8-1955 entitled, “Units and 
Definitions.” The section does no more than define 
specified minimum yield strength; it does not 
contain a construction standard or guideline for use 
of pipe with any particular SMYS value. PG&E OB 
at 48-49; PG&E RB at 39-40.

8. By assigning a yield strength value for 
Segment 180 above 24,000 psi when the 
yield strength was actually unknown, PG&E 
violated Section 811.27(G) of ASME 
B31.1.8-1955, creating an unsafe system in 
violation of Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. In addition, 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
industry guidelines in 1956, without the force of 
law. PG&E OB at 28-39; PG&E RB at 15-19, 47
48. Further, Section 811.27(G) does not apply 
because an operator must be aware that it is 
installing pipe with an unknown specification. 
CPSD’s claim that the yield strength was unknown 
is based on information that did not exist at the time 
the pups were installed. PG&E RB at 39-40.

9. By welding the pups in a deficient manner 
PG&E violated Section 811.27(E) of ASME 
B31.1.8-1955, creating an unsafe system in 
violation of Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. In addition, 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
industry guidelines in 1956, without the force of 
law. PG&E OB at 28-39; PG&E RB at 15-19, 47
48. Further, Section 811.27(E) relates to the 
suitability of different types of pipe for welding, not 
girth welds made during construction, and therefore 
does not apply. PG&E OB at 50; PG&E RB at 42
43. CPSD withdrew its allegation related to Section 
811.27(E) in its August 2012 rebuttal testimony.
Ex. CPSD-5 at 7 (CPSD/Stepanian).
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10. By welding the pups in a deficient manner 
such that the girth welds contained 
incomplete fusion, bumthrough, slag 
inclusions, cracks, undercuts, excess 
reinforcement, porosity defects, and lack of 
penetration, PG&E violated Section 1.7 of 
API standard 1104 (4th edition, 1956).

API 1104 was a non-mandatory guideline in 1956, 
without the force of law. CPSD failed to establish 
that the purported girth weld imperfections fell 
below the acceptance criteria set forth in Section 1.7 
of API 1104. PG&E RB at 42-43.

11. By not completely welding the inside of the 
longitudinal seams on pups 1, 2, and 3 of 
Segment 180 and failing to measure the wall 
thickness to ensure compliance with the 
procurement orders which required 0.375- 
inch wall thickness, PG&E violated Section 
811.27(C) of ASME B31.1.8-1955, creating 
an unsafe system in violation of Section 451.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. Among other things, there is no 
evidence that PG&E, rather than the pipe 
manufacturer, welded the longitudinal seam of the 
pups in Segment 180. Public Utilities Code Section 
451 cannot serve as an independent source of safety 
violations in this proceeding In addition, [ASA]
B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
guidelines in 1956, without the force of law. PG&E 
OB at 28-39; PG&E RB at 15-19, 47-48. Further, 
Section 811.27 only applies to used pipe, 
unidentified new pipe, and pipe purchased under 
Specification ASTM A120, and therefore does not 
apply to Segment 180. PG&E OB at 49-50. Section 
811.27(C) is also inapplicable because it addresses 
nominal wall thickness, and does not address 
dimensions of long seam welds. PG&E RB at 42. 
The NTSB concluded that the wall thickness of the 
pipe in Segment 180, including the pups, was 
consistent with the 0.375-inch specification. PG&E 
RB at 42.
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12. PG&E did not incorporate the pups, which 
were the weakest element of Segment 180, 
when it calculated the design pressure at 400 
psi. This resulted in an unreasonably high 
MAOP for Segment 180, creating an unsafe 
system condition in violation of Section 451.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. There is no evidence that the MAOP 
was incorrectly determined based on the 
specifications of the pipe PG&E ordered for the 
Segment 180 job (X-52 DSAW, 52,000 psig 
SMYS). Even with hindsight knowledge of the 
SMYS of the pups, a 400 MAOP would be 
appropriate. PG&E OB at 56-57. In addition,
Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. Further, 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
industry guidelines in 1956, without the force of 
law. PG&E OB at 28-39; PG&E RB at 15-19, 47
48. This alleged violation is also duplicative of 
CPSD’s alleged violation of Public Utilities Code 
Section 451 based on a violation of Section 845.22 
of [ASA] B31.1.8-1955, for failure to meet MAOP 
determination requirements due to incomplete 
knowledge. See CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at
2.

13. By not having complete and accurate 
knowledge of the specifications or 
characteristics of the pup that failed, PG&E 
could not have accurately determined the 
weakest element of the pipeline, and 
consequently did not know the design 
pressure of the pups. PG&E therefore did 
not meet the MAOP determination 
requirements in Section 845.22 of ASME 
B31.1.8-1955, creating an unsafe system 
condition in violation of Section 451.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. There is no evidence that the MAOP 
was incorrectly determined based on the 
specifications of the pipe PG&E ordered for the 
Segment 180 job (X-52 DSAW, 52,000 psig 
SMYS). Even with hindsight knowledge of the 
SMYS of the pups, a 400 MAOP would be 
appropriate. PG&E OB at 56-57. In addition,
Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations. Further, 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955 was a source of non-mandatory 
guidelines in 1956, without the force of law. PG&E 
OB at 28-39; PG&E RB at 15-19, 47-48. This 
violation is duplicative of CPSD’s alleged violation 
of Section 451 based on failure to incorporate the 
pups in calculating the design pressure and MAOP. 
See CPSD OB, Revised Appendix C at 2.
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Integrity Management

14. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.107(b)(2), 
by not assigning a yield strength of 24,000 
psi when the yield strength was unknown and 
untested.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. There is no evidence that PG&E has 
assigned an assumed value greater than 24,000 psi to 
pipe for which it had no information and that was, 
therefore, unknown. 49 C.F.R. § 192.107(b)(2) does 
not require in every instance the use of 24,000 psig 
for an unknown yield strength value. It allows the 
use of different conservative assumptions where 
there is a basis, such as historical purchasing 
practices, to support such assumptions. CPSD has 
misinterpreted this provision, and has failed to meet 
its evidentiary burden to establish this violation. 
PG&E OB at 65-68; PG&E RB at 52-54.

15. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.917(b), by 
not adequately gathering and integrating 
required pipeline data, thereby not having an 
adequate understanding of the threats on Line 
132.

PG&E’s Integrity Management procedures provided 
for gathering and integration of all data elements 
necessary to perform threat identification and risk 
assessment. CPSD audits prior to San Bruno did not 
identify the shortcomings that CPSD now asserts, 
and CPSD has not in this proceeding addressed the 
two steps of data gathering used by PG&E’s 
integrity management program. PG&E OB at 58-
65.

16. By failing to check for and verify the
accuracy of its pipeline data, PG&E violated 
Section 5.7 of ASME B31.8S, which is 
incorporated by reference into 49 CFR Part 
192.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD’s 2010 integrity management 
program audit verified that PG&E checked its data 
for accuracy, and used appropriate conservative 
assumed values where data was missing. PG&E OB 
at 68-69. CPSD’s allegation, which rests on the 
assertion that PG&E should have documented its 
pipeline installations at the joint-by-joint level and 
identified the six pups in Segment 180, as well as 
the 30-inch seamless pipe error, seeks to 
retroactively impose standards far exceeding pre
incident interpretations of the integrity management 
rules. PG&E OB at 65-72.
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17. PG&E’s failure to analyze the data on 
pipeline weld defects resulted in an 
incomplete understanding of the 
manufacturing threats to Line 132, in 
violation of 49 CFR Part 192.917(a) and 
ASME-B31.8S Section 2.2.

The data relating to longitudinal seam defects 
identified by CPSD does not indicate the presence of 
a potential manufacturing seam defect on Line 132. 
Longitudinal seam cracks identified during the 1948 
construction of Line 132 were repaired and re-tested 
at the mill, which removed any defects large enough 
to grow to failure. PG&E RB at 66-67. Pinhole 
leaks, such as the leak identified on Line 132 in 
1988, do not indicate potential integrity threats. Id. 
CPSD failed to meet its burden of proof to establish 
this violation. PG&E OB at 81-85; PG&E RB at 58-
67.

18. As a result of ignoring the category of 
DSAW as one of the weld types potentially 
subject to manufacturing defects, PG&E 
failed to determine the risk of failure from 
this defect in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.917(e)(3).

Prior to San Bruno, PG&E, regulators, and the 
industry as a whole considered DSAW pipe to be 
equivalent to seamless pipe, as reflected by its joint 
efficiency factor and its absence from the categories 
of pipe identified in ASME B31.8S as subject to 
potential manufacturing threats (49 C.F.R. § 
192.917(e)(4)). PG&E OB at 92-93. CPSD failed 
to prove that PG&E had evidence of a DSAW seam 
failure on its pipelines that would cause PG&E to 
identify DSAW pipe as subject to a potential 
manufacturing threat under 49 C.F.R. § 
192.917(e)(3). PG&E RB at 65-67.

19. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.917(e) and 
(e)(3)(i), by not determining the risk of 
failure from manufacturing and construction 
defects of Line 132 after operating pressure 
increased above the maximum operating 
pressure experienced during the preceding 
five years.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3) was not 
published or in force in 2003, therefore PG&E could 
not violate this regulation during the 2003 planned 
pressure increase. The 2008 pressure increase on 
Line 132 did not significantly exceed pipeline 
MAOP, and was only a transient excursion that did 
not constitute an operating pressure increase under 
49 C.F.R. §192.917(e). Moreover, the segments of 
Line 132 identified by CPSD were not subject to a 
manufacturing threat that could be rendered unstable 
by an increase above the five-year maximum 
operating pressure. PG&E OB at 89-91.
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20. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part
192.917(e)(3)(i), by not considering 
manufacturing and construction defects on 
Line 132 unstable and prioritizing the 
covered segments as high risk for the 
baseline assessment or a subsequent 
reassessment, after operating pressure 
increased above the maximum operating 
pressure experienced during the preceding 
five years.

This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
proposed conclusion 19. 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3) 
was not published or in force in 2003, therefore 
PG&E could not violate this regulation during the 
2003 planned pressure increase. The 2008 pressure 
increase on Line 132 did not significantly exceed 
pipeline MAOP, and was only a transient excursion 
that did not constitute an operating pressure increase 
under 49 C.F.R. §192.917(e). Moreover, the 
segments of Line 132 identified by CPSD were not 
subject to a manufacturing threat that could be 
rendered unstable by an increase above the five-year 
maximum operating pressure. PG&E OB at 89-91.

21. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.917(e)(2), 
by failing to consider and test for the threat 
of cyclic fatigue on Segment 180.

PG&E adequately considered the potential for cyclic 
fatigue through informed reliance on DOT- 
sponsored research and a review of pressure cycles 
on its transmission system. CPSD has failed to 
introduce any evidence supporting its contention that 
the code “evaluation” requires a segment-by
segment analysis of the potential for cyclic fatigue. 
CPSD audits prior to San Bruno did not identify any 
issues with PG&E’s threat identification procedures, 
including PG&E’s express notification to CPSD that 
it did not consider cyclic fatigue to pose a threat. 
PG&E OB at 72-81.

22. By not performing pipeline inspections using 
a method capable of detecting seam issues, 
PG&E violated Part 192.921(a).

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD has introduced no evidence that 
Line 132 was subject to an unstable manufacturing 
seam threat, and that PG&E was therefore required 
to use an assessment method capable of assessing 
the integrity of the longitudinal seam. PG&E OB at 
92-93; PG&E RB at 79-80.
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23. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.917(e)(4), 
by not conducting appropriate testing such as 
hydrostatic testing or in-line inspections on 
Line 132, after exceeding MOP on segments 
of Line 132 that contained electric resistance 
welded (ERW) pipe.

CPSD failed to provide notice of this allegation, as it 
was raised for the first time in CPSD’s opening 
brief. Even so, the record evidence does not support 
this conclusion. 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(4) was not 
published or in force in 2003, therefore PG&E could 
not violate this regulation during the 2003 planned 
pressure increase. The 2008 pressure increase on 
Line 132 did not significantly exceed pipeline 
MAOP, and was only a transient excursion that did 
not constitute an operating pressure increase under 
49 C.F.R. §192.917(e). PG&E OB at 89-91. 
Moreover, CPSD fails to prove the existence of 
segments it on Line 132 that contain low-frequency 
pipe subject to the requirements of 49 C.F.R. § 
192.917(e)(4), or that these segments were subject to 
pressure increases in 2003 or 2008. PG&E RB at 
70-71.

D-9

SB GT&S 0486814



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX D
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

PG&E’s Response( PSD Proposed Conclusion of Law

24. PG&E did not know the variability or 
accuracy of assessment results as a 
consequence of failing to identify where and 
how unsubstantiated data was being used, in 
violation of ASME-B31.8S Section 4.4, 
which is incorporated by reference into 49 
CFR Part 192.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD has presented no evidence that 
PG&E used unsubstantiated data in risk 
assessments. Prior to the San Bruno accident,
PG&E researched historic pipe procurement and 
construction documentation to identify the minimum 
pipe specifications PG&E used during various eras. 
Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-10 (PG&E/Keas); Joint R.T. 979 
(PG&E/Keas). This research allowed PG&E to 
make conservative assumptions regarding the pipe 
characteristics. Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-10 (PG&E/Keas); 
Joint R.T. 979 (PG&E/Keas). PG&E’s practice has 
been to use the most conservative specifications 
from Company material procurement specifications 
for pipeline projects installed during the same time 
period as the pipe segment in question. Ex. PG&E- 
lc at 4-9 (PG&E/Keas). This practice has explicit 
support in ASME B31.8S, is consistent with 
industry norms, and allows PG&E to properly 
prioritize pipeline segments for assessment in 
PG&E’s risk evaluation process. See, e.g., Joint 
R.T. 1186-87 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. Joint-28 (ASME 
B31.8S) Appendix A, § 4.2 (2004); Ex. PG&E-lc at 
4-10 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. PG&E-l at 5-7 to 5-8 
(PG&E/Zurcher). See also, PG&E OB at 65-68.
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25. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.917(c) and 
ASME-B31.8S Section 5.7, by: 1) failing to 
conduct risk assessment that considers the 
identified threats for Line 132; 2) failing to 
consider the consequences of past events on 
Line 132; and 3) failing to account for 
missing or questionable data.

PG&E’s Integrity Management procedures provided 
for gathering and integration of all data elements 
necessary to perform threat identification and risk 
assessment. PG&E OB at 58-65. The 
miscellaneous long seam issues identified by CPSD 
would not inform a manufacturing threat assessment 
of line 132. PG&E OB at 81-85. PG&E’s use of 
conservative assumed values in its integrity 
management program has explicit support in ASME 
B31.8S, is consistent with industry norms, and 
allows PG&E to properly prioritize pipeline 
segments for assessment in PG&E’s risk evaluation 
process. See, e.g., Joint R.T. 1186-87 
(PG&E/Keas); Ex. Joint-28 (ASME B31.8S) 
Appendix A, § 4.2 (2004) (“Where the operator is 
missing data, conservative assumptions shall be used 
when performing the risk assessment or, 
alternatively, the segment shall be prioritized 
higher.”); Ex. PG&E-lc at 4-10 (PG&E/Keas); Ex. 
PG&E-l at 5-7 to 5-8 (PG&E/Zurcher).

26. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.917(c) and 
ASME-B31.8S Section 5, by using risk 
ranking algorithms that did not: 1) properly 
weigh the threats to Line 132, because PG&E 
did not include its actual operating 
experience; 2) properly identify the Potential 
Impact Radius of a rupture, by using a value 
of 300 feet where the PIR is less than that; 3) 
identify the proper Consequence of Failure 
formula, by not accounting for higher 
population densities; 4) use conservative 
values for electrical interference on Line 132, 
which created an external corrosion threat; 5) 
include any consideration of one -call 
tickets, which indicates third party damage 
threats; 6) include any consideration of 
historic problems with the type of pipe used 
on Segment 180.

These alleged deficiencies are more properly viewed 
as competing perspectives on best practices, rather 
than failures to conform to regulatory requirements. 
Ex. PG&E-l at 5-16 (PG&E/Zurcher). For example, 
ASME B31.8S, section 5.7(i) states that risk 
assessment weighting factors “can be based on 
operational experience, the opinions of subject 
matter experts, or industry experience.” Ex. Joint- 
28. ASME B31.8S, section 5.4 further states that 
risk assessment models “should be used in 
conjunction with knowledgeable, experienced 
personnel (subject matter experts and people 
familiar with the facilities)” in order to make 
appropriate risk determinations. Ex. Joint-28. The 
evidentiary record establishes that PG&E utilized 
just such a process by basing its risk model on the 
experience and expertise of subject matter experts 
and multiple threat committees from within the 
Company, in addition to industry data. Ex. PG&E-l 
at 4-32 (PG&E/Keas).
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27. PG&E violated ASME-B31.8S Appendix A, 
Section 4.2, by failing to use conservative 
assumptions where PG&E was missing 
important pipeline data such as pipe material, 
manufacturing process, and seam type.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD has failed to prove that PG&E 
did not use conservative assumptions when it did not 
have records for a particular section of pipe.
CPSD’s argument depends on hindsight knowledge 
regarding the failure of the pups in Segment 180 to 
meet any known pipe procurement standard. PG&E 
OB at 40-42; PG&E RB at 49-54.
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28. PG&E violated Public Utilities Code section 
451, by engaging in the practice of increasing 
the pressure on Line 132 every 5 years to set 
the MAOP for the purpose of eliminating the 
need to deem manufacturing and construction 
threats unstable, thereby avoiding the need to 
conduct hydrostatic testing or in-line 
inspections on Line 132.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. The federal regulations recognize that 
pressure excursions occasionally occur (49 C.F.R. §
192.20l(a)(2)(i)) and require that an operator report 
such an excursion only if the pressure reaches 110% 
of pipeline MAOP. 49 C.F.R. § 191.23(a)(5) The 
Commission incorporated these federal regulations 
into GO-112E, thus CPSD’s assertion of a violation 
based on Section 451 for any pressure excursion 
above MAOP directly conflicts with adopted 
Commission safety regulations. This violation also 
must be rejected because it is merely a repackaged 
allegation. CPSD asserts that the practice of raising 
pressure to MAOP “created an unreasonably unsafe 
system” in violation of Section 451. CPSD OB at 
50. But in support, CPSD argues that, because of 
the pressure excursions, PG&E was required to 
conduct a seam assessment. CPSD OB at 50. Thus, 
the Section 451 violation is not based on planned 
pressure increases to MAOP, but to the purportedly 
required assessments that form the basis for CPSD’s 
alleged violations related to threat identification and 
integrity assessments. See CPSD OB at 45-46 
(alleging violations of law arising from 2003 and 
2008 excursions above MAOP on LI32 because 
“. . . both of these pressure increases legally required 
PG&E to consider potential defects on Segment 180 
to be unstable”). On this basis as well, the 
Commission should disregard CPSD’s alleged 
violation. Lastly, CPSD fails to provide any 
evidence (much less proof) to support a theory that 
pressure increases to a pipeline’s MAOP violate 
Section 451. In contrast, PG&E submitted 
testimony from Mr. Zurcher that from 
approximately 2002 to 2010, the practice of raising 
pressure on transmission pipelines to MAOP was 
common within the gas pipeline industry, and was in 
fact considered standard practice by many operators. 
Ex. PG&E-l at 5-13 (PG&E/Zurcher); Joint R.T.
786 (PG&E/Zurcher).
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Milpitas Tcrminal/SCADA

29. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.13(c), by 
failing to follow its internal work procedures 
that are required to be established under Part 
192.

Not disputed.

30. By failing to follow its work procedures on 
September 9, 2010, PG&E created an 
unreasonably dangerous condition in 
violation of Section 451.

This alleged violation is duplicative of CPSD’s 
alleged violation of 49 C.F.R. § 192.13(c). Public 
Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations in this 
proceeding. Regardless, the record evidence does 
not support this conclusion. Although the written 
clearance documentation did not comply with 
PG&E’s procedure, the personnel at Milpitas 
Terminal communicated with gas control operators 
throughout each step of the UPS work. Ex. PG&E-l 
at 8-8 to 8-10 (PG&E/Slibsager/Kazimirsky).

31. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.605(c), by 
failing to establish adequate written 
procedures for maintenance and operations 
activities under abnormal conditions.

PG&E admits it did not follow internal clearance 
procedures in violation of Section 192.13(c) 
(above); this proposed conclusion of law is 
duplicative of that violation. CPSD presented no 
evidence or argument establishing that Section 
192.605(c) properly applies to PG&E’s clearance 
procedure and the events on September 9, 2010.

32. PG&E created an unreasonably unsafe 
system in violation of Public Utilities Code 
Section 451, by poorly maintaining a system 
at Milpitas that had defective electrical 
connections, improperly labeled circuits, 
missing wire identification labels, aging and 
obsolete equipment, and inaccurate 
documentation.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations in this 
proceeding. CPSD conceded that there are no 
federal or state regulations or laws that apply to the 
conditions on which they base this alleged violation. 
CPSD has not identified any criteria or standard on 
which they base this allegation; rather it is CPSD’s 
subjective conclusion. PG&E OB at 28-39, 98
100; PG&E RB at 15-19, 86-89; Ex. CPSD-1 at 99 
(CPSD/Stepanian).
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33. PG&E created an unreasonably unsafe
system in violation of Section 451, by poorly 
designing a SCADA system that gave too 
many unnecessary alarm messages to its 
Operators, thereby increasing the risk of an 
important alarm being mishandled.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD conceded that there are no 
federal or state regulations or laws that apply to the 
conditions on which they base this alleged violation. 
CPSD has not identified any criteria or standard on 
which they base this allegation; rather it is CPSD’s 
subjective conclusion. Public Utilities Code Section 
451 cannot serve as an independent source of safety 
violations in this proceeding. PG&E OB at 28-39, 
98-100; PG&E RB at 15-19, 86-89; Ex. CPSD-1 at 
99 (CPSD/Stepanian).

Emergency Response

34. PG&E’s failure to create and follow good 
emergency plans created an unreasonably 
unsafe system in violation of Public Utilities 
Code Section 451.

Public Utilities Code Section 451 cannot serve as an 
independent source of safety violations in this 
proceeding. CPSD failed to meet its burden; the 
evidence, including CPSD’s prior audits of PG&E’s 
emergency plans, demonstrated that PG&E’s 
emergency plans complied with applicable 
regulations, and that its response on September 9, 
2010 was reasonable and did not violate any law.
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10 & Appendices A & B 
(PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 11 
(PG&E/Bull); PG&E OB at 106-14; PG&E RB at 
15-19, 89-113.

35. The inconsistencies between corporate and 
divisional level Emergency Plans violate the 
legal requirement in 49 CFR Part 
192.615(a)(3) for a “prompt and effective 
response” to an emergency notice.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD did not establish any material 
inconsistency between the two plans or that 
inconsistencies in the descriptions referenced by 
CPSD violated the requirements for written 
emergency procedures under 49 C.F.R.
§ 192.615(a)(3). CPSD’s prior audits of PG&E’s 
emergency plans contradict this conclusion. Ex. 
PG&E-l, Chapter 10 (PG&E/Almario) & 
Appendices A & B; Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 11 
(PG&E/Bull); PG&E RB at 91-94.
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36. By failing to create an assistance agreement 
for notifying and coordinating with 
appropriate fire, police, and other public 
officials of gas pipeline emergencies, PG&E 
violated 49 CFR Part 192.615(a)(8).

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD failed to establish that mutual 
assistance agreements were required under 49 
C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(8); they are not. PG&E 
emergency response plans contained procedures for 
notifying and coordinating with appropriate fire, 
police, and other public officials of gas pipeline 
emergencies. Additionally, PG&E actively 
coordinated with first responders at the scene of the 
emergency. Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-39 § 4.0 (Emergency 
Response Plans); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 
(PG&E/Almario); PG&E RB at 96-97.

37. By failing to have mutual assistance 
agreements with local first responders, 
PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.615(c)(4), 
which requires operators to establish and 
maintain liaisons with appropriate fire, 
police, and other public officials to plan how 
the operator and the officials can engage in 
mutual assistance to minimize hazards to life 
of property.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD failed to establish that mutual 
assistance agreements were required under 49 
C.F.R. § 192.615(c)(4); they are not. PG&E 
emergency response plans contained procedures for 
notifying and coordinating with appropriate fire, 
police, and other public officials of gas pipeline 
emergencies, as CPSD confirmed in two recent 
audits of PG&E’s emergency plans. Additionally, 
PG&E actively coordinated with first responders at 
the scene of the emergency. Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 
to 11-28 (PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-39 § 4.0 
(Emergency Response Plans); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 
to 10-5 & Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario); 
PG&E RB at 91-94, 96-98.
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38. PG&E’s slow and uncoordinated response to 
the explosion violates the requirement of 49 
CFR Part 192.615(a)(3) for an operator to 
respond promptly and effectively to an 
emergency.

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(3) relates to requirements for 
written emergency response procedures. Section 
192.615(a)(3) does not support a violation based on 
CPSD’s subjective judgment that PG&E’s response 
was “too slow” and “uncoordinated.” It imposes no 
standards by which to determine if an operator 
responded “promptly and effectively.” Even if a 
violation could be alleged in the manner CPSD 
proposes, CPSD fails to carry its burden of proof. 
PG&E’s emergency response was prompt and 
effective. Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 
(PG&E/Almario); PG&E OB at 106-09; PG&E RB 
at 101-03.

39. PG&E did not adequately receive, identify, 
and classify notices of the emergency, in 
violation of 49 CFR Part 192.615(a)(1)..

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(1) relates to requirements for 
written emergency response procedures. Section 
192.615(a)(1) does not support a violation based on 
CPSD’s subjective judgment that PG&E’s did not 
“adequately” process notices of the emergency.
Even if a violation could be alleged in the manner 
CPSD proposes, CPSD fails to carry its burden of 
proof. PG&E’s emergency response was prompt 
and effective. Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 
(PG&E/Almario); PG&E OB at 100-03, 106-09; 
PG&E RB at 101-03.
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40. PG&E did not provide for the proper
personnel, equipment, tools and materials at 
the scene of an emergency, in violation of 49 
CFR Part 192.615(a)(4).

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(4) relates to requirements for 
written emergency response procedures, not for the 
provision of certain materials and personnel at the 
scene of an emergency. Even if a violation could be 
alleged in the manner CPSD proposes, CPSD fails to 
carry its burden of proof demonstrating that PG&E 
failed to provide proper personnel, equipment, tools 
and materials at the scene of an emergency. PG&E 
personnel immediately responded to the event after 
becoming aware of it, including several off-duty 
personnel who took the initiative to respond. Ex. 
PG&E-40; Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 
(PG&E/Almario); R.T. 382-85 (PG&E/Almario); 
PG&E OB at 100-03, 106-11; PG&E RB at 101-02.

41. PG&E’s efforts to perform an emergency 
shutdown of its pipeline were inadequate to 
minimize hazards to life or property, in 
violation of 49 CFR Part 192.615(a)(6).

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(6) relates to requirements for 
written emergency response procedures. Section 
192.615(a)(6) does not support a violation based on 
CPSD’s subjective judgment that PG&E’s shutdown 
and pressure reduction efforts were “inadequate” to 
minimize hazards to life or property. Even if a 
violation could be alleged in the manner CPSD 
proposes, CPSD fails to carry its burden of proof. 
PG&E’s emergency response was adequate and its 
shutdown of the gas effective and reasonable under 
the circumstances. Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 
(PG&E/Almario); R.T. 415-16 (PG&E/Bull); R.T 
275-76 (PG&E/Almario); PG&E OB at 106-09; 
PG&E RB at 101-03.
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42. Rather than make safe any actual or potential 
hazards to life or property, PG&E’s response 
made the hazards worse, in violation of 49 
CFR Part 192.615(a)(7).

There is no support for the conclusion that PG&E’s 
emergency response “made the hazards worse.” 
PG&E responded immediately and resolved the 
situation effectively given the circumstances. 
Immediately shutting off the gas supply to the 
Peninsula actually would have “made the hazards 
worse.” Additionally, 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(7) 
relates to requirements for written emergency 
response procedures and does not support a violation 
as CPSD alleges. Even if a violation could be 
alleged in the manner proposed, CPSD fails to carry 
its burden of proof. PG&E worked to make safe 
hazards to life and property. Ex. PG&E-l at 9-9 to 
9-10 (PG&E/Miesner); Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11
28 (PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 
(PG&E/Almario); R.T. 415-16 (PG&E/Bull); R.T 
275-76 (PG&E/Almario); PG&E OB at 106-09; 
PG&E RB at 101-03.

43. PG&E’s failure to notify the appropriate first 
responders of an emergency and coordinate 
with them violated 49 CFR Part 
192.615(a)(8). It is clear that PG&E’s 
emergency plans were ineffective, and were 
not followed.

CPSD failed to establish that calling 911 was 
required under 49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(8); it is not. 
Even if a violation could be alleged in the manner 
CPSD proposes, CPSD fails to carry its burden of 
proof. PG&E’s emergency plans were effective and 
complied with regulations, as confirmed by CPSD’s 
prior audits. Fire and police personnel were on the 
scene before PG&E was notified of the incident. 
PG&E communicated, notified, and worked with 
emergency personnel at the scene of the incident.
Ex. PG&E-41 at 469; Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 & 
Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario); PG&E OB at 
109-11; PG&E RB at 91-94, 108-10. .
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44. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 192.605(c)(1) 
and (3) by failing to have an emergency 
manual that properly directed its employees 
to respond to and correct the cause of Line 
132’s decrease in pressure, and its 
malfunction which resulted in hazards to 
persons and property, and notify the 
responsible personnel when notice of an 
abnormal operation is received.

CPSD failed to meet its evidentiary burden to 
establish this violation. CPSD does not provide 
analysis or discussion of PG&E’s written response 
plan, nor does it attempt to tie any evidence to its 
allegations. PG&E had an appropriate response plan 
that complied with the regulations, as confirmed by 
CPSD’s prior audits, and PG&E responded 
according to it. Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10 & 
Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario); Ex. PG&E-l, 
Chapter 11 (PG&E/Bull); PG&E RB at 91-94, 108-
10.

45. PG&E failed to establish and maintain 
adequate means of communication with the 
appropriate fire, police and other public 
officials, in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.615(a)(2).

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(2) relates to requirements for 
written emergency response procedures. Section 
192.615(a)(2) does not support a violation based on 
CPSD’s subjective, undefined standard regarding the 
“adequacy” of PG&E’s means of communication 
with fire, police and other public officials. Even if a 
violation could be alleged in the manner CPSD 
proposes, CPSD fails to carry its burden of proof. 
PG&E coordinated and communicated with 
emergency personnel at the scene of the incident.
San Bruno’s Fire Chief said that PG&E’s 
coordination was “great. They had liaisons 
established and worked it out.” Ex. PG&E-41 at 
469; Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 (PG&E/Bull); 
Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 (PG&E/Almario); 
PG&E OB at 109-11; PG&E RB at 108-10.

46. PG&E failed to protect “people first and then 
property”, in violation of 49 CRF Part 
192.615(a)(5).

49 C.F.R. § 192.615(a)(5) relates to requirements for 
written emergency response procedures. Even if a 
violation could be alleged in the manner CPSD 
proposes, CPSD fails to carry its burden of proof. 
PG&E worked to protect people first and then 
property. Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 
(PG&E/Almario); PG&E OB at 106-11; PG&E RB 
at 108-10.
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47. PG&E failed to establish and maintain a 
liaison with fire, police, and others to plan 
how to engage in mutual assistance to 
minimize hazards to life and property, in 
violation of 49 CFR Part 192.615(c)(4).

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD failed to establish that mutual 
assistance agreements were required under 49 
C.F.R. § 192.615(c)(4); they are not. Even if a 
violation could be alleged in the manner CPSD 
proposes, CPSD fails to carry its burden of proof. 
PG&E’s plans satisfied 192.615(c)(4) and PG&E 
did plan and coordinate with fire and police officials 
at the scene of the incident. San Bruno’s Fire Chief 
said that PG&E’s coordination was “great. They 
had liaisons established and worked it out.” Ex. 
PG&E-41 at 469; Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 
(PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 
(PG&E/Almario); PG&E OB at 109-11; PG&E RB 
at 97-98.

48. PG&E’s inadequate training resulted in a 
slow and ineffective recognition of the 
incident, in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.615(a)(3).

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD failed to establish that the 
training it focuses on was required under 49 C.F.R.
§ 192.615(a)(3). Section 192.615(a)(3) does not 
support a violation based on CPSD’s subjective, 
undefined standard regarding “inadequate,” “slow,” 
and “ineffective” recognition of the incident. Even 
if a violation could be alleged in the manner CPSD 
proposes, CPSD fails to carry its burden of proof. 
Ex. PG&E-l at 11-25 to 11-28 (PG&E/Bull); Ex. 
PG&E-l at 10-1 to 10-5 (PG&E/Almario); R.T. 
415-16 (PG&E/Bull); R.T 275-76 (PG&E/Almario); 
PG&E RB at 110-12.

49. PG&E failed to train the appropriate 
operating personnel to assure they are 
knowledgeable about procedures and verify 
that the training is effective, in violation of 
49 CFR Part 192.615(b)(2).

CPSD failed to meet its evidentiary burden to 
establish this violation. CPSD submitted no 
competent evidence regarding PG&E’s training. 
PG&E trained its personnel about emergency 
response procedures and verified that the training 
was effective, as confirmed in CPSD’s prior audits. 
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 11 (PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E- 
1, Chapter 10, Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario); 
PG&E RB at 91-94, 110-12.
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50. PG&E failed to train its employees and 
determine whether procedures were 
effectively followed in emergencies, in 
violation of 49 CFR Part 192.615(b)(3).

CPSD failed to meet its evidentiary burden to 
establish this violation. CPSD submitted no 
competent evidence regarding PG&E’s training. 
PG&E trained its personnel about emergency 
response procedures and verified that the training 
was effective, as confirmed in CPSD’s prior audits. 
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 11 (PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E- 
1, Chapter 10, Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario); 
PG&E RB at 91-94, 110-12.

51. PG&E failed to periodically review its 
emergency response by its personnel to 
determine the effectiveness of the 
procedures, in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.605(c)(4).

CPSD does not support this conclusion with any 
evidence. The cited requirement relates to for 
written procedures. PG&E’s relevant written 
procedures complied with regulatory requirements 
as verified in CPSD’s prior audits of PG&E’s 
emergency plans. CPSD failed to meet its 
evidentiary burden to establish this violation. Ex. 
PG&E-l, Chapter 11 (PG&E/Bull); Ex. PG&E-l, 
Chapter 10, Appendices A & B (PG&E/Almario); 
PG&E RB at 91-94, 108-10.

52. PG&E did not educate the public and 
governmental organizations as to hazards 
associated with unintended releases on a gas 
pipeline and steps that should be taken for 
public safety in the event of a gas pipeline 
release, in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.616(d).

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. CPSD acknowledged in its January 12, 
2012 Report PG&E’s actions to comply with this 
regulatory provision, and CPSD’s prior audits 
confirmed PG&E’s compliance. CPSD failed to 
meet its evidentiary burden to establish this 
violation. Ex. CPSD-1 at 123-24 (CPSD/Stepanian); 
Ex. PG&E-l, Chapter 10, Appendices A & B 
(PG&E/Almario); PG&E RB at 91-94, 110-12.

53. PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 199.225(a), by 
failing to perform alcohol tests on the 
employees involved within 2 hours of the 
incident, and failing to record the reasons for 
not administering the test in a timely fashion.

Not disputed.
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54. By failing to test any of the PG&E Gas 
Control staff, PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 
199.225(a) and 49 CFR Part 199.105(b), 
which requires drug and alcohol testing of all 
personnel whose performance cannot be 
completely discounted as a contributing 
factor.

CPSD failed to meet its evidentiary burden to 
establish this violation. CPSD submitted no 
competent evidence demonstrating that PG&E was 
required to “test any of the PG&E Gas Control staff’ 
on September 9, 2010 CPSD does not address the 
issue in its January 12, 2012 report or its August 20, 
2012 rebuttal testimony. Ex. CPSD-1 
(CPSD/Stepanian); Ex. CPSD-5 (CPSD/Stepanian); 
PG&E RB at 112-13.

Safety Culture

55. PG&E created an unreasonably unsafe 
system in violation of Public Utilities Code 
Section 451, by continuously cutting its 
safety-related budgets for its GT&S and, 
therefore, causing the following: 1) a 
reduction in the replacement of PG&E’s 
aging transmission pipeline by spending 
significantly less than the Commission had 
authorized through its approved funding of 
its GPRP and ending the transmission 
replacement part of its GPRP prematurely 
well before its original goal; 2) not seeking 
sufficient funds for its O&M, and then 
spending less than the amount it sought from 
the Commission, including using less 
effective and lower cost integrity 
management methods, such as ECDA over 
ILI; and 3) reducing its safety-related 
workforce. During the same time period, 
PG&E provided bonuses or “incentives” to 
management and employees, claimed that 
cost savings would accrue to the 
shareholders, paid quarterly cash dividends 
to shareholders from retained earnings, 
repurchased stock from PG&E Corporation 
or from a PG&E subsidiary, expended funds 
to enhance public perception of PG&E, and 
expended money to affect ballot initiatives.

The record evidence does not support this 
conclusion. Public Utilities Code Section 451 
cannot serve as an independent source of safety 
violations in this proceeding. CPSD did not meet its 
evidentiary burden to establish this alleged violation. 
See PG&E OB at 114-47; PG&E RB at 113-159
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Disallowance for Errors and Omissions

The hearsay testimony of PG&E’s 
integrity management witness should be 
given very little weight to the extent they 
were testifying to PG&E practices that 
they did not observe.

1. DRA’s hearsay objection is unfounded. A 
substantial portion of the evidence on which DRA, 
CPSD and the other Intervenors rely constitutes 
hearsay, including the NTSB Report and the IRP 
Report.

Section 463 of the California Public 
Utilities Code requires the Commission 
to disallow direct and indirect expenses 
related to the unreasonable errors or 
omissions of a utility costing more than 
$50 million.

2. Disallowance of expenses is not a proper subject 
matter in this enforcement proceeding. 
“Reasonableness” or “prudence” determinations 
made in this proceeding would unlawfully shift the 
burden of proof onto PG&E. Potential fines, 
penalties and other remedies are the topic of separate 
briefing as ordered by the Commission.

The Commission has relied upon § 463 
and its general ratemaking authority on 
many occasions to disallow costs 
resulting from unreasonable utility errors 
and omissions, and should do so here.

3. Disallowance of expenses is not a proper subject 
matter in this enforcement proceeding. 
“Reasonableness” or “prudence” determinations 
made in this proceeding would unlawfully shift the 
burden of proof onto PG&E. Potential fines, 
penalties and other remedies are the topic of separate 
briefing as ordered by the Commission.

While ratemaking issues are not usually 
taken up in an Oil, D.12-12-030, which 
addressed the ratemaking treatment for 
PG&E’s post-San Bruno remediation 
plan, invited consideration of such issues 
here.

4. Ratemaking determinations are not proper in this 
proceeding. Evidence necessary to make such 
determinations has not been offered or received. 
There is no evidentiary basis for such 
determinations.

D. 12-12-030 expressly provided for the 
possibility of refunds based on 
ratemaking adjustments adopted in this 
proceeding.

5. Commission determinations in D. 12-12-030 are the 
proper subject for that proceeding. There is no 
evidentiary basis for such determinations in this 
enforcement proceeding.

PG&E objects to each alleged violation Intervenors assert. As demonstrated in PG&E’s Reply Brief, only CPSD 
can lawfully alleged violations against PG&E in an enforcement proceeding; Intervenors have no authority to do so. 
PG&E RB, Section VI.
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To the extent the parties to this 
proceeding have shown that PG&E has 
committed errors or omissions costing 
more than $50 million, all direct and 
indirect remediation costs should be 
disallowed.

6. Commission determinations in D. 12-12-030 are the 
proper subject for that proceeding. There is no 
evidentiary basis for such determinations in this 
enforcement proceeding.

Pursuant to D. 12-12-030 and sections 
451 and 463, the Commission should 
order disallowances for PG&E’s errors 
and omissions in this proceeding.

7. Disallowance of expenses is not a proper subject 
matter in this enforcement proceeding. Potential 
fines, penalties and other remedies are the topic of 
separate briefing as ordered by the Commission. 
See PG&E RB at 5.

Adoption of an Independent Third Party Monitor

The various reports on the San Bruno 
explosion identify several contributing 
factors to the San Bruno explosion, 
which, when viewed holistically, 
demonstrate that PG&E’s inattention to 
safety is pervasive and goes back over 50

8. The Commission has ordered separate briefing on 
fines, penalties and other remedies. The issue of an 
independent third party monitor should be addressed 
in that briefing, and is not an appropriate subject 
matter in briefing related to violations.

years.
In light of this history, it is unrealistic to 
expect PG&E to change its culture 
successfully overnight.

9. The Commission has ordered separate briefing on 
fines, penalties and other remedies. The issue of an 
independent third party monitor should be addressed 
in that briefing, and is not an appropriate subject 
matter in briefing related to violations.

In light of PG&E’s historical lack of a 
safety culture, including failure to 
embody quality assurance practices, there 
is a need for ongoing “hands on” 
oversight of PG&E’s work testing and 
replacing its gas transmission system, and 
updating its records with accurate 
information.

10. The Commission has ordered separate briefing on 
fines, penalties and other remedies. The issue of an 
independent third party monitor should be addressed 
in that briefing, and is not an appropriate subject 
matter in briefing related to violations.

The Commission, as well as PG&E, must 
confront and change elements of their 
respective cultures to assure the citizens 
of California that public safety is the 
foremost priority.

11. The Commission has ordered separate briefing on 
fines, penalties and other remedies. The issue of an 
independent third party monitor should be addressed 
in that briefing, and is not an appropriate subject 
matter in briefing related to violations.
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The Commission, with the help of 
independent third parties, should adopt a 
qualitatively different type of oversight 
of PG&E at every level.

12. The Commission has ordered separate briefing on 
fines, penalties and other remedies. The issue of an 
independent third party monitor should be addressed 
in that briefing, and is not an appropriate subject 
matter in briefing related to violations.

To restore public confidence in the 
Commission’s ability to supervise 
PG&E, and to provide the expertise 
necessary to ensure that PG&E’s work is 
implemented in a timely and competent 
manner, the Commission should establish 
an oversight process that employs 
independent monitors to actively monitor 
PG&E’s remedial work and who report 
publicly on their findings until the 
Commission has found that PG&E has

13. The Commission has ordered separate briefing on 
fines, penalties and other remedies. The issue of an 
independent third party monitor should be addressed 
in that briefing, and is not an appropriate subject 
matter in briefing related to violations.

fully complied with its orders regarding 
testing, replacement, and database 
upgrades relative to its gas transmission 
system.__________________________
The Commission should maintain this14. The Commission has ordered separate briefing on 

fines, penalties and other remedies. The issue of an 
independent third party monitor should be addressed 
in that briefing, and is not an appropriate subject 
matter in briefing related to violations.

stepped-up oversight until PG&E has 
demonstrated that it can operate its gas 
transmission system safely.

To establish an independent monitor 
process, the decision in this matter should 
direct the parties to meet and confer and, 
if possible, file joint comments proposing 
an independent monitor process 
acceptable to the majority of them. At a 
minimum, the decision should require the 
parties’ joint proposal to include these 
elements:

a. A hiring process for the 
independent monitors that ensures 
their independence, to the extent 
practicable;

b. PG&E will hire and pay for the 
independent monitors;

c. The independent monitors will

15. The Commission has ordered separate briefing on 
fines, penalties and other remedies. The issue of an 
independent third party monitor should be addressed 
in that briefing, and is not an appropriate subject 
matter in briefing related to violations.
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conduct and present all analyses 
and recommendations 
independently of any suggestions 
or conclusions of PG&E, the 
Commission, or other interested 
parties;

d. Quarterly public reporting by the 
independent monitors to a joint 
meeting of PG&E, the 
Commission, and other interested 
parties;

e. The independent monitors will 
notify PG&E, the Commission, 
and other interested parties in 
writing within 10 days of 
discovery of any potential non
compliance with the requirements 
of the PSEP or presents a 
potential, but not immediate, 
threat to public safety;

f. The independent monitors will 
notify PG&E, the Commission, 
and interested parties in writing 
within 24 hours of any condition 
that poses a potential and 
immediate threat to public safety;
and

g. PG&E’s contracts with 
independent monitors shall 
prohibit an independent monitor 
from seeking work from PG&E 
while performing the duties of an 
independent monitor._________
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1. Emergency Response

PG&E’s failure to create and follow good 
emergency plans created an unreasonably 
unsafe system in violation of Public 
Utilities Code Section 451.

1. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB, Section VI. This is not a “conclusion” 
of law but an alleged violation.

The inconsistencies between corporate 
and divisional level Emergency Plans 
violate the legal requirement in 49 CFR 
Part 192.615(a)(3) for a “prompt and 
effective response” to an emergency 
notice.

2. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

By failing to create an assistance 
agreement for notifying and coordinating 
with appropriate fire, police, and other 
public officials of gas pipeline 
emergencies, PG&E violated 49 CFR 
Part 192.615(a)(8).

3. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

By failing to have mutual assistance 
agreements with local first responders, 
PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 
192.615(c)(4), which requires operators 
to establish and maintain liaisons with 
appropriate fire, police, and other public 
officials to plan how the operator and the 
officials can engage in mutual assistance 
to minimize hazards to life of property.

4. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

2 PG&E objects to each alleged violation Intervenors assert. As demonstrated in PG&E’s Reply Brief, only CPSD 
can lawfully alleged violations against PG&E in an enforcement proceeding; Intervenors have no authority to do so. 
PG&E RB at 159-65
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PG&E’s slow and uncoordinated 
response to the explosion violates the 
requirement of 49 CFR Part 
192.615(a)(3) for an operator to respond 
promptly and effectively to an 
emergency.

5. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E did not adequately receive, 
identify, and classify notices of the 
emergency, in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.615(a)(1).

6. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E did not provide for the proper 
personnel, equipment, tools and materials 
at the scene of an emergency, in violation 
of 49 CFR Part 192.615(a)(4).

7. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E’s efforts to perform an emergency 
shutdown of its pipeline were inadequate 
to minimize hazards to life or property, in 
violation of 49 CFR Part 192.615(a)(6).

8. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

Rather than make safe any actual or 
potential hazards to life or property, 
PG&E’s response made the hazards 
worse, in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.615(a)(7).

9. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.
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PG&E’s ResponseSan Bruno Proposed Conclusion of Law

PG&E’s failure to notify the appropriate 
first responders of an emergency and 
coordinate with them violated 49 CFR 
Part 192.615(a)(8). It is clear that 
PG&E’s emergency plans were 
ineffective, and were not followed.

10. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E violated 49 CFR Part 
192.605(c)(1) and (3) by failing to have 
an emergency manual that properly 
directed its employees to respond to and 
correct the cause of Line 132’s decrease

11. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

in pressure, and its malfunction which 
resulted in hazards to persons and 
property, and notify the responsible 
personnel when notice of an abnormal 
operation is received._____________
PG&E failed to establish and maintain12. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 

those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

adequate means of communication with 
the appropriate fire, police and other 
public officials, in violation of 49 CFR 
Part 192.615(a)(2).

PG&E failed to protect “people first and 
then property”, in violation of 49 CRF 
Part 192.615(a)(5).

13. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E failed to establish and maintain a 
liaison with fire, police, and others to 
plan how to engage in mutual assistance 
to minimize hazards to life and property, 
in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.615(c)(4).

14. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

D-30

SB GT&S 0486835



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX D
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

PG&E’s ResponseSan Bruno Proposed Conclusion of Law

PG&E’s inadequate training resulted in a 
slow and ineffective recognition of the 
incident, in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.615(a)(3).

15. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E failed to train the appropriate 
operating personnel to assure they are 
knowledgeable about procedures and 
verify that the training is effective, in 
violation of 49 CFR Part 192.615(b)(2).

16. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E failed to train its employees and 
determine whether procedures were 
effectively followed in emergencies, in 
violation of 49 CFR Part 192.615(b)(3).

17. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E failed to periodically review its 
emergency response by its personnel to 
determine the effectiveness of the 
procedures, in violation of 49 CFR Part 
192.605(c)(4).

18. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.

PG&E did not educate the public and 
governmental organizations as to hazards 
associated with unintended releases on a 
gas pipeline and steps that should be 
taken for public safety in the event of a 
gas pipeline release, in violation of 49 
CFR Part 192.616(d).

19. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB, at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.
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II. Safety Culture

PG&E created an unreasonably unsafe 
system in violation of Public Utilities 
Code section 451, by continuously 
cutting its safety-related budgets for its 
GT&S and, therefore, causing the 
following: Impending less than the 
Commission authorized to replace 
PG&E’s aging transmission pipeline 
through its GPRP and ending the 
transmission replacement part of its 
GPRP prematurely well before its 
original goal, 2)choosing lower cost 
integrity management methods such as 
ECDA over ILI, and 3) reducing its 
safety-related workforce. During the 
same time period, PG&E provided 
bonuses or “incentives” to management 
and employees, paid quarterly cash 
dividends to shareholders from retained 
earnings, repurchased stock from PG&E 
Corporation or from a PG&E subsidiary, 
expended funds to enhance public 
perception of PG&E, and expended 
money to affect ballot initiatives.______

20. This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of 
those asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the 
proposed conclusion has not been established. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized 
to allege violations of law against PG&E. See 
PG&E RB at 159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of 
law but an alleged violation.
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CCSF Proposed Conclusions of Law3

PG&E’s ResponseCCSF Proposed Conclusion of Law

Under the Integrity Management 
rules, PG&E must have 
documented proof that an 
operator meets all the 
requirements of TIMP, including 
data collection, review and 
analysis. 49 CFR § 192.917

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. An 
operator must maintain certain records demonstrating 
compliance with the integrity management rules. These 
records include a written integrity management program, 
documents supporting threat identification and risk 
assessment, a baseline assessment plan, and documents 
supporting decisions, analyses, and processes developed 
and used to implement the baseline assessment plan and 
integrity management program. 49 C.F.R. § 192.947.

1.

Record keeping is essential to this 
process because operators must 
both consider all available 
information about the pipeline, 
and document each of step of its 
decision making process. 49 CFR 
192.917(b).

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. An 
operator must gather and consider the data specified in 
ASME B31.8S, Appendix A, as specified in 49 C.F.R. § 
192.917(b). PG&E OB at 61-62.

2.

The TIMP regulations require 
operators to collect and integrate 
all relevant data. Specifically, 
operators must “consider both on 
the covered segment and similar 
non-covered segments, past 
incident history, corrosion control 
records, continuing surveillance 
records, patrolling records, 
maintenance history, internal 
inspection records and all other 
conditions specific to each 
pipeline.” 49 CFR 192.917(b).

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 
TIMP regulations require that “At a minimum, an operator 
must gather and evaluate the set of data specified in 
Appendix A to ASME/ANSI B31.8S, and consider both on 
the covered segment and similar non-covered segments, 
past incident history, corrosion control records, continuing 
surveillance records, patrolling records, maintenance 
history, internal inspection records and all other conditions 
specific to each pipeline.” 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(b) (italics 
added).

3.

3 PG&E objects to each alleged violation Intervenors assert. As demonstrated in PG&E’s Reply Brief, only CPSD 
can lawfully alleged violations against PG&E in an enforcement proceeding; Intervenors have no authority to do so. 
PG&E RB, Section VI.
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Under ASME B.31.8S section 
2.3.2, PG&E should have 
reviewed all information 
necessary to understand the 
condition of the pipe, identify the 
location-specific threats to its 
integrity, and understand the 
public, environmental, and 
operational consequences of an 
incident. Relevant information to 
consider include the operation, 
maintenance, patrolling, design, 
operating history, and specific 
failures and concerns unique to 
each system and segment.

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 
PG&E agrees that TIMP regulations require the collection 
of relevant data. As 49 C.F.R § 192.917(b) states, “At a 
minimum, an operator must gather and evaluate the set of 
data specified in Appendix A to ASME/ANSI B31.8S, and 
consider both on the covered segment and similar non- 
covered segments, past incident history, corrosion control 
records, continuing surveillance records, patrolling records, 
maintenance history, internal inspection records and all 
other conditions specific to each pipeline.”

4.

Under ASME B.31.8S § 4.4, 
earlier data is relevant to stable 
and time independent threats 
(such as manufacturing and 
construction defects), and should 
be included as part of an 
operator’s data collection, review 
and analysis.

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 
ASME B31.8S, Appendix A identifies each data element 
required to be gathered for each particular threat category, 
including manufacturing and construction threats. PG&E 
OB at 61-62.

5.

PG&E failed to collect and 
analyze relevant data, failed to 
use conservative assumptions 
when it lacked pertinent data, 
underestimated the potential 
threat posed by manufacturing 
and construction defects and 
failed to appreciate the effect of 
cyclic fatigue and interactive 
threats on those pipeline threats. 
49 CFR 192.917(b).

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 
PG&E adequately gathered the data elements required by 
the integrity management regulations and ASME B31.8S. 
PG&E’s threat identification procedures, including 
manufacturing threat analysis and cyclic fatigue 
evaluation, satisfied regulatory requirements. PG&E OB 
at 58-85.

6.
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Based on available inspection and 
weld memoranda, PG&E should 
have known that certain segments 
of Line 132 originally installed in 
1948 probably contain seam weld 
defects and that one such segment 
had even experienced seam 
failure. 49 CFR 192.917(b).

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 
Rather, the evidence shows that the pipe used in the 1948 
construction of Line 132 was subjected to a 90% SMYS 
mill hydrotest. Such testing ensures that any imperfections 
in the pipe, including those in the longitudinal seam, will 
not grow to failure during the life of the pipeline. The 
pinhole leak identified on Line 132 in 1988 does not 
constitute evidence of a manufacturing threat, and is not a 
seam failure. PG&E OB at 82-85.

7.

Under the TIMP regulations, an 
operator must identify of all 
potential threats to covered 
pipeline segments; select a proper 
assessment method to ensure the 
integrity of the line pipe, 
including explain why the 
assessment method was selected; 
and provide a schedule for 
completing the assessments. 49 
CFR § 192.919.

Not disputed.8.

PG&E failed to select proper 
assessment technologies to assess 
all potential threats in its system. 
49 CFR 192.919(a).

The record evidence does not establish this proposed 
conclusion. Rather, the evidence shows that, based on the 
information known and available, PG&E selected 
appropriate integrity management assessment methods for 
potential threats in its gas transmission system, including 
Line 132 and Segment 180. PG&E OB at 81-93.

9.
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PG&E should have reviewed its 
records for other similar pipe 
segments installed at 
approximately the same time to 
determine the extent of the quality 
control issue. 49 CFR 
192.917(b).

This proposed conclusion does not specify to which pipe 
segment it is referring.

10.

The record evidence does not support this conclusion with 
regard to pipe installed on Line 132. Rather, the evidence 
shows that the pipe used in the 1948 construction of Line 
132 was subjected to a 90% SMYS mill hydrotest. Such 
testing ensures that any imperfections in the pipe, 
including those in the longitudinal seam, will not grow to 
failure during the life of the pipeline. PG&E RB, Section 
V.B.2.a.(i). The pinhole leak identified on Line 132 in 
1988 does not constitute evidence of a manufacturing 
threat, and is not a seam failure. PG&E RB, Section 
V.B.2.a.(v). CCSF has failed to produce any evidence of 
any structural integrity concerns relating to the pipe used to 
construct Line 132 in 1948, and later used in the 
construction of Segment 180. PG&E OB at 82-85.

PG&E’s failure to consider these 
reports demonstrates that PG&E 
did not perform the proper data 
gathering and integration 
required. 49 CFR 192.917(b).

This conclusion does not specify to which reports it is 
referring.

11.

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 
Rather, the evidence shows that the pipe used in the 1948 
construction of Line 132 was subjected to a 90% SMYS 
mill hydrotest. Such testing ensures that any imperfections 
in the pipe, including those in the longitudinal seam, will 
not grow to failure during the life of the pipeline. The 
pinhole leak identified on Line 132 in 1988 does not 
constitute evidence of a manufacturing threat, and is not a 
seam failure. CCSF has failed to produce any evidence of 
any structural integrity concerns relating to the pipe used to 
construct Line 132 in 1948, and later used in the 
construction of Segment 180. PG&E OB at 82-85. With 
regard to the four weld anomaly reports discussed in 
Exhibits 5-8 to Ex. CCSF-1, PG&E’s integrity 
management properly identified, evaluated, and addressed 
the potential manufacturing and construction defects 
present on the pipelines in the reports. PG&E RB at 56-58.
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PG&E should have documented 
how it evaluated and took 
conservative steps to address the 
fact that these reports suggest that 
defects may also be present on 
similar of pipe vintages. ASME 
B.31.8S section 12.1.

This conclusion does not specify to which reports it is 
referring.

12.

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 
Rather, the evidence shows that the pipe used in the 1948 
construction of Line 132 was subjected to a 90% SMYS 
mill hydrotest. Such testing ensures that any imperfections 
in the pipe, including those in the longitudinal seam, will 
not grow to failure during the life of the pipeline. The 
pinhole leak identified on Line 132 in 1988 does not 
constitute evidence of a manufacturing threat, and is not a 
seam failure. CCSF has failed to produce any evidence of 
any structural integrity concerns relating to the pipe used to 
construct Line 132 in 1948, and later used in the 
construction of Segment 180. PG&E OB at 82-85. With 
regards to the four weld anomaly reports discussed in 
Exhibits 5-8 to Ex. CCSF-1, PG&E’s integrity 
management properly identified, evaluated, and addressed 
the potential manufacturing and construction defects 
present on the pipelines in the reports. PG&E RB at 56-58.

PG&E rendered segments with 
manufacturing defects on Lines 
101 and 109 in San Francisco 
unstable by exceeding the five- 
year MOP of Line 101 and the 
MAOP of Line 109. Asa result, 
these segments should have been 
prioritized for a hydrostatic 
pressure test and in-line 
inspection assessment. 49 CFR 
192.917(e)(3) and (e)(4).

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 49 
C.F.R. § 192.917(e) (including (e)(3) and (e)(4)) was not 
published or in force in 2003, therefore PG&E could not 
violate this regulation during the 2003 planned pressure 
increase. The 2008 pressure increase on Line 132 did not 
significantly exceed pipeline MAOP, and was only a 
transient excursion that did not constitute an operating 
pressure increase under 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e). PG&E 
OB at 89-91.

13.
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These pressure increases also 
exacerbated the threat of cyclic 
fatigue on these lines, and PG&E 
should have prioritized these 
segments for assessment. 49 CFR 
192.917(e)(2).

The record evidence does not support this conclusion.
The referenced pressure increases did not constitute 
operating pressure increases that would require the pipeline 
to be prioritized for assessment. As explained in the 
preamble to the integrity management regulations, 49 
C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3) was intended to address changed 
operating conditions, not transient excursions. See PG&E 
OB at 91. Even assuming a transient pressure excursion 
were relevant under 49 C.F.R. § 192.917(e)(3), the 
pressure increase cited by CPSD would not have triggered 
a priority assessment. As explained in Dr. Kiefner’s 2007 
DOT Report (at pages 17-21), an increase of such a small 
magnitude (less than 1 pound over MAOP on pipeline that 
has been mill tested to at least 1.25 times the pipeline 
MAOP) does not have the capability of rendering stable 
manufacturing threats on a long seam unstable. Ex.
PG&E-7 (Tab 4-21) at 17-21; R.T. 738-39 
(PG&E/Kiefner).

14.

Prior to September 9, 2010, 
PG&E failed to consider the 
threat of cyclic fatigue in its 
TIMP. 49 CFR 192.917(e)(2)

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. The 
integrity management regulations direct operators to 
“evaluate whether cyclic fatigue or other loading condition 
(including ground movement, suspension bridge condition) 
could lead to a failure of a deformation, including a dent or 
gouge, or other defect in the covered segment.” 49 C.F.R.
§ 192.917(e)(2) (emphasis added). See also PG&E OB at 
76-78. CPSD has introduced no evidence that supports its 
contention that the code “evaluation” requires a segment- 
by-segment analysis. By contrast, Dr. Kiefner (the 
unquestioned industry expert on cyclic fatigue) testified 
that prior to San Bruno many natural gas operators 
satisfied the regulation by referencing the prior industry 
research (and concluding that cyclic fatigue did not pose a 
significant threat to their pipelines) rather than conducting 
a detailed segment-by-segment assessment of their 
pipelines. Ex. PG&E-l at 6-7 (PG&E/Kiefner). The 
evidence establishes that PG&E undertook and 
documented just such an evaluation. Joint R.T. 1000-02 
(PG&E/Keas).

15.
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Prior to September 9, 2010, 
PG&E failed to consider the 
interactive nature of threats in its 
TIMP. 49 CFR 192.919(a).

The record evidence does not support this conclusion. 
Prior audits of PG&E’s integrity management threat 
identification process did not identify issues or potential 
issues relating to the identification of interactive threats. 
PG&E OB at 73-74.

16.

This proposed conclusion of law is duplicative of those 
asserted by CPSD. For the same reasons, the proposed 
conclusion has not been established. 49 C.F.R.
§ 192.615(a) requires certain written emergency 
procedures; it does not set forth a subjective standard for 
judging the “effectiveness” of an emergency response. 
See PG&E OB, Section V.E.; PG&E RB at 89-112. 
Additionally, intervening parties are not authorized to 
allege violations of law against PG&E. See PG&E RB at 
159-65. This is not a “conclusion” of law but an alleged 
violation.

PG&E’s emergency response was 
ineffective on the night of 
September 9, 2010. 49 CFR 
192.615(a).

17.
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Violations relating to PG&E’s fabrication and construction of Segment 180 on Line 132.

Violations Duration Reference PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

PU Code 451 - 
failure to safely 
construct 
segment 180

OIL p. 2, 
CPSD-Lp. 3. 
p. 162, pp. 15-

1956
09/09/2010

• CPSD alleged this violation in its 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X, 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108, however, to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E Reply Brief 
(RB), Section III.D.

23.

PU Code OIL p. 2, 
CPSD-Lp. 3. 
p. 162. pp. 15-

1956
09/09/2010

• This alleged violation is duplicative of 
the Section 451 violation alleged 
immediately above. There is no 
substantive difference between 
“failing] to safely construct segment 
180” and “installing pipe that did not 
meet industry standards” that can 
permit CPSD to allege these two 
distinct violations under Section 451.

451
installing 
pipe that did 
not meet 
industry 
standards

23.

PU Code 451 
- violation of 
ASME 
B31.1.8-1955 
(§810.1) by 
installing 
sections 
unsafe for 
operational 
conditions

CPSD-Lp. 3, 
p. 162. pp. 15-

1956
09/09/2010

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD did not allege a violation of 
ASME B31.1.8, Section 810.1 
anywhere in its January 12, 2012 
Report (Ex. CPSD-1) or in its 
August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony 
(Ex. CPSD-5).

23.
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References

Violations Duration Reference

• The cited references do not mention 
[ASA] B31.1.8-1955, Section 810.1. 
Section 810.1 is a general statement 
regarding “materials and equipment” in 
the nature of a preamble to Chapter 1 
of the ASA B31.1.8 standard. None of 
the cited references involve or relate to 
Section 810.1. The cited references 
also do not reference Section 451 in 
connection with Section 810.1.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition,
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 - 
violation of 
ASME 
B31.1.8-1955 
(§811.412(c)) 
by not
conducting a 
hydrostatic test

CPSD-Tn. 19; 
over 20
other references

1956
09/09/2010

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The cited reference in the NTSB 
Report (Ex. CPSD-9) is a general 
discussion of hydrotesting regulations, 
including that there were no such 
regulations when Segment 180 was 
constructed.

to the
failure to
hydro-test in
CPSD-1.
CPSD-9. 
pp. 33-34,

E-2

SB GT&S 0486846



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX E
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

• CPSD’s reference to CPSD-1, page 19, 
is a general statement of ASA B31.1.8 
provisions and a generic assertion that 
PG&E “failed to comply” with them.

• The cited discussion also does not 
reference Section 451 in connection 
with hydrotesting.

• CPSD’s blanket reference to “over 20 
other references to the failure to hydro
test in CPSD-1” provides no support 
for prior notice of this violation. In 
addition, it does not comply with the 
ALJ’s April 12th order, which stated:

For each alleged violation,
CPSD should provide in this 
column specific reference to 
where the Oil or one or more of 
its referenced documents 
provides PG&E with notice of 
the factual basis for the 
allegation. To the extent, if any, 
that no such reference can be 
identified for any particular 
alleged violation, CPSD should 
delete that alleged violation. 
(Emphasis added.)

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition,
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

E-3
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

PU Code CPSD-1. p. 4.
p. 162.
p. 19, CPSD-9.

1956
09/09/2010

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• PG&E was not put on notice of an 
alleged violation under ASME [ASA] 
B31.1.8-1955, Section 811.27 (A) for 
“failing to visually inspect segments.” 
CPSD referenced Section 811.27 in its 
January Report but without referencing 
Subpart A, relating to “Inspection.” In 
fact, CPSD referenced Section 811.27 
in the context of “welding,” not 
“inspection.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 162.

• CPSD further confused the situation by 
alleging a separate violation under 
Subpart E of Section 811.27. Ex. 
CPSD-1 at 21. Subpart E pertains to 
“weldability” - which is the topic 
CPSD connected to the initial assertion 
of Section 811.27. Ex. CPSD-1 at 
20-21, 162.

• The cited references also do not 
reference Section 451 in connection 
with Section 811.27(A) or 
“inspection.”

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning in 1956. 
In addition, CPSD’s use of Public 
Utilities Code Section 2108 to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack

451
violation
of ASME
B31.1.8-
1955
(§811.27
(A) by
failing to
visually
inspect
segments

p. 96,
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 
- violation of 
API 5 LX 
(§VI) by 
installing pups 
less than five

CPSD-Ln. 22.1956
09/09/2010

• CPSD alleged this violation in its 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition,
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to 
PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.

p. 162,
CPSD-9. p. 94,

feet

PU Code 451 
- violation of 
ASME 
B31.1.8-1955 
(§805.54) by 
installing 
segments that 
did not meet

CPSD-Ln. 7. 
p. 13,
pp. 19-20, p. 
22, pp. 64-65, 
p. 162, CPSD-

1956
09/09/2010

• CPSD alleged this violation in its 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition,
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission

9,
pp. 46-50,

the
appropriate 
minimum 
yield strength

E-5
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to 
PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 
- violation of 
ASME 
B31.1.8-1955 
(§811.27(G)) 
by assigning a 
yield strength 
above
24,000psi on 
a segment of 
unknown 
yield strength

CPSD-En. 31.1956
09/09/2010

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD did not allege a violation of 
ASME [ASA] B31.1.8, Section
811.27(G) anywhere in its January 12, 
2012 Report (Ex. CPSD-1) or in its 
August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony 
(Ex. CPSD-5). As noted above, CPSD 
alleged a violation of Section 811.27 
(without specifying a subpart) with 
respect to “welding.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 
162 (CPSD/Stepanian). The cited 
reference in the NTSB Report (Ex. 
CPSD-9) does not allege such a 
violation (nor could the NTSB allege a 
violation of law).

• CPSD’s references do not mention 
Section 811.27(G). They also do not 
reference Section 451 in connection 
with yield strength or unknown pipe 
specifications.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition, 
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission

p. 15, p. 19, 
CPSD-9. p. 61,
p. 108,

E-6
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 
- violation of 
ASME 
B31.1.8-1955 
(§811.27(E)) 
by using 
deficient 
welds

CPSD-l.p. 13, 
p. 19, pp. 20
21. p. 162,
CPSD-9. pp. 
41-43, pp. 95-

1956
09/09/2010

• CPSD alleged this violation in its 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).

• However, in its August 20, 2012 
rebuttal testimony, CPSD withdrew it. 
Ex. CPSD-5 at 7 (CPSD/Stepanian) 
(“CPSD withdraws this allegation.”).

• CPSD’s apparent attempt to reinstate 
this alleged violation with its opening 
brief is improper, and if allowed, 
would violate of PG&E’s 
constitutional due process rights.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition,
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

96.

PU Code CPSD-l.p. 13, 
p. 19, pp. 20
21. P. 162, 
CPSD-9. pp.

1956
09/09/2010

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”

451
violation 
of Section

E-7
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

1.7 of API 
Standard 
1104 (4th 
Ed 1956) 
by using 
deficient 
welds

Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD did not allege a violation of API 
1104 anywhere in its January 12, 2012 
Report (Ex. CPSD-1) or in its August 
20, 2012 rebuttal testimony (Ex. 
CPSD-5). The cited reference in the 
NTSB Report (Ex. CPSD-9) does not 
allege such a violation (nor could the 
NTSB allege a violation of law). The 
cited references also do not mention 
Section 451 in connection with API 
1104.

• Previously, CPSD asserted that the 
Segment 180 girth welds violated 
ASME [ASA] B31.1.8-1955, Section 
811.27(E) because they purportedly did 
not meet API 1104 standards. Ex. 
CPSD-1 at 21. CPSD referenced API 
1104 coupled with Section 811.27(E); 
as noted above, CPSD withdrew the 
Section 811.27(E) allegation in its 
rebuttal testimony. With its opening 
brief, CPSD has uncoupled API 1104 
from the withdrawn allegation, and 
identified API 1104, Section 1.7 for 
the first time as the basis for a stand
alone violation.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition,
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack

41-43. pp. 95-
96.

E-8
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 
- violation of 
ASME 
B31.1.8-1955 
(§811.27(C)) 
by using 
incomplete 
welds and 
failing to 
measure wall 
thickness

CPSD-EP.2E 
y. 7, y. 19, p. 
56, p. 6C p. 63,

1956
09/09/2010

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD did not allege a violation of 
ASME [ASA] B31.1.8, Section
811.27(C) anywhere in its January 12, 
2012 Report (Ex. CPSD-1) or in its 
August 20, 2012 rebuttal testimony 
(Ex. CPSD-5). The cited references in 
the NTSB Report (Ex. CPSD-9) do not 
allege such a violation (nor could the 
NTSB allege a violation of law).

• CPSD’s references do not mention 
Section 811.27(C). They also do not 
reference Section 451 in connection 
with Section 811.27(C) or incomplete 
welds and wall thickness.

• As discussed above, CPSD’s generic 
reference to Section 811.27 without 
specifying a subpart, and its reference 
to Section 811.27(E) for a 
“weldability” violation, created 
additional haziness around the 
violations CPSD was attempting to 
allege. Having never before alleged a 
violation based on Subpart C of 
Section 811.27, CPSD added to the 
haziness.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition, 
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission

CPSD-9. pp. 
27-28, m. 41
43, pp. 92-96,
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 
- failure to 
incorporate 
pups in 
calculating 
the design 
pressure and 
MAOP

CPSD-l.pp. 
22-24. p. 3. p.

1956
09/09/2010

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD did not allege a violation of 
Section 451 regarding MAOP and 
incorporation of the pups anywhere in 
its January 12, 2012 Report (Ex. 
CPSD-1) or in its August 20, 2012 
rebuttal testimony (Ex. CPSD-5). The 
cited references in the NTSB Report 
(Ex. CPSD-9) do not allege such a 
violation (nor could the NTSB allege a 
violation of Section 451).

• CPSD previously based this violation 
on ASA B31.1.8-1955, alleging that 
PG&E “did not follow ASA B31.1.8- 
1955 when it initially established the 
MAOP for the failed segment.” Ex. 
CPSD-1 at 23. With its opening brief, 
CPSD alleges for the first time a new 
factual and legal basis - a Section 451 
violation for “failure to incorporate 
pups in calculating the design pressure 
and MAOP.”

• None of CPSD’s cited references state 
this allegation; PG&E was not put on 
notice of this alleged violation prior to 
CPSD’s opening brief.

• This alleged violation is a duplicate of
the alleged violation discussed_______

162, CPSD-9.
p, 106,
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

immediately below; CPSD has 
reworded the same conduct to 
improperly allege a duplicative 
violation under Section 451.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition,
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 
- violation of 
ASME 
B31.1.8-1955 
(§845.22) 
failure to meet 
MAOP 
determination 
requirements 
due to 
incomplete 
knowledge

CPSD-l.pp. 
22-24, p. 3, p. 
162, CPSD-9,

1956
09/09/2010

• CPSD alleged this violation in its 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 162 (CPSD/Stepanian).

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1956. In addition,
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to

p. 106,

E-l 1
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.
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Violations relating to PG&E’s Integrity Management Program.

PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

08/19/1970
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.107(b)(2) 
- failure to 
assign a yield 
strength of 
24,000 psi 
when strength 
was unknown

CPSD-l.p. 31, 
CPSD-9. p. 61.

• This alleged violation was not asserted 
in CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD’s Report, quoting the NTSB 
Report (Ex. CPSD-9), asserts that 
PG&E used improper assumed SMYS 
values for two segments on Line 132. 
CPSD does not identify the segments 
in question, nor does the NTSB Report. 
Without notice of the identity of the 
two segments in question, PG&E could 
not present evidence supporting the use 
of assumed SMYS values to refute the 
violation. CPSD therefore failed to 
provide adequate notice of this 
violation.

• CPSD’s opening brief expands the 
scope of this alleged violation, stating 
that “By routinely using yield strength 
values above 24,000 psi, PG&E 
violated Part 192.107(b)(2).” CPSD 
OB at 41 (emphasis added). PG&E 
had no notice of the broader scope of 
this allegation. Neither the CPSD 
Report nor the NTSB Report allege 
additional uses of improper assumed 
SMYS values beyond two unspecified 
segments on Line 132.

• The references cited by CPSD do not
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1970. The integrity 
management regulations were effective 
on February 14, 2004. In addition, 
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing_____

p. 106, p. 108,
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violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.917(b)- 
failure to gather 
and integrate 
required pipeline 
data

CPSD-1, pd. 
26-30. p. 163, 
CPSD-9. p. 60, 
p. 69. p. 70. p.

• This allegation is asserted in CPSD’s 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 
162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian). CPSD 
alleges particular data gathering 
failings on pages 26-30 of its report:
(1) the failure to gather relevant leak 
data; (2) failure to use conservative 
default values; and (3) failure to 
consider known longitudinal seam 
cracks from the 1948 construction and 
the 1988 pinhole leak.

• The cited portions of the NTSB Report 
(Ex. CPSD-9) contain high-level 
descriptions of the data gathering 
process called for by federal 
regulations and ASME B31.8S, but do 
not allege specific failures by PG&E to 
meet these requirements. For example, 
page 70 contains a reference to 
PHMSA audit protocols and a 
quotation from a PHMSA deputy 
associate administrator stating that 
“every operator is expected to 
thoroughly understand their system[.]”

• CPSD has provided notice of three 
particular alleged failures identified 
above. CPSD has not provided notice 
to support any additional data 
gathering or integration failures.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation. The 
integrity management regulations were

85.
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effective on February 14, 2004. In 
addition, CPSD’s use of Public 
Utilities Code Section 2108 to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation other than with respect to the 
three alleged failures identified above. 
The remainder of the alleged violation 
should be stricken for lack of adequate 
notice to PG&E and failure to comply 
with the ALJ’s order.

08/19/1970
09/09/2010

49 CFR 192 
(incorporating 
ASME B31.1.8S

CPSD-Ln. 26. 
pp. 28-29. 
p. 55, CPSD-9. 
p. 107.
p. 110, p. 114,

• CPSD did not assert this allegation in 
its January Report, Section X “PG&E’s 
Violations of Applicable Laws and 
Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of anything more than broad, 
conclusory statements relating to the 
importance of data accuracy, or the 
general concern that PG&E’s GIS 
contained unspecified inaccurate data. 
CPSD has failed to provide notice 
regarding specific data accuracy 
violations.

• The general discussion in the CPSD 
Report contains broad statements 
relating to data accuracy, but does not 
identify particular data elements that 
CPSD claims are inaccurate. On page 
26, CPSD states “PG&E did not ensure 
that only conservative default values 
were chosen on Line 132, or that the 
data was sufficiently checked for 
accuracy. The failure to use 
conservative default values and 
adequately check the accuracy of the 
data is violation of ASME B31,8S, 
Section 5.7(e).” Pages 28-29 discuss 
data quality and accuracy at a high

[sic] (§5.7))
failure to check
for & verify 
accuracy of data
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level, stating that it is “of fundamental 
importance” but does not identify 
particular failures to meet the 
requirements of ASME B31,8S. Page 
55 discusses the importance of data 
verification relating to risk assessment 
(ranking segments for assessment), but 
does not identify particular data 
inaccuracies or violations.

• The NTSB Report (Ex. CPSD-9) 
similarly does not present particular 
findings relating to data accuracy.
Page 107 of the NTSB Report 
identifies the elements of an integrity 
management program at a high level, 
including “accurate, complete, and 
verifiable data.” Page 114 is a 
summary of the NTSB’s opinion, and 
includes one sentence relating to the 
accuracy of data in GIS. While the 
NTSB Report does identify class 
location errors in GIS (Ex. CPSD-9 at 
110), these were self-reported by 
PG&E in the Class Location Oil, and 
have been addressed in that 
proceeding.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning in 1970. The integrity 
management regulations were effective 
on February 14, 2004. In addition, 
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.
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12/15/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.917(a) 
(incorporating 
ASME B31.8S 
(§2.2)) - failure 
to analyze 
manufacture 
threat of weld 
defect

CPSD-I.pp.
33-36,
CPSD-9. p. 36-

• Based on the ALJ’s April 2, 2013 
ruling, and without waiving its position 
that due process limits the charges to 
those listed in Section X of CPSD’s 
January 12, 2012 report, PG&E 
acknowledges that CPSD generally 
described alleged facts related to this 
allegation in the body of its report.
This alleged violation overlaps with 
other, more specific alleged violations 
including the next two alleged 
violations in Revised Appendix C.

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation 
beginning on December 15, 2003. In 
addition, CPSD’s use of Public 
Utilities Code Section 2108 to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to 
PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.

39.

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.917(e)(3)- 
failure to 
consider DSAW 
as potentially 
subject to 
manufacturing 
defects

CPSD-I.pp. 
32-34, p. 41, 
pp. 46-47, p.

• Based on the ALJ’s April 2, 2013 
ruling, and without waiving its position 
that due process limits the charges to 
those listed in Section X of CPSD’s 
January 12, 2012 report, PG&E 
acknowledges that CPSD generally 
described alleged facts related to this 
allegation in the body of its report.

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation______

163.
CPSD-9. p. 36,
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beginning on December 15, 2003. In 
addition, CPSD’s use of Public 
Utilities Code Section 2108 to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to 
PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.

12/11/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.917 
(e), and 
192.917

CPSD-Enn. 
42-44, 
CPSD-9. pp. 
36-38,

• Based on the ALJ’s April 2, 2013 
ruling, and without waiving its position 
that due process limits the charges to 
those listed in Section X of CPSD’s 
January 12, 2012 report, PG&E 
acknowledges that CPSD generally 
described alleged facts related to this 
allegation in the body of its report.

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation 
beginning on December 11, 2003. In 
addition, CPSD’s use of Public 
Utilities Code Section 2108 to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to 
PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.

(e)(3)(i)
failure

to
consider
risks
after
operating 
above 
MOP of 
last five 
years
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12/11/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.917(e)(3) 
(i) - failure to 
consider risk 
unstable and 
prioritize 
assessment of 
risks after 
operating 
above MOP 
of last five 
years

CPSD-I.pp. 
42-44, 
CPSD-9. pp, 
36-38,

• This alleged violation is duplicative of 
the preceding allegation (as CPSD’s 
duplicative cited references confirm).

• As noted above, CPSD failed to 
provide constitutionally adequate 
notice of the alleged continuing 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.917(e)(2)- 
failure to 
consider and test 
for cyclic fatigue

CPSD-l.p. 38. 
pp. 50-54,
p. 26, p, 28, p,
36. p. 163, 
CPSD-9. p, 38,

• CPSD alleged this violation in its 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
12/15/2003. In addition, CPSD’s use 
of Public Utilities Code Section 2108 
to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and 
controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to 
PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.921(a)- 
failure to use and 
inspection 
method capable 
of finding seam 
issues

CPSD-I.pp. 
26-27. p, 47. 
p. 48. pp, 59
61. p. 134. 
p. 163,

• CPSD alleged this violation in its 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 162-63 (CPSD/Stepanian).

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references do not provide
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notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
12/15/2003. In addition, CPSD’s use 
of Public Utilities Code Section 2108 
to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and 
controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to 
PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.

12/11/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.917(e)(4)- 
failure to 
properly inspect 
or test after 
exceeding MOP 
on ERW pipe

CPSD-9. p. 36, • This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• This allegation is not asserted 
anywhere in CPSD’s January 12, 2012 
Report (Ex. CPSD-1) or the NTSB 
Report (Ex. CPSD-9), and is raised for 
the first time in CPSD’s opening brief.

• The NTSB Report (Ex. CPSD-9) 
cannot provide notice that CPSD is 
alleging a violation of law, nor can the 
NTSB allege violations of law. In 
addition, page 36 of the NTSB Report 
does not allege that PG&E failed to 
inspect or test after exceeding MOP on 
ERW pipe. Rather, the NTSB Report 
restated parts of 49 C.F.R. § 192.917, 
including sections (e)(3) and (e)(4). 
The discussion in the NTSB Report at 
pages 36-38 relates to 49 C.F.R.
§ 192.917(e)(3) only, and does not 
discuss ERW pipe.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning on 12/11/2003, In addition,

E-20

SB GT&S 0486864



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX E
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 192 
(incorporating 
ASME B31.8S

CPSD-l.pp. 
27-29. p. 31. 
pp. 56-57, 
CPSD-9.
pp. 60-61,

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• This alleged violation is not asserted 
anywhere in CPSD’s January 12, 2012 
Report (Ex. CPSD-1), and is raised for 
the first time in CPSD’s opening brief.

• The references cited do not make any 
allegation regarding PG&E’s purported 
failure to identify where and how 
unsubstantiated data was used in threat 
identification. The cited references 
consist primarily of recitations of 
statutory language or ASME guidance. 
To the extent the cited references 
include allegations specific to PG&E, 
those allegations relate to PG&E’s 
purported failure to use conservative 
values, purportedly erroneous 
information in PG&E’s GIS system 
and/or purported issues with PG&E’s 
risk algorithms.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning on 12/15/2003. In addition, 
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission

(§4-4))
failure to
identify where 
and how 
unsubstantiate 
d data was 
used in threat 
identification
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precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR
192.917(c)
(incorporating
ASME
B31.8S

CPSD-l.pp.
26-27,
pp. 32-25, pp. 
54-61, CPSD-9,

• Based on the ALJ’s April 2, 2013 
ruling, and without waiving its position 
that due process limits the charges to 
those listed in Section X of CPSD’s 
January 12, 2012 report, PG&E 
acknowledges that CPSD generally 
described this allegation in the body of 
its report.

• However, CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation 
beginning on December 15, 2003. In 
addition, CPSD’s use of Public 
Utilities Code Section 2108 to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of the alleged 
continuing violation. It should be 
stricken for lack of adequate notice to 
PG&E and failure to comply with the 
ALJ’s order.

p. 39, p. 162,
(§5-7))
failure to (1) 
consider
identified 
threats in risk 
assessment;
(2) consider 
past events on 
Line 132; and
(3) account
for
missing/questi 
onable data

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.917(c) 
(incorporating 
ASME B31.8S 
(§5)) - failure 
to use risk 
algorithms that: 
(1) properly 
weighed threats 
know via

CPSD-Lp. 37, • This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The references cited by CPSD discuss 
the subject matter but did not provide 
notice that CPSD intended to allege a

pp. 55-59,
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operating 
experience; (2) 
identified the 
proper potential 
impact radius;
(3) identified 
the proper 
Consequences of 
Failure formula;
(4) used 
conservative 
values for 
electrical 
interference; (5) 
considered one- 
call tickets; and 
(6) considered 
historic 
problems with 
pipe type

violation of law. See, e.g., Ex. CPSD-1 
at 58 (CPSD/Stepanian) (“Therefore, 
PG&E should consider adjusting the 
point formula for known versus 
unknown interference currents.” 
(emphasis added)). Thus, the 
referenced materials did not provide 
constitutionally adequate notice. See 
PG&E RB, Section III.C.

• CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening 
brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation 
beginning on December 15, 2003. In 
addition, CPSD’s use of Public 
Utilities Code Section 2108 to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 - 
violation of 
ASME B31.8S, 
Appendix A 
(§4.2) by failing 
to use
conservative 
data where data 
was missing

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

CPSD-1. p.26
p. 28.
pp. 30-32. p.

• Contrary to CPSD’s assertion (citing 
CPSD-1, p. 162), this alleged violation 
is not raised in CPSD’s January 12, 
2012 Report, Section X “PG&E’s 
Violation of Applicable Laws and 
Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• This alleged violation is duplicative of
CPSD’s allegation relating to use of 
assumed SMYS values greater than 
24,000 psig. E.g., Ex. CPSD-1 at 31 
(“However, as identified in the NTSB 
report on the San Bruno incident, there 
were multiple examples where PG&E 
did not use conservative assumptions. 
These examples include: (1) Three 
different values for the SMYS of Grade 
B steel were used - 35,000 psi_______

46,
pp. 55-56. p. 
58, p. 162, 
CPSD-9. pp. 
60-61,
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(consistent with the value given in 
ASME B31.1.8 1955 edition), 40,000 
psi, and 45,000 psi; and (2) Two 
segments with unknown SMYS were 
assigned non-conservative values of 
33,000 psi and 52,000 psi although Part 
192.107(b)(2) requires a conservative 
value of 24,000 psi when the exact 
SMYS of a pipe segment is not known 
or documented.”). The cited pages of 
the NTSB Report (Ex. CPSD-9) do not 
provide notice of any additional failure 
to substitute conservative assumptions 
for missing data.

• The references cited by CPSD do not 
provide notice of or support for a 
purported continuing violation 
beginning on 12/15/2003. In addition, 
CPSD’s use of Public Utilities Code 
Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 - 
failure to safely 
operate its 
system by its 
practice of 
pressure spiking 
every 5 years to 
avoid testing or 
inspecting

12/15/2003
09/09/2010

CPSD-l.p. 40, 
pp. 42-44, 
CPSD-9. pp. 
36-38,

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The references cited by CPSD discuss 
planned pressure increases but did not 
provide notice that CPSD intended to 
allege a violation of law. Thus, the 
referenced materials did not provide 
constitutionally adequate notice. See 
PG&E RB, Section III.C.

• CPSD did not allege this as a 
continuing violation until its opening

E-24

SB GT&S 0486868



REPLY BRIEF APPENDIX E
1.12-01-007 San Bruno Order Instituting Investigation

brief, and the references cited by CPSD 
do not provide notice of or support for 
a purported continuing violation 
beginning on December 15, 2003. In 
addition, CPSD’s use of Public 
Utilities Code Section 2108 to assert 
continuing violations is contrary to 
Commission precedent and controlling 
authority. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.
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Violations relating to PG&E’s SCADA system and the Milpitas Terminal.

Violations Duration Reference PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.13(c)- 
failure to follow 
internal work 
procedures

CPSD-l.p. 4. • CPSD alleged this violation in its 
January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violation of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 163 (CPSD/Stepanian).

• PG&E has previously acknowledged 
this violation of Section 192.13(c). See 
PG&E OB at 103.

p. 70.
pp.84-85. p, 
163, CPSD-9.
pp. 90-91,

PU Code 451 - 
failure to follow 
internal work 
procedures to the 
extent it created 
an unsafe 
condition

09/09/2010 CPSD-l.p. 4 
p. 70,
pp. 84-85. p.

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 pages 4, 70, 84-85 
and 163 do not state that CPSD is 
asserting a violation of Section 451, or 
that PG&E’s alleged conduct related to 
its work clearance constituted a 
violation of Section 451.

• CPSD-9 (NTSB Report) pages 90-91 
describe facts related to the clearance; 
the NTSB did not state that the 
described conduct violated Section 
451, nor could the NTSB assert a 
violation of Section 451.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

163.
CPSD-9. pp. 
90-9 L
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

09/09/201049 CFR
192.605(c)-
failure to
establish
procedures
for abnormal
conditions

OIL p. 2, 
CPSD-l.p. 4. 
p. 70. 84-85. p.

• CPSD asserted this alleged violation in 
its January 12, 2012 Report, Section X 
“PG&E’s Violations of Applicable 
Laws and Regulations.” Ex. CPSD-1 
at 163 (CPSD/Stepanian).

163.
CPSD-9. pp. 
90-91,

PU Code 451 
- failure to 
properly 
maintain the 
Milpitas 
Station

02/2010
09/09/2010

CPSD-1. pp. • This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1, pages 81-82, 91-92 
and 94-95 are factual descriptions of 
purported “deficiencies” related to 
Milpitas Terminal. No statement of an 
alleged violation is contained in those 
pages, and Section 451 is not 
mentioned. Describing deficiencies is 
not alleging a violation. See PG&E 
RB, Section III.C.

• CPSD-1, pages 98-99, lists 10 
“deficiencies” in a wide range of topics 
related to Milpitas Terminal and 
PG&E’s SCAD A system. CPSD 
concluded the list of “deficiencies” by 
stating:

“There are no specific 
requirements in the federal or 
state codes which address the 
above conditions. However,
PG&E allowed these 
deficiencies to exist and 
jeopardizes [sic] the safety of its 
system. PG&E is therefore in 
violation of Public Utilities 
Code Section 451.”

81-82.
pp91-92. pp.
94-95. 
pp. 98-99,
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

• In asserting this Section 451 violation 
in Revised Appendix C, CPSD selected 
one “deficiency” (No. 1 - conditions at 
Milpitas Terminal) from the 10 it 
described as the Section 451 violation. 
See CPSD OB, Appendix B, Proposed 
Conclusion of Law 32; CPSD OB, 
Revised Appendix C. What CPSD 
previously described as a Section 451 
violation based on 10 purported 
“deficiencies” transformed into a 
stand-alone violation when CPSD 
submitted its opening brief.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of a continuing violation 
purportedly beginning in February 
2010. CPSD claims conditions at 
Milpitas Terminal were “deficient” for 
decades and does not state how 
conditions became illegal in February 
2010. In addition, CPSD’s use of 
Public Utilities Code Section 2108 to 
assert continuing violations is contrary 
to Commission precedent and 
controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

PU Code 451 - 
failure to 
design a 
SCADA 
system without 
too many 
unnecessary 
alarms

OIL p. 2, 
CPSD-l.p. 4, 
pp. 70-72, pp. 
73-74, p. 92, p. 
96, p. 98, p. 99,

2005 • This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The cited references do not show that
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. Oil page 2 contains 
generalized statements regarding_____

09/09/2010
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

CPSD’s purported findings. It does not 
include a reference to Section 451 or 
any statement that PG&E’s SC AD A 
system violated that section. CPSD-1, 
page 4, broadly references an alleged 
violation of Section 451 “for allowing 
deficiencies to exist in its SCADA 
system which interfered with 
[PG&E’s] ability to detect and respond 
to the emergency.” CPSD does not 
specify that the alleged violation 
relates to “too many unnecessary 
alarms,” as it ultimately asserted in 
Revised Appendix C.

• CPSD-1, pages 70-72, 73-74, 92 and 
96 are factual descriptions of PG&E’s 
SCADA system or SCADA systems in 
general. CPSD does not assert an 
alleged violation in those pages, and 
Section 451 is not mentioned.

• CPSD-1, page 98, contains the first 
half of the 10 “deficiencies” CPSD 
listed regarding Milpitas Terminal and 
PG&E’s SCADA system. As it did for 
the Section 451 violation discussed 
immediately above, CPSD selected a 
single “deficiency” (No. 5 - “too many 
unnecessary alarms”) as the basis for 
this Section 451 violation. What 
CPSD previously described as a 
violation based on 10 purported 
“deficiencies” transformed into a 
stand-alone violation with CPSD’s 
opening brief.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of a continuing violation 
purportedly beginning in 2005. CPSD 
provides no basis for the 2005 
initiation date. In addition, CPSD’s 
use of Public Utilities Code Section 
2108 to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.
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Violations relating to PG&E’s Emergency Response.

Violations Duration Reference PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

PU Code 451 - 
failure to create 
and follow 
adequate 
emergency plans

08/31/2009
09/09/2010

OIL p. 2, 
CPSD-1. 
pp. 113-116. 
pp. 116-125,

• CPSD included PG&E’s purportedly 
ineffective emergency response as one 
among several identified actions that, 
together, allegedly constituted a 
Section 451 violation. Ex. CPSD-1 at 
162 (CPSD/Stepanian). However, 
CPSD did not assert this as a stand
alone violation in its January 12, 2012 
Report, Section X “PG&E’s Violations 
of Applicable Laws and Regulations.” 
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1, pages 113-116 and 
116-125, contains a high-level 
description of regulatory provisions 
related to emergency plans and 
PG&E’s actions during the emergency 
response. CPSD does not reference 
Section 451 in these pages, much less 
contend that the described actions 
violated Section 451.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
August 31, 2009. In addition, CPSD’s 
use of Public Utilities Code Section 
2108 to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and 
controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.
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PG&E’s Responses To CPSD’s
References

Violations Duration Reference

08/31/2009
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.615(a)(3)- 
failure to have a 
prompt and 
effective 
response due to 
inconsistent 
emergency plans

CPSD-10. p. 
76; CPSD-1. 
pp. 55-56. y. 
114(FN 221V

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-10, page 76, is the 
IRP report. The IRP report cannot 
serve as notice that CPSD is charging a 
legal violation. Additionally, the cited 
page discusses PG&E’s emergency 
response on the day of the incident but 
does not address purported inconsistent 
emergency plans. In fact, the cited 
page states that PG&E’s “[Emergency 
Response Plan] is comprehensive, 
embodies many current best practices, 
and is revised and tested on a frequent 
basis.” Ex. CPSD-10 at 76.

• The reference to CPSD-1, pages 55-56, 
addresses integrity management, not 
emergency plans or response; it is 
irrelevant to this alleged violation.

p. 117,
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• CPSD-1, page 114, footnote 221, is a 
generic reference to emergency plan 
training. The reference has no 
substantive content, and says nothing 
about CPSD charging a violation of 
law.

• The reference to CPSD-1, page 117, 
states that PG&E’s Emergency Plan 
consists of two parts but otherwise has 
no substantive content. The cited 
reference does not address inconsistent 
emergency plans or anything related to 
an alleged violation.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
August 31, 2009. In addition, CPSD’s 
use of Public Utilities Code Section 
2108 to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and 
controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

08/31/2009
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.615(a)(8)- 
failure to create 
a mutual 
assistance 
agreement with 
local first 
responders

CPSD-1. p. 114 • This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3”

(FN 221). pp, 
117-118; 
CPSD-9. 
pp. 55-56; 
CPSD-10. p.76.

CPSD
propounded DR
Legal Division
001-Q08 to 
obtain PG&E’s
Emergency 
Response Plan
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(ERP). which is subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1, page 114, footnote 
221, is a generic reference to training 
on PG&E’s emergency plan. The 
reference has no substantive content, 
and says nothing about CPSD charging 
a violation of law.

• CPSD-1, pages 117-18, do not mention 
mutual assistance agreements. Nor do 
they reference Section 192.615(a)(8).

• The reference to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, pp. 55-56), cannot serve as 
notice of CPSD charging a legal 
violation. Additionally, the cited pages 
reference a flowchart of PG&E’s 
emergency response procedures, and 
generally describe procedures 
regarding emergency contacts. The 
pages do not mention mutual assistance 
agreements.

• CPSD-10 (page 76) is the IRP report; 
as noted, it cannot serve as notice of 
CPSD charging a legal violation. 
Additionally, the cited page has 
nothing to do with mutual assistance 
agreements.

• CPSD’s reliance on a data request 
provides no support. Propounding a 
data request to obtain PG&E’s 
emergency plans provides no notice 
that CPSD is charging a legal violation 
of Section 192.615(a)(8). Nor can

hearing exhibit
CPSD-297.

Mutual
Assistance
Agreements are
discussed on F-
2,1 of PG&E’s
ERP.
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PG&E’s production of the emergency 
plan to CPSD provide notice that 
CPSD is charging a violation.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
August 31, 2009. In addition, CPSD’s 
use of Public Utilities Code Section 
2108 to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and 
controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

08/31/2009
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.615(c)(4)- 
failure to plan 
how to engage in 
mutual 
assistance

CPSD-l.p. 114 
(FN 221V pp. 
117-118; 
CPSD-9. 
pp. 55-56; 
CPSD-10. p.76.

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

CPSD
propounded DR 
Legal Division
001-008 to 
obtain PG&E’s
Emergency 
Response Plan 
(ERP). which is
hearing exhibit
CPSD-297.

Mutual
Assistance
Agreements are
discussed on F-
2,1 of PG&E’s
ERP.
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• These are the same supporting 
references as offered for the violation 
immediately above. For the same 
reasons, they provide no support for 
the conclusion that PG&E had 
adequate notice of this violation.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
August 31, 2009. In addition, CPSD’s 
use of Public Utilities Code Section 
2108 to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and 
controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(3)- 
failure to have a 
prompt and 
effective
response due to a 
slow and 
uncoordinated 
response

CPSD-1. pp. 
102-103. 
p. 114 (FN 
2211.
pp. 117-118; 
CPSD-9. 
pp. 55-56. pp. 
97-100,

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD-1, pages 102-03 and 117-18, 
generally discuss PG&E’s emergency 
response on September 9, 2010, 
including CPSD’s assertion that PG&E 
violated 49 C.F.R. § 192.615 
pertaining to emergency response. 
These references do not, however, 
provide notice of a violation of Section 
192.615(a)(3), specifically, which 
states that emergency plans must have 
procedures that provide for prompt and 
effective emergency response. Section 
192.615 contains more than 18 sections 
and subsections (more counting “level 
3” subsections), each of which address
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different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• CPSD-1, page 114, footnote 221, is a 
generic reference to emergency 
response training. The reference has 
no substantive content, and says 
nothing about CPSD charging a 
violation of law.

• The reference to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, pp. 55-56, 97-100), cannot 
serve as notice that CPSD is charging a 
legal violation. Additionally, the cited 
pages do not state that PG&E’s 
emergency plan lacked procedures for 
a prompt and effective emergency 
response under Section 192.615(a)(3). 
The NTSB’s factual description and 
critique of PG&E’s emergency 
response is not notice that CPSD is 
charging a violation of law, in 
particular under Section 192.615(a)(3).

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(1)- 
failure to 
adequately 
receive, identify 
and classify 
emergency 
notices

CPSD-1. pp. 
115-116.
118; CPSD-9.

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this

pp. 55-56. 
pp.98-102; 
CPSD-10. 
p. 75. p. 77,
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subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1, pages 115-116, 
address PG&E’s actions to determine 
the location and nature of the mpture; 
the discussion does not address 
PG&E’s alleged failure to “adequately 
receive, identify and classify 
emergency notices.” Nowhere is 
Section 192.615(a)(1) mentioned. 
CPSD-1, page 118, discusses internal 
communication and communications 
with external agencies during the 
emergency response. Again, Section 
192.615(a)(1) is not referenced.

• References to the NTSB Report (Ex. 
CPSD-9, pages 55-56, 98-102) cannot 
serve as notice of CPSD charging a 
legal violation. Additionally, the cited 
pages reference a flowchart of PG&E’s 
emergency response procedures, 
generally describe procedures 
regarding emergency contacts, and 
describe factual events during PG&E’s 
response to the emergency. The pages 
do not mention Section 192.615(a)(1).

• CPSD-10, pages 75, 77, are from the 
IRP report; it cannot serve as notice 
that CPSD is charging a legal violation. 
Additionally, the cited pages discuss
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PG&E’s emergency response plans 
generally and have nothing to do with 
an alleged failure to adequately 
receive, identify and classify 
emergency notices. In fact, the IRP 
stated on page 76 that PG&E’s 
“[Emergency Response Plan] is 
comprehensive, embodies many 
current best practices, and is revised 
and tested on a frequent basis.” Ex. 
CPSD-10 at 76.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(4)- 
failure to provide 
for proper 
personnel and 
resources at the 
emergency scene

CPSD-l.pp. 
120-122; 
CPSD-9. pp. 
55-56. p. 99,

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1, pages 120-22, 
discusses PG&E’s emergency________
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response. It does not state that 
PG&E’s emergency plan failed to 
provide for proper personnel and 
resources at the emergency scene, or 
allege a violation of Section 
192.615(a)(4) based on the actions of 
the responding personnel. CPSD’s 
criticism of various actions is not a 
statement that the conduct violated the 
law or that CPSD is pursuing a legal 
violation under Section 192.615(a)(4) 
against PG&E. See PG&E RB, Section 
III.C.

• The NTSB Report (CPSD-9, pages 55
56, 99) cannot serve as notice of CPSD 
charging a legal violation.
Additionally, the cited pages reference 
a flowchart of PG&E’s emergency 
response procedures, generally 
describe the roles of SCADA center 
and the dispatch personnel, and the 
actions of those personnel on 
September 9, 2010. Not mentioned are 
an alleged violation of Section 
192.615(a)(4) or any other violation of 
law.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(6) 
failure to 
perform an 
emergency 
shutdown to 
adequately 
minimize 
hazards to life 
and property

CPSD-l.pp. 
103. 117-118.

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163

120-122;
CPSD-9.
pp. 99. 101-
102.
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(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 103, 120-122) 
discusses PG&E’s response to the 
rupture and assignment of 
responsibilities. Page 103 provides an 
overview of PG&E’s emergency 
operations; pages 120-122 discuss 
PG&E’s response to the emergency. 
CPSD’s conclusion that the response 
was ineffective and the time 
unreasonable does not provide notice 
of a violation. There are no regulations 
establishing response time or 
effectiveness criteria. CPSD-1 (pp. 
117-18) discusses PG&E’s emergency 
plan itself, and makes no mention that 
the plan failed to provide procedures to 
perform an emergency shutdown.

• The reference to the NTSB Report (Ex. 
CPSD-9, pp. 99, 101-102) cannot serve 
as notice of CPSD charging a legal 
violation. The cited pages generally 
discuss actions by the SCADA control 
group and dispatch center personnel, 
execution of the emergency plan, and 
recognition of the line break, but do not 
reference Section 192.615(a)(6) or 
assert a violation of law.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally
adequate notice of this alleged_______
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violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(7)- 
failure to make 
safe any actual 
or potential 
hazards to life 
and property

CPSD-l.pp. 
117-118. 
120-122; 
CPSD-9. 
pp. 55-56. p.

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 117-18) 
discusses PG&E’s emergency plan and 
procedures for describing job 
responsibilities and internal 
communication, but makes no mention 
that the plan failed to provide for 
procedures to make safe any actual or 
potential hazards to life and property. 
CPSD-1 (pp. 120-122) discusses 
PG&E’s response to the emergency. 
CPSD’s conclusion that the response 
was ineffective and the response time 
unreasonable does not provide notice 
of a violation of law. There are no

99,
pp. 101-102,
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regulations establishing response time 
requirements or effectiveness criteria.

• The reference to the NTSB Report (Ex. 
CPSD-9, pp. 99, 101-102) cannot serve 
as notice of CPSD charging a legal 
violation. The cited pages generally 
discuss actions by the SCADA control 
group and dispatch center personnel, 
execution of the emergency plan, and 
recognition of the line break, but do not 
reference Section 192.615(a)(7) or 
assert a violation of law.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(8)- 
failure to notify 
local first 
responders

CPSD-l.p.
114. p. 118; 
CPSD-9. pp. 
55-56, pp. 100-

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this

101.
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violation. CPSD-1 (p. 114, 118) does 
not provide notice of the violation.
Page 114, fn. 221 cites PG&E’s 
emergency plan; the rest of page 114 
discusses training of first responders; 
and page 118 describes coordination 
with external agencies. None of the 
pages assert that PG&E’s emergency 
plan failed to provide for procedures to 
notify first responders. That PG&E 
personnel did not notify local first 
responders by calling 9-1-1 is not 
asserted as a violation of law, in 
particular under Section 192.615(a)(8).

• References to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, pp. 55-56, 100-01) cannot 
serve as notice of CPSD charging a 
legal violation. The NTSB Report did 
address local first responder 
notification, and the NTSB made a 
recommendation that PG&E adopt a 
policy for gas control operators to 
contact 9-1-1 upon indications of an 
emergency. (PG&E acted on that 
recommendation and has such a 
policy.) Nowhere did the NTSB state 
that not contacting first responders on 
September 9, 2010 violated the law, in 
particular Section 192.615(a)(8). 
Rather, that the NTSB made the 9-1-1 
recommendation after San Bruno 
demonstrates that the law did not 
previously require it.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.
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08/31/2009
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.605(c)(1) 
and (3) - failure 
to have 
emergency 
manual that 
required the 
appropriate 
actions

CPSD-l.pp. • This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD alleged a generalized violation 
based on Section 192.605(c). Ex. 
CPSD-1 at 163 (CPSD/Stepanian). 
Section 192.605(c) contains multiple 
subsections, each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.605(c) 
provides no information regarding the 
particular conduct alleged to be 
contrary to the law, and thus no notice 
of what violation is being alleged.
That CPSD has now alleged violations 
of subsections (c)(1), (c)(3), and (c)(4), 
but not (c)(2), demonstrates that a 
general reference to Section 192.605(c) 
does not provide notice of the actual 
violation(s) CPSD intends to pursue.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 117-18) 
discusses PG&E’s emergency plan and 
procedures for describing job 
responsibilities and internal 
communication. CPSD-1 (pp. 119
122) discusses PG&E’s response to the 
emergency. CPSD’s conclusion that 
the response was ineffective and the 
response time unreasonable does not 
provide notice of a violation of law. 
There are no regulations establishing 
response time requirements or 
effectiveness criteria.

117-118;
CPSD-l.pp.
119-122; 
CPSD-9. pp. 
55-56. 
pp. 99-100,

CPSD-l.pp.
118-119; 
CPSD-9. p.
100.
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• The reference to the NTSB Report (Ex. 
CPSD-9, pp. 55-56, 99-100) cannot 
serve as notice of CPSD charging a 
legal violation. The cited pages 
generally discuss actions by the 
SCADA control group and dispatch 
center personnel, execution of the 
emergency plan, and recognition of the 
line break, but do not reference Section 
192.605(c)(1) or (c)(3), or assert a 
violation of law.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
August 31, 2009. In addition, CPSD’s 
use of Public Utilities Code Section 
2108 to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and 
controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(2)- 
failure to 
establish and 
maintain 
communications 
with local first 
responders

CPSD-Ton. • This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a

118-119; 
CPSD-9. p.
100.
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violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of 
the law, and no notice of what violation 
is actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 118-19) 
discusses PG&E’s coordination with 
external agencies but does not assert 
that PG&E’s conduct violated any law, 
in particular Section 192.615(a)(2).
The reference to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, p. 100) cannot serve as 
notice of CPSD charging a legal 
violation. The cited page discusses 
notifying emergency responders but 
also does not contend PG&E’s conduct 
violated any law.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(5)- 
failure to protect 
people first then 
property

CPSD-1. pp. 
118-119; 
CPSD-9. p.

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192,615 provides

100.
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no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of the 
law, and no notice of what violation is 
actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 118-19) 
discusses PG&E’s coordination with 
external agencies but does not allege 
that PG&E personnel “failed to protect 
people first then property.” Nowhere in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 or August 
rebuttal testimony report are the words 
“failed to protect people first then 
property.”

• The reference to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, p. 100) cannot serve as 
notice of CPSD charging a legal 
violation. The cited page discusses 
notifying emergency responders but 
does not contend PG&E’s conduct 
violated any law.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

08/31/2009
09/09/2010

49 CFR 
192.615(c)(4)- 
failure to 
establish and 
maintain a 
liaison with local 
first responders

CPSD-1. pp. • This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3”

118-119; 
CPSD-9. p.
100.
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subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of the 
law, and no notice of what violation is 
actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 118-19) 
discusses PG&E’s coordination with 
external agencies but does not allege 
that PG&E personnel violated the law, 
in particular Section 192.615(c)(4).
The reference to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, p. 100) cannot serve as 
notice of CPSD charging a legal 
violation. The cited page discusses 
notifying emergency responders but 
does not contend PG&E’s conduct 
violated any law.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
August 31, 2009. On the contrary, the 
cited references are exactly duplicative 
of those cited for the violation 
immediately above, which is not 
alleged as a continuing violation. In 
addition, CPSD’s use of Public Utilities 
Code Section 2108 to assert continuing 
violations is contrary to Commission 
precedent and controlling authority.
See PG&E RB, Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.
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09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(a)(3) 
failure to 
properly train 
personnel to 
recognize 
incidents

CPSD-l.pp. 
102-103. 
p. 114. p. 123; 
CPSD-10. 
p. 14, CPSD-9. 
p. 21. pp. 98-

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of the 
law, and no notice of what violation is 
actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 102-03, 114, 
123) does not provide notice of a 
violation. Pages 102-103 and 123 
assert that PG&E failed to provide 
training to first responders to recognize 
the cause of different types of fire, but 
do not allege that the emergency plan 
failed to have procedures that provide 
for prompt and effective response to an 
emergency, which is what Section 
192.615(a)(3) addresses. Page 114 
states that PG&E trains first responders 
to assess the situation on-site when they 
arrive at an incident scene, but does not 
provide notice of a violation. Section 
192.615(a)(3) does not require that 
operators provide specific training

99.
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regarding the identification of different 
types of fire.

• CPSD-10 (p. 14) is the IRP report; it 
cannot serve as notice that CPSD is 
charging a legal violation.
Additionally, the cited page states there 
was confusion when PG&E personnel 
sought to identify the source and 
location of the incident, but does not 
assert that PG&E violated Section 
192.615(a)(3). In fact, the page 
acknowledges PG&E conducts training 
exercises in emergency preparedness.

• References to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, pp. 21, 98-99) cannot serve 
as notice of CPSD charging a legal 
violation. The cited pages describe the 
training courses taken by PG&E 
employees working at the Milpitas 
terminal (e.g., Ex. CPSD-9 at 21, n.
37), generally discuss internal 
communication and coordination, 
actions by the SCADA control and 
dispatch center personnel, and 
execution of the emergency plan. They 
do not provide notice that PG&E’s 
emergency plan failed to have 
procedures providing for a prompt and 
effective response to an emergency 
under Section 192.615(a)(3).

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(b)(2)- 
failure to 
properly train 
personnel and 
ensure they are

CPSD-Ton. 
102-103, 
p. 114, p. 123; 
CPSD-10, 
pp. 14-15,

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
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knowledgeable
about
procedures

CPSD-9. p.21. Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of the 
law, and no notice of what violation is 
actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. These are the same 
supporting references cited for the 
violation immediately above, with the 
addition of page 15 from the IRP 
Report, CPSD-10. As noted, the IRP 
Report does not serve as notice that 
CPSD is alleging a violation. 
Additionally, CPSD-10 (p. 15) actually 
states that the IRP did not establish a 
definitive view of what did or should 
have transpired during the emergency 
response, and that had it not been for 
the experience and quick reaction of the 
first responders from PG&E, the San 
Bruno incident could have been even 
worse. This does not provide notice of 
a violation.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

pp. 98-99,
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09/09/201049 CFR 
192.615(b)(3) 
failure to 
determine if 
training is 
effective

CPSD-l.pp. 
102-103. 
p. 114. p. 123; 
CPSD-9. p,21. 
pp. 98-99,

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD asserted a non-specific alleged 
violation of Section 192.615, but did 
not allege a violation involving this 
subsection. Ex. CPSD-1 at 163 
(CPSD/Stepanian). Section 192.615 
contains more than 18 sections and 
subsections (more counting “level 3” 
subsections), each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.615 provides 
no information regarding the particular 
conduct alleged to be in violation of the 
law, and no notice of what violation is 
actually being alleged.

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 102-03, 114, 
123) does not provide notice of a 
violation. Pages 102-103 and 123 
assert that PG&E failed to provide 
training to first responders to recognize 
the cause of different types of fire; page 
114 states that PG&E trains first 
responders to assess the situation on
site when they arrive at an incident 
scene. The cited pages do not provide 
notice of a violation under Section 
192.615(b)(3), which provides that 
each operator shall review employee 
activities to determine whether the 
procedures were effectively followed in 
each emergency.

• References to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, pp. 21, 98-99) cannot serve
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as notice of CPSD charging a legal 
violation. The cited pages describe the 
training courses taken by PG&E 
employees working at the Milpitas 
terminal (e.g., Ex. CPSD-9 at 21, n.
37), generally discuss internal 
communication and coordination, 
actions by the SCADA control and 
dispatch center personnel, and 
execution of the emergency plan. They 
do not provide notice that PG&E failed 
to review employee activities to 
determine whether the procedures were 
effectively followed in each 
emergency, which is what Section 
192.615(b)(3) addresses.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR
192.605(c)(4)
failure to
periodically
review its
emergency
response

CPSD-l.pp. 
102-103. 
p. 114, p. 123; 
CPSD-9. p.21. 
pp. 98-99,

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• CPSD alleged a generalized violation 
based on Section 192.605(c). Ex. 
CPSD-1 at 163 (CPSD/Stepanian). 
Section 192.605(c) contains multiple 
subsections, each of which address 
different emergency response 
requirements. Generically alleging a 
violation of Section 192.605(c) 
provides no information regarding the 
particular conduct alleged to be 
contrary to the law, and thus no notice 
of what violation is being alleged. That 
CPSD has now alleged violations of 
subsections (c)(1), (c)(3), and (c)(4),
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but not (c)(2), demonstrates that a 
general reference to Section 192.605(c) 
does not provide notice of the actual 
violation(s) CPSD intends to pursue.

• These are the same references as the 
violation above. The cited pages do not 
provide notice that PG&E’s emergency 
response manual failed to provide for 
periodic review of the “response of 
operator personnel to determine the 
effectiveness of the procedures controlling 
abnormal operation.”

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
192.616(d)- 
failure to 
properly 
education the 
public and local 
officials

CPSD-l.pp. 
123-125; 
CPSD-9. pp. 
57-59. p. 77.

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (pp. 123-25) does 
not assert that PG&E failed to properly 
educate the public and local officials.
In fact, CPSD acknowledged that to 
comply with the federal requirement, 
PG&E developed its own Public 
Awareness Program and described the 
training PG&E provided. Referencing 
post-incident concerns that first 
responder agencies were not aware of 
the location or specifications of 
PG&E’s pipelines did not put PG&E on 
notice that CPSD intended to pursue a 
violation under Section 192.616(d). On 
the contrary, the cited pages conclude 
by describing PG&E’s actions to______

p. 115,
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resolve those concerns with local first 
responders.

• References to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, pp. 57-59, 77, 115) cannot 
serve as notice of CPSD charging a 
legal violation. Additionally, the pages 
cited do not demonstrate notice of an 
alleged violation. Pages 57-59 describe 
PG&E’s annual public awareness 
program reviews; page 77 states that 
PG&E’s public awareness program did 
not identify pipeline locations; page 
115 describes PG&E’s annual public 
awareness program reviews. Despite 
NTSB criticisms, the discussion does 
not assert that PG&E’s public 
awareness program violated the law, in 
particular Section 192.616(d).

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.

09/09/201049 CFR 
199.225(a)- 
failure to 
perform alcohol 
tests in a timely 
manner and 
failure to record 
the reasons for 
lack of 
compliance

CPSD-1. pp. 
99-101,

• PG&E acknowledges that this violation 
was alleged in CPSD’s January 2012 
Report, Section X “PG&E’s Violations 
of Applicable Laws and Regulations.” 
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• PG&E also acknowledges the violation. 
See PG&E OB at 105-06.

CPSD-9. pp. 
21-22, pp. 104-
105.

09/09/201049 CFR 
199.225(a) 
and 49 CFR 
199.105(b)- 
failure to 
perform drug 
and alcohol

CPSD-1. pp. 
99-101, 
CPSD-9. pp. 
21-22. pp. 104-

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

105.
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tests Gas 
Control staff

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. CPSD-1 (p. 99-101) 
discusses PG&E’s failure to timely test 
the Milpitas Terminal personnel, but 
CPSD does not allege or even discuss 
that the Gas Control staff were required 
to be tested.

• References to the NTSB Report 
(CPSD-9, pp. 21-22, 104-105) cannot 
serve as notice of CPSD charging a 
legal violation. While the NTSB 
opined that the Gas Control staff should 
have been tested (p. 105), the NTSB 
emphasized that the regulations 
provided discretion in determining who 
is tested. In fact, the NTSB 
recommended that PHMSA amend 
Section 199.105 and 199.225 to 
eliminate operator discretion with 
regard to testing. PG&E cannot be 
deemed to have notice that its election 
not to test Gas Control staff was in 
violation of a law that did not exist.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order.
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PU Code 451 - 
failure to place 
safety over 
profits by: 
reducing 
safety-related 
budgets; 
spending less 
than authorized 
on safety; 
prematurely 
ending its 
transmission 
pipeline 
replacement 
plan; not 
seeking 
sufficient 
O&M funds; 
using less 
effective and 
cheaper IM 
tools; reducing 
safety-related 
personnel; 
while at the 
same time 
using retained 
earnings to pay 
dividends, 
repurchasing 
stock, 
providing 
bonuses, 
expending 
funds on 
public relations 
and ballot 
initiatives.

01/01/1998
09/09/2010

OIL p. 2, 
CPSD-Lp. 3,

• This alleged violation is not asserted in 
CPSD’s January 12, 2012 Report, 
Section X “PG&E’s Violations of 
Applicable Laws and Regulations.”
Ex. CPSD-1 at 162-63 
(CPSD/Stepanian).

• The cited references do not show that 
PG&E had adequate notice of this 
violation. The first two references do 
not indicate that CPSD intended to 
allege a stand-alone violation of 
Section 451 based on PG&E’s 
corporate culture or provide the basis 
for any such claim. Merely referring to 
alleged problems with PG&E’s 
“corporate culture” or “safety culture” 
is too broad and amorphous to provide 
the notice required by due process.

• The last two references (the entire 
“safety culture” section of CPSD’s 
January 2012 Report and the entire 
Overland Report) are so broad, and 
cover so many different issues, that 
they could not conceivably provide the 
type of specific notice that is required. 
See PG&E RB, Section III.C. The fact 
that CPSD referenced entire reports to 
claim that PG&E had notice of this 
alleged violation itself demonstrates 
that CPSD provided no adequate 
notice.

• The cited references do not provide 
notice of or support for a purported 
continuing violation beginning on 
January 1, 1998. In addition, CPSD’s 
use of Public Utilities Code Section 
2108 to assert continuing violations is 
contrary to Commission precedent and

CPSD-1. 
Chapter IX.
pp. 126-161.
CPSD-168.
passim.
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controlling authority. See PG&E RB, 
Section III.D.

• CPSD failed to provide constitutionally 
adequate notice of this alleged 
violation. It should be stricken for lack 
of adequate notice to PG&E and failure 
to comply with the ALJ’s order. See 
also PG&E RB, Section III.C.
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